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NATIONAL EDUCATION (IRELAND).

RETURN to an Order of the Honourable The House of Commons,
dated 8 April 1859 ;—for,

A COPY “of all CoRRESPONDENCE, from the Ist day of July 1857 to the
present Date, which passed between the Commissioners of National Edu-
cation in Jreland and Mr. James W. Kavanagh, Head Inspector of National
Schools, omitting such only as is of a mere routine Nature, or not bearing
upon any Matter in Dispute between Mr. Kavanagh and any other Party,
excluding also the Returns respecting the Ballandine National Schools, and
so much of the Correspondence, &e., as is contained in Parliamentary
Paper, No. 386, of last Session : ”

“ And, RETURN of the NamEs of the MEMBERSs appointed on the SPEcIAL
CommiTTEE of the 11th day of September 1857, in reference to Mr. Kava-
nagh, with the Names of those subsequently added ; the precise Matters
which the Committee was first appointed to investigate, with a Statement
of any others afterwards added; the Dates of the several Sittings of the
Committee, with the Members present at each :—And, Cory of the
MinuTes of the Business transacted ; of the RErorT of the CoMMITTEE,
with the Names of those Members (as laid before the Board on the 27th
day of November 1857) of the Committee present when it was adopted ;
of the Nayes of the ComMIssSIONERS present at the Board’s Meeting of
the 27th day of November 1857 ; and of all CoMMUNICATIONS which the
Members of the Board or other Public Parties may have forwarded to the
Commissioners, or to the Resident Commissioner, in reference to the Case
of Mr. Kavanagh, within the whole of the above Period.” '

Office of National Education, Dublin,l MAURICE CROSS,

12 Apl'll 1850. J JAMES KELLY, }SBE]‘EIMIBS.

(Mr. Maguire.)
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[ —————

254.

Printed image digitised by the University of Southampton Library Digitisa.tion Unit



CONTENTS.

No. 1.—(From A. to N.}—Copy of all Correspondence, from the 1st day of July 1857 to the present
date, which passed between the Commissioners of National Education in Ireland, and
Mr. James W. Kavanagh, Head Inspector of National Schools, omitting such only as is
of a mere routine nature, or not bearing upon any matter in dispute between Mr, Kavanagh
end any other party, excluding also the Returns respecting the Ballandine Nutional
Schools, and so much of the Correspondence, &e., as is contained in Parliamentary
Paper, No. 386, of last Session - - “ - - - - = r Pol

No. 2.—Return of the Names of the Members appointed on the Special Committee of the 11th day
of September 1857, in reference to Mr. KNavanagh, with the names of those subsequently
udded; the precise matters which the Committee was first appointed to investigate, with
a statement of any others afterwards added, the dates of the several sittings of the
Commiittee, with the Members present at each - - - - - - p.223

No. 3.—Copy of the Minutes of the Business transacted ¢ 9 FE wm ow o« wABe

No. 4.—Copy of the Report of the Committee, with the Names of those Members (as laid before the
Board on the 27th day of November 1857) of the Committee present when it was
adopted - - - - - = = z = N . b - p.231

No. 5.—Return of the Names of the Commissioners present at the Board’s Meeting of the 27th day
of November 1857 - - - - - . - - - - - p 245

No. 6.—Copy of all Communieations which the Members of the Board or other pui:lic parties may
have forwarded to the Commissioners, or to the Resident Commissioner, in referenco to
the case of Mr. Kavanagh, within the whole of the above period - . . P 245

Printed image digitised by the University of Southampton Library Digitisation Unit



| e |

3 ]

— No. 1. —

COPY of all CORRESPONDENCE, from the 1st day of July 1857 to the present
Date, which passed between the Commissioners of National Education in
Ireland and Mr. James IV. Kavanagh, Head Inspector of National Schools,
omitting such only as is of a mere routine Nature, or nor Learing upon any
matter in dispute between Mr. Kavanagh and any other party, excluding
also the Returns respecting the Ballandine National Schools, and so much
of the Correspondence, &c., asis contained in Parliamentary Paper, No. 386,
of last Session.”

Note—In preparing the Return, it was found necessary, in order to render it
intelligible, to include the whole of the Correspondence relating to each case, without
limiting it to the dates specified in the Order of the House of Commons :

Alzo, it was considered right to give the Messrs. Fleming and Clarke, Inspectors,
an opportunity of reply to Mr. Kavanagh’s observations on their defence of the chnrgcé
brought against them by him. These replics are included in the Return, by order of
the ﬁm:d, dated 3 Decemnber 1838.

Office of National Education, Dublin,) Maurice Crass,\ .. . = .
12 April 1859. J Jaines Kelly, | ecretaries.
No. 1. (A).

CORRESPONDENCE between the Commissioners of National Ilducation and
Mur. James W. Kavanagh (late Head Inspector of National Schools in Zreland) ;
and with My. A, P. Clarke, Inspector of National Schools, relative to the
Examination of the Staff of Paid Monitors in District 40 (Wexford), from
the 21st January 1857 to the 9th of August 1858.

Gentlemen, Grenville, Rathgar, 21 January 1857.
I BEG leave to request your attention to some points in counexion with the
examination of the staff of paid monitors in district 40, Wexford.

1. The appointment of the monitors is highly injudicious as to loeality. Of
nine monitors, three are in schools in the town of Wexford, one in a school
three miles from town (Castlebridge), and one in a school (Piercestown), four
miles ; or five of the nine are in Wexford or its suburban schools. Of 10
monitresses, all are in two convent schools in the town, except one girl in Kil-
turk National School. That is, one school has five monitresses (Wexford,
No. 2.), another has four (Wexford, No. 1.), and all the rest of the district has
the remaining one monitress. Of boys and girls, 14 of the 19 are attached to
schools in Wexford, or in its immediate vieinity.

2. The examination of the monitors by Mr. Clarke is incomplete and uusa-
tisfactory. The whole 19 should have been examined crally on at least lesson
books and arithmetic, and those of higher standing on other subjects, but this
has been omitted. Seven of the 10 girls were not examined orally on the
spelling book, or geography (except outline maps), nor on arithmetic or lesson
books, either orally or in writing, so that, so far as I know, the entire seven may
be utterly ignorant of arithmetic and the matter of the lesson books. The
written exercises of these 7 was confined to grammar and dictation. There
are no dockets for eight of the 10 girls, and I know nothing of their age,
standing, &e.

3. I beg leave to call attention to Mr. Clarke’s recommendation that Mr.
Hanrahan, master of the Wexford Male, No. 1 National School, should receive -
the gratuity for the instruction of the two monitors in his own achool, the
monitor in Wexford Male, No. 2 School, and for the nine menitresses in the
Wexford convent schools; or that one teacher shall receive the gratuities tt;r;)r
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4 CORRESPONDENCE, &c. RELATING TO

the instruction of 12 of the 19 monitors in the entire district. I am much
surprised at this singular and improper recommendation. If the teacher of a
school be not orly able and willing, but also anxious to undertake the important
charge of the entive instruction and training of a monitor, none should be
appointed to the school. Although this master may superintend and direct the
literary studies of these boys and girls, it is clear that it is in their capacity as
mere scholars and not as monitors, as the teachers of their respective schools
are the proper parties, who, during the entire day, direct and train them in the
latter capacity. The plan proposed is fraught with moral danger as well as
evident injustice. To the best of my recollection, Mr. Hanrahan got married
within the last year or two, but even so, I could not suppose that the Commis-
sioners would approve of a mixed evening school in a large town, taught by a
master, and our 14 monitors from 14 to 18 years of age, boys and girls, attending
there for the instruction which they should receive in the respective schools
in which they daily assist : nor could I suppose that the heads of these schools
would be deprived of the usual gratuity for the more important duty of training
them in the practical and applied details of monitorial aptness.

4. The following is a summary of the results of the Examinations—

Date
Schools. Monitor. Age. API;):E“ 7. Recommendation,
ment.
Years. ‘
Lady’'s Island - - | James Lambert -| 17 5/53 Remove him ; no gratuity.
Enniscorthy - - | Albert P, Long - 17 1/54 3d year's gratuity.
Piercestown - - | James Leary - -} 16 7/54 Depress one year; no gratuity.
Newtownbarry - = | Martin Cowman - | 17 10/54 | yenr's gratuity.
Ferns - - - | Pat M‘Donnelld -1 186 10/34 Depress one year; no gratuity.
Wexford No, 1 - = | Martin Connor -1 18 2565 Ist yonr's protuity.
Ditto  ditto - - | John Pierce - -1 14 7[36 Remove him 5 no gratuity.
Ditto  No. 2 - - | John Byrne - -] 16 4/55 Fine 104 ; gratuity (1st yeur)
to James Seanlan, Muster of
School.
Castlebridge - = { Thomas Barron =i | sk 8/36 Remove him 5 no gratuity.
Kilturk (Female) - | Mary Smith - - 15 7/55 Gratuity of 1st yenr.
Wexford (Female) No. 2| Eliza Power - «| 18 7/56 ”
Ditto  ditto - - | Margaret Codd S I - -
Ditto  ditto - - | M. A. Murphy s wl = < '
Ditto ditto - - | Margaret Arkinson - r - =] = = l Quite unfit ; remove them,
Ditto  ditto - - | Kate Wickham = |- .| - .

The four last are quite unfit, so far as 1 can judge, from the extent of the
examination submitted to me; the last two ave junior monitors. The other four
of the monitresses are in the Wexford Female No. 1 School.

Ellen Roche
Margaret Hinds

S {E\laria Brophy

All quite unfit ; no particulars as to their ages.
Anast. M¢Evey

5. The Commissioners will perceive from the returns as to this and other dis-
tricts already sent in by me, that the whole question as to the monitorial staff
requires early and serious consideration.

I have, &ec.
(signed) James W. Kavanagh.

The Secretaries. 2

P.S.—Eleven dockets, the only ones received, accompanying this letter.
J. W. K.
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Sir, Education Office, 3 March 1857.

WE enclose you copies of statements contained in a letter of Mr. Kavanaeh

Head Inspector, of the 21st January last, and are to request that you will

submit, with the least possible delay, for the information of the Board, such

remarks as may occur to you relative to the management and conduct of the

monitorial class entrusted for instruction to Mr. Hanrahan, the master of the
Wexford No. 1 National School.

We are, &e.
(signed) ;I Ige?lgf,} Secretaries.

H. P. Clarke, Esq., Wexford.

(Dist. No. 40.)

Gentlemen, Wexford, 11 March 1857.

I BEG to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the 3d instant, enclosing
for any remarks I may have to offer for the information of the Board, copies of
certain statements contained in a letter of the 21st January from Mr. Kavanagh,
Head Inspector.

I proceed at once to state that the numerous charges which he has thought
proper to make against me in these statements may be classed under the fol-
lowing four heads as relating to—

1. The Wexford Monitorial School.
9. The loeal distribution of monitors in the district.

3. The manner in which I conducted the annual examination of monitors
for 1856, held last November.

4. The qualification of certain monitors, and Mr. Kavanagh's recom-
mendation for the dismissal of 10, against which I protest, and for the pay-
ment of certain gratuities, &e.

Mr. Kavanagh has mixed these subjects somewhat confusedly together, which
will render it more troublesome than it otherwise would be to refute him. In

- replying to him I shall therefore not always follow the order of his statements,
but that given above, and shall finish one subject before proceeding to the
next.

1. And first, as to his strictures on the Wexford Monitorial School, and the
payment of the teacher for the instruction of the 12 monitors taught in it.
Mr. Kavanagh states that “the plan of it is fraught with moral danger,” on the
ground evidently of his mistaken and purely gratuitous supposition (and of the
truth of which he had no evidence whatsoever), that it is a mixed school, attended
by boys and girls of from 14 to 18 years of age.

Now that my recommendation to place the monitors of both sexes under
the care of Mr. Hanrahan was not an improper one (Mr. Kavanagh is pleased
to call it a singular and improper recommendation), but a highly proper and
desirable one, will, I should think, appear evident from the facts that the
superioresses of the convents, where all the female monitors are placed, were
specially consulted by myself personally on the subject before I brought the matter
under your notice at all, and before even I had selected the monitors. Had these
ladies shown even the smallest disposition to disapprove of the plan I would never
have proposed it to you. But they not only concurred in my views for the
special instruction of those young persons, they gave it their warm approval,
and expressed their gratification that so efficient a means for their improvement
should be adopted. I notified the proposal to the office, and I received your

* letter of the 17th July last, stating in reply, that the “ Commissioners would be
prepared to give favourable consideration to any recommendations I might
make for the appointment of monitors in pursuance of the plan I had sketched
out.” The plan then had the well considered approval of the managers of the
schools, for l; am perfectly certain if they, the nuns, had not well considered it,
and had not the most complete confidence in Mr. Hanrahan, they would never
have consented to his teaching the monitresses. It had also the appruvgl of

“the Commissioners. Further, it had the approval of the parents of the monitors
who are quite cognizant ; so much so, that the father of a young girl, who was

a candidate for a monitorship, sent her to the school and paid himself for her
254. A3 instruction
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instruction at it (whilst she still continted to attend the convent school during the
ordinary school hours), in order that she might bheeome the better qu.lhhwl to
obtain one of these appointments, or a teachership, whenever a vacaney might
ocenr. I heg particular attention to this, as I shall have to vefer to it in the
sequel.  All parties then concerned in the matter approve of it exeept M.
Kavanagh. e stands alone in his opinion that the schiool is * frangzht with
moral danger.”  This is a sinenlar and improper one to have expressed, as 1
thivk, where there were no grounds whatsoever hefore him of the truth of the
assertion upon which he based it, namely, that the school is a mixed evening
school. Now the fact of the matter s, it is not o mixed sehool, and it never was.
From its first ovigin the boys and girls at it were kept separate, the former
attending on Tuesday, Thursday, and Satneday, and the Jatter on Monday,
Wedne sl w, and Friday, the altcmate evenings heing passed by the monitors at
home re- writing their exercises from dictation after correction 11} the teacher,
and preparing tasks, &e.  All this appears distivetly in letters of mine forwarded
to the office, and in my speeial report on it for the year 1856, sent up last
Christmas.  From the accompunying statement of Mr. Hanrahan, it appears
that the only oceasion upon which the boys and givls were 1)1{:1whr together,
ras at the express order of Mr, Kavanagh Limsclf, 1 feel qmto as m'ungly
as he possibly cun, that it is desivable to kecp yonng persons closely approaching
or arrived at adolescence, of different sexes, in separate schools; but there
is one very important difference between ug, that I took every precaution
to see this principle carried into practical effect in the Monitorial School
whilst he disregarded it. 1 notice amongst the inaccuracies with which his
letter abounds, that he states the ages of the monitors to vary from 14 to
18 years, whilst in veality they are from 11 to 18. In bringing the boys
and girls together for examination he evidently acted contrary to the views he
expresses against 2 mixed monitorial school (although no examination took
place), and contrary also to those of the Commissioners, whose instructions to
inspectors arve, to Thold the examinations of the monitors, boys and girls, on
different days=. It appeurs plain then, that Mr. Kavanagh does not attach any
practical in portance to the principle hg enunciates of Loepmg thein uo;mmtv:l
And ihis extends also to his method of holding the annual examinations of
teacheis, as on these occagions here he assembles the men and women for
examination at the same time in the one apartment. This course I abways
considered highly injudicious, and expressed to him my disapproval of it in 1856,
and also in the prl.u.e'nt year. liut as the details of these examinations are left,
apparently, chiefly to the head inspector, ! refrained from pressing my objec-
tions, and mwention the matter now, only to show that M. lmv.lm,,h does not
in pmctice feel the necessity of keeping even adult teachers of different sexes
separated.

Mr. Kavanagh objects to the master of the Wexford school being paid the
gratuities for 12 monitors, asserting that there are but 19 in the district.

But I think it guite 1'1,glat and only just that hie should be paid for these, seeing
that he has given to them all the special instruction they require, under the
sanction and with the warm approval of the managers and of their pavents,
and with the countenance of the Board. Althuugh the total nnmber of moni-
tors in the district has nothing whatever to do with this, yet I must remark that
Mr. Kavanagh has entirely mis-stated it, asserting it to be 19, when it is in
point of fact 48.

Again, he says, “If the teacher of a school be not only able and willing, but
also anxious to undertake the important charge of the entire instruction and
training of a monitor, none should be appointed to the school.”

It is evident he means the contrary of what he here states. He evidently
meant to say that “ If a teacher be unable or unwilling, or not anxious to under-
take,” &c. 1 shall reply to him as if he bhad said so.  On this subjeet 1 wust
refer to Nr. Hanrahan's statement, who there plainly shows thar he always
taught all the monitors of the senior and jusior departments of his school, which
has a roll number for each, and that there is no other teacher in the town gua-
lified and willing to perform the task he has undertaken, of giving all the 12 town
monitors the \pvcml instruetion tbey require. There is, th[‘l‘(“t(ll(‘ evidently no
injustice done to any one. The ouly teachers in the town are the nuns, and
Messrs, Hanrahan and Seallan of the wale school. The nuns ave not prepared
to devote any time after school hours to thix work, but are very well pleased
that Mr. Hanrahan should. Scallan is a thivd-class teacher, over the junior

department,
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department, and has to teach chiefly the first hook. WWhen a pupil of his can
read the first book le is transferred to Mr. Hanraban. Mr. Scallan is a very
laborious, useful teacher, but certainly not qualified to imstruct the monitors.
Mr. Hanrahan then alone remains for attending to this. How much the nuns
value his services appears from this, that the superioress of the Presentaiion
Convent (Wexford Fem., No. 1) pays him at present from her own purse 81. a
vear for teaching the fourth class of girls at an early hour in the morning,
before the ordinary school hours. Under these circumstances Mr. Kavanach
would dismiss the eight monitresses in the convent schools and the two moni-
tors in the junior department of the male scheol, and thus would leave schools
having 917 pupils on the roll, on an average, without any monitorial staff—a
course which I consider would be highly injudicions, and by all means to be
avoided. )

The next remark of Mr. Kavanagh's I have to deal with is as follows :—
“ Although this master (Mr. Hanrahan) may superintend and direct the literary
studies of these boys and girls, it is clear that it is in their capacity as mere
scholars, snd not as monitors, as the teachers of their respective schools are
the proper parties, who during the entire day direct and train them in the
latter capacity.”

Now it is not merely as ordinary literary pupils that thie monitors are
instructed. The course laid down by the Board for monitors is carefully fol-
lowed, and they are instructed in methods of teaching, by means of model
lessons, commencing with: the first book and proceeding in order to the more
advanced. This is done by forming the monitors present into a class, supposed
for the time to be of pupils. Each has a lesson book and reads a portion of
the lesson selected. The teacher then instructs and examines them upon it,
keeping in view the requirements of the school programme. When this is
done he selects one of the monitors to take his place as teacher, who examines
and instruets the supposed class of pupils after this method, receiving from him
all necessary hints and suggestions for his improvement. Surely this is special
monitorial instruetion, and not treating the monitors, as Mr. Kavanagh asserts,
as “ mere scholars.”

When it is considered that there are on an average 1,058 pupils on the rolls
of the town schools of Wexford in which the 12 monitors are placed, giving 87
pupils to each, it may be easily imiagined how constantly they may be employed
teaching the ordinary school hours, und consequently how necessary it is they
should themselves be taught afterwards.

The only remaining passage of Mr. Kavanagh's letter, as far as regards the
monitorial school, I have to notice, is a pleasant one. In it he says Mr. Han-
rahan has been married within the last year or two. All I have to say on this
fact is, that I would not have considered him eligible for the task of teaching
the monitresses if he were not married. Mr. Kavanagh appears to be of the
same opinion ; the local managers, the nuns, are so too, although they said
nothing concerning it to me; Mr. Hanraban himself concurs. It is agreeable
to find that, at least on this point, there is perfect unanimity amongst us all.

To conclude this subject, I have to say that accurate information on the
nature and working of the monitorial school in all its details can be had from
my special report on it for the year 1856, sent up last December.

2. Mr. Kavanagh's next statement is that “ the appointment of monitors is
highly injudicious as to locality.” After detailing the schools in which they
are pﬁaced, he finds that 14 out of the 19 exumined are in the town of Wexford
or its immediate vicinity, and concludes from this that a disproportionate
number has been given to the town.

My answer to this is, that the selection of the ionitors was made in
accordance with the rule of the Board appointing them in schools which most
required them from large attendance of pupils, and, as a general rule, where
the teachers were sufficiently qualified to instruct them. “The average atten-
dance of pupils and the class of the teacher were duly returned by me with
each recommendation, and the Board made the appointments with this informa-
tion before them. The Commissioners gave no direction to distribute them
in an equal manner over the different parts of the district; I might thgreibre,
if T chose, stop here, and take no further notice of this objection, Wishing,
however, to make my explanation as full as possible, I have to remark that it
so happens that the monitors are very equally distributed locally in the way

254. Agq Mr.
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8 CORRESPONDENCE, &e. RELATING TO

Mr. Kavanagh scems to think is desirable. Not only has no undue number
been given to Wexford, but the relative proportion of monitors in it at present
is less than ever it was since the Board first appointed moniters.  Formerly,
under Mr. Bradford, the total number of monitors in the distriet was 12, and
of these four, or one-third, were in the town. At present the number of
monitors is 48, and of these 12, or one-fourth, only are in the town., Mr.
Kavanagh is evidently iguorant of the fact that the number of monitors in the
district is not, as he states, 19, but 48.  Jle appears to labour also under the
misapprehension that all the monitors were bound to attend the examinations,
and finding that 19 attended, he coneludes that it is the number in the district.
Henee his mistake that there is an undue number in Wexford,  So mueh for
his accuracy in this, Lis objection to my proecedings in the matter of appointing
monitors.

3. With regard to his next charge, that my examination of the monitors was
“ incomplete and unsatisfactory,” I can show that it was not only quite com-
plete according to what the Board required, but that even more was done than
I was called on oflicially to do; and therefore, whether satisfactory or not in
Mr. Kavanagh's opinion, it ought to be considered not only satisfuctory by the
Commissioners, but highly efficient. -

The only monitors who were officially declared liable to attend the annual
examination were those appointed previous to the lst April 1856. Of the 19
who attended, 10 were appointed subsequent to this date, and these T permitted
to attend chiefly for the purpose of accustoming them to the routine followed
on these occasions, and that they might know practically what would be
required of them, and be thus the better prepared for mext year. Eight of
these were in the Wexford Convent Schools, and two within a few miles of the
town, so that they had no claim to travelling expenses, under the Board's
rules, and thus there was no cost incurred by the Commissioners for their
attendance ; but the examination was rendered the more efficient, in so far as
a2 larger number of monitors was brought under examination.

Again, he says, “ The whole 19 should have been examined orally on at least
lesson-books and arithmetie, and those of higher standing on other subjects,
but this has been omiited.”

Here he does not specify in how many cases this part of the examination
was omitted, or what evidence he has to show that the omission was made in
any. I have to say that the examination was carried on for three hours in the
forenoon, by means of written exercises, on the printed questions sent from the
office, and for three hours in the afternoon orally ; and in that time the moni-
tors were examined as fully as it was possible for one examiner to effect it, on
the course laid down by the Board.

The following is the next assertion :—

““ Seven of the 10 girls were not examined orally on the spelling-book or
geography (except outline maps), nor on arithmetic or lesson-books, either
orally or in writing, so that, so far as I know, the entire seven may be utterly
ignorant of arithmetic and the matter of the lesson-books. The written exer-
cises of these seven was confined to grammar and dictation ”

I repeat that they were examined for three hours by written exercises, and
for three hours orally on the course of study laid down by the Board. Writing
from dictation was perhaps the very best test of their knowledge of spelling.
As to what he says, that seven of the girls were not examined in geography,
except on outline maps, I have to remarlk that if it were so, it was a very excel-
lent method of ascertaining their geographical knowledge.

Tt is most inconsistent in Mr. Kavanagh to attempt to represent such a cir-
cumstance (if it occurred, which I doubt) as a defect in the examination. It
comes with a peculiarly bad grace from him, for he concurs practically in my
view of the matter, that such an examination may be efficient.

On a more important occasion, the examination of the female teachers for
the purpose of classification, and that, too, when he could have devoted, if he
so pleased, further time to the examination on geography, and having myself
and Mr. Barrett assisting, he declared that the examination on the outline
maps was sufficient.

This was at the examination held in I'ebruary.

After T had asked the female teachers, 10 in number, 25 questions each on

the outline maps, and noted their answers either as correct or otherwise, I
inquired
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inquired of Mr. Kavanagh should we go on with examination on the Geo-
graphical Text Book, and his answer was in the negative, and that it was not
necessary.

I do not believe that the monitors were not examined on lesson books or arith-
metic, either orally or in writing; in fact, this assertion is entirely unfounded,
As far as it applies to the written examination, it is at once refuted by the fact,
that all the printed questions were laid before the monitors. As to his state-
ment, that, as far as he knows, seven of the ten girls may be utterly ignorant
of arithmetic, and the matter of the lesson books, I have to say, that he showed
no curiosity whatever when he was here, to ascertain, by examining them, if so
lamentable a deficiency really existed. It is quite possible that the exercises of
these seven were confined to gramnmar and writing from dictation; but they
did all they could in the three hours allowed, and it would be quite absurd to
expect much from them, as it was their first examination ; they had been oxnly
four months appointed, and were for the most part junior monitors, ’

The next complaint is, * there were no dockets ” for eight of the 10 girls, and
I know nothing of their ages, standing, &ec.

The supply of dockets sent from the office was not sufficient for these, and
there was not time to write for more and receive them ; but the dockets were
not necessary, for these were monitors appointed subsequent to the 1st April
1856, and as such were not bound to attend the examinations; they wished,
however, to do so, to become acquainted with its nature. I explained this in a
letter sent with the exercises, stating that for the same reason the resuits of
their oral answering was not as fully recorded as that of those bound to attend.
If this letter were referred to Mr. Kavanagh, he should not have falsely argued
that they were not examined on certain subjects, because he had not their
answers on these recorded. It is certainly inconsiderate and unjust on his part
to criticise what they were able to do, when, as he says himself, he knew
“nothing of their age and standing.”

4,

Mr. Kavanagh next gives a tabular statement, which he wrongly calls a

¢ Summary of the results of the examinations.” 1 find it necessary for the
better understanding of the points at which we are at issue, to give it in

extenso.
Cory or Mnr. Kavaxace’s Tapuran StaTesmest.
Date
. of .
No School. Monitor. Age. Appodte Reco.amendation,
ment.
1 | Lady's Island - | James Lambert - | 17 56/53 Remove him; no gratuity.
2 | Enniscorthy - - | A, P. Long - - 17 1/64 8d year’s gratuity.
3 | Piercestown - - | Jemes Leary -| 16 7/54 Depress one year; no gratuity.
4 | Newtownbarry - [ M. Cowman - -l 17 10/54 3d year’s grataity.
5| Ferns - = = | P. M‘Donald ~| 16 10/54 Depress one year; no gratuity.
6 | Wexford, No.1 - | M. Connor - -] 18 2/55 1st year's gratuity.
7|« - ditto - = | John Pierce - - 14 7/56 Remove him; no gratuity.
8- - ditto = - | John Byrne - -| 16 4/55 Fine 10s. Gratuity (1st year)
to James Scallan, master of
- school.
9 | Castlebridge - | Thomas Barron - | 14 8/56 Remove him; no gratuity,
10 | Kilturk Female - | M. Smith -l 15 7/55 Gratuity of 1st year.
11 | Wexford Fem., No.2 | Eliza Power -1 15 7/56 - ditto - ditto.
12 | - - ditto - - [ Margaret Codd - | - 2 -
13 [ - - ditto - - | M. A, Murphy - | = - - ] : - tHian.
14 | - - ditto - - | Margaret Arkinson - - - J e K
15 | - - ditto - - | Kate Wickhom - | - - -

The four lest are quite unfit, so far as I can judge. from the extent of the examination
submitted to me ; the last two are junior monitors, The other four of the monitresses are
in the Wexford Female No. 1 School :

18 | - = - - | Ellen Roche -
17 | - - - = | Margaret Hinds - |\ All quite unfit. No partioulars as to their ages.
18 | - - - = | Maria Brophy - .
19 | - - - - | Anastatia M‘Evoy l

254. B ' Now

Printed image digitised by the University of Southampton Library Digitisation Unit



10 CORRESPONDENCE, &c. RELATING TO

Now this is not a “ Summary of the results of the examinations,” for it gives
no particulars whatever as to the answering of the monitors ; it merely specifies
their names, ages, dates of appointment, and Mr. Kavanagh's recommenda-
tions, Tor these he assigns no reasons. e does not give the particular
defects for which he recommends so many to be dismissed as (uite unfit,”
As I concur with him in some cases, but differ from him in others, I shall g0
into cach in detail, quoting his remarks as 1 proceed.

“No. 1. James Lambert, Lady's Island.  Remove him.”  This is my own
recommendation, as entered on the examination docket sent up last November.
I specified the 31st December as the date from which hie should be removed,
but this has not been done up to this. It is now not worth while to act upon
it, as Lambert’s term of serviee, four years, expires next month, and he will
then be discontinued.

The recommendations on Nos. 2 and 4 are the same as those entered by me
on the dockets, that the teachers should receive the regular gratuities ; Nos. 3
and 5, * Depress one year ; no gratuity.”

The latter part of this, that the teachers should receive no gratuity, I concur
in entirely, and T entered it on the dockets; but I do not clearly understand
what is meant by “ Depress one year.” If it be, that the monitor is to be con-
sidered in all respects of the previous year's standing, he will then serve five
years in all as monitor, instead of four, and will thus receive the more money.
"To many this would be not a punishment, but a reward.

No. 6. “ Martin Connor, Wexford M. No. 1. Appointed February 1855.
First year's gratuity.”

I object to this; Mr. Hanrahan is, in my opinion, entitled to the full
gratuity for this lad’s instruction. I have recommended the usual gratuity on
the docket in this case, which is of the second year.

No. 8. “John Byrne, Wexford, made No. 2, appointed April 1855. Fine 10s.
Gratuity of first year'to J. Scallan, master of school.”

It is not stated for what he should be fined. I made the recommendation
on the docket that he should be fined in this sum for neglect of personal neat-
ness after repeated warnings. He has, with the other monitors of the town,

. been taught, not by Mr. Scallan, but by Mr, Hanrahan, who is evidently
entitled to a gratuity ; and not, as I think, to one of the first year, but to that
of the second.

No. 10. “ Mary Smith, Kilturk Female N. S., appointed July 1855. Gratuity
of first year.”
This monitress was in her second year at the time of the examination, and
I submit the teacher ought to be paid the gratuity laid down'in the Board’s
_regulations for the second year. She has taken much pains with the monitress,
and is highly qualified to instruct her, being the best schoolmistress in the
district, and ranking first class, first division.

No. 11. *“ Gratuity.” Eliza Power. I concur in this, if it be meant that
the teacher of the Wexford N. 8., No. 1, receive it, as she attends his monitorial
class.

I now come to the recommendations for dismissal, 10 in number, of which "
I totally disapprove.

No. 7. “John Pierce, Wexford Male N. S., No. 1, appointed July 1856.
Remove him ; no gratuity.”

This I object to; the lad is a most promising monitor, and Mr. Kavanagh
himself said so to me when in Wexford, and told himself he was “a good boy,
and had an honest face.” I recommended, on the docket, that My, Hanrahan
should receive the regular gratuity for his instruction, that of the first year.

Nos. 9, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, and 19 :—* Remove him; no gratuity.”
“ Quite unfit; remove them.” “All quite unfit; no particulars as. to their
ages;” and in the body of his letter is the following remark : “ I know nothing
o% their age, standing,” &e.

Now it occurs to me that it would be much better if Mr. Kavanagh, before
recommending
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recommending these eight girls to be dismissed, had obtained this information
::}1‘11:;:1; z;}:)}:le:;a to me such as should be known to him, previous to adopting

One of these monitresses is a classed teacher now, as will appear shortly;
and the others, including Pierce, No. 7 (in all, 10), Mr. Kavanagh recommends
to be dismissed. I object to this entirely ; firstly, because, havine been ap-
pointed subsequent to April 1856, they were not liable to be judaa'ed on the
examination, which they were not bound to attend, by the Board's r?eo'ulutions
and to which they came voluntarily, in order to accustom themselves to the
routine. This routine is, in a much greater degree than an inexperienced per-
son can imagine, both difficult and embarrassing to young persons like them
who present themselves, for the first time in their lives, to what they consider
a most momentous and trying ordeal. 1 pointed this out in a letter accom.-
panying the monitors’ exercises, and which was, or should have heen, before

r. Kavanagh with these papers. If it were, he should not, 1 submit, have
recommended their dismissal ; but whether or not, the Board will not, I trust
attend to his recommendations in their cases. ’

Secondly. Of those monitresses recommended by Mr. Kavanagh to be dis-
missed as “ quite unfit,” and who eame thus to the examination with the object
stated in view, there is one, Margaret Codd (No. 12), whose case I wish to
notice particularly. She is the girl alluded to in my remarks on the Monitorial
School, whose father sent her to it, and paid for her instruction at it 5 «. a quar-
ter. She acted as monitress in the Wexford Female School (No. 2), but was
not paid by the Board. She was only a candidate monitress, waiting for the
next vacancy. She is amongst those to whom he applies the remark, “ Quite
urnfit; remove them ;" for after the following names of monitresses in the
tabular statement, No. 12, Margaret Codd; No. 13, Mary Anne Murphy ;
No. 14, Margaret Arkinson; No. 15, Kate Wickham, it will be seen he adds,
“ the four last are quite unfit, so far as 1 can judge from the extent of the
examination submitted to me.” And opposite their names are the words,
“ Quite unfit ; remove them.” On this T have to say, that the first-mentioned
of the four (Margaret Codd) was appointed teacher of the Castlebridge Female
National School subsequent to the monitorial examination, and being in charge
of it at the time of the teachers’ annual examination for 1856, held on the 5th
and 6th February last, was duly summoned to attend, and during examination
by Mr. Kavanagh was praised by him for her answering, and by himself, proprio
molu, recommended, on the classification being made, for promotion to the
third class of teachers. The written exercises alone could not possibly furnish
him with sufficient data for coming to the conclusion that a monitor was quite
unfit, and should be dismissed. Margaret Codd was the only girl attending the
monitorial school he examined orally, on his coming to Wexford, and he pro-
moted her, even as a teacher, instead of dismissing her as a mouitress. He was
not aware she had been attending the Monitorial School until she had been exa-
mined, and her promotion agreed upon. This fact I took particul:r care he
should not know sooner, in consequence of his loud disapprobation, already
expressed, of my monitorial arrangements. I thought it a good and fair way of
testing his accuracy that he should have an opportuniiy of examining one of
the monitresses without knowing she was such. It now appears that this one
he had already declared to be “quite unfit,” as three months only had elapsed
from the holding of the monitorial examinations, on which he recommended
her dismissal, and the holding of the teachers’ examinations, at which he had
her promoted. The inconsistency between the two proceedings cannot, in my
opinion, be accounted for by supposing that she made extraordinarily great
progress in the interim, although she undoubtedly did make a good deal. But
there is too wide a difference between a monitress deserving of dismissal as
“quite unfit,” and a teacher found deserving of third class, and that without
serving the usual probationary year, to admit of this supposition. He must
have been mistaken in her case, and I believe firmly he is so in the others.

He does not say what any of the monitresses either knows or does not know,
nor does he assign any reason whatever, as already stated, for his recommenda-
tions of dismissal beyond the mere dictum, * Quite unfit; remove them.”

I shall mention what Ellen Roche knows, another of those declared by him
to be “ quite unfit,” without having seen them, and, as he says himself, without

knowing their age or standing. She reads with entire ease and fluency; can
= 254. B2 : read
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read any of the poetical pieces in blank verse of the fourth book with accuracy,
ease, and expression; has a good accent and correct pronunciation; has a
tolerable knowledge of grammar, can parse ordinary sentenees, and has worked
and knows all the compound rules of arithmetic; knows the maps of the world
and Europe; writes a good hand, writes fairly from dietation; has a know-
ledge of needlework.  She is a senior monitress of the first year, having heen
seleeted by me last July, and is 14 years of age.

Mr. Kavanagh thinks proper to roport her as © quite unfit,” and to order her
dismissal.  If this be correet, all the monitors in the Wexford district, and all
the monifors and teachers in the entive kingdom are ““ quite uufit,” and
ought also to be dismissed.  If this be done, I feel quite sure no fitter persons
can be got to succeed them.  All the national schools in Ireland, as well as the
Wexford Monitorial School, will he permanently broken up, and then there
will be no further necessity for inspeetors or other oflicers of the Board ; they
will become useless, and may properly be dismissed too, and, indeed, the Board
itself may be dissolved.

But I believe all the other monitors appointed subsequent to the st of April
1856 to be, as well as Margaret Codd and Ellen Roche, well qualified and ¢uite
fit for their positions, and that Mr. Kavanagh would have found them so had
he examined them. Why did he not: I cannot say. It was of importance
he should. Ie had ample time to do so. The monitors were assembled at
one o'clock on Triday the 6th of Yebruary for the purpose, by his own orders
and appointment; they waited on him for more than three hours, and it was
but a quarter past four o'clock when they were brought in before us.  One,
only one, Kate Wickham, a junior monitress, was heard to read a few sentences.
She read extremely well.  Mr. Kavanagh had already declared her, in his
letter of the 21st January, to be “ quite unfit,” and had said, ¢ remove her.”
Nothing further was done, althongh all was ready for the examination. The
necessary books were on the table ; Mr. Hanrahan, the teacher, was in attend-
ance to give any explanations that might be .required. The monitors were
suddenly sent away, after being only a quarter of an hour before us; and it was
for this they had been kept waiting for three hours and a quarter.

Well, although Mr. Kavanagh would not examine them, he seemed never-
theless much pleased with them. Their appearance was remarkably neat and
respectable. He spoke encouragingly to them of their future success in their
chosen occupation as teachers, hoped to have the pleasure of meeting them
again in Wexford, and to find them progressing, &e. &c.

Now, if there were a person present aware that he had written a letter to the
Board recommending by far the greater number of these girls before us to be
dismissed as “ quite unfit,” and he had said to him, “ Surely, Mr. Kavanagh, you
cannot be serious ; suvely you cannot sincerely entertain the bright hopes of
these young persons’ future carcer you have expressed just now, for you
have already done all in your power to blight their prospects ; you have, but a
fortnight since, put in writing to the Board your deliberate opinion of their
total unfitness, and appear to have taken upon yourself to order the Commis-
sioners to dismiss them. The words of your letter, addressed to the Com-
missioners through their secretaries, concerning these monitresses are, ‘ they
are quite unfit; remove them.” The distriet inspector has told you they are
¢ quite fit," but you are resolved to hold to your letter. You are determined to
cdismiss them ; for, although they have been attending upoa you for two days
at your own order and appointment, and after having awaited adwmission to
your presence to-day for more than three hours, when they are now before you,
you will not examine them. Notwithstanding all this, you now tell them that
you entertain good hopes of their prospects in life as teachers, and endeavour
to persuade them that you take an interest in their welfare, and that you are
their friend. Come, Mr. Kavanagh, let us hear your explanation.” What
explsugation, I say, could he attempt to give in reply to such observations as
these ? :

Thirdly. I think Myr. Kavanagh has adopted an unusual and irregular course
in declaring paid monitors to be ‘ quite unfit,” and recommending them to be
dismissed on examination of their written exercises only, without examining
them orally, or even sceing them, and withont consulting the district inspector
in any way as to their merits,

In
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In the perfectly analogous case of the examination of teachers, the dismissal
or promotion, &ec., of these is made to depend on the joint recommendation of
the head and district inspectors; and a similar mode of proceeding appears to
have been provided for in the case of monitors, by printing on thie monitors’
exandination dockets a form of certificate to be signed by both. These cer-
tificates I filled up for all the monitors liable to examination, signed them, and
sent them with the exercises. I submit that Mr. Kavanagh, if he dissented
from any of the recommendations contained in these, should have communi-
cated with me on the subject, instead of undertaking, on his sole authority, to
recommend dismissals of monitors whom he had never seen, and these so
numerous, as to involve the virtual breaking up of the whole corps of monitors
in this town, having to assist in the instruction of upwards of 1,000 children.

He had clearly no right to change the amounts of the gratuities without my
eonsent or knowledge; for, in your circular letter of the 4th July last, it is
stated that the amount of gratuity in each case is to be awarded only on the
joint recommendation of the head and district inspectors. I cannot say
whether he ever sent into the office the certificates bearing my signatures, but
these appeared to me to be prepared for that purpose, and to have the teachers
paid the gratuities on them.

If a classification sheet were prepared for the monitors, and containing cer-
tificates for the gratuities to be filled up after each annual examination, and to
be signed both by the head and district inspectors, the chances would be very
materially diminished of any such difference of opinion as now exists between
Mr. Kavanagh and myself coming under the notice of the official authorities.

I have now done. This letter may appear lengthened, but I have made it as
brief as was consistent with noticing every point that required attention, and [
feel that it does not contain an unnecessary word.

I have, &e.
The Secretaries, Education Office. (signed) Henry P. Clarke.
(A.)
Sir, Wexford National Schools, February 1857.

As I have acted on your instructions in the conduct of the Wexford Moni-
torial School, and in the course of instruction pursued in all particulars, I think
it incumbent upon me to inform you of the very unfavourable views which
Mr. Kavanagh, Head Inspector of National Schools, has expressed to me
regarding it.

. On the 3d of February, I received a note from Mr. Kavanagh, requesting me
to have the monitors of both sexes in attendance, as he wished to see the moni-
torial or evening school in operation on the following day, the 4th. It was
unusual, and, in fact, never occurred before to bring the monitors of both sexes
together in the school, as I was most careful, in obedience to your express
directions, to teach the boys and girls on alternate days only. Fearing, there-
fore, that you might be displeased if they were brought together, although I had
them all in attendance, I had the boys in the lower school-room and the girls
above stairs.

Mr. Kavanagh arrived about half-past four o’clock, and remained only a few
moments. Immediately on his arrival he ordered the boys and girls to be
brought into the same room, which I obeyed at once. He did not examine the
childven in any branch of instruction, but called the roll, inquired their ages,
and dismissed them, telling them all to meet him there to examine them at one
o’clock on Friday, mentioning to the girls to obtain permission from the ladies
of the convents to do so, adding that they all knew him very well, and he had
no doubt they would allow it. On that day and hour they were in punctual
attendance, both boys and girls, as before. He could not, however, examine
them according to his appointment, as the examination of the female teachers
was proceeding. They were allowed then to remain (the girls in a private
apartment of my own, and the boys on the stairs, the school-rooms being occu-
pied by the teachers under examination) until three o'clock, when I considered
it my duty to inform him that they were all in attendance upon him accordmtg
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to his orders, and that they were anxious to go to dinner, as they were in the
habit of getting it about that hour, and to know if they might go away for this
purpose ; and if so, that they would return in a short time. He desired that
they should stay until four o'cloek, when he would see them : and if he could
not see them, then they might go home.  Ata quarter past four they were'sent
for, the girls being ou this oceasion brought in first and the hoys subsequently,
after the girls had left.  You yourself, sir, know what then oceurred ; only one
little girl, Kate Wickham, a junior monitor, was examined, and the examina-
tion consisted in requesting her to read a few sentences from one of the lesson
books, which I take the liberty of saying she did remarkably well. M.
Kavanagh and yourself had also the kindness to ask the class generally a few
questions in Seripture history. The boys were not examined at all.  All was
over about half past four o'clock, and the wmonitors were dismissed to their
homes.

On scveral occasions between Mr. Kavanagh's arrival and Iriday evening,
the 6th, he expressed very strong disapprobation indeed to me of having all the
monitors of the town placed under my tuition, as it was an injustice to the
teachers of the national schools to which they were appointed not to reccive the
gratuitics promised by the Board for their special instruction. To this I replied
by stating the fact, of which you, sir, are well aware, that there is no other
teacher but myself under the Board in this town qualified and willing to instruct
them, and that there is no injustice done, therefore, to any one in the matter.
This school is the only male national school in the town ; for, although it has
two separate roll numbers, it is really but one school, consisting of a junior and
senior department, the childven learning the first book being taught in the
lower room, and those morc advanced up stairs. I have always taught the
monitors of both rooms ever since monitors were appointed to them under
Mr. Bradford, and also under yourself long before the Board cawme to the deter-
mination of paying teachers for such special instruction.  As to the two remain-
ing national schools, they are held in the Presentation Convent and the Convent
of Mercy, and as you, sir, know well, the nuns would not and could not give the
monitors the special instruction which they receive from me ; they could only
be taught the ordinary lessons with the other pupils during the usual school
hours. The ladies of the convents are occupied with devotional exercises or in
other ways after school hours, and could not attend to the monitors after their
dismissal from school. I can confidently say that the arrangements under
which 1 have acted meet, not only with the fullest approbation, hut with the
warmest approval of the superioresses of those establishments. Previous to
those arrangements having been made by you, sir, I attended the Presentation
Convent to teach the monitors and some of the pupils of the fourth class outside
of the ordinary school hours, and was paid by Mrs. Butler, the mother-abbess,
from her own private purse. I was also asked by the rev. mother of the
Convent of Mercy to attend there in the same way, but was unable to do so for
want of time. If then the Monitorial School is discontinued, the only difference
it will make, as far as these establishments are concerned, is that the monitors
will be separated under instruction, and will thereby lose that stimulus to exer-
tion which every one who is acquainted with school teaching knows is produced
by having several taught together, and that those ladies will have a much
higher amount to pay to a competent teacher than what is awarded to me from

the Board. _ -
I thought the paramount objects of the Board in appointing paid monitors

and fixing a scale of remuneration to the teachers were, that they might be of
gervice in assisting in large schools where most required, and that they should
be properly instructed in a specific course, with a view to qualifying them to
become efficient teachers hereafter, and that whoever was best qualified, and
could give time also to such a task, would be the person most desirable to place
in charge of their instruction.

To these remarks Mr. Kavanagh replied that he had no objection to me per-
sonally as to my qualifications; that, on the contrary, he thought me a veryfit per-
gon to be entrusted with such an important charge. This, I think, he repcated again
in the presence of you and Mr. Barrett, but his objections remained unchanged
on the grounds before expressed, and for those reasons “ e could not tolerate
such a proceeding,” and that it would meet with his most strenuous opposition.

Further, he stated that he objected to female monitors attending a male

schocl
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school for instruction, to which I replied that the only time the male and female
monitors were ever brought together was the present, at his own special request,
and that you, sir, had expressly forbidden me on any pretext whatscever to
allow them to meet at school. I was much disappointed Mr. Kavanagh was
unable, from pressure of business, to examine the wmonitors, and pained to find
that he condemned the whole proceeding, without having an opportunity of
testing its usefulness by any examination. This seemed the more strzfuge
to me as he, on the occasion of his several visits to Wexford, expressed before
the teachers assembled, and on the last occasion in the presence of my patron,
the Rev. Mr, Roche, his opinion of me in very flattering terms. He also said,
in the presence of yourself, sir, and Mr. Barrett, that in his letter to the Com-
missioners he expressed his opinions of me in a way that would do me no dis-
credit. Thig, in my opinion, seems strangely at variance with his determination
to recommend the suppression of the Monitorial School, so well calculated on
several accounts to be beneficial to the monitors, and ultimately to produce
teachers better qualified than they would otherwise become without doing wrong
to any teacher to whose schools they have been appointed as before stated.

I have now given a plain and exact narrative, according to your request, of
everything that occurred respecting the success of the Monitorial School in
which you take so warm an interest.

I beg to remain, &ec.
H. P. Clarke, Esq., (signed) Patrick Hanrahan.
Inspector of National Schools.

Gentlemen, Rathgar, 29 April 1857.

I mavE heard from several persons that there has been lying in the office for
some time past a letter from Mr. Clarke in reference to my report, dated January
21st last, upon the paid monitors of his district,

Rumour informs me that much importance is attached to this letter, but I
would most regpectfully suggest that instead of making any such communica-
tion the subject of general comment, much less arriving at a foregone conclusion
in reference to its moral value, it should, at the earliest convenient period, be
submitted to me for my remarks or explanation.

I remain, &ec.
The Secretaries, Education Office. (signed) James W. Kavanagh.

Gentlemen, Rathgar, 4 May 1857.

I BEG leave to request that you will lay before the Commissioners of National
Education at their next meeting the following explanation respecting their
order, dated the 1st instant, in reference to my letter of the 29th ultimo, on the
subject of Mr. H. P. Clarke's reply to a report of mine on the paid monitors
of the Wexford district.

In that order, communicated by your letter of the 2d instant, it is stated,
““the attention of the Commissioners has been drawn to the following extract
from your letter (dated 29th April) : T would most respectfully suggest that
" instead of making any such communication (i. e. Mr. Clarke’s) the subject
of general comment, much less arriving at a foregone conclusion in reference to
its moral value, it should at the earliest convenient period be submitted to me
for my remarks or explanation.”” Upon this extract the following decision in
the same order is founded : “ The Commissioners object exceedingly to the tone
of your communication of the 29th April. They consider it undutiful and
unbecoming in you to assume that they would suffer the case to be prejudged
against you without enabling you to offer the fullest explanation respecting
any remarks unfavourable to your character that have been made by Mr.
Clarke, in the answer drawn up by him in reply to your (my) charges of 21st
January last.”

In reference to this decision Ibeg leave to state, that the drift of my letter o#the
29th ultimo has evidently been whollymisapprehended by the Commissioners, and
that I never meant to assume, nor did I feel any apprehension, that they would
suffer the case to be prejudged as described. I merely wished to eonvey to you
that this letter had been lying in the office for a long time, considering the
nature of the communication ; that I had been spoken to by many in reference to
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its nature and import, and that to silenee rumour it would be desirable to have
it sent to me for explanation without further delay.

I never felt towards the Commissioners as you describe ; no reference to them,
explicitly or implicitly, occurs in my letter, and the extract quoted to sustain
the view put forward is partial, as the first part of the sentence, and that
which affords the key to my meaning, iy omitted ; thus, “ rumour informs me
that much importance is attached to this letter, but,” and it is only after this
that the passage quoted on last page commences, instead of giving the whole
sentence.

Although a deep wrong has been done towards me, yet I feel that if it appears
to the Commissioners there was reasonable ground, in the want of clearness and
precision in the one sentence in my letter, to come to such a conclusion as that
adverted to,I can ouly express my sincere regret ; hut that | entertained no such
sentiments as those referred to me 18 known to many persons.

[ have, &e.
The Seceretaries, Education Office. (signed) J. W. Kavanagh.

(B. O., 8/5/57.)
Sir, Education Office, 13 May 1857.
Tur Commissioners of National Education have had before them your letter
of the 4th instant, in answer to our communication of the 2d, conveying a
Board’s order made on a previous letter of yours concerning Mr. Clarke's reply
to your complaint of him as an Inspector of National Schools. In the letter
referred to (4th) you make the following observation :

“In reference to this decision, I beg leave to state that the drift of my
letter of the 29th ult. has evidently been wholly misapprehended by the
Commissioners, and that I never meant to assume, nor did 1 feel any
apprehension, that they would suffer the case to be prejudged as deseribed.
I merely wished to convey to you that this letter has been lying in the
office for a long time, considering the nature of the communication ; that 1
had been spoken to by many in reference to its nature and import, and that
to silence rumour it would be desirable to have it sent to me for explanation

without further delay.”

We are directed to inform you, that in the unanimous opinion of the Com-
missioners your explanation is by no means satisfactory; and they hereby
require, that you will in future be more guarded in your official correspondence,
and abstain from making any comments on the acts of the Board or of their
officers, unless in so far as it may come within the sphere of your legitimate
duties as Head Inspector.

We are further to inform you'that the consideration of your letter in refer-
ence to yonr weekly lectures to the teachers of the North Dublin District, has

been deferred to the next day of meeting.

We are, &ec.
(signed) Alaurice Cross,) Saaieta
J. W. Kavanagh, Esq. James Kelly, ~[S°Cretares.
Sir, Education Office, 25 July 1857.

WE are to remind you of our letter of the 4th of May last, forwarding you a
copy of Mr. Clarke’s answers to certain statements made by you in your com-
munication of the 21st January last, and have to request that you will forward,
without further delay, any explanation you may have to offer.

We are, &e. 2
(signed) Maurice Cross,) ¢ 2|
J. W. Kavanagh, Esq. ¢ James Kelly, J-Secretanea.
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(Dist. 40.)

Mr. Kavanagh's Remarks upon Mr. H. P, Clarke's Letter of 11 March 1857, in
reply to Mr. Kavanagh's Report of January 21, upon the Monitors of the
Weaford District.

Gentlemen,

Mgr. CLAI}KE‘S lqtter of March 11th last, in reply to my Report of J anuary 21st
upen the paid monitors of the Wexford District, reached me in Claremoryis
May 10th, and other duties and circumstances prevented me from replying tc:
Mr. Clarke’s remarks previous to this date. .

This letter, or report, of January 21st, upon Mr. Clarke’s monitors, was for-
warded as part of a prescribed routine duty, and any peculiarity in it arose
wholly from the novel circumstances of the case. The reports upon six districts
had been forwarded previous to that upon Mr. Clarke’s; those upon two others
were sent in next day after that upon his, and the tenth report was delayed
owing to inspector's (Mr. Mahony's) retention of his monitors’ papers.

I think it necessary here, at the outset, to remind you that the question to
increase the number of paid monitors, and also to introduce junior monitors,
had been under discussion for many years by the head inspectors ; and that the
latter portion of the scheme was strongly opposed by Messrs. Butler and
M‘Creedy, whilst from the first it had my active support until carried. Scarcely
had the measure been promulgated, when its action was suspended by the
Board in the autumn of last year.

The examination of the paid monitors for 1856 was the first instance in
which the head inspectors were brought into immediate connexion with the
decision of the qualifications, &e., of these young persons, and with the award-
ing of gratuities to the teachers under whom they serve.

If the arrangements had been specially designed, which I am sure they were
not, to produce a large amount of contention between head and district in-
spectors, between the office and inspectors, and between managers and teachers
on the one side, against the Board’s officers on the other, they could not be
more successful than they have already been; and this in one year’s working
of the measure. This result was evident beforehand, and in the very first sum-
mary of the examinations sent in, that for District 35, January 3d last, I stated,
“I beg to observe that the entire procedure and operation of the monitorial
question require early consideration,” and this same opinion forms the substance
of the last paragraph of my letter of January 21st upon the examination of Mr.
Clarke’s monirors.

It may also be necessary to state that in several instances, as well as in Mr.
Clarke’s cases, I was obliged to differ in opinion with the district inspectors,
sometimes as to the retention of monitors in office, sometimes as to the amount
of gratuity to be awarded to the teachers under whom they served, and some-
times upon both these grounds. The cases of 99 monitors came before me, and
I was obliged to recommend the removal of 20 as not qualified ; that others
should be retained on trial only, and that the teacliers of about 40 of them
should be denied a gratuity for their instruction. In 6 of the 10 distriets I
recommended some to be removed, and in 8 of the 10 T recommended that
gratuities be refused. Of 19 monitors in Mr. Conwell's district, 5 were noted
by me for removal, and others for admonition; in Mr. Clarke's district, 9
of 19 were noted for removal ; in the former gratuities were refused in 10 cases,
and in the latter in 12.

On sending in my recommendation in the case of Mr. Clarke's monitors, I
felt it my duty to notice the following points in reference to that district: —

1st. That the appointment of the monitors is highly injudicious as to locality.

2d. That the examination of the monitors by Mr. Clarke was incomplete and
unsatisfactory.

3d. That the recommendation of Mr. Clarke to have the gratuities pertaining
to the monitors employed in four schools, paid to the teacher of one of these
schools, is wrong in principle, and otherwise objectionable. _

4th. That I differed with him in opinion as to the recommendations in sowe
of the 19 cases of salaries and gratuities.

March 11th, Mr. Clarke states that I have “mixed these subjects somewhat

confusedly together,” whereas they are treated of, in my letter of January 21st,
254. C - under
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under numbered heads as above, and copied therefrom by Mr. Clarke, but not
in that order. T shall deal with each subject as it oceurs in my letter, and
notice under cach such matters pertinent thercto as Mr. Clarke has brought
forward.

1st. Distribution of monitors over the district.

Returns reached me of 19 monitors only. I was fully aware that none were
required to attend the examination held last winter except those appointed
previous to April 1st, 1856, but finding that only eight belonged to that class,
and that of the other 11 there were very many of them who had been appointed
only a few months, and one whose appointment was not ratified, [ naturally
concluded that this was the entive monitorial staff of the district. Under this
view I protested against the allocation of 14 of these to the town and suburbs of
Wexford, and only five to all the suburbs in the rest of the distriet. In the
absence of a list of all the monitors employed in the distriet, I was unable to
know the precise number.  The order of the Board to appoint junior monitors
was cancelled soou after its issue; in only three of the districts were over 10
monitors examined, and all these, coupled with the statement above made, led
me to conclude that 19 formed the entire staff. Even with 48, as I learned in
a few days alter the date of my letter when I visited Wexford, the abuse is
lessened in degree only; as to assign 12 or 14 of these to one town in the
district is decidedly objectionable. It is very remarkable too, that a town
should be selected for the training of 12 monitors, three of the four schools in it
being unsuitable, as Mr. Clarke states, for the purpose. Wexford town contains
only a twelfth of the population of the district, not one-twentieth of the number
of schools, and far from one-fourth of the number of pupils.

Under this head T may notice that it is only by mere chance we could expect
successful appointments through the means resorted to by Mr. Clarke. He
printed a circular and sent it round to the managers of all the schools having
an average daily attendance of 35 pupils under a teacher classed 3, informing
them that their schools were each entitled to a junior monitor, and inviting
them to send in candidates for the monitorships. In this manner all, or nearly
all, the junior monitors were selected. Now the very first condition, and by
far the most important one, required by the Board's circular, was practically set
aside, viz., “ That the selection should be made from those who have manifested
an aptitude for teaching.” It may be said that the teacher's recommendation
to the manager might stand instead of the inspector's own personal experience ;
but this apology can have little weight with experienced inspectors. When you
consider the dates, so long before the examination of the monitors, of Mr.
Clarke’s visits to the schools, and when you find his note books perfectly blank
as to the details of the answering, aptitude for teaching, &c., of a single pupil
examined in 81 visits to schools (sec my letter* of April 10th last), can there
be any doubt that he had little or no knowledge of the aptitude for teaching of
the candidates, but that he selected them on the grounds of scholarship alone,
and hoped for the aptitude for teaching? Next, when we sce the few visits paid
to these schools by him since the appointment of these young persons, we can-
not doubt that, beyond having examined them, the inspector knows very little
of them as monitors in the schools where they aet. 1t is while going round
the schools, and observing the boys of promise in the classes, and such as act
as unpaid monitors, that an active and able inspector meets the recruits; upon
these he keeps his eye, and these he notes for monitorships when vacancies
occur. This Mr. Clarke did not do ; he appuinted them first from those pre-
sented by the managers, and he hopes whenever he visits to find them show.
the necessary aptitude. )

2d. Mr. Clarke’s examination of the monitors was incomplete and unsatis-
factory.

In reference to my remarks under this head, Mr. Clarke states that he had
10 of the 19 monitors under examination who were not liable to be summoned,
and that this “larger number rendered the examination more effective,” although
he pleads want of time to examine on some of the subjects omitted by him.
Surely had he called in only the proper parties, nine, the time would have beeln

: ample

® Written a month before [ received Mr. Clarke’s letter of March 11th last.
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ample to get through the duty in the manner required. Mr, Clarke appears
to lose sight altogether of the fact that whether the monitors were bound to
attend or not, if, on their answering, &c., coming before me I am of opinion
that they are not qualified in the entrance course for monitors, it is manifestly
my duty to report the matter to the Board and recommend their reiioval,
Why did Mr. Clarke summon them, interfering as it did with the proper exa-
mination of those bound to attend? Why unnecessarily double the number
and thus reduce by one-half the efficiency of the examination, time hein’
limited ?  Why send up the written exercises of the 10 not bound to attend
or why the office send them to me for my opinion and recommendation 3

Every statement made by me as to the short-comings of the examination is
strictly accurate, and is drawn exciusively, as 1 had no other source of informa-
tion, from Mr. Clarke’s own returns. These were, the monitors’ written exver-
cises, Mr. Clarke’s abstract of the oral examination as sent to me, and his sum-
mary of same on the backs of the dockets. The girls Murphy, Atkinson
Wickham, Roche, Hinds, Brophy, and M‘Evoy, seven of the 19, were not
examined in geography, lesson books, or arithmetic by written papers; at least I
must presume so when their exercises thereon are not sent, although those by
them on grammar and on dictation were forwarded to me. These same seven
were not examined orally upon either arithmetic or lesson books, so that, so far
as I know, they may lLave been then wholly ignorant of at least these two sub-
jects. It is remarkable also that a candidate, but not a recognised monitress,
Codd, should have been examined fully, at least to the extent of those of hichest
standing, whilst the above seven girls, all of whom were regularly appointed,
and one of them, Roche, a senior monitress, were not. Codd's qualifications
were satisfactory ; those of the others were not.

Mr. Clarke affects to contradict some of the details set forth by me by asking
upon what evidence this, that, and the other statement is made ; he knows full
weil that it is upon his alone. There is not a single fact set forth by me
respecting the details of the examination, but is drawn from his own returns,
and can be verified therefrom. T'.e backs of the 11 dockets in the office, which
were filled by Mr. Clarke himself, will afford proof of the accuracy of my state-
ments, and herewith I send the w.itten exercises of all the monitors, as also
other returns from Mr. Clarke, to overwhelm him with proofs of the accuracy
of my statements, which he well knew were drawn from his own official docu-
ments. His answer as to want of time to examine further is much weakened
for the following reasons: 1st. Had he called in the nine only, who were
obliged to attend the examination instead of 19, the time would have been
ample; and, 2d. When he did call them in, as eight of the 10 others lived in
the town and two near it, an efficient, anxious officer would have either extended
the time of the oral examination in the evening beyond three hours, or have
examined these 10 next day. Mr. Conwell had 19 monitors, and their examina-
tion is made complete in every particular ; Mr. Adair, Mr. Coyle, 12, &e., and
no officer connected with me 1-ft so much undone as Mr. Clarke ; * indeed few
left any subject of the course untouched.

3d. The recommendation to award to Mr. Hanrahan, master of one of the
Wexford schools, the gratuities for the instruction of not only the two monitors
employed under himself, but also for 10 others employed in three other national
schools in the town, is wrong in principle, and opposed to the regulations in
referepce to monitors. -

My ovjection to this pet scheme of Mr. Clarke's, one upon which he takes

credit for the occupation of so much of his official time, and which is the object
of s0 large a share of his anxiety, is the chief cause of the present controversy
about the paid monitors. Eight of these girls are employed in the two convent
schools in the town of Wexford; now, I say, if the ladies of those convent
schools are either unable, unwilling, or both, to undertuke the direction of these
girls in the prescribed course of study, deny them the aid of monitresses, and
" treat these like all other national schools. It is clear (page 2, Mr. C.’s letter),
that this novel scheme originated with Mr. Clarke; he canvassed the heads of

the convents for their support of it ; and then he puts the matter beforg !;h[ei
oar

® See returns herewith,
254. c2
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Board for their approbation. Mr. Clarke and others, I am sorry to observe,
quite forget that it can never have been seriously contemplated (no matter
what countenance the wording of rules or of circulars may give to the con-
trary), that the monitors of any grade should devote the whole of the school-
hours to actual teaching in the school ; and to thus employ a junior monitor
from the moment of his appointment would be so utterly absurd, that better
the whole monitorial scheme had never been started. A monitor is simply a
pupil whose services the teacher may command for a reasonable time in
the day to assist in some of the classes; during the remainder of the day
he stands in his own class and shares in its course of instruction. Wlen
first appointed pupil, age should be the rule, monitorial occupation the excep-
tion; and gradually these should so vary with his increased years, standing,
and proficiency, that towards the close of his senior service as a monitor,
teaching should be the chief, and pupilage the less occupation of his schoolhours.
It is a burlesque upon all rational notions of education to suddenly take a child,
of 11 years of age, in third class, and turn it into a six-hours-a-day teacher,
from that until it is 18 or 19 years of age, while passing through the junior and
senior grades of monitorship. To supplement a sort of rate-in-aid to this pre-
posterous scheme, it is proposed that the young people of that class in the whole
town (12 in all) shall get about three hours’ special instruction in each week,
not in their own schools (with one exception) or from their own teachers, but
from anuther teacher, who is to get the award of the emolument and the honour
due, wholly, or at least mainly, to those who should direct and instruct them,
not three hours a week, but five to six hours a day. In her own school and in
her own class is the proper place to instruct each of these girls; some of them
were children of 10 or 11 years of age. Some of these cannot distinguish the
parts of speech ;* hardly any of the girls succeeded in parsing a very simple
sentence. ‘The penmanship of some is very bad, and the orthography horrid.
Of the qualifications of seven of them [ am ignorant, beyond these three sub-
jects, and also reading; but in these they are not equal to senior third-class
girls. A glance over the mis-spelled words in the margin{ will afford some idea,
in this essential branch, of the gross ignorance of seven of the girls, who wrote
two exercises only, grammar and dictation. The fewest errors, amongst few
words, amounted to 15, and thence up to 36 ; the average number to each of
the seven monitors being 23 errors, capital letters, omitted words, &ec., exclu-
sive. How, may I ask, could any man, who knows anything of the form or
manner through which young persons learn, propose to improve elementary
knowledge of this kind amongst them by a master’s lecture, lesson, or other-
wise, at the rate of three hours’ instruction, over all the branches of learning,
in a week, rather than the more social, more natural, less morally objectionable,
and far more effective common class-teaching in their own schools, for the num-
ber of hours that they are open dailv? The ladies of the convent look after
the moral conduct and moral training of these girls ; they direct them, while
teanching the children ; they superintend their classes whenever they join in
them; they instruct them in needlework and the various forms of female
industry ; they witness the ladies conduct the schools, and direct their detailed
economy ; they see cleanliness, order, discipline maintained by peculiarly gentle
means ; and after all this, owing to a new division of labour, devised by Mr.
Clarke, the ladies are to be denied the right of the gratuity, whenever merited,
awarded to any ordinary schoolmistress in the land. To vote the gratuity to
Mr. Hanrahan, because of his three hours’ teaching of those girls in the week,
and to refuse it to the nuns, who are their real teachers and trainers, is scarcely
exceeded in absurdity by Peter, the London pavier, a fellow who hated work,
but was given to speculation, who proposed to his fellow-workman, Jim, to

apply

* Words from a simple sentence: Can, a noun common ; Whining, a noun; This, a verb; depend,
anoun; a, a definite article; the, the iadefinite article; Can, a regular verb; sit, an adjective;
over a Jesson, over, an adverb; &e. &c.

+ Moode, wher, wore (were), lik (like), rools (rolls), obgect, precent tence, Gramar, whare, Watre,
siol (soil), rased (raised), purpos, Shean (sheen), exsept, equaly, nown (noun), pronown, plurel,
there (their), blew (blue), currant (current), Wattered, Coharts, Speres (Spears), Crystures (Scrip-
turcs), Articale, definate, Grammer, Carefull (ly), writting, intranstive, negitive, relitive, iregular,
singuler, Agitive, indictiv, prepotion (preposition) etymolog, eggipt, Athiahopia, Asserion, Nubua,
indefinitive, Carcffuly, infection (inflection),
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apply the much-talked-of “division of labour™ to their craft, Jim to strike the
ramizer, and Peter to cry Ha! Mr. Clarke would, however,extend this prin-
ciple still farther; for while sub-inspectors have been doing the work of his
district, he has been employed in little else than clerical duty at home,

I am strongly opposed to the principle involved in this movement, and not
merely in so far as it affects monitors employed in convent national schools but
in relation to all schools whatever. [ shall ever regard a school as undeservin
the aid of a monitor, if the teacher be not able, willing, and anxious to under.
take the entive instruction and training of the person to be appointea.

January 21st I wrote the report upon the examination of Mr. Clarke’s
monitors, and anxious to ascertain the nature and working of this so called
monitorial school before going to Wexford to hold the examination of the
teachers, I wrote to Mr. Hanrahan to have the monitors of both sexes assembled
on the evening of 4th February that I might see them. On my arrival from
Dublin on that day, I proceeded instantly to the school, and saw the assembled
young persons. It was then near five o'clock and duskish; I inquired as to
their ages, class in school, subjects taught in the evening, days of attendance,
and hours, &c. from hoth themselves and Mr. Hanrahan; I directed the
monitors to meet me on Friday, during the hour of recess, in the teachers’
examination, that T might examine them. I met them on Friday, and was able
to speak with them but a short time only, owing to the following reasons:
When I made the promise on Wednesday evening [ had not seen Mr. Clarke.
On Thursday he left the examination room precisely at 54 o'clock as men-
tioned in the regulations, and informed me that Mrs. Clarke, his wife, was ill;
and that he could do no more work that evening. I had not known that, of
course, when I made the promise to examine the monitors. Mr, Barrett and [
continued the examination till later, and that night we remuined up in the
hotel until we had completed the marking of the women's (nine) written
exercises. I intimated to Mr. Clarke next day, that it was my duty (as I had
informed him by letter of February Ist) to examine the several official books
of the district in compliance with the Board’s instructions ; and as [ could not
call to his house to examine them, I requested that he would send them to me,
either to the school or to my hotel. He demurred as to allowing me to see his
note-books, and stated that he was not bound to do so.* I saw a manifest
inclination to occupy my time so as to make it impossible for me to examine the
books that evening, as he knew that, next day being Saturday, I would return
home ; so I closed the examination of the teachers, the only subject not
entered on orally being mathematical geography, which we could judge from
the written papers, and 25 questions had been put upon local and descriptive
geography. 1 also sent away the monitors, as, besides examining Mr. Clarke’s
official records, I had to classify 27 teachers. Mr. Clarke did not send his
books to me to the hotel until a late hour, and after we had classified the
teachers, so determined was he to prevent me if possible from examining his
books, that although I wrote out and checked over with him the classification
of the several teachers as agreed upon by us both, that he refused to sign the
classification sheets for the office, until they were first written out, in order to
occupy the time that I might otherwise give to the examination of his books.
Of course, when he had under my hand the results of the examination, as
checked by us both, no change could be made in the decisions; he changed his
mind after, but I went on; wrote out fully the details of the 27 teachers and
of some absentees, and then obtained his signature. :

1 mention these particulars that Mr. Clarke’s character may appear in its
true light in connexion with my not having examined the monitors as pro-
mised.T The two note-books sent in with my letter of April 10th last, and
these two doubtless selected by Mr. Clarke as the most favourable specimens,
as they refer to the period when he was working in order to remove his recent
depression to the rank of sub-inspector, indicate very clearly why he threw
obstacles in the way of their examination by me. I treated him with every

consideration, and merely requested that he would allow me to see any twoh(_!f
is

* He read the code, and found his mistake. : :
+ I need scarcely rewark, that the examination of the monitors, and calling them together, were
acts altogether extra-official on my part as head inspector.

254. c3
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his note-books, in order to enable me to report on the matter to the Com-
missioners.

Referring to my statement that the monitors’ class was mixed as to sex, no
one reading Mr. Clarke’s account of the matter can doubt that such mixture is
quite compatible with his report, as he constantly refers to it as a school, the
monitors’ cluss, &e., and never as two classes of different sexes.* It was only
when T visited Wexford that 1 learned that the girls attended on three, and
the boys on the other three evenings of the week. This, however, lessens the
objections by one only, as these young persons go from school at three o'clock
to their dinner, and return at four to the monitors’ class in Mr. Hanrahan's
school, and there remain an hour or so under instruction ; whereas, if taught
in their respective schools, it might be done the hour next before, or the hour
next after, school time. In the two convent schools it could be done during
school hours, as from the large staff of ladies the monitresses might get special
instruction from some of them during the hours for general business. I was
informed by Mr. Hanrahan that owing to the shortness of the evenings in
December and January, there was little time left after four o’clock for instruc-
tion, as night falls immediately after.

I stated, amongst other objections, that Mr. Hanrahan’s relation to all the
monitors (with the exception of his own two), was in their capacity as scholars,
and not as monitors, and notling that Mr. Ciarke mentions affects this obvious
truisa. It would appear that Mr. Hanrahan makes the eight or nine girls
regard themselves now as ignorant of their letters, next as a class learning
tables, then as parsing, next as a fourth reading class, &e., and in this panto-
mimic fashion he puts them through a sort of travesty of the actual business
and varied dutics of schools attended by hundreds of children, in which they
spend five hours each duy; and to complete the farce, this, with their special
instruction as scholars, is all compressed into, and acted in, an hour each
alternate evening.

It is said, in reference to the question of a mixed class of monitors, that I
had a mixed clas. of teachers under examination in Wexford. It needs little
observation to see the totally distinet character of both the parties, and the
circumstances. Joung persons from 14 up to 18 years of age (Mr. Clarke
returned none as under 14; some of the eight whose ages were not rcturned
may have been under 14), of different sexes going to and returning -through
a large town from an evening school, and mixing during the time of instruction,
are very different from a number of men and women assembled in the one
room, as they were on the two occasions referred to. At the examination in
February 1856 there were only six mistresses : their written exmmnination would
occupy us an entire day, whereas a day was gained, and the business equally
well done, by holding the oral examination of the men at the same time. The
six women sat in three desks at the end of a room about 50 feet in length, the
men under oral examination at the other end, with their backs to the mis-
tresses 3 so that the inspectors could see that the women went through their
written examination orderly and fairly, while occupied in examining the men ;
next cday the oral examination of the women was held. Again, in January
1857, there were only nine women, and the same took place.t From the time
the sexes entered the room until the moment they left, they had not the
slightest intercourse, were never in proximity, both were deeply intent on what
concerned their serious interests, and, except that the women could see the
backs of the men, and hear one of their voices at a time, they were morally as
much apart as if they had been separated thousands of miles from them. It is
very true that Mr. Clarke would much prefer, but not on the grounds of moral

apprehension,

* In Mr, Clarke’s letter, dated the 15th December 1856, and which accompanied the monitors’
exercises, &c., as sent to me, he distinctly states, “ that the master of the \Wexford Male No, 1
School, has been entrusted with the special instruction of the monitors of botl sexes, and who has
kept an evening school in constant operation for this purpose, I purpose to make a special report on
the working of this school, as I have had {requent opportunities of visiting it, and it appears to me
one which will strangly aid,” & On reading this, no one can doubt that [ was fully warranted in
assuming, on Mr. Clarke's own report, that both sexes were taught together as one school.

+ There were but a few of the 1g men in the same room with the women, ns Mr. Barvett had
some of the men in the junior school down stairs, Mr. Clarke had a portion in the tencher's parlour, -
at the end of the school, and I had the remainder in the lower end of the room, where nine women
sat, Very Rev. Mr. Roche and one of his curates were present, .
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apprehension, far more time to be devoted to the examination of the teachers :
not merely would it be easier work, but it would permit him to abstain from
going out to inspect schools, a duty particularly irksome to Mr. Clarke, It is
manifest, therefore, that no possible danger could arise from permitting the few
female teachers to write their exercises in the room while the men were under
oral examination, as now described ; and also that there is no parity what-
soever between such an assemblage of persons for one day in the year, and of
such ages, and an evening school constantly kept by a master, the pupils being
of both sexes, as Mr. Clarke's letter led me to believe, and of ages varying from
14 to 18 years. T

I have now noticed all the remarks made by Mr. Clarke in reference to the
recommendation made by him that Mr. Hanrahan should receive the gratuities
for the instruction of the monitors engaged in the two convent schools, and also
in Wexford Male No. 1 School, and must repeat my former statement, that
“1 am much surprised at this singular and improper recommendation.” * If
such a principle be once adopted by the Board, the sooner the monitorial
staff is disbanded the better; as it is clear that the teacher, whose pupil the
monitor had been previous to his appointment, and whose pupil he continues to
be during his term of office, is the proper and only party to reccive praise or
blame for the direction of the monitor's successful or unsuccessful course of
study and of training. If it be done in Wexford, why not in Dublin, Cork,
Belfast, and all the 13 towns in Ireland, the population of which exceeds that of
Wexford, and these with large numbers of monitors ? Let the alternative be
put to the nuns ; if not able, willing, and anxious to instruct these girls, during
school hours, before school hours, or after, as most convenient to them, then
they can have no paid monitors; and I at least have no doubt of whar their
response will be. Besides, in the large towns this principle would be attempted
to be carried out in tlre case of double schools elsewhere, and at the caprice of
an inspector or of a manager. The monitress in a girls’ school might be
directed to attend the master of the boys’ school for evening instruction; and
thus extend discontent, jealousy, and indifference to the best interests of the
monitresses amongst the female teachers. In England there is scarcely an
instance, except in the case of a married couple in charge of a mixed school,
or of attached double schools, in which a master is permitted to instruct a
monitress, as may be seen from the correspondence on the subject in the
minutes of the Committee of Council on Education. Considering all these
grounds both as to the moral and the scholastic aspects of the question, I am

ecidedly opposed to any departure from the practice heretofore followed in
reference to the responsibility of the training and instruction of the monitors by
their respective teachers; and although no one under the Board has laboured
harder in favour of the plan of teacher-recruits than I have, or has watched
more vigilantly to prevent and correct the abuses to which it is liable, T would
feel it my bounden duty to recommend the immediate disbanding of that
important junior arm of the teaching staff, in preference to its continuance under
any such altered circumstances as those suggested by Mr. Clarke.

4. The fourth head in my letter is, “ Summary of the results of the examina-
tions” of the monitors, or the recommendations made by me in the 19 cases laid
before me. '

In making the recommendations upon the dockets wherever | had themT_I
stated my reasons in each case, and the results of the written and oral exami-
nation of the monitor ; and the inspector's opinion of the teacher and the monitor
generally were my only guides in forming such opinion. I mow send in the
actual written exercises of the monitors, and also a synopsis of the oral
examination drawn up by Mr. Clarke, and since January last, I have made no
entry of any moment upon any one of these papers. They furnish replies to
Mr. Clarke’s statements, pages 12, 13, 14, and 15, of his letter in reference to

my complaint that  the examination was incomplete and unsatisfactory.” [ml'\gr
. e,

* On the second page of his letter Mr. Clarke wholly misquotes, or rather misapplies this extract
from my letter of Janvary 21st; he applies it to his recommendation to place the monitors of both
goxes under the care of Mr. Hanrahan, whereas it is used by me solely in reference to the recoms-
mendation that he should be paid gratuities for other than his own monitors.

+ In eight cases there were nane. .
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Clarke, with a copy of my letter.before him, misstates the facts in i_t.; thus,
page 14, he says: “T do not helieve th:},t thc_ monitors were not examined on
lesson books or arithmetic, orally, or in writing. In fact, this assertion is
entirely unfounded.” The statement made in my complaint was, that the
whole 19 monitors should have been examined orally, on at least lesson hooks
and arithmetic, but that this was omitted in the case of several, may be seen
from the returns sent herewith, thus :

Of the 9 monitors and 10 monitresses there were examined on—

Grammar, Googrophy.
: ]
e R M B - 5
o i
: 5| ¢ |
“ o =] m ) Feld
g 2B 3 ; @ g ﬁ g :“E:’ :
s |§ E|Z|E|E &% E|Bg| b
= & & |@|A|= A |4 = 25| =
[ S—— M —
) 9 ) 9 8 8 hoys 0 3
Written examination - 7] - © s = e = 3T =
10 10 3 3 3 ivls 0 0
J’ 0 boys 0 9 9 9| 9 0 0 boys 0 0
Oeal  ditto . -y — - - - o - —_ = = o =
l]t} girls 0 0 ) 3 10 0 0 girls %) o

This analysis of the examination, so far as reported to me, or as indicated by
all the documents forwarded, enables you to see the folly, to say the least of it,
of Mr. Clarke in attemping to contradict, which he does with his usual confi-
dence, the statements made by me, showing that he conducted the examination
in an incomplete and unsatisfactory manner; and that it may be scen that I
have not treated him with any degree of sharpness or severity in my report on
his short-comings, I beg leave to send in herewith the returns of Mr. Conwell
and Mr. Adair, as specimens of the stvle and manner in which other officers
connected with me discharged the duties of the monitors’ examination. These,
with Mr. Clarke’s papers, you will please return to me when examined.

There is only one of the 19 cases deserving of special notice in reference to
my recommendation founded upon the examination ; and fortunately it is one
which will draw out in bold relief the character of Mr. Clarke. This is the
case of Margaret Codd. In reference to this young girl, Mr. Clarke says that
“He (Mr. Kavanagh) was not aware she had been attending the monitorial
school until she had been examined and her promotion agreed upon. "This fact
I took particular care he should not know sooner, in consequence of his loud
disapprobation, already expressed, of my monitorial arrangements. I thought
it a good and fair way of testing his accuracy that he should have an oppor-
tunity of examining'one of the monitresses without knowing she was such.”
Now Mr. Clarke evidently means by this that he knew that I had recommended
the removal of Margaret Codd as unfit to be a monitor ; but as I was not aware
that she was the same person who came before me in January as a teacher, he
would keep me ignorant of the fact, and await my opinion as to her worth, in
order to test the value of my judgment in such matters. In this statement
there is not a particle of truth, except so far as it may indicate Mr. Clarke’s
real character. Mr. Clarke was utterly igmorant, until after the examination
of the teachers, of my opinion of M. Codd as a monitor ; and even then, and
now, he misstated and misstates what that opinion was. It may be true, that
while ignorant of my opinion of her and of my recommendation about her as a
monitress, that he may have watched with interest her examination as a teacher,
and my opinion thereof ; but it is wholly untrue that he had any knowledge
whatever of my decision as to her case, or that of any other of the 18
monitors, until late at night on Friday, the 30th January, when the oral exami-
nation of the women was over, their written exercises marked, and we in the
act of classifying the female teachers. It was only the previous week that my
‘report upon the monitors was sent to the office; the results were not then
communicated to Mr. Clarke; but so anxious was I to let Mr. Clarke know
my views upon the subject (a subject to which no one has given more atten-
tion) that I not merely wrote to the teacher to have all the Wexford monitors

to
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to meet me on my arrival, as already stated, but I purposely brought with me
my letter book (copies) ; and on Friday night T not only allowed Mr. Clarke to
read, but also to copy, my letter of January 21st respecting his monitors. Tt
was then and thus he became first aware of my recommendations as to the
individual monitors; and how far this correct statement accords with the drifs
of Mr. Clarke’s account of the interest he felt in how my consistency was to be
tested by the examination of Margaret Codd, it is for the Commisioners to
judge. My consistency was tested, and the results proved the fixity of my
opinions. M. Codd’s examination in November 1856 as a monitress, especially
in the important branches of Reading, Parsing, Spelling, Dictation, Geography,
and Penmanship, so struck me, and it evinced so much superiority, that although
only a candidate then, I recommended her appointment (in the school for which
she was returned), and a gratuity to the teachers (nuns) of the first year. This
may be seen on page 3 of my letter of January 21st, where that gratuity is
recommended in her case, and also in those of the girls Smith and Power, whose
names are above hers, and which letter Mr. Clarke copied with my permission.
The statement on the next page (4) that the four last, which would appear to
include the name of Codd, are * quite unfit,” was evidently made from hastily
glancing at the brace after the last three names, as if it included the fourth,
which it does not ; and an examination of the table shows that there can be no
doubt whatever that a gratuity of the first year is recommended in her case.
(See her papers, &c., herewith, as noted by me in Jannary last.) Three months
after Margaret Codd came before me as a teacher, and never having seen her
before, and without recollection as to her examination as a monitress, I of myself
placed her on 3d class with Mr. Clarke’s full concurrence, and which she well
merited. Whose the truthfuluess, frankness, and consistency in this case, Mr.
Clarke’s or mine? He has overreached himself as he has often before done, and
if he would only use rightly and on principle such means for discharging his
duties as an officer and as a man, as he can command, his position, as to time,
depression in rank, &ec., might be very different in the Eoard’s service. Mr.
Clarke states that ““ He (Mr. Kavanagh) must have been mistaken in her (M.
Codd’s) case: and I believe firmly, he (Mr. K.) is so in the others.” If my
mistake be of the same kind as that of M. Codd, we know the result in each
case. Let us see the cases in detail—

. Lambert, Ladies’ Island ; Mr. Clarke and I agree ;
. Long, Enniscorthy ; o n =

. Couman, N. T. Barry ; x5 . "

. Leary, Piercestown ;

5. M‘Donald, Ferns ; }

as to refusing gratuities to the two teachers who had charge of the instruction
of the last two; and he differs with me only as to my recommendation to
degrade each of the lads to the rank of previous years’ status. I see no
difference but that of degree in the disrating a monitor and disrating a teacher
or even a higher officer.*

GO o kD =

n bh ] 3

1]

6. Connor, Wexford, M., No. 1.—Mr. Clarke and I agree, except as to the
amount of gratuity ; from his rank and the results of the examination, I recom-
mend a first year's gratuity, only one year nine months’ appointed, and Mr.
Clarke a second year’s.{

7. Pierce, Wexford, M., No. 1.—I recommend this lad’s removal, and tha_zc
gratuity be refused to his teacher ; Mr. Clarke is of a different opinion. This
lad is returned as 14 years of age, and appointed July 1856, and not only does
Mr. Clarke recommend his retention as senior monitor, but, although only then
four months in office, he recommends that a first year's gratuity be awarded to
the teacher. Let us inquire into the qualifications of the boy from his written
exercises and from Mr. Clarke’s report of his oral examination :—

Written Examination.—Twenty questions were put before him on Grammar,
Geography,

* See written exercises, and oral examination of both lads.
4 See examination, oral and written.
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Geography, Lesson Books, and Arithmetic; and of these he attempted 11, and did
not enter upon 14 ;* of the 11, the answers to—
7 were wrong.
1 imperfect.
2 unsatisfactory.
1 satisfactory, and not quite so. (See paper.)
Penmanship, horrid.

Spelling.—Over 50 errors in a few pages. Here are a few specimens :—

Persnal, unthruth, progeets, rebil, singluar, heatred, Inions, furstated, nomi-
tive, sons (suns), Allise, potatoo, axilary, figuars, nuter, Caracters, Iimper (or),
center, iregluar, centuary, deafeat, ultemetly, indictave, ambious, influine,
possion.

In the oral examination he was asked—

10 questions in grammar ; missed 7.
10 questions in geography ; missed 3.

Got the lowest mark (D) in parsing and in outline maps, and a low mark (C)
in reading. He failed in every question in the written paper on arithmetic;
no oral examination on same subject. ~

He is wholly unfit as a monitor. (See his papers and Mr. Clarke's account
of his oral examination sent herewith.)

8. Byrne, Wexford, Male No. 2.—In this case Mr. Clarke and I fully agree,
except that I recommend the gratuity to be paid to Mr. Scallan, master of
Byrne's school, instead of to Mr. Hanrahan, master of an adjoining school. As
to the fine, it is stdted upon the docket what it is for.

9. Banon, Castlebridge.—Remove him ; no gratuity. A]though Mr. Clarke
groups his case with that of other parties removed or recommended to be
removed, he does not enter upon the matter, and therefore I presume he does
not dissent from my opinions.T

Written Examination.—Out of 20 questions only four attempted. Grammar,
1 attempted, unsatisfactory : lesson books, 2 attempted, one imperfect and one
wrong ; geography, 1 attempted, unsatisfactory ; arithmetic, no paper returned ;
dictation, very bad; penmanship, horrid. - (See Written Exercises.)

Oral Examination.

Grammar, of 10 questions, missed - - 8
Gecgraph}-', tE] 22 tH] e ke - i
Outline maps, lowest mark - - - - (D).
Parsing, below lowest mark & 5 = (B).
Reading, second lowest mark - & = (s

No oral examination in arithmetic or lesson books.
He is utterly unfit. Remove him.

Female Monitors.

10. Mary Smith, Kilturk. —She was appointed July 1855 ; examination held
November 1856. I regard her answering as meriting, at most, a gratuity of
first year, which ended only three or four months before the date of examina-
tion. Mr. Clarke thinks second year’s; I think first. This is the only
difference in this case.

Written Examination.

Eight of 20 questions attempted ; of these—

b were satisfactor}';
2 were imperfect ; and
1 was unsatisfactory.

Penmanship, very good.
Spelling and dictation, good.

No exercises on geography or arithmetic. Geal

* Monitors were required to answer 13 only of the 20, ° "' 4 See his examination.
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Oral Examination.

Reading and parsing, second lowest mark - (C).
Spelling book. 10 questions, answered - - B
Geography, 10 5 i - )
Outline maps, good mark - - - - (B).

No examination on lesson books or arithmetic.

11. Eliza Power, Wexford, Fem., No. 2.—In this case Mr. Clarke quite
concurs with me as to granting a first year's gratuity ; but he would pay it to
Mr. Hanrahan: I, to the teachers of her school.

12. Margaret Codd, Wexford, em., No. 2.—This case already disposed of;
no difference of opinion hetweea Mr. Clarke and me upon the matter, save that.
the gratuity is to be paid to the ladies of the convent, not to Mr. Hanrahan.

13, 14, 15. 16, 17, 18, and 19.—These vefer to the girls Murphy, Atkinson,
Wickham, Roche, Hinds, Brophy, and M‘Evoy, the removal of whom I have
recommended. In all these cases Mr. Clarke differs in opinion with me.

13. Murphy :

Written Examination.—Of 20 questions four were attempted; of these three:
were satisfactory, and one marked (E) below the lowest; dictation, (E);
spelling; 26 errors in a few words: penmanship, poor. No examination on
geography, lesson books, or arithmetic.

Oral DExamination.—Reading and parsing, (C) each; outline maps, (D).
No examination in arithmetic or lesson books. Quite unfit.

14. Atkinson:

Written Examination.—Out of 20 questions one (in grammar) attempted,
mark (E); does not know the common parts-of specch; dictation, horrid;,
36 errors in spelling in a few words ; penmanship, poor. No examination in
lesson books, geography, or arithmetic.

Oral Examination.—Marked (C) in reading, (D) in parsing, and (E) im
outline maps. No examination in lesson books and arithmetic. Wholly
unfit.

15. Wickkam :

Written Examination.—Out of the 20 questions attempted, one in grammar,.
marked (E); has no idea of the parts of speech; dictation, very bad; 2I
errors in spelling ; penmanship, bad. No examination in lesson books, geo-
graphy or arithmetic.

Oral’ Examination.— Reading (C); parsing (E); outline maps (E). No
examination in lesson books or arithmetic. Remove: wholly unfit.

16. Roche:

Written Examination.—Answers have been attempted to six of the 20 ques-
tions; of these—
3 are satisfactory ;
2 are imperfect; and
1 is marked (C), parsing;
dictation, poor ; spelling, 15 errors; penmanship, very -fair. No examinatiom
on geography or arithmetic. '
Oral’ Examination.—Reading, marked (B); parsing and outlin_e maps, each
(C). No examination on lesson books or arithmetic. Not qualified ; but the
best of those rejected.

17. Hinds :

Written examination.—Three answers attempted to 20 questions; all t?nree
unsatisfactory; dictation, horrid; spelling, 23 errors; penmanship, pretty
good. No examination on lesson books, geography, or arithmetic.
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Oral Examination.—Marked (C) in reading, and (D) each, in parsing and
outline maps. No examination in lesson books or arithmetic. Quite unfit.

18. Brophy:

Written Examination.—One answer, marked (D.), attempted to 25 questions ;
dictation, bad; 18 errors in spelling. Ne examination in lesson books, geo-
graphy, or arithmetic; penmanship, pretty good.

Oral Examination.—Reading, marked (C); parsing, (D); and outline maps,
(E). No examination in lesson books or arithmetic. Quite unfit.

19. M‘Evoy :

Written Examination.—Three of 20 questions attempted ; one satisfactory,
one imperfect, and one marked (D) ; dictation, bad; 21 errors in spelling:
penmanship, very bad. No examination in lesson books, geography, or
arithmetic.

Oral Examination.—Reading, marked (C); parsing, (D) ; and outline maps,
(E). No examination in lesson books or arithmetic. Quite unfit.

I have thus given the details of the 19 cases, the written exercises, the
dockets (of most of the monitors)* and the summary of Mr. Clarke's oral
examination of all the parties accompany this letter for verification and refer-
ence. If these are to be our monitors, and they obliged, as many suppose, to
teach others all day, the sooner we abandon the monitorial scheme the better ;
I can be no silent party in carrying out a system alike destructive to the
intellectual well-being ot these young people, and delusive as an aid to the
promotion of efficiency in our schools.

From first to last, Mr. Clarke’s proceedings were most irregular in relation
to the monitors. Iis mode of selecting them, as already pointed out, was
wrong, and amongst the other strong objections to it, there is this, that as the
schools differ very widely in suitability for the training of a monitor, so a
competitive examination as to scholarship merely, must often have the effect
of rejecting a qualified, but not the best lad from the monitorship in a school
admirably efficient to train him, and wanting his services, and give it to a lad
of higher attainments but under an inferior teacher in a school not so efficiently
conducted, and of lower general claims to a monitorship. These questions of
practical expediency could not be applied by Mr. Clarke from the manner in
which he discharges his duties. You have before you two of his note-books
with my letter of April 10th, and for reasons already stated doubtless the least
faulty two that he could select, and from my tabular list of his inspection during
March, April, May, and June 1856, as extracted from those books you will find
that he alleges he paid 95 visits to 81 different schools wherein he found 4,9317
pupils present or over 50 in each, and not only is there a total absence of all
note or memorandum in reference to even one boy or pupil of merit, or promise
such as might suit for the office of monitor, but there is no note of a single class
or subject examined upon in any one of the 81 schools, or at any of the 95
visits.  As to the classes it may be said that in nearly all cases there is an entry
of the numbers said to have answered in the several branches, but even these
bare figures are not entitled to reliance in fully half the schools visited, for
reasons pointed out in my letter of April 10th, before T had any knowledge of
Mr. Clarke's letter dated March 11th, and which communication I did not
receive until May 10th. '

Next Mr. Clarke appoints one-fourth of the 48 monitors of the district, in the
four schools in the town of Wexford, although he states (page 7), that in these
four schools there is only one teacher qualified and willing to give the 12
monitors the special instruction which they require. If so, why make the
continuance in office of the 12 monitors contingent upon this one teacher
remaining in that or any other school in the town, upon his consent to under-
take or keep up this special instruetion, or upon his removal from the school,
that the manager would fill his place by a man of equal merit and suitability for
this duty. If Mr. Clarke'’s statement be true, which 1 believe it is not, how does
_ he

* Already sent in. + None present at a few visits,
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he explain his conduct in reference to any senior monitresses that may have been
in the two Convent Schools, or monitor in the Wexford Junior Male School
previous to 1st July 1856 3 Was it precisely at this date that the nuns and
Mr. Scallan became unable or unwilling to instruct monitors ? Because if before
it, and that there had been any monitor in any of these schools, Mr. Clarke
should have had such appointment cancelled.

Mr. Clarke called in 19 instead of nine monitors to the examination ; he first
pleads that this made the examination more effective, and then turns round
and gives this as an excuse for the omission of several prescribed portions of
the oral examination of the senior monitors. The real object of calling in the
10 monitors appointed after April 1856, was to get up a pretext for awarding
Mr. Hanrahau a gratuity forinstrueting these persons for four months (1st J uly
to November) during which time they were under his tuition about 48 hours
ouly, or 96, the time with both sexes included.

There were omissions of important portions of the examination in the case of
every monitor examined, and Mr. Clarke’s shameless contradictions of my state-
ments under this head, drawn from his own returns, are numerous. There
were only two questions asked of each of the nine boys upon the Spelling Book
‘Superseded, and none asked of seven of the 10 girls. It is true that each wrote
an exercise on Dictation, but the Programme very properly prescribes both, as
the former tests their knowledge of the rules for Spelling, and many things
besides simple Orthography. The boys were all examined orally upon both Geo-
graphy (Descriptive and Mathematical), and Outline maps, but the 10 girls were
examined upon the latter only ; Mr. Clarke, suppressing truth, attempts to show
that because at an examination of female teachers, I contented myself with 25
questions to each upon outline maps, owing to the call of other duties imposed by
his want of co-operation with me, I am inconsistent ; whereas the women had
written their exercises on Geography (Descriptive, Mathematical, &e.), and seven
-of the 10 monitresses never wrote a line upon the subject. Neither boys nor girls
were examined orally upen Lesson Books or upon Arithmetic; and seven of the
10 girls wrote no exercise upon either of these branches. Of the 10 girls, none
were examined orally upon Grammar beyond simple Parsing, although the boys
were ; and several of the girls attempted no answer to the printed questions on
Grammar, beyond the Parsing exercise. One of the mouitors was in his fourth,
two in their third, and four in their second year, and besides the omissions
referred to, they were not examined orally in several subjects preseribed by the
Programme. If Mr. Clarke had honestly put in the six hours plea, and that no
more could be done in that time, one could understand him; but when he
equivocates, and in the face of his own documents attempts to deny the short-
.comings of the examination, it is my bounden but painful duty to expose the
snbterfuges to which he resorts. This shifting of the ground of dispute runs
through the entire of his letter, thus he knew he was about to irregularly
summon double the number of monitors required to attend by the Board's rule,
yet he gave no intimation to have an adequate supply of dockets sent from the
office, but now writes as if the error of this insufficient number sent belonged
to the office, not to him. Again he states (page 16), that these dockets were not
necessary for monitors appointed subsequent to April 1856, although he treat:.
every one of these both as to gratuities to the teacher, and salaries to them-
selves, just as he treats those previously appointed.* e says, page 16, *“for
the same reason (10 of the 19 mouitors not being liable to examination) the
results of their (10 monitors) oral answering was not as fully recorded as that
of those bound to attend. If this letter were referred to Mr. Kavanagh he
should not have falsely argued that they were not examined on certain subjects,
because he had not their answers on these recorded.” I received in due course
the copy of Mr. Clarke’s letter, dated 15th December 1856 from the oﬂiqe,
along with the returns of District 40, and on reference to that letter you will
find the following : * It will be seen that their (the 10 monitors appointed after
April 1856) answering was low. * d * The exercxse?_

o

* He is the only one of the 10 inspectors connected with me who was short of dockets. Mr. Conwell
had the same number of monitors (1g), and had a fall supply of dockets. I think, f_'rqn.: memory,
that Mr. C. made a dociet for M. Codd, whose answering was good; but the exhibition of the
summary of the answering of those who had none, would be teco gluring.
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of all the monitors whether linble to examination or not are sent herewith; but
the answers of fome of the latter elass ave not summed up for want of printed
dockets, the supply of which was too limited, a want which arose from the
nuwber in attendance being ervcater than was ealenlated on in the oflice.
However, this is not to be regretted, as it would not be just to form an
unfavourable opinion of these young persons from their present exercises as
they have been so recently appointed.™  Now, Mr. Clacke here distinetly siates,
that he had sent the exercises of all the monitors of both closses, but he does
not state one word in reference to the oral examination of” any of them in the
letter to which he refers. e had no dockets upon whieh to vecord the written
examination of the recently appointed 10 mounitors, but he sent all the exercises
themeselves, and e also sent o sheet, herewith forwarded, of their oral examina-
tion. !therefore did rveceive Mr. Clarke’s letter of December 15th, but to state
as he does. that Fargued Talsely from it in the manner staved, is not only untrue
but highly insolent and reprehensible on his part.  Lastly, under this head he
says (page 163, 1t is certainly inconsiderate and unjust on his (Mr, Kavanagh's)
part to criticise what they were able to do; when, as he says himself, hoe knew
nothing of their age and standing.”  This is certainly singular language, and a
most strange statement to have referred to me for my explanarion. 1 was fully
awire that all of them except one. were paid monitors, or at least were so
returned by Mv. Clarke; but of their precise ages, and the dales of their
appointments, [ was ignorant in eight cases ; there being no returns sent to me of
these matters.  The Reading, Dictation, Penmanship, Oral and Written Parsing,
and knowledge of Outline maps, of these parties were before me, as returned
by Mr. (larke, and as seen in their exercises. The Board’s Programme of
Mouitors’ (junior and senior) Qualifications at appointment was also before me,
and to judge the former by the latter, and express my opinion that certain
parties were quite unfit for any grade of monitor, and that I recommended their
removal, was the precise duty assigned to me by the nature of the cases before
me. This is what Mr. Clarke styles inconsiderate and unjust on my part ; but
he quite forgot, amongst other things, that I eriticised what these young persons
did not know, or were not able to do rather than what they did know, which
was very little indeed. :

Mr. Clarke’s conduct, in the case of M. Codd, requires particular conside~
ration; and apart from all the other circumnstances of this question as to the
monitors, and of his entire antecedents under the Board, it suggests how far
any reliance can be placed upon the official statements made by him. T beg
leave to regnest you will keep before you my letter of 21st January, an exact
facsimilie of which (in my Letter-hook) Mr. Clarke copied from, with my per-
mission, while you are examining the following detuils :—I bLeg to call your
particular attention to the ‘labular List of Monitors (page 3) of wy letter of
21 January, to page 4 of same, and to Mr. Clarke's letter of 11th March
page 17, and page 22 and following.

Page 23. Mr. Clarke says, “She (M. Codd) is amongst thosc to whom
he applies the remark, “ quite unfit; remove them.” This is quite untrue.
There can be no doubt whatever that the brace (}), to the left of these
quoted words, includes the names Murphy, Atkinson, and Wickham, and none
others.

And not only is this evident to ordinary eyesight and ordinary honesty, but
to hath, in the clearest manner, it is expressed that Margaret Codd's examina-
tion merited a grafuity of the first year. Her name is twelith in the list, when
read from the top, and fourth when read from the bottom; and no quibble,
cavil, or criticism can devise any reading or examination of the table, which
can point out the fuintest doubt that she, with the two girls Smith and Power,
merited for thieir teachers a gratuity of the first year. :

Again, he says, * For after the fullowing names of monitresses in the Tubular
Statement-—No, 12, Margaret Codd; No. 13, Mary Anne Murphy; No. 14,
Margaret Atkinson: No. 15, Kate Wickham- it will be seen,” he adds, « the
four last are quite unfit, so far as [ can judge from the extent of the examina-
tion submitted to me; ™ and opposite their names are the words, “ quite unfit;
remove them.” This last sentence is untrue, as the words quoted are opposite,
and apply to the names of Wickham, Atkinson, and Mwrphy only, and not to
the name of Codd. After which there is a specific and distinet indication,
mathematically clear and straight, that she mcrits a gratuity for her teacher.

. The
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The first sentence also opens with an untruth, as it is atteipted to make the
quotation (“the four last,” &e.) a portion of the table, whereas it is merely a
comu:ent upon it, and the error of four, instead of three, avose evidently from
hastily glancing back at the foot of the table, when looking back from the sub-
sequent page, upoun which 1 was writing. Now, apart from the distinet ocular
evidence that this error arose as stated (an error which conrradicts the spe-
cific recommendation as to M. Codd, and adds one to the number included
under the brace for removal), Mr. Clarke had further the internal evidence
_known to him, that the expression, “so far as I can judge from the extent 0;'
the examination submitted to me.,” could not apply to M. Codd, as her exami-
nation, unlike that of the other three girls with whom she is associated
was quite as full, both oral and written, as that of the girls Smith (second year),
and Power (first year), of higher standing ; in fact, Codd was not then g re
nized monitor, and no girl was examined at greater length.

I now leave to the Commissioners to form their own opinions of their officer
Mr, Clarke, and to judge how far any head iuspector, who may be coanected
with him, can ever respect or confide in a man wiho could thus act, as he repre-
sents that he did, in relation to me, on the oceasion of the examination of this
girl as a teacher, in February last.

Mr. Clarke, with a presumption peculinrly his own, defines and preseribes
the cuties of his superior officer ; his superior for nearly 11 years, and one whose
instruction he was directed to attend, with a view to qualify him as inspector,
previous to his appointment. Thus he says (page 22), “ He should not have
recommended their (eight monitors) dismissal ; the Board will not, I trust, at-
tend to his recommendation.” Page 29, he says, “ | think Mr. Kavanagh has
adopted an unusual and irregular course in declaring paid monitors to be quite
unfit,” and recommending them to be “dismissed on examination of their
written exercises only, without examining them orally, or cven seeing them,
and without consulting the district inspector in any way as to their merits.”
The course which I followed was that preseribed by the Board's instructions.
I had before me not merely all the written exercises of the monitors, but also
their oral examination as conducted and reported by Mr. Clarke himself, and it
was no part of my duty to cousult him or comniunieate with him on the subject.
He sent the answering of the parties, and his opinion of them and of their
teachers, with his recommendation on each case to the office; the office sent
the matters to me for my opinion which [ gave, und directed me to return the
documents; and Mr. Clarke’s insolent strictures upon the procceding rather
apply to the official instructions, and those who gave them, than to me who
obeyed them. To state that it would be either unusual or irregular to dismiss
a monitor or a teacher even, upon examination of the written exercises only of
the party, is to affirm what Mr. Clarke knows to be contrary to the fact. In
proof of this, I forward berewith a memorandum of mine upon my revision of
‘the Written Exercises (1856) of the Masters of District 40, with Mr. Clarke’s
mnotes thereon, and his own letter, dated * Education Office, 8th August 1856,”
agreeing to my decision to remove incompetent teachers upon their written
exercises only. I never having seen the parties or orally examined them, and
never having heard any report of their oral examination by any person He
was further fully aware when he made that improper charge against his
superior officer, that Mr. M‘Creedy, Mr. Butler, and others were in the habit of
similarly removing parties upon examination of their written exercises only
‘when these proved very bad. Surelyif a lad or girl cannot distinguish a noun,
«or even spell the word noun ; if the young person has 50 errors in Orthngmghy
in a few sentences, and is reported by Mr. Clarke as deficient in the portion
of the oral examination which he was put through, there is ample evidence
‘that such a child or youth is unfit to be a monitor.
~ Another, and the last instance which I shall quote, of Mr. Clarke's ad cap-

‘tandwn reasoning, is contained in his report of the remarks made by me on
the occasion of meeting the monitors in Wexford School, 6th February last.

-Page 20, he alludes to my recommendation to have a lad Pierce removed, being

‘unqualified, and is silly enough to advance against me the charge of incon-
sistency because I told the lad “that he was u good_ boy, and had an honest

face,” a non sequitur scarcely inferior to Sheridan’s opinion of an actor’s debut,

‘that he thought him “a very tall young man.” Of the same class are the

‘remarks reported in reference to what I said to the young persons generally.
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I spoke kindly and encouragingly to them, expressed my gratification at seeing
them anxious to improve themselves, &c., but never told them they were good
monitors or good scholars, told them lhow best they could become so, and sent
them away kindly expressing the hope that I would meet them again. Not
one sentiment fell from me in the slightest degree inconsistent or contradictory,
and the drift of Mr. Clarke’s statement to the contrary is utterly unfounded.
The simple proof of this is the fact that Mr. Hanrahan, their teacher, Mr. Clarke,
the inspector, and Mr. Barrett, sub-inspector were all present. and to cach of
them I had expressed in private my disapprobation of the monitorial arrange-
ments, and my disappointment at the qualifications of the younger portion of
the monitors whose examination I had looked over.

I have been engaged in the examination and classification of teachers for 13
to 16 years, and have been associated in that duty with 40 ingpectors, and in
relation to these thousands of teachers the records of the office do not contain a
page of correspondence from me regarding a difference of opinion with any of
these 40 gentlemen as to the classification.

It is now for the Commissioners to decide as to the conduct pursued by
Mr. Clarke in this whole matter; several other mis-statements, glosses, and
equivocations remain unnoticed by me, but I have gone into quite as many as
will be sufficient to throw light upon the character of the officer and the man.
It little accords either with my disposition or with my practice, during the 17
years that I have been in a position over others, to assume the attitude which
I have been obliged to take in relation to Mr. Clarke. Few who have filled, or
who may ever fill, the office which I have the honour to hold, can with more
well-founded reason be thankful that it has rarely fallen to their lot to be even
the instrument of pain or punishment to the inspectors acting with them ; but
there are just limits even to clemency, and whenever I meet such want of
principle as is here clearly set forth, it shall receive just exposure,

I have, &e.
Grenville, Rathgar (signed) James W. Kavanagh,
25 July,1857.* ’ Head Inspector.

The Secretaries, Education Office,

WexrForp DIsTRICT.

Gentlemen, Wexford, 9 August 1858.

I BEG to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the 30th ultimo, enclosing
a communication, dated the 25th July 1857, from Mr, Kavanagh, in which, as
head inspector, he replies to mine of the 11th March previous, ’

In answering his former letter, I remarked he had mixed the subjects treated
of in it somewhat confusedly together. I said so, as it is evident under head
No. 3 of it, he treats both of the questions as to the payment of the gratuities
and also of the nature of the monitorial school itself, wrongly describing it as -;
mixed evening school, and therefore fraught with moral danger. On the present
occasion he lays down a division of subjects which he engages to follow, but no
sooner has he well commenced to write of the first, the local distributinil of the
monitors through the district, than he says “ under this head I may notice, &e.,”
and proceeds to condemn my mode of selecting the monitors, a subject; quiée
distinct from the other, and now introduced by him for the first time. This
system of introducing new subjects, many of them quite extraneous to the
matter in hand, he follows throughout his unnecessarily lengthened communi-
cation ; he quits a subject, and after writing about a variety of others, returns
to it cither to state over again, or to contradict what he has already said ; he
brings forward new charges, and indulges in personalities; conceives himself
at liberty to throw out the most unfavourable imputations, and to attribute the
worst motives ; he gives the most untrue account of certain transactions, and

upon

* Received in Office 28 July 1857.
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upon these misstatements builds up a superstructure of calumnies, so numeroys
that it will necessarily occupy a considerable time to expose them. He has
thus so widened the field of controversy, that while the matter of his former
letter was exhausted by the division under four heads already given, it will now
be necessary to answer him on many others. 3

The following are the heads under which I shall arrange this letter :—
1. The local distribution of the monitors throughout the district.
2. The mode of selecting the monitors.

3. The annual examinations of monitors for 1856.
4. The Wexford Monitorial School.

5. The examinations of teachers in 1856 and 1857.

6. Mr. Kavanagh's recommendations to dismiss 10 monitors, agaiust
which I protested.

7. Transactions which occurred between us on his visit to Wexford in
February 1857.

8. Replies to certain of his strictures on my proceedings.

1. Mr. Kavanagh sets out by acknowledging his error in assuming the whole
number of paid monitors in the district to be 19, instead of 48, which he says,
he learned it really was on his arrival in Wexford a few days after. It was on
this wrong assumption alone he based his assertion, that to give 12 monitors to
the town of Wexford was a highly injudicious proceeding. But he does not
think for a moment that he ought to have thereupon written to the office to
acknowledge his error ; no, he still insists his conclusion was right for a reason
not before specifically mentioned by him, namely, that Wexford contains but one-
twelfth of the population of the whole district (it is somewhat more), and not
one-twentieth of the number of schools in it, &e. Now, the Board never
ordered that the monitors should be appointed in numbers exactly correspond-
ing to the population of the different localities ; and if such an order had
been issued it would have been impracticable to comply with it. What the
Board ordered was, that schools having a certain number of pupils in daily
average attendance, and with teachers holding a certain class, should be con-
sidered eligible for obtaining monitors. The question is, did I obey this
order ? My answer is, I did; and Mr. Kavanagh himself says so, when
he mentions, but only for the purpose of finding fault, that I sent round a
printed circular to the managers of all the national schools, having an average
daily attendance of 35 pupils under a teacher, ranking at least in the third
class, first division, informing them they were entitled to a paid monitor, and
inviting them to send in candidates for the monitorships to a public examina-
tion. T accept this description of my proceeding as correct. The candidates
appedred accordingly ; the most eligible were recommended, and their appoint-
ments made by the Board. :

It is apparent that Mr. Kavanagh in asserting that the monitors should have
been appointed in various localities in numbers having a fixed relation to the
population, assumes that qualified candidates were to be had in the different
places in at least the like ratio to the number of inhabitants ; and also, that.the
schools declared by the Board eligible to receive monitors were distributed in
the same way ; but of these assumptions he offers no proof whatsoever. Indeed,
I think he himself did not perceive the fallacy to which he gave expression.

For my part, I never expected to find that whilst a locality containing 2,000
inhabitants might produce two well qualified monitors, one having 5,000 should
therefore show exactly five monitors, and in the same way one having 10,000
should show 10 monitors. I did not anticipate that any inspector of experience
could seriously put forward such an expectation. The degree of education
varies in different localities, and is not always proportional to the population.

The monitors were recommended in compliance with the Board’s views, and
their appointments would not have been confirmed had those views been in the
smallest degree disregarded. _ ke T

But it so happens, they are very fairly distributed over the district. Wexford,
with a population, in round numbers, of 13,000, got 12 monitors ; Newross,
population 7,000, had six monitors; Enniscorthy, populahc:n about the same,
five monitors; in all, 23 monitors to En aggregate population of, say 27,000

954, The
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The remaining 25 were distributed through the district in rural schools, where
such were eligible under the Board’s order. :

2. Mr. Kavanagh next introduces a totally new charge, that my mU(.lc of
selection was wrong ; that the inspector, before recommending the monitors,
should have hada personal knowledge of them, acquired in the schools during his
tours of inspection; says that two of my note-books are perfectly blank in this
particular, “ not the name of a single pupil or his answering ™ (meanmng as an
individual) ¢ entered in them.” &c. He then imagines I shall put forward what
he is pleased to call “ an apology,” which he immediately refutes, apparently to
his own satisfaction, while it is evident the * apology ” is entirely of his own
invention ; in truth, it would never occur to me to apologise at all on this
subject. What he describes as the duty of an inspector, to acquire a knowledge
of the pupils as individuals, is not so, but the duty of their teachers. The husi-
ness of an inspector is with the pupils en masse, as forming schools divided into
certain classes, and exhibiting a certain relative proficiency to the numbers
under instruction ; according as he finds a certain proportion of them instructed
up to a certain standard fixed by the Board, he forms a judgment, favourable
or otherwise, of the school. Notwithstanding that T hold this view of the in-
spector’s duty, I still think myself able to decide, after examination, if a candi-
date monitor be eligible, and even to say if he be the most so in his neighbour-
hood, from my general knowledge of the school sending him in.

Because Mr. Kavanagh did not find, as he asserts, the names of any “ boys
of promise,” “ unpaid monitors,”  recruits,” in the two note-books he took
away with him from Wexford, he concludes that I had no personal knowledge
of the candidate monitors previous to examination; but this is not a correct in-
ference. Intruth,I did recollect, on examining them, to have met many of them
as pupils and unpaid monitors on my tours of inspection.

3. In March 1857, when answering his charge that my examination of the
monitors was incomplete and unsatisfactory, I showed that he was wrong in this
also ; that they were examined in all respects according to the directions of the
Board, for three hours by written exercises, and for the same orally ; that many
not bound to attend came in addition, in order to accustom themselves to the
routine of the annual examinations ; and that I explained this in a letter (dated
15 December 1856) accompanying the exercises; also, that the answers of
these last were not fully recorded on certain subjects. I made no such plea
as he mentiong I did, “ want of time to examine on some subjects.” e argued
that certain monitresses were not examined by printed papers on some subjects,
because he found on these no answers from them ; an incorrect conclusion evi-
dently, as I pointed out. The simple explanation of this was, that they were
unable to answer the questions on these subjects in the time allowed by written
papers ; they were all girls not bound to attend.

He now repeats his assertion, just as if its inaccuracy had never heen pointed
out; gives the names of the girls, “ Murphy, Atkinson, Wickham, Roche, ITinds,
Brophy, and M‘Evoy,” 7 of the 19 examined, and says, “ they were not ex-
amined in geography, lesson books, or arithmetic, by written papers; at least,
I must presume so, when their exercises thereon are not sent, although those by
them on grammar and dictation were forwarded tome.” He adds, that “ there
is not a single fact set forth by me respecting the details of the examination
but is drawn from his (Mr. Clarke’s) own returns.” I have to say, that he may
have drawn all his inferences from my returns, but, like the one just mentioned,
many of his inferences are untrue in point of faet, and illogically drawn.

He then remarks, that * an efficient, anxious officer would have extended
the time of the oral examination; but I think this would have been a very
improper course, and one that the monitors and their parents might justly
complain of : asix-hours’ examination is a very exhausting one. As to devotin
a second day to it, as he suggests, that would have been irregular, as the Boarﬁ
ordered one day only to be so employed.

4. Mr. Kavanagh’s next subject is the monitorial school, which he acknow-
ledges he was in error in describing as a mixed evening school. He says he
did not know its true nature until he came to Wexford ; and yet afterwards he
most inconsistently speaks of it as such, for when defending the course he
adopted, of summoning the male and female teachers for examination together,

he
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he says, “ that was totally different from voung persons of different sexes going
to and returning from an evening school, and mixing during the time of instruc.
tion.” He also repeats other cbjections to it. My reply to his former remarks
was, that it was not a mixed school; that it was sanctioned by the local
patrons, and by an official letter of July 1856, from the Board ; and that it had
also the warm approval of the monitors’ parents. :

Mr. Kavanagh now ridicules the idea of requiring monitors of any erade to
devote the whole of the school hours to teaching ; and setting out with the
assumption that such is the case in Wexford, writes a great deal about monitors
and the mode of training them. Now, all this might have been omitted, for
there is no foundation in anything I wrote to warrant his often repeated’ in-
ference that the monitors receive no instruction during school hours. They
were never employed teaching for more than half the school hours, and have
always received instruction for the remaining half, aud there is no statement of
mine to the contrary. They have also always attended the evening school for
specia.li instruction, which lasts, not, as he says, for three hours, but for six hours
a week.

He next says that the recommendation to pay the gratuities to the teacher
of the evening monitorial school is wrong in principle and opposed to the Board’s
regulations ; and again, he calls it a singular and improper ome. And yet,
when in Wexford, he assured the teacher in my presence, that he should be
paid the gratuities for all the past time;; although he spoke strongly against the
school for the future, and said “ it would be broken up,” “that he would not
tolerate such a proceeding,” &c. He also assured the teacher that he had
mentioned his name to the Board in his letter, after a manner that would do
him credit. But I am unable to find any remark of, the sort respecting this
teacher in all he has written. On the contrary, he attempts to cast ridicule
upon him for the occasional use of model lessons, when instructing the monitors.
In this proceeding he is ridiculing also the practice of some most eminent
training institutions.

5. In my former letter, while showing that the monitors of different sexes
were never brought together for instruction, which Mr. Kavanagh asserted was
the case, I noticed incidentally that he himself, on the other hand, attached no
practical importance to this principle of keeping them apart. As an example,
I mentioned he was in the habit of summoning even the adult teachers of
different sexes of this district for examination on the same day and in the same
apartment, and that I had strongly objected to it. To this he now replies that
the cases are totally different ; that, at the teachers” examinations * the men
sat with their backs to the mistresses;” that the inspector, while occupied in
examining the men, could see at the same time that the women went through their
written examination orderly and fairly; that from the time the sexes entered
the room until they left, they had not the slightest intercourse and were never
in proximity ; both were intent on what concerned their serious interests;
and, except that the women could see the backs of the men and hear one of
their voices at a time, they were morally as much apart as if they had been
separated thousands of miles. He then imputes an unworthy motive to me
for desiring to have separate days devoted to the examination of the teachers
of different sexes, and which [ shall not notice. There is nothing he puts
forward in defence of his system of examining male and female teachers together
that has altered my opinion of its impropriety. I do not believe that an
examiner, while occupied with the oral examination of one class can exercise a
proper supervision over another engaged in writing answers to printed ques-
tions. Besides, the answers given orally by the teachers of the one class will
be often upon the same subject upon which those writing are engaged, and will
thus unduly assist them. As to the teachers being morally apart, as Mr.
Kavanagh says, as if separated thousands of miles, it happened in Wexford that-
they were in attendance together rather more than half an hour before the time
appointed for the examination, and before the arrival of all the inspectors. On
this occasion the school-room was in an uproar with those young men and-
women romping together in an unseemly manner. Such a circumstanee might-
give rise to serious scandal, and could not have occurred had the masters and
mistresses been collected together on different days. Add to this, that som--

moning them together involves their travelling together, both coming and
254. E2 refurning,

Printed image digitised by the University of Southampton Library Digitisation Unit



36 CORRESPONDENCE, &c. RELATING TO

returning, and also their stopping together at the same lodging-houses when in

town.

6. 1 have now to notice Mr. Kavanagh’s defence of his recommendations for
the dismissal of certain monitors, against which I protested.

I take up the case of Margaret Codd, which he treats of first. T stated in my
letter that he was not aware she had attended the monitorial school until he had
examined her as a teacher, and her promotion was agreed upon 5 that | did not
let him know this sooner in consequence of the loud disapprobation he had
already expressed of my monitorial arrangements ; and that I thought it a good
and fair way of testing his accuracy that he should have an opportuvity of
examining one of the monitors without knowing she was such. In this
statement Mr. Kavanagh now asserts “ there is not a particle of truth.,”  “ Mr,
Clarke was utterly ignorant, until after the examination of teachers, of my
opinion of Margaret Codd as a monitor, and even then and now he misstated
and misstates what that opinion was,” * ¥ <[t is wholly untrue that Mr.
Clarke had any knowledge whatever of my decision as to her case, or that of
any other of the 18 monitors, until late at night on Friday, the 30th January
(he should have said Friday, the 6th February) when the oral examination of
the women was over,” &c. “It was only the previous week that my report
upon the monitors was sent to the office ; the results were not then communi-
cated to Mr. Clarke,” &c. He then goes on to say that, on Friday night, he
allowed Mr. Clarke to read and copy his letter of 21st January 1857, respecting
the monitors ; and it was then and thus he (Mr. Clarke) became first aware of
his (Mr. Kavanagh's) recommendations.  In reply to all this, I beg to say that I
was perfectly well aware of Mr. Kavanagh's recommendations for the dismissal
of a considerable number, of the monitors, and of his general condemnation of
the monitorial school, before reading his letter of 21st Jununary; and it was
from his own lips I derived the information ; he himself alone was my informant.
At the school, and long before the oral examination of the female teachers wag
commenced, he eondemmed in a loud, and indeed dietatorinl manner, all the
arrangements for the instruction of the monitors, to me, and in the presence of
Mvr. Barrett, sub-inspector, also in that of the teacher, Mr. Hanrahan,  He told
me further, that all the monitors were dismissed. T expressed sweprise, and
said I had got no Board’s Order to that effect.  ©Well,” said he, ©at least all
the junior monitors.” “What, all in the district r” said 1, wondering to myself
that those could be dismissedd who had not been examined. Yes, all,” said
he. “ But I have got no Board’s Order to that effect either,” I answered,  Ilis
reply was, that such an order would reach me very shortly, and that he would
show me his letter, recommending it, ab the hotel. 1 had not scen the letter
when Margaret Codd came under examination; but in consequence of these,
his adverse, remarks on the monitors, did not volunteer to inform him she was
one, or that she was attending the monitorial school.  If he had heen loud in
his disapprobation of the monitors as a body, he was equally loud in praising
this girl on examining her as a teacher, so much go, that Mr. Barrett, who was
near me, remarked his inconsistency, and said, “Had you not better tell Mr.
Kavanagh that this is one of the monitors 2" ¢ By no means,” said I ;5 < after
condemning them all, he is now praising this one; he will evidently class her
as a teacher; let him proceed.” The resnlt proved my anticipation to be
correct. Mr. Kavanagh is inaccurate in saying I took a copy of his letter.
I took no ecopy of it. I read it at his request, and immediately told him it was
wrong; that it contained many mistakes ; that the monitors were not quite -
unfit, as he deseribed them, but well qualified ; and that 1 would leave nothing
undone in my power to prevent their dismissal. I had no copy of his letter
until I received it, with yours of the 3d March, requesting my explanation.

He now disclaims all intention of dismissing Margaret Codd as a monitor,
and says he recommended her appointment as a paid monitor, with a gratuity
to the teachers of the school. But this is not in his letter of the 2 st January.
My conclusion that he intended to dismiss her was drawn from this remark in
his letter, “ the four last are quite unfit,” &e., and from this, that her name is
among these four, and a brace (}), with the words “ quite unfit—remove them,”
appears opposite those names. Ile now says that the brace does not include her
name, but only those of the last three mounitors ; and that his statement, which
would appear to include the name of Codd, namely, * the four last are quite unfit,”

* was
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“ was evidently made from his hastily glancing at the brace (drawn by himself)
after the last three names, as if it included the fourth, which it does not.”
Here Mr. Kavanagh acknowledges he committed the error of writing the words
“ the four last ™ instead of “the last three,” owing to hastily glancing at the
brace (drawn by himself), which he thought seemed to include Codd’s name.
This explanation might be taken as satisfactory; his error was one of haste:
but he afterwards deprives this explanation of all grace, or, rather, denies it
and thus actually contradicts himself. TFor, having quitted the subject, he
returns to it towards the close of his letter, and says “ the brace (}) includes the
names of Murphy, Atkinson, and Wickham, and none others.” “ And this is
not only evident to ordinary eyesight and ordinary honesty, but to both in the
clearest manner it is expressed that Margaret Codd’s examination merited
a gratuity of the first year” Remark, he says this after having acknowledged
that even he was mistaken about the brace, thinking it included four names
instead of only three. And if we grant the brace does not include Codd’s
name, it will be seen that neither the words “gratuity of first year " nor any
others are opposite to the name, but certain dots, to which Mr. Kavanagh may
attach any meaning he pleases, or none at all, and therefore the recommenda-
tion is by no means clear. But surely he has no right to impute untruthful-
ness to me, and still less for this, that I interpreted his own words “ the four
last to refer to four and not to three monitors; and that I put the same
interpretation on his brace, the same exactly as he acknowledges he did him-
self, that it seemed to include four names. As Margaret Codd was not a paid
monitor it was not regular to return her with a recommendation for a gratuity
to her teachers, and it was therefore the more natural to conclude he included
her in his report as one of the alleged bad appointments.

I do think it very probable that if I had not had an opportunity of answering
his letter a Board’s Order would have issued for her removal; my letter
rendered this impossible. When a pupil at the Wexford I'emale National
School, this girl obtained the' first prize awarded by Dr. Lover, after an
examination on lectures delivered here for the Royal Dublin Society ; after-
wards, she received the first prize in a similar way from Dr. Sullivan, on behalf
of the Board of Trade; ranked by Mr. Kavanagh and myself as a teacher of
third class, second division, last year, I then had lier admitted to the Central
Training School, whence she has just returned, ranking second class, second
division, z. e. within two steps of the first class, and noted for admission to the
special class for training; a very satisfactory progress after only one year's
service as a teacher.

It was not, however, on her case alone I argued Mr. Kavanagh was mistaken
in his recommendations. I quoted that of Ellen Roche, also, in detail, and
showed that mistakes had been made in both; and added, that I believed all
the rest against whose dismissal I had protested to be qualified too. In Mr.
Kavanagh's letter of the 21st January, there is a brace opposite Ellen Roche’s
name, and those of three others, with the words * all quite unfit; no particu-
laxs as to their ages.” He now holds to this opinion in these four cases, but a
little modified about Ellen Roche, for instead of repeating “ quite unfit” of her,
he says, “ not qualified, but the best of those rejected.” Itisto be borne in‘mind
this girl was not liable to examination, but she attended for her own improve-
ment ; and this fact was known to Mr. Kavanagh, by his own admission, from
my letter of 15th December 1856. His present statement about her written
exercises, taken from my marks thereon, amounts to this, that no one single
answer to the six questions she attempted of the printed papers was wrong, or
even unsatisfactory. Ome of these was most important, the passing exercise
and I marked it “ C.,” that is,  of average excellence,” or * fair.” For these
questions she was allowed three hours, or half an hour for each, a very
moderate time for a monitress under any circumstances. That she was able
to do so much within it was highly creditable to her, who not only never
attended an examination before, but was even not yet liable to attend. In
England, under the Committee of Council, even teachers are allowed three
quarters of an hour to each question. Now, as to her oral examination, I'e?-d'
ing is marked “ B.,”" that is one step only from “ A.” the highest; parsing
and outline maps « C.,” that is, *“ of average excellence.” After this statement
Mr. Kavanagh asserts that this girl is “not qualified,” and repeats his assertion

that she was not examined on lesson books or arithmetic, which I have already
254. E 3 refuted,
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refuted. Besides, he had every opportunity, when in Wexford, of examining
her orally on these subjects ; but although he summoned her for the purpose he
omitted to do so.

On the 11th of March 1857, when first replying to him, I wrote regarding
her:  She reads with entire ease and fluency ; can read any of the poctical
pieces in blank verse of the ‘ fourth book” with accuracy, ease, and expression ;
has a good accent and correct pronunciation; has a tolerable knowledge of
grammar, can parse ordinary sentences; has worked and knows all the com-
pound rules of arithmetic; knows the maps of the world and Europe ; writes a
good hand ; writes fairly from dictation ; has a knowledge of needlework. She
is a senior monitress of the first year, having been selected by me last July
(1st July 1856), and is 14 years of age.” I say now, as I said then, if she be
quite unfit as a monitress, there is no monitor or teacher in the kingdom quali-
fied te hold office.

Mr. Kavanagh copies in long detail the marks obtained by the monitors as
noted by me, but I cannot agree with the inference he draws therefrom, for he
does not describe their import correctly, as defined officially. Thus he calls E.,
“below the lowest mark,” whilst I cannot understand anything to be lower
then the lowest. Again, he says of the mark, C., “ second lowest mark,” but
it is defined in the printed registry of monitors, issued by authority, to mean
 fair,” or “tolerable.” It is in this sense I usedit as indicating average excel-
lence. He frequently also uses the expression *“horrid,” with what exact tech-
nical meaning I cannot tell. Thus, of penmanship in Pierce’s case, he says
“ horrid.” Now, this hoy wrote a very improvable hand, of an angular sort,
always had his copybook neat, and was improving in this branch. Again, in
Barrow's case, penmanship “ horrid,” whilst my mark is “ C.,” meaning ** fair.”
Thus, Mr. Kavanagh’s conclusions respecting the monitors, as drawn from my
marks on their exercises, are of no value; for he interprets the marks in a
lower sense than that defined by the Board, and as used by me.

After the annual examination of monitors for 1857, the head inspector, in
whose circuit this district was then placed, did not recommend the removal of
any of the paid monitors, against whose dismissal | had protested. This may
be sufficient to prove they were then qualified. Is it possible they were quite
unfit a year before ?

And, it may be asked, what do the local patrons of the schools think of the
matter > T append two letters addressed to me on this subject; one from
Mrs. Butler, superioress of the Presentation Convent, the other from Mrs. Walsh,
of the Convent of Mercy, patronesses of the two female schools in Wexford.
I need hardly say, the evidence of these ladies is above being questioned ;
they treat of all the points in dispute, and agree perfectly with my views.

“ Presentation Convent, Wexford,
“ Dear Sir, 6 August 1858.

“ In compliance with your request that I should state my opinion respecting
the arrangements you made relative to our paid monitresses, I beg to say, that
your increasing the number from one to four has proved a great assistance in
the instruction of the children, whilst we have never lost sight of the necessity
of teaching the monitresses themsclves. They assist in teaching the junior
children for an hour and a half each day, during the remainder of which they
receive instruction from the nuns in all the branches taught in the school,
work, &ec. included. I consider that the monitresses derive great improvement
from the instruction given them in the evening by Mr. Hanrahan, who has,
I think, a peculiar facility in imparting the method approved of by the Board,
especially in arithmetic. I distinctly understood that he was to receive the
gratuities as remuneration for the time and attention he devotes to the moni-
tresses in the evening. As we have rather more than 400 children on our
rolls, we could, with advantage, employ and train a greater number of moni-
tresses than as yet you have been able to afford us, for during the time we had
but three, I employed a pupil at wy own expense as an assistant, and I am
happy to say that she improved so much that she has since obtained a situation
under the Board. As to the monitresses you mention, I beg to say that
I would not have recommended them for your selection, if I did not think
them capable of becoming in time efficient schoolmistresses. Ellen Roche
reads prose and poetry remarkably well, parses fairly, and has a good knowledge

of
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of the large maps and geography ; she spells correctly, and her writing is good.
In arithmetic, she has worked rule of three, and is learning practice. All the
monitresses write from dictation. There has always been great attention paid
in this school to the different kinds of needlework, in which the monitresses
are not at all deficient. I shall not trouble you with further details, but I beg
to assure you, that I can speak in favourable terms of Anastasia M‘Evoy and
Maria Brophy. our junior monitresses. They all write from dictation, and
1 consider them well-conducted, intelligent, and respectable girls.

“T remain, &ec.
¢« H. P. Clarke, Esq.” (signed) “M.J. E. Butler.”

“ St. Michael's, Wexford, Convent of Mercy,
7 August 1858,
“ Mrs. Walsh begs to inform Mr. Clarke that the sisters have found by expe-
rience the great advantage of the arrangement by which, two years ago, he

increased the number of paid monitresses from one to four, where there is so

large an attendance at the school, the number on the rolls being upwards of 300
children. Those monitresses appointed are capable of advancing the children
in the different branches taught in the school, and enjoy the advantage of
attending an evening school taught by Mr. Hanrahan, an arrangement of which
they highly approve. In addition to this, they are, and always have been,
taught for an hour in the morning in the school, and for another hour in the
afternoon, by the sisters most capable of instructing them. They join in the
classes for religious instruction for half an hour; in all, they receive in general
two hours and a half literary and religious instruction daily. They are occupied
themselves teaching, generally speaking, for the same length of time, two hours
and a half. The sisters are quite willing that Mr. Hanrahan should be paid the
gratuities, in consideration of his evening sehool. With regard to the qualifi-
cations of the three monitresses mentioned by Mr. Clarke, M. A. Murphy is a very
nice reader ; she reads even poetry very expressively; uses the ¢ fourth book,’
can parse fairly in same book. She knows the large maps so well as to be able
to teach them to the juniors ; writes a neat hand ; writes correctly from dictation
from the ¢ fourth book ;' writes poetry well from the ¢ third;’ has worked pro-
portion and vulgar and decimal fractions, and is expert at working sums in

these rulés; she sews neatly, can knit, and has worked crochet. Margaret At-
kinson is not so far advanced ; she is only a junior monitress, but she reads
fairly in the ¢ fourth book’; parses pretty well, making an occasional mistake;
she has learned, by tasks, geography of all the continents, and the descriptive
geography of the ¢ fourth book’; has a fair acquaintance with four of the large
maps. She is not as careful as she ought to be about writing, but is improving

a little ; writes from dictation pretty well, making an occasional mistake ; works
sums in vulgar fractions, and has learned proportion and practice ; does needle-
work daily. Kate Wickham's qualifications are rather higher in all branches
than Margaret Atkinson's; she holds an intermediate place between her and
Mary Anne Murphy. The sisters think them all very well qualified as moni-

tresses, and find them anxious to please, and attentive to their business, except

Kate Wickham, who has been irregular in attendance.”

It appears, from these letters of the patronesses of the schools, first, t}mt
there is ample work for the monitresses; secondly, that they receive instruction
in their own schools for half the day ; thirdly, that they receive special instruc-
tion in the evening school in addition, and derive great improvement from if ;
fourthly, that the patronesses approve of the teacher being paid for this special
instruction ; fifthly, that all the monitors are well qualified and are progressing,
but that one has been irregular in attendance.

7. I now come to speak of certain transactions between Mr. Kavanagh and
myself, on his visit to Wexford in February 1857.

In the first place, I received a note from him appointing Wednesday, the 4th
February, to examine the district book, registry of monitors, &c. I waited at
home accordingly all day to receive him (see my journal, week ending 7th
February 1857), but he did not come. At nine o’clock at night I received a
254. E 4 memorandum
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memorandum from him, saying he would meet me at the examination of
teachers next morning, the 5th. In his present letter he says he intimated to
me next day, alluding to the 5th, that it was his duty to examine the district
books, as he had informed me by his note of the 1st February. But I have to
remark that this is incorrect ; his note appointed the 4th for this business, and
he broke his appointment. Further, it was on Friday, the 6th February, he
said what he mentions. He adds, I did not send them to his hotel until a late
hour. This is incorrect ; the porter left them there at two o’clock, which was
some hours before he returned from the teachers’ examinations. He did not
begin to examine them until late at night on the 6th, the day he asked for
them. As to my leaving the examination-room at half-past five o’clock on
Friday, the 5th February, that required no apology. Indeed, I do not think
it was right to keep the teachers later to meet the head inspector’s desire to
return to Dublin as hurriedly as possible, or for any other reason. He could
have no more important business in Dublin than he had in Wexford, viz., to
conduct the examination of the teachers, without distressing them or others
engaged in it, and with due calmness and deliberation. I did demur for a
moment, as he says, to produce my note-books, because it did not occur to me
it was necessary. I looked upon these as my private property, while the
district book, monitors’ registry, &c., are official records belonging to the district.
But the delay did not exceed two minutes. I produced them the moment
I understood it was in the Code of Instructions to do so. He says, also,
I showed a manifest inclination to occupy unnecessary time with the examina-
tion and classification of the teachers, to avoid this checking of the district
books, and omits to mention his breach of appointment on the 4th. T had
no desire of the kind. I waited at home all day on the 4th, with the books
ready for the purpose, by his own appointment, which he did not keep. He
then endeavoured to do this business on the 6th, a day already appointed for
the examination and classification of the teachers. Here again I met his views,
and after being occupied with the teachers for 6§ hours, including a quarter of
an hour the monitors were before us, I again transacted business with him for
five hours, from six o’clock until eleven o’clock at night, to enable him to go to
Dublin on the next morning, Saturday, the 7th. (Sez my journal to that date.)
He next objects that T refused to sign the classification sheets until they were
filled up ; a most strange objection, such a one as, in my whole experience, had
never before been made of me, and one which I could certainly never comply
with. By the remark he condemns himself. In fact, he asked me to sign these
papers in blank. When he asked me to do this, as a matter of course I declined,
but said I would fill them up myself very quickly. This offer he refused, but
was, nevertheless, unable to fill the papers himself alone ; for it was necessary to
enter the average attendances, roll numbers, and other particulars from the
district book, which was done by Mr. Barrett and myself, and was fully half
the business. He might have added that I declined to sign those papers until
Mr. Barrett and I had checked them, which we did accordingly ; and the reason
for this I mentioned to him, that the year previous three or four mistakes
occurred owing to his refusal then to wait until they were checked, and which
were commented on by letter to me from the Education Office. These I showed
him in my letter-book, sent with the other official records for his examination.
In reply he said, “I never make mistakes;” and yet, when Mr. Barrett and I
were checking the classification sheets we discovered three undoubtedly his
own, and which were accordingly pointed out to him as such. He says, “I
changed my mind after” (meaning that I consented to sign the sheets in blank) ;
but that he *“went on,” &e. I say, most solemnly, I did not. He asserts also
that he wrote out fully the details of the 27 teachers and of some absentees,
and then obtained my signature. 1 reply that half the work was done by
Mr. Barrett and myself. I did not sign the papers until we had checked them,
and I had said previously, I would not do this sooner, The papers are in the
office ; are they all in Mr. Kavanagh's writing ? if not, he is wrong. The most
favourable view I can take of his account of what took place on this evening is,
that he has written it with no distinct recollection of the real facts.

With singular irrelevancy and bad taste, he has referred in his letter to a
decision of the Comnissioners adversely affecting me. I shall not canvass the
decision to which he alludes, which the Board remedied some months after,

unsolicited
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unsolicited by me. The only sentiment connected with that t i
tertain towards the Commissioners is that of gratitude for the 1;??:: ;?gzeeldiig

I have already commented on some remarks he threw ou

note-books of mine he examined. The objection he starts alfo?l% :1?: 23::2 gfltt‘ﬁo
classes he answers himself immediately afterwards. The note-books were weﬁ
kept, notwithstanding what he may say to the contrary. He left Wexford on
the following moring, Saturday, the 7th February, taking away the note-books

without my permission or previous knowledge. I received a memorandum from
him after the coach had left, saying, “I have taken the note-books : back on
Monday.” But he Lroke his promise, and sent them to the Education Offce
with a letter of unfavourable criticism on them, where they remained man

months to my great inconvenience. J

He states that he appointed the hour of recess, on Friday the 6th February,
to examine the monitors ; that he saw them then, but could speak to them ;;
short time only ; he also implies that my leaving at half-past five o’clock on the
5th, the day previous, prevented the examination on that day. I say it did not.
It was not necessary I should be present. He first appointed the 4th, to see
them, by a note to the teacher, without asking me to be present, or Iett’:ing me
know anything of the matter. He came, and stopped only a few moments ;
then he named the 5th; kept them on that day several hours waiting, and did
not see them at all ; then named the 6th, at one o'clock. They waited on him

from before that hour until a quarter past four o'clock, when, after a few

minutes addressing them, he sent them away without examining them. It is
evident he broke all his appointments with them. It is equally evident to me

that had he kept any one of his appointments, and examined the monitors,

he would have found ample grounds for retracting his hastily written report

declaring them to be unfit, which he might then have gracefully done, and both

he and I would have been spared the trouble of this most painful controversy.
8. Mr. Kavanagh remarks that I have attempted to define and preseribe his

duties ; that he has been my superior officer for nearly 11 years; and that I

was directed to attend his instruction to qualify for the office of inspector,
before my appointment. In reply, I have to say, that [ have mentioned what
was necessary to rebut his charges, and have given my reasons where T dis-
sented from his assertions. Whatever | said of his duties was pertinent to the

matter in hand, and was founded on the Board’s regulations. The only oceasion

upon which my district was placed within his circuit was when I came to Wexford
three years since; it remained under him for little more than three years, and I
had very little communication with him, as, for the whole of that period, he
never inspected a school within its bounds. I was never directed to attend his
instruction. About the time of my appointment, one of the Commissioners
suggested that I should visit the Dublin Model Schools, which I did accordingly,
and, among the rest, the male school, of which Mr. Kavanagh was then head
master, and I there witnessed his mode of teaching. This is the only ground
for his assertion on this point ; its worthlessness is evident.

I objected to paid monitors, not liable to attend the annual examination,
being dismissed thereon by a head inspector alone, who had not examined
them orally, or even seen them, and without obtaining the consent of the Dis-
trict Inspector, or consulting him on the matter. I said the signatures of both
these officers should be to such a recommendation. To show that I am incon-
sistent in this, Mr. Kavanagh quotes a note of mine to him, dated August 1856,
which he describes as agreeing to his decision to remove incompetent teachers
on their written exercises alone, he never having orally examined or seen the
parties. But I was perfectly consistent in writing that note, which was one
consenting to the dismissal of certain teachers bound to attend examinations,
and on their written exercises alone, provided Mr. Kavanagh signed the recom-
mendations to that effect. I have now to say that he refused his signature,
although he declared they were unqualified from his own examination of their
written exercises, on the plea that I wanted him to share the public odium

of the act. Now, I thought he ought to be willing to share i, and held

to my views. In consequence of this, the teachers remained in charge for

some months, when, on coming to Wexford, he at length signed their dis-

missals, conjointly with myself. There is evidently no parity between the two

cases. -
254. P Having
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Having now noticed the whole of the subject of Mr. Kavanagh'’s letter, under
the heads which I laid down at the commencement, and having placed it, as I
believe, in its true light, T shall now close without noticing some of his remarks,
which are merely of a personal nature.

i have, &e.
The Secretaries, (signed) . P. Clarke,

Education Oflice, Dublin. Inspector of Wexford District.

No. 1. (B.)

CorRESPONDENCE between the Commissioners of National Edueation in
Ireland and Mr. James W. Kavanagh (late Head Inspector of National
Schools), and with Mr..J. G. Fleming, District Inspector of National Schools,
relative to the removal of a Teacher from, and her Re-appointment to, the
Talbotstown Female National School, County Wicklow, from the 31st
January 1857 to the 3d of August 1858.

Gentiemen, Grenville, Rathgar, 31 January 1857.

TaE examination of the female teachers of District 35 (Wicklow), just now
concluded, brought under my notice an omission of duty on the part of Mr.
Fleming, the Inspector, which my duty compels me to submit to the Commis-
sioners.

In August 1855, Mr. Fleming visited and examined Talbotstown Female
Natioual School ; manager, Rev. Mr, Nowlan ; teacher, Anne Goss.

He again visited, 26th November 1855, teacher-in-training Mary Murray,
substitute, age 19 years. No examination of substitute. Report on her and
school quite as favourable as those usually made on schools so circum-
stanced.

At next visit, 20th March 1856, Mary Murray is teacher; her age is now
reported as 17 § years, but [nspector states his opinion that her looks indicate
only 15 } years. And he further adds, that an erasure in the register as to her
age (when a pupil) leads him to believe that Anne Goss, recently expelled the
Training department for theft, tampered with the entry in order fo sustain
Mary Murray’s statement as to her age. On the twofold ground of her youth
and want of literary qualifications, Mr. Fleming strongly urges the immediate
removal of Mary Murray; and on perusing the report it will be seen that
several eircumstances as to the opinions of manager's curate, those of a farmer,
Anne Goss, residing with Mary Murray’s family, &c., are brought in to support
Mr. Tleming’s recommendation,

Upon this report salary is withdrawn from Mary Murray, and manager is
called on to appoint a successor to her. He takes exception to Mr. Fleming's
opinion as to teacher’s qualification, urges various reasons of a peculiarly local
nature in favour of her retention in the situation, and begs the Commissioners
to reconsider their decision.

On the matter being referred to Mr. Fleming, he was unable to assume an
attitude becoming his position as an Inspector, because he had never examined
the teacher, and he was therefore obliged to postpone the expression of an
opinion on the merits of the case until he should visit the school again.

On mentioning this serious omission, which the Code (Art. XIV., also
Head 5, Art. XX), common sense and justice would alike indicate, Mr. Fleming’s
explanation is that he had examined her in class as a pupil in August 1855 ;
and from this, and what he witnessed in the school, he felt warranted in declar-
ing her incompetency. On the visit referred to there were over 50 pupils pre-
sent: 11 in Mary Murray’s class (fourth), and little over two hours devoted to
the entire examination of the school, with a view to a primarvy report. She
was neither candidate, teacher, or monitress; it was utterly impossible that
Mr. Fleming could have anticipated the circumstances which led to her appoint-
ment, and therefore there cannot have been anything peculiar in his examina-
tion of this one pupil. Incompetent in August 1855, she may have been equal
to a probationer in March 1856 ; cspecially as she had had the stimulus to

improvement,
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improvement, arising from practice in teaching during almost the whole of the
interim, and salary and promotion.

As to the question of age, I have no doubt whatever that the young woman
correctly stated her age at 17} years then, and it is clear that the error is
Mr. Fleming’s own. He returns her as 19 in November 1855, when substitute,
and the first time that objection is made or heard on the ground of youth was
20th March 1856. As to the alleged tampering with the register because it
contains (I suppose) some evidence of erasure, had such been designed to meet
an objection never before made, clearly it would have been made to tally with
Mary Murray’s previous return of her age as 19, and not with her later and
contradictory statement of 17 } years; or had she given two different state-
ments, doubtless Mr. Fleming would have added this to the other cumulative
grounds upon which he recommended her removal. On the other hand, if, as
is most probable, he did not inquire as to her age when substitute, but esti-
mated it at 19 years, the scrutiny of four months after reduced her to 151

ears.
; Mr. Tleming visited in August 1856, when he strongly urged that the
manager’s application be granted, and singular, he again infers her qualifications
and recommending her removal without examination, he again recommends
further trial without examination either, nor does he make a single entry in
the observation book which would explain the change of opinion to his
SuCCessor.

The teacher was summoned for examination here this week, and in acknow-
ledging the receipt of the summons, the manager wrote a very disrespectful and
offensive letter to the secretaries, expressing his want of confidence in the
examivation if Mr. Fleming should take part in it. Mr. Fleming, Mr. Coyle,
and I examined Mary Murray with 21 other mistresses, seven only of whom
were probationers, nine being on third and seven on second class, and in one
important branch (arithmetic), in which the female teachersare generally very
deficient, her answering as to amount, matter and form was the best of the
whole party. The question which we had to discuss was, should she not be
placed, relatively to all our other decisions, on first division of third class; we
placed her on the lower division however.

I may here add, that I had to call Mr. Fleming’s attention last autumn to
some serious instances somewhat similar to this, in which he expressed himself
in the strongest and most decided terms in the observation books, as to the
unfitness of teachers, and in his next or subsequent reports in the book, the
same parties being in charge of the schools, no explanation whatever is put
forward to account for the change of opinion. The cases of the worst kind are
Carrigowen (12/6/55), and Barniskey (18/12/55.) In the latter, he states,
« Neatness and cleanliness, worse if possible than at last inspection ; accounts
carelessly and negligently kept ; suggestions left wholly neglected. I believe
he is a most indolent and inefficient person, and I earnestly recommend
Rey. Manager to remove him from a situation for which he is wholly unquali-
fied.” Mr. Fleming called on the manager that day, and in his next report in
the observation book, there is no reference whatever to any change in the state
of the school. In the former school he states that the teacher * cannot be
sanctioned as qualified to conduct a school,” and no reference has since been
made to the matter in the observation book.

The Talbotstown case is sure to obtain circulation through the manager, Rev.
Mr. Nowlan, and it must interfere with the efficient discharge of Mr. Igleming’s
duty in that quarter (Carlow) of the district. If careful examinations of newly
appointed probationary teachers are necessary in order.to protect fzhe interests
of the pupils, they are equally necessary for the protection of qualified persons
against hastily formed opinions which may degrade them and deprive them, as
in this instance, of their bread. I may add, that I know nothing of the case,
except as it has come before me officially and from examination of Mr. Fleming’s
reports, &c. 1 believe I have seen Rev. Mr. Nowlan a few times in my life, last
time some six years ago, but I know nothing of the matter from him, or through
him.

] I remain, &ec.
The Secretaries, Education Office. (signed) James . Kavanagh.

254. F2
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Sir, Education Office, 2 March 1857.

EncrosEDp is a communication of the 31st January last from Mr. Kavanagh,
Head Inspector, calling attention to an omission of duty on your part in
recommending Mary Murray, the teacher of the Talbotstown Female National
School, to be removed for incompetency without first ascertaining by examina-
tion the extent of her literary qualifications, &c.

We are to request that you will furnish, at your earliest convenience, some
explanation in reference to the statements contained in Mr. Kavanagh's letter,
which you are to return.

We are, &c.
(signed) M. Cross, s
T Kelly. JSecretarles..
J. G. Fleming, Esq., District Inspector,
Rathdrum.

Roll, No. 1789.
Talbotstown Female National School (1), County Wicklow.

Gentlemen, Rathdrum, 24 April 1857.

I BEG to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the 2d ultimo, enclosing a
communication from Mr. Kavanagh, Head Inspector, calling attention to an
omission of duty on my part in recommending Mary Murray, teacher of the
Talbotstown Female National School, to be removed for incompetency, without
first ascertaining by examination the extent of her literary acquirements.

As the facts of this case have not been correctly reported by Mr. Kavanagh,
in his communication of 31st January last, it will be necessary for me to give a
detailed account of what really occurred in connexion with my recommendation
for M. Murray's removal from the Talbotstown National School, after which I
shall point out the several omissions and inaccuracies which I have detected in
Mr. Kavanagh’s statement of this case.

1 first visited the Talbotstown Female National School in August 1855,
Anne Goss being the teacher in charge; M. Murray, soon after substitute
teacher, and subsequently regular teacher of that school, was present on the
occasion, and read in fourth book, with her companions of fourth class, to
which she belonged. Her features, figure, and general appearance were those
of a mere school-girl, of some 14 or 15 years of age. Some of her class-fellows
were her equals, and in some respects her superiors in literary attainments; for
I recollect perfectly well that her answering on geography, grammar, and the
subject-matter of the lesson-books was far below the minimum standard of
proficiency now required by the Board’s pregramme of school course for every
intelligent fourth class pupil. Mary Murray, in short, was very young, and
very ignorant.

On my second visit to the Talbotstown School, in November 1855, I was
much surprised to find this young inexperienced creatare acting as substitute in
the room of the regular teacher, A. Goss, then at the Central Training Institu-
tion. Being perfectly well aware how very difficult it is for managers to procure
persons suitably qualified to act as substitutes during the absence of the regular
teachers in training, I saw that Mary Murray’s appointment, even as temporary
teacher, although seriously injurious to the school, was, as in many other
similar cases, an unavoidable evil for which the existing regulations supply no
remedy. She was for this reason tolerated by me, and allowed to retain her
temporary position of substitute teacher.

It was on the occasion of this visit that Mary Murray returned her age as
19 years. Now I was quite sure she was not that age; knowing, however, that
she had but two or three weeks more to remain in the school (the regular
teacher having nearly completed her course of training), I thought it wholly
unnecessary to make any further inquiries regarding her age, which was accord-
ingly returned in my Report (26/11/55) as 19 vears.

The regular teacher, Anne Goss, was expelled for theft from the training
institution in December 1855, and being thereby disqualified for holding any

o situation
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situation under the Commissioners, the manager of her school was called on
to dismiss her. e deferred doing so, and in the meanwhile wrote to the secre-
taries in her favour, requesting she might be allowed to remain, at least on
trial, in her situation as teacher in Talbotstown Female National School. To this
request the Commissioners declined to accede.

The manager (Rev. Mr. Nolan) then appointed Mary Murray, former substi-
tute teacher, as the regular teacher of the Talbotstown School ; he at the same
time directed the dismissed teacher, A. Goss, to continue in the school, where
she accordingly remained as an assistant to M. Murray. In point of fact,
A. Goss was still the bond fide teacher of the school, M. Murray the nominal
teacher under her tuition and guidance.

It is, I conceive, pretty clear from this arrangement of the manager, that he
himself did not then regard M. Murray “ qualified to conduct the school with
efficiency,” else why retain another person to assist her, the average attendance
for the year being under 30. It is, further, important to note that A. Goss
remains up to the present in the Talbotstown Female National School, nomi-
nally as a pupil, but in reality as an occasional assistant to Mary Murray, the
recognised teacher. This arrangement is, I think, very objectionable. The
cause of A. Goss's expulsion from the Dublin Training Institution was well
known through the parish; and a young woman convicted of theft could not
be respected or regarded by any sensible, thinking person as a fit teacher or
companion for young children.

Mr. Kavanagh remarks, that there were over 50 pupils present on my first
visit (13/8)55.) to the Talbotstown Female National School, 11 of whom were in
Mary Murray’s (4th) class, and but little over two hours devoted to the entire
examination of the school, with a view to a primary report. I devoted two
hours 15 minutes to the inspection referred to by Mr. Kavanagh, who forgets to
state that 21, or nearly one-half of the gross attendance of pupils then examined,
were in first class. Their examination occupied a comparatively short time, I
had consequently ample opportunity to test the literary acquirements of the
remaining clusses, although there were 11 of fourth class present. 1 believe the
report of a head inspector on national schools is far more specific in its details, and
embraces more points of inquiry than even the primary report of a district in-
spector. Now Mr. Kavanagh, who seems to consider 2 hours 15 minutes too
short a time for the inspection of a school with an attendance of above 50 pupils,
nearly one-half of whom were in first class, got through the inspection of the
Ballinacorrig National School, 3551, on 23d September last, in 2 hours 20
minutes, although there were above 80 pupils present, under the charge of a
first-class teacher, a paid monitor, and a work-mistress. On the day after (viz.
24/9/56.) he inspected the Arklow Female National School, 147 pupils present,
in 2 hours 10 minutes.

I partially assisted Mr. Kavanagh on both the occasions just mentioned, and
in the case of the Arklow Female National School considerably more than one-
half of the children present were in 1st class ; but after making all due allow-
ance for these circumstances, it certainly seems strange that Mr. Kavanagh
should regard 2 hours 15 minutes too short a time to devote to the inspec-
tion of a school with an attendance, it is true, of above 50 pupils, 21 of whom,
however, were in first class.

My third visit to the Talbotstown Female National School took place on 20th
March 1856. 1 then felt bound to make minute inquiries regarding Mary
Murray's age, for she had now become the principal teacher of the school.
The return of her age in my report of the 25th November 1855, when she
acted as substitute, was, as in the case of substitute teachers, made without
special inquiry of the fact; I did not, as already explained, think it necessary
to go beyond the girl's own statement of her age.

The case, however, assumed a very different aspect when Mary Murray
became the regular teacher of the school; accordingly, when 1 found her in
March 1856 acting as such, I made special inquiries about her age, which,
after some hesitation, she stated was 174 years. She had, be it remembered,
shortly before this returned her age as 190 years, which was much in excess of
the truth. This circumstance, coupled with her hesitating answer, and her
appearance so extremely juvenile, that of a mere‘scho ol girl, in fact, led me to
entertain serious doubts of the truthfulness of this second statement of her age.
1 therefore endeavoured to ascertain as correctly as possible what her age really
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was. 1failed, however, in geiting satisfactory producible evidence on that point,
and had consequently no other course open to me but to return Mary Murray’s
age as estimated by herself at 17} years, accompanied by the remark that her
looks and general appearance indicated only 15} years. .

The plain statement just given relieves me, I think, from the task of further
noticing Mr. Kavanagh’s opinions regarding M. Murray’s age. His attempt to
prove that the statcments of her age in my reports of 11/35, and 3/56, are
contradictory and inaccurate, wholly fails from the absence of auy evidence or
facts to support his view. Before leaving this portiov of Mr. Kavanagh’s letter,
| feel it necessary to direct aftention to the following passage in it, first para-
graph, page 4 : “ On the other hand, if, as is most probable, he (Mr. Fleming)
did not inquire as to her age when substitute, but estimated it at 19 years, the
scrutiny of four months after reduced her to 15} years.” The word estimated
is underlined in Mr. Kavanagh's letter. What reason has he for supposing it
most probable that I estimated Mary Murray’s age, in plain language, guessed
it? I reply without the slightest hesitation that he had not a partiele of proof
or reason for such an extraordinary assertion, which, if left uncontradicted,
might possibly injure my official character. I, therefore, feel bound in self-
defence to give it the fullest and most unqualified contradiction.

Mr. Kavanagh obzerves, in paragraph 2, page 3 of his letter, “ As to the ques-
tion of age, 1 have no doubt whatever that the young woman correctly stated her
age at 17} years, and it is clear the error is Mr. Fleming’s own.” Why has
Mr. Kavanagh no doubt on the point, and what error does he mean ¢ The error,
I suppose, of stating that the girl or young woman was not more than 154 years,
I still welhere to that statement. Of course any one may err in his estimate of
another’s age, but as Mr. Kavanagh is not endowed with any special gift for
guessing ages, the error is just as likely to be his as mine, for we have no
reliable evidence on the subject of Mary Murray’s age. DBesides, a year had
nearly passed since she returned me her age at 17}, and Mr. Kavanagh then
saw her for the first time.

I had an interview with the Rev. Mr. Nolan immediately after my third
inspection of the Talbotstown Schools, on 20 March 1856, when T called his
attention to the extreme youth and inexperience of the mewly appointed
teacher, M. Murray. I added, that as the interests of the school must suffer
from so injudicious an appointment, it would be out of my power to sanction it
in my official report oun the school. Tailing to convince him of the necessity
of any change in his arrangements, I left him, after a lengthened but friendly
discussion of the case, with the understanding that I would recommend with-
drawal of salary from Q. Murray, and that he would appeal from my decision,
and bring the matter under the notice of the Commissioners in case they acted
on my Report.

In taking this course, I acted with perfect good faith and candour towards
the manager, with whom [ was on the most friendly terms. T had nothing to
gain, no object to serve, in differing with him about his teacher’s qualifications.
I simply withheld my sanction from his injudicious appointment because I felt
that the interests of the school required me to do so.

Salary was in due course withdrawn from Mary Murray, from 31st May
1856, on my report, and same notified to manager, B. O. 9/5/56, “ Inspector
having reported that she is not qualified to conduct the school with efficiency.”
The wording of the Board’s order makes no reference whatever to her literary
acquirements. Her salary is stated to be withdrawn because “she is not
qualified to conduct the school with efficiency.” -

And here it is all-important to observe that there were three distinet reasons
wiged by me (in Report of 20/3/56) for the removal, first, extreme youth ;
sceond, total inexperience of school keeping; third, want of adequate literary
acquirements. I ctated in my report that I did not at the time test her
literary acquirements. Why? DBecause I was perfectly satisfied that the other
two reasons alleged were uite sufficient in warranting me to recommend her
removal.

Jt was, in fact, a perfect mockery to place so inexperienced a young ereature
over children. She knew nothing whatever of school keeping. Her attempt
to examine a class in the most rudimentary subjects was a complete failure,
for the very obvious reason that she was (and is still, unless much improved
since January last) wholly ignorant of the subject matter of the Board’s lesson
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books. This was quite apparent from the questions she put to her pupils.
But Anne Goss, not Mary Murray, was then the bond_fide teacher of the school.
The latter was merely qualifying for her task under the guidance and tutelage
of the former. T could not, of course, be a party to any such an arrangement;
I therefore felt bound to throw the entire responsibility of organising and
examining the classes on M. Murray, who, when unaided and left to her own
resources, was utterly unegual to the duty.

1 was thus, in accordance with Art. XXXIII. of the Code, enabled to * judge
fully of the teacher's merits as a school keeper and instruetor of youth,” and
finding her altogether wanting in these most essential qualifications of a
teacher, 1 felt justified in recommending her removal. 1 accordingly stated in
my Report (20/3/56), “The manager of this school will not remove M. Murray
unless called upon by the Board to do so. This interference is, however, ver
necessary, as I believe the interests of the school will be saerificed should so
young and inexperienced a person be permitted to remain in charge of it. This
is also the opinion of the resident Roman Catholie curate, who is well
acquainted with the facts of the case.” T expressly added, that I did not, on
the oceasion of this visit, test the literary acquirements of the teachenr.

I beg to add, that I adopted precisely the same course in the case of the Wicklow
TFemale National School, visited by me in June 1855 and January 1856, when
I recommended the removal of Anne Salmon, the newly appointed probationary
teacher, without any previous examination of her literary acquirements, but
merely because I believed her to be wholly deficient in method and experience.
All this T stated in the observation book of the school, which Mr. Kavanagh saw.
He had all the facts of the case from the manager, Rev. Mr. Grant, and his
curate, Rev. Mr. Sullivan, in Wicklow, February last; and he then and there
not only formally approved of what I had done, but on his own part specially
recommended Anne Salmon’s removal, she being at the time a probationar
teacher who had for the first time come to an examination. I should add, Mr.
Kavanagh, when he recommended manager to remove her, was wholly unable to
form any idea whatever of the nature or amount of her literary acquirements ;
he had not, in fact, seen her written paper, with which she was then engaged,
and her oral examination had not begun. Indeed, he looked over none of the
female teachers’ papers until the following Monday or Tuesday, when I called
at his residence to assist him in the examination of those papers, and the
teachers’ classification. ,

The above statement of facts requires no comment ; it speaks for itself.

I have referred in a preceding paragraph of this communication to Mary
Murray’s ignorance of the subject-matter of the lesson books; in proof of this
statement, I appeal to the testimony of her exercises, written during the ex-
aminations held on 29th and 30th January last, when, after the lapse of nearly
an entire year for study and preparation, she failed in giving a satisfactory
answer to any one of the questions taken from the lesson books for the examina-
tion of probationary female teachers: her oral answering on the same subject
was, if possible, worse,

I can state, without any hesitation, that during my 10 years’ experience as a
school inspector I never before met with any teacher g0 grossly ignorant of the
Board’s reading books ; yet Mr. Kavanagh, writing of this young persou's classi-
fication, says, “* The question we had to decide was, should she not be placed,
relatively to all our other decisions, in first division of third class.

I held no discussion of the kind with Mr. Kavanagh ; he and I simply glanced
over the figures denoting the answering of tht_e several teachers of third class,
comparing Mary Murray's marks with those of persons promoted third; but we
had not much difficulty in ascertaining that her answering was of a very in-
ferior kind, for she failed in every subject (arithmetic alone excepted) on which
she had been examined. The idea of promoting her to third never entered my
mind ; such a promotion would have been a complete burlesque and mockery
on the whole system of teachers’ examinations. Let Mary Murray’s exercises
be produced, and even a hasty perusal of them will, I think, satisfy any unpre-
judiced mind of the entire accuracy of what I have just stated.

The next step in this case is the manager’s appeal to the Commissioners,
requesting them to reconsider Mary Murray’s case. His letter of appeal was
enclosed to me in secretaries’ letter (10/7/56G), asking my opinion as to the ex-
pediency of granting her a further trizl.
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Soon after the receipt of this letter, early in August last, I had an interview
with Rev. Mr. Nolan, in his own house at Rathvilly. He there urged several
reasons, which he conceived should induce me to give my formal sanction to
Mary Murray’s appointment in the Talbotstown school. He mentioned that he
found it impossible to procure any more cligible teacher ; that Mary Murmy,
although young and inexperienced, was steady and painstaking, and sincerely
anxious to qualify for her situation. She was moreover underthe immediate control
and superintendence of her parents, owing to the proximity of her father’s house
to the school ; a most important circumstance, some of the previous teachers hav-
ing lost their characters in consequence of keeping low and improper company.

These statements were, I thought, deserving of the most serious considera-
tion. I therefore considered it my duty to embody them in my report
(13/8/56.) on the Talbotstown school, accompanied with the remark, that as
Mary Murray had, in consequence of A. Goss's assistance, somewhat improved
in method, it would be desirable to let her remain as temporary teacher, but not
recognised or sanctioned by the Board (and consequently without salary), until
the examination of female teachers took place, when her case would be brought
under the notice of the Head Inspector, for his final decision.

I felt that I exercised a wise discretion in adopting this course, for although
I still declined the serious responsibility of formally sanetioning the appointment
of an unsuitable person to the charge of a National School, the manager must
have been satisfied that his case would be sure to get a just and impartial hear-
ing from the Head Inspector, and that I had no wish to deal with it in a summary
and unfair way.

The manager appeared quite contented with the arrangement. He said he
knew Mr. Kavanagh very well ; that he would write to him on the subject, and
that he was quite sure of obtaining justice at his hands.

It is necessary to add, that during our interview not a single word was said
about Mary Murray’s literary acquirements. There was no necessity for any
remarks on that head. Rev. Mr. Nolan (manager) knew perfectly well why I
declined to recognise her as a suitable teacher for the Talbotstown schaol. e
knew that my chief objections to her were on the grounds of her extreme youth,
want of method, and inexperience ; and therefore it was that we never cntered
into the question of her literary acquirements.

All that has been stated in the preceding page of this document is fully
corroborated by the answers to Queries 13, 40, and 41 in my report of August
last, on the Talbotstown Female National School, to which I respectfully beg to
refer.

Mr. Kavanagh read that report, and yet he writes (rather flippantly, I think)
in second page of his communication, of 31st January : “ On the matter being
referred to Mr. Fleming, he was unable to assume an attitude becoming his
position as an inspector, because he had never examined the teacher ; and he
was therefore obliged to postpone the expression of an opinion on the merits of
the case until he should again visit the school.”

The subject matter of my -reports (20/3/56., and 13/8/56.), and the brief
account of what passed between Rev. Mr. Nolan and myself during our inter-
view in August last, are, I conceive, a sufficient reply to this portion of Mr.
Kavanagh's letter.

I certainly deferred my answer to the Secretaries’ communication, requesting
my opinion as to the expediency of granting Mary Murray a further trial, until
I had an opportunity of again visiting herschool. Why? Becaunse as she had
been all along under the guidance of a most intelligent trained teacher
(A. Goss), she might have so improved from the date (3/56) of my former visit
as to be in a position to qualify as a probationer.

I therefore felt it necessary, for my own protection, to visit the Talbotstown
school before replying to the secretaries’ letter of July 1856 ; not, however, for
the purpose of examining the teacher, as Mr. Kavanagh imagines, but simply
with the view of ascertaining what improvement, if any, had taken place in
her method of teaching, &e. Mr. Kavanagh imputes to me a very different
motive for that visit; a motive, however, which had no existence but in his
own imagination.

I must here observe, that when I informed the Rev. Mr. Nolan, in August
last, that his teacher’s case would come before the Head Inspector for considera-
tion, I was under the impression that it would have been finally and speedily
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arranged. After the usual examination of female teachers (then approaching,
as | thought) had terminated, Mr. Kavanagh was then residing in this distriet,
where he remained during the months of August and September; I therefore
very naturally expected he would hold his annual examination of the teachers
sometime in August, or at furthest in September, during the fine warm
weather, when most of the schools are closed for vacation, or else very thinly
attended, in consequence of harvest operations.

But no such examinations took place; not, certainly, from want of time and
opportunity, since Mr. Kavanagh might have easily devoted two days, the time
required for the teachers’ examinations, out of the two entire months he
remained in the “district. But he did nothing of the kind ; the examinations
for 1856 were unnecessarily deferred till 20th and 30th January 1857. Warse
still, the examinations for 1855 were postponed till 22d and 23d February 1856.

On these two occasions adults of both sexes were brought together; the
females writing, or rather endeavouwring to write their exercises, while Mr.
Kavanagh and the district inspector conducted the oral examination of the
male teachers.

Now this practice, for I believe it is the practice of Mr. Kavanagh, is open
to very grave objections. It is, in the first place, most unjust towards the
female teachers, who cannot possibly give their undistracted attention to the
brain work before them; for they must necessarily be disturbed by the noise
and clatter of tongues incidental to the oral examination of a number of male
teachers.

The practice now moticed is obviously objectionable on moral grounds.
A large number of young men and women, most of them unmarried and neces-
sarily distant from their homes, are assembled together on a winter's day, in
some large town or city, with means at their disposal for dissipation if so
inclined, their travelling expenses having been just paid them. The dictates of
prudence and common sense are alike opposed to such an improper arrange-
ment, from which, if persevered in, serious evil will result, The practice is
most obnoxious, and replete with danger to the morals of our teachers. The
plea of necessity cannot certainly be urged in its favour, and the soonmer it is
given up the better. I shall merely add, that it is dealing very unjustly with
the teachers, males and females, to require them to travel from home, frequently
with very little money in their pockets, 30, 40, and occasionally even 50 miles,
during the most inclement season of the year. There is no necessity for such
a proceeding, which inflicts needless suffering and hardship on a class of
persons naturally weak and delicate, from the sedentary nature of their
occupation.

The examinations thus deferred were hurriedly conducted, to make up for
lost time. In January last, for instance, Mr. Kavanagh, partially aided by
Mr. Coyle and myself, managed to get through the heavy business attendant
on the oral examination of some 14 male teachers (principally first and second
class and candidates for promotion), besides the written and oral examination of
nearly 30 female teachers, all, with some few exceptions, candidates for pro-
motion, in little more than three days. On one of these days, Wednesday,
28th, T think, he was almost entirely absent, in consequence of his attendance
at the Viceroy's levee.

These examinations if properly conducted would have occupied an entire
week ; scarcely half that time was devoted to so important a duty. This
unnecessary haste, while unjust to the teachers, entailed much additional labour
and trouble on the district inspectors. We (Mr. Coyleand I) were detained by
Mr. Kavanagh on the night of Friday, 81st January, in :che waiting room of the
Education Office, till near eight o'clock, marking the written papers, and filling
up the dockets of all the female teachers belonging to my district, who had
been at the examinations held on the preceding days. After this we had to
classify all the male and female teachers who had attended from the same
district (35), besides filling up the usual sheets for the office.

In making these remarks, I wish to convey as distinctly as possible, that, if
circumstances demanded it, I would feel bound to labour in the Commissioners’
service at all hours and at all seasons, wholly apart from any mean or sordid
motives. Whenever called upon, I shall be found ready to respond to the call
of duty, for I know that I held a situagon of very great responsibility; and t.h;:.-t
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the conscientious, efficient discharge of its duties will, sooner cr later, bring
honour to my humble name, and lasting benefit to my country.

This fecling should be carefully fostered and encouraged by the head inspector,
both hy word and example. He should not by the systematic negleet of an
important duty, dishearten and annoy those whom he is bound to cheer and
support.

Much that has been stated in these pages is abundantly illustrated by this
case of the Talbotstown School; sure am [, for example, that the manager,
Rev. Mr. Nolan, would never have penned the very disrespeetful and offensive
letter to the secretaries, noticed by Mr. Kavanagh, had nothing beyond a reason-
able interval elapsed between the date of my interview with him in August last,
and the subsequent examination of his teacher, Mary Murray.

But month after month passed away, and still nothing was heard about the
examination of teachers. Nor could I even inform the Rev. Mr. Nolan when
they would be held, as I have never had more than a few days’ notice from
Mr. Kavanagh, of the time he appoints for that duty.

In consequence of this unnecessary delay, Rev. Mr. Nolan seems to have lost
all patience, and with some reason, as to the promised decision of head inspector
was to all appearance indefinitely postponed. At length, however, the case
comes before Mr. Kavanagh on the last days of January 1857, when Mr. Murray,
with other probationary teachers, attended the annual examinations, at which it
was his business to preside. .

But having previously arranged to attend Lord Carlisle’s levee, he was unable
to remain with the teachers. Accordingly, after giving me the usual instruc-
tions for conducting the written examinations of the female teachers, and the
oral examination of the male teachers then present, he made aspeech, caution-
ing the former of the discredit and injury they would do themselves by using
books, or any unfair means to aid them in answering the questions set before
them. He also said something about moral influence, loss of character, honest
women, wants of the country, &c.; he did not, however, it is all important to
note, call in those who chanced to have books, to give them up; he said no-
thing whatever on that point. :

His speech finished, he went home to dress for the levee, leaving me to deal
singlehanded (Mr. Coyle being unwell and unable to attend during the early
part of the day) with the oral examination of a number of second and some
first-class teachers, and with the written examination of nearly 30 female
teachers of all classes. I got through this double duty as well as I could, but
it is hardly necessary to add, imperfectly and superficially, until Mr. Coyle
came to my assistance, when matters proceeded somewhat better.

During Mr. Kavanagh's absence, Mary Murray, onc of the teachers whom he
had just addressed on the dishonesty and impropriety of using unfair means to
help her in answering her written questions, was detected by me with a copy
of the “ Geography generalised ” open in her lap, the written paper then before
her being that on geography. She was the teacher of the Talbotstown Female
National School, the person, in fact, alrcady referred to. When subsequently
questioned by Mr. Kavanagh, and in my presence, about this very serious
charge, she admitted what, of course, she could not deny, that she had the book
on her lap. She was not, however, quite certain that it was open; it might,
indeed, have opened by rubbing against her clothes, but she did not herself
open or read it. She admitted, however, that when I detected her with the
copy of the “ Geography generalised ” in her lap, geography was the subject she
was engaged with.

I now deliberately repeat that I saw a copy of the * Geography generalised ”
open on Mary Murray’s lap during her written examination, held on 28th
January last, the questions before her at the time being those on geography.
I feel bound to add that T was, and am still, perfectly satisfied that she had the
book open for the sole purpose of copying those questions into her exami-
nation paper. All this I mentioned to Mr. Kavanagh on his return from the
lovee.

Under ordinary circumstances, my duty was, in this case, elear enough, viz.,
to take up Mary Murray's papers, and then direct her to withdraw from the
examination.  But the case was a very pecalinr one, and, as such, had come
before Mr. Kavanagh for his opinion s so, 1 thought it wore prudent to do
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nothing in the matter beyond taking the copy of the “ Geography generalised ™
from her, until Mr, Kavanagh returned to the examination, when, as already
stated, T brought the facts under his notice.

He soon ascertained that the book was not the property of Mary Murray,
but had been lent to her by another teacher, Miss Doyle, of Drumecondra
National School. Now, this circumstance in no way lessened Mary Murray's
culpability. Yet, strange to say, all Mr. Kavanagh's censure fell on the unfor-
tunate girl, Miss Doyle, who, after all, was not so much to blame, as it
was quite possible she might have brought the book from home for no improper
purpose ; besides, she had not been called on in the morning to give up any
book she had with her.

1 do not mean to imply that Miss Doyle was wholly free from blame, but 1
say that she was far less culpable than Mary Murray, who was detected
Slagranti delicto.

Miss Doyle, with tears in her eyes, in vain pleaded that she had not read a
book of any kind during her examination, and that she was not aware of the
improper use Mary Murray had been making of the geography she had
lent her. But Mr. Kavanagh refused to listen to her defence ; he addressed
her in very strong language, in presence of the assembled teachers, males
and females: adding. that he wholly discredited hér statements. He finished
by telling her that she should take no further part in the examination, and
flhat any promotion she might have attained by attending at it was now lost to

er.

Strange to add, Miss Doyle, notwithstanding this strong denunciation of her
conduct, attended the examination next day as usual, and was, I understand,
promoted, although no new fact had heen elicited which could in the least
diminish Mr. Kavanagh's estimate of her guilt, supposing her guilty.

But Mary Murray, the really guilty party, was in the meanwhile allowed to
pass comparatively free of blame or censure ; her written paper was not taken
from her, nor was she in any way punished by Mr. Kavanagh, who states, oddly
enough, in his letter of 31st January, ¢ The question we had to discuss was,
should she (Mary Murray) not be placed, relatively to all our other divisions, on
first division of third class "

I leave it to Mr. Kavanagh to reconcile this opinion with his remarks to the
teachers, on the first morning of their examination, about character, honesty,
moral influence, &e. To me they seem wholly incompatible. I shall merely add,
that the facts now correctly detailed may have led the teachers present at the
examination to conclude that Mr. Kavanagh had shown undue favour and
partiality to the girl Murray: on that point 1 give no opinion; it will of
course be for the Commissioners to decide whether there are sufficient grounds
to support such a conclusion.

I have now finished my account of what really occurred with reference to this
case of the Talbotstown Female National School, and I have endeavoured to
supply, by a clear, unvarnished statement of facts, for the omissions and in-
accuracies in Mr. Kavanagh's letter (31/1/57) to the secretaries, condemnatory
of my official conduct in the matter. I deeply regret that he has deemed it
necessary to censure the course I pursued, as I have been at all times desirous
to gain the favourable opinion of my superior officer by a correct discharge of
my official duties.

“In this case, however, 1 think there is not any reasonable ground of complaint
against me, for I am in a position to indicate some serious misstatements and
suppression of facts in Mr. Kavanagh's letter, referred to above, which invalidate
the charges he has preferred against me. . o

I may here premise, that Mr, Kavanagh has derived his information on the
case from my observations to him about it, from my reports on the Talbotstown
Female National School, and, finally, from a short conversation he had with
Mary Murray in my presence and that of Mr. Coyle, district inspector. He
also read a scurrilous letter from Rev Mr. Nolan (26/1/57), preferring sundry
petty charges against me, but which had nothing to do with the main facts of
the case. He refers to another communication of Rev. Mr. Nolan's, the sub-
stance of which he incorrectly quotes (paragraph 2, page 2, of his letter).

It now remains for me to point out the misstatements, &c., referred to in last
page of this communication. : |
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Printed image digitised by the University of Southampton Library Digitisation Unit



52 CORRESPONDENCE, &e. RELATING TO

L. Mr. Kavanagh suppresses the important fact that my recommendation for
the withdrawal of salary from Mary Murray was made principally on the
ground of her extreme youth and inexperience of school-keeping: this fact
gives an entirely different aspect to the case as stated by him, and renders it
almost unnecessary to enter into any lengthened notice of his remaining state-
ments. I shall, however, produce evidence from my reports which places that
point beyond the reach of doubt.

[ wrote in my report (20/3/56), “ Mary Murray’s method of conducting unsa-
tisfactory ; wholly unfitted, from extreme youth, inexperience, and want of ade-
quate literary acquirements.” Upon this last point I insisted but little, as I
believed the other reasons assigned were sufficient to call for her removal,
This view is fully borne out by a second paragraph in the same report: * The
manager of this school will not remove Mary Murray unless called upon by the
Board to do so. This interference is, however, very necessary, as I believe the
interests of the school will be sacrificed should so young and inexperienced a
nerson be permitted to remain in charge of it: this is also the opinion of the
resident Roman Catholic curate.,” T expressly added, that I did not then test
her literary acquirements, as I had a tolerably correct idea of what they were
from previous examination. If she had shown the slightest aptitude for the
business of teaching, or if her method of conducting and examining a class had
indicated even a probability of future fitness, it would, I admit, have been a
most unjust and blameable proceeding on my part to have recornmended her
removal without previous examination of her literary acquirements. 1 hardly
think, however, that the youngest sub-inspector in the Board’s service would
act so foolishly.

But I saw that she was quite unsuited, from want of method and experience,
for the responsible situation she attempted to fill; I saw that she had no more
notion of school keeping than the children she professed to teach; I saw that
she was only the nominal teacher of the school, qualifying under Anne Goss,
expelled for theft from the training institution, and therefore I recommended
her removal.

The whole case hinges on this consideration, which is, however, altogether
ignored by Mr. Kavanagh in his letter (31/1/57) to the Commissioners, pro-
bably because he had never examined Mary Murray’s school, nor had even
heard her examine a class, which would have answered nearly as well. He
ought, I respectfully suggest, have done so hefore he charged me with
unjustly “ depriving her of her bread.”

This is abundantly obvious from the extracts already given from my reports
on the Talbotstown Female National School. Other passages oceur in those
reports which fully support the same view. One will, perhaps, suffice : in reply
to query 40 in report 13/8/56, I state, “Mary Murray not recognised by the
Board, salary having been withdrawn on my report of March last, on the
ground that she was unqualified, from inexperience, to take charge of a national
school.”  Mr. Kavanagh was fully cognisant of all that has been just men-
tioned, and yet he charges me with a want of common sense, with injustice,
and a breach of the code, for having omitted to test, by special examination,
Mary Murray’s literary acquirements. He appears to forget, leaving every
other reason out of consideration, that he had in February 1856, in the case of
Anne Salmon, probationary teacher of the Wicklow Female National School,
sanctioned precisely the same course he now appears to regard as repugnant to
common sense and justice.

In both ecases I recommended the teacher's removal, mainly and principally
on the ground of want of method and experience, and without any previous
examination of the teacher’s literary acquirements,

Such palpable inconsistency must seriously impede all satisfactory co-opera-
tion between Mr. Kavanagh and the district inspectors under his superinten-
dence, since we must always be in doubt respecting his views of official
business, when we find him blaming to-day the very course he sanetioned but
yesterday.

The average attendance at the Wicklow Female National School for the vear
cided 31st December 18556 was 64 ; that in the Talbotstown Female National
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School for the year ended 30th November 1855, 27 ; the former being a town
and the latter a rural school. That circumstance, however, in no way affects
the main question at issue: “Is it under any circumstances justifiable for an
inspector to recommend the removal of a probationary teacher without first
testing his or her literary acquirements?”

Most unquestionably the inspector’s usual and proper course is to examine
the probationary teachers before recommending their removal. But if the
inspector have other and suflicient grounds for taking that step, the test of
literary acquirements is not then required.

The Wicklow case is, I think, illustrative of my meaning, for I again recom-
mend A. Salmon’s removal after her general examination, which Mr. Kavanagh
conducted in February 1856. Although she had acquitted herself very cre-
ditably, her general answering being fully equal to second division of sceond
class ; she was, however, required to resign, simply because, like Mary Murray,
she was not qualified, from inexperience and want of method, to take the charge
of a national school.

I may, perhaps, be wrong in holding these opinions. If so, I can only say
that Mr. Kavanagh's approval of my conduct in the Wicklow case most un-
doubtedly led me to believe, that in pursuing a similar course of action when
dealing with the Talbotstown teacher I was acting in accordance with his views
and in a manner to gain his approbation.

2. Mr. Kavanagh states, page 2d of his letter, “On perusing the report
(20/3/56) it will be seen that several ecircumstances, as the opinions of
managers, curate, those of a farmer, Anne Goss, residing with Mary Murray's
family, &e., are brought in to suprfort Mr. Fleming’s recommendation.”

It is utterly untrue that I had an interview or communication of any kind,
verbal or written, with a “ farmer” on the subject of the Talbotstown Female Na-
tional School, or the teacher’s removal therefrom, and that I urged his opinions
in my report, 20/3/56, to support my recommendation, &c. 1 might reasonably
bave hoped that the character I have fairly earned during the past ten years
for a correct knowledge and efficient discharge of my official duties would have
protected me from this very queer remark of Mr. Kavanagh. T beg to say, I
never held council with any farmer or farmers as to the qualifications of any
teacher under my superintendence. A glance at the report quoted by Mr.
Kavanagh will at once demonstrate that this statement of his about ““ a farmer’s
opinions, &e.,” has not a shadow of any kind of proof to support it.

3. Again, it is not the fact that I urged the circumstance of Anne Goss's
residence with Mary Murray’s family, to support my recommendation for Mary
Murray’s removal from the Talbotstown National School. I merely stated in
my report, 20/3/56, to which Mr. Kavanagh alludes, that “ Anne Goss (whose
character is anything but good) resides and boards in the family of Mary
Murray, whose father is a small farmer, and who, I believe, makes her some
return for her aid in getting his daughter appointed to the school.”

I felt bound to notice this circumstance in accordance with the instructions
in the code requiring the inspector to ascertain and make known any facts
illustrative of the teacher’s habits, manner of life, &c., which he may deem
worthy of remark. But I never urged it as a reason for Mary Murray’s
removal. On the contrary, I mentioned in my report of 13/8/5G, as one of my
reasons for recommending her to be continued as temporary teacher until her
case should come before the head inspector, that “ she had much improved in
method since last inspection; she has been much assisted by the former
teacher, A. Goss) dismissed for theft from the Training Institution, December
last) in conducting the business of the school since my last visit. She has by
this means greatly improved in method ; for A. Goss, her instructor, although
unprincipled and dishonest, is sharp and clever, and understands preity well
how a school should be conducted.”

I knew very well that Anne Goss was at the time boarding or lodging with
Mary Murray’s family, but it never occurred to me to represent that circum-
stance as a reason in any way tending to support my recommendation for Mary
Murray's removal. Mr. Kavanagh's statement to the contrary is quite incom-
patible with the tone and wording of all my reports on the Talbotstown
Female National School. I respectfully invite a perusal of those documents, as
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I feel assurcd they will corroborate to the fullest extent every word of whai &
have just written.

4. Mr. Kavanagh says, para. 2, page 2 of his letter, that the manager,
Rev. Mr. Nolan, in his letter to the Commissioners, after salary had heen with-
drawn from M. Murray on my report (20/3/56),  urged various rcasons of a
peculiarly local nature in favour of her retention in her situation.”  Did Mr,
Kavanagh ever see this letter of Rev. Mr. Nolan? I think not.

I have a copy of that letter now before me, which I forward with this com-
munication for the information of the Commissioners. Rev. Mr. Nolan states in
this letter of his, referred to by Mr. Kavanagh : © The untenable grounds for his
(inspector’s) judgment, and my reasons for differing with him (inspcctor) shall
if necessary be stated on another occasion.” Thus, Mr. Kavanagh's account of
what Rev. Mr. Nolan wrote is the very reverse of what the reverend gentleman
really did write. A glance at the annexed copy of Rev. Mr. Nolan’s letter
will suffice to show the perfect accuracy of this statement, and that it is in
no respect an exaggeration.

5. Mr. Kavanagh mentions in 2d paragraph, 4th page of his letter, ¢ Mr. Fle-
ming visited in August 1856, when he strongly urged that the manager’s appli-
cation be granted ; and singularly he again infers her qualifications, and recom-
mending her removal without examination, he again recommends further trial
without examination either, nor does he make a single entry in the observation
book, which would explain the change of opinion to his successor.”

I beg to call special attention to the words underlined in the preceding para-
graph, and I ask Mr. Kavanagh upon what grounds he makes the assertion
that “ not a single entry was made by me in the observation book which
would explain the change of opinion to my successor.”

How does Mr. Kavanagh know that? He never visited the Talbotstown
schools, nor did he ever see the observation books of those schools; not even a
copy of my remarks left in the observation books had come under his eye. He
had heard nothing of the matter from or through the manager, as admitted by
himself in the very last line of his letter (31/1/57) to the secrctavies. [le got
no information of the kind from me, for I could tell him nothing about what
I had written in the observation book of the Talbotstown School (or in any
other school, indeed) from memory alone, on the mere spur of the woment, and
without reference to my note book, or some other written document connceted
with the case.

I say nothing of the teacher, because being the party immedintely concerned,
any statement made by her in her own case shoulidl he supported by sow
correlative evidence before being embodied in the shape of a charere of negleet,
of duty against me. I do not mean to imply that Mr. Kavanagio has pre
ferred a serious charge against me solely on the unsupported statoment of
teacher, for I can hardly suppose that a person in so high a position in the
service of the Board could so far forget his sense of justice and fair dealing as
to deliberately try to injure the character of his fellow officer on mere rumours
or one-sided reports, supposing such to have been made,

Still the question recurs, from what sources did Mr. Kavanagh obtain his infor-.
mation, so as to be in a position to give his opinion without any doubt, ifs, or
hesitation respecting a document which he never saw, and about which, as
I have shown, he really knew nothing whatever ?

I respectfully request the Commissioners will call on Mr. Kavanagh to answer
my last question, and also to reply to the paragraphs in this document headed
with the figures 1. 2. 3. 4. 5.

I await his explanation, from which I fear nothing. Ie is, meanwhile, in
a very unenviable position in consequence of the way he has been pleased to
deal with this Talbotstown case. It pains me to make this avowal, but I fecl
bound to do so in defence of my official character, which is cverything to
me, and which has, I think, been unfairly and unnceessarily ecnsured by
Mr. Kavanagh.

He is apparently very desirous to protect the interests of qualified pro-
bationary teachers © against hastily-framed opinions, which may degrade them,
and deprive them of their bread.” I sincerely hope that he will be animated
by this very just and proper feeling in all his future official intercourse with the
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district inspectors, for they, ton, may be injured by * hastily: framed opinions,”
which, if allowed to pass unnoticed, might possibly lower them in the esti-
mation of the Commissioners, and thereby deprive them of the promotion
fairly earned by long and efficient service.

One more instance of Mr. Kavanagh’s looseness of statement, and [ have
tlone with him. He meuntions, that Mary Murray was in this case “ deprived
of her bread,” in consequence of my neglect, &e. Now, this is merely figurative
speech ; dealing with facts, it has no meaning. Mary Murray was not deprived
of her bread, nor even of the price of a single loaf through my means, and
Mr. Kavanagh knew that perfectly well when he was writing the letter to which
I now reply. He and | had already signed the classification sheet recom-
mending restoration of salary to Mary Muiray, as probationer, from 31 May 1856,
the date from which her salary had been withdrawn, till Ist January 1857,
from which latter date she was to be recognised and paid as 3d class. We
both understood that this joint recommendation would, as a matter of course,
be acted upon in the oftice, which I need scarcely add, it was; B. O. 26/2/57.

Mary Murray suffered a loss, | admit, in having her salary witbheld for
nearly three quarters, but that loss is entirely attributable to Mr. Kavanagh’s
neglect and unnecessary delay in holding the teachers’ examinations; had those
examinations been held in August or September (as they ought, and might have
been), Mary Murray would have received her salary in due course, and the
inatter would have been arranged to the satisfaction of all parties.

I have now completed my reply to Mr. Kavanagh’s charges against me so far
as the Talbotstown case is concerned, and I sincerely hope the Commissioners
will deem my explanation satisfactory ; it differs, however, very widely from
that attributed to me by Mr. Kavanagh, when he writes (last paragraph in page
two of his letter) : “ Mr. Fleming's explanation is, that he had examined her in
class as a pupil in August 1855, and from this and what he witnessed in the
school, he felt warranted in declaring her incompetency.” The words “ what
he witnessed in the school,” may mean a great deal or they may mean very
little; as interpreted by me, they convey much more than what they apparently
express in Mr. Kavanagh's letter.

But I bad no official explanation with Mr. Kavanagh on the subject. We
had, I perfectly remember, a hurried conversation during an interval at the
teachers’ examinations, held on 29th and 30th January last, on Mary Murray’s
case, in her presence and that of my fellow inspector, Mr. Coyle. No reference
was made at the time to my reports, notes, or written documents of any kind.
Mr. Kavanagh subsequently looked over my reports on the Talbotstown Female
National School, to which I requested he would be good enough to refer.

I had no idea what his object was in questioning me on the case; had I
known that it was to end in his preferring serious charges against me, I would
most assuredly have taken a very different course with him ; but he mever
intimated to me anything of the kind until he elicited all the information, such
as it was, that I was able to give him from mere memory, about Mary Murray
and her case.

How far such a course of proceeding is consistent with honourable, manly,
and straightforward dealing, 1 leave it to the Commissioners to decide.

I have further to complain that Mr. Kavanagh persevered in questioning me
and the teacher, Mary Murray, in turn (confronting us, as it were), and all this
in presence of my brother inspecior, Mr. Coyle, to whom, indeed, he had the
bad taste to hand for perusal a scurrilous and offensive letter from Rev, Mr. Nolan,
attacking in no very measured terms my honour and character. T told Mr.
Kavanagh when Le first began what afterwards proved, to my surprise, to be an
official mvestigation, that I had no objection to Mr. Coyle’s presence, as 1 had
then no idea that the affair was about to assume a serious aspect, or that my
mere verbal statements, given at hazard and from memory alone, would in a
day or two be brought to support serious charges against myself.

Meanwhile 1 am unable to conceive for what object Mr. Kavanagh has im-
provised an investigation (for such he seems to regard it) of a case which I was
the first to bring specially under his attention in September 1856, and again in
January last, when the teachers met him for examination. Indeed, but for my
observations to him about the matter, it would, in all probability, have passed
without any special notice or remark.

254. G 4 I certainly
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I certainly thought the difiiculty, such as it was, would have been quictly
settled by Mr. Kavanagh, who must have been aware that my conduct in the
business was all through houourable and straightforward, and that, distrusting
my own judgment, 1 very properly brought the case before him for his opinion
and final decision,

Perhaps 1 took an erroneous view of the case; even so, I was at the most
guilty of one of those errors of judgment to which the most prudent and
cautious are occasionally liable ; but that certainly afforded Mr. Kavanagh no
grounds for preferring a string of charges against me.

I now appeal from his inaccurate and ez parte statements to the judgment of
the Commissioners, who will, I feel assured, protect their servants from incon-
siderate and uufounded statements, no matter from what quarter they may
originate.

In making these remarks I beg most respectfully to add, that I am thoroughly
impressed with the conviction that every rule of official action requires courtesy,
willing obedience, and a hearty, earnest co-operation from the inferior officer in
all his intercourse with his superior in station and responsibility. I feel sincere
pleasure in heing able to state that 1 have always been fortunate enough to carn
the esteem and good opinion of the several head inspectors under whose super-
intendence I have been placed ; Mr. Kavanagh is the only and exceptional
case to the contrary during an official career of nearly 11 years as district
Inspeetor,

I may here add, that the annexed note from Rev. Mr. Nolan shows that he
entertains no unfriendly or unfavourable feelings towards me. He and I
honestly differed about his teachers’ qualifications, but that difference of opinion
never interfered with the courteous and friendly feeling which has ever existed
between us from the time I first made his acquaintance. I am aware he wrote
a very foolish letter to the Commissioners regarding Mary Murray’s examina-
tion, in January last, but I have reason to know that he now regrets having
done so.  “ No man is wise at all hours,” and some allowance must be made
for a temperament somewhat hasty and irritated by what certainly appeared te
be a grievance.

Mr. Kavanagh’s apprehension that “the Talbotstown case,” must interfore
with ““ the ¢fficient discharge of Mr. Fleming’s duty in that quarter (Carlow)
of the distriet,” is, I beg to assure the Commissioners, wholly groundless.

Before concluding this communication, I have to observe that the remarks
made by Mr, Kavanagh in the last paragraph but one of his letter, which [
enclose herewith, being in no way connected with the Talbotstown ecase,
necessarily demand from e a special and distinet reply.  That reply, with the
observation books of the schools named by Mr. Kavanagh, will he submitted by
me, with all possible despateh, for the information of the Board.

1 feel hound to apologise for not having sooner forwarded this reply to Mr.
Kavanagh's communication ; my yearly report, examination of teachers, and
other urgent official business, occupied most of my time during the last six
weeks.  The very lengthened nature of my reply also demanded a good deal of
my time and attention.

These circumstances will, I trust, be received at least as some excuse for the
delay in this case.

I remain, &ec.
(signed) J. J. Fleming,

The Secretaries, Education Office. District Inspector, 35.

Gentlemen, Rathdrum, 30 April 1857.

I srG you will be good enough to direct that the last paragraph but one in
Mr. Kavanagh's communication, bearing date 31st J anuary last, may be for-
warded to me as soon as possible.

in the paragraph referred to, I am severcly censured hy Mr. Kavanagh for
the unconnected nature of my remarks in the observation books of many of the
schools under my superintendence. It will be necessary for me to have a copy
of the paragraph referred to above, as I am required hy you to reply to Mr,
Kavanagh’s statements, I regret giving trouble on this matter, and feel bound
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to apologise for so doing, as having had Mr. Kavanagh's letter in my hands for
a considerable time, T could very easily have made a copy of the passages in it,
which T now so much require. In the hurry of posting my re'-ply to 1‘:‘:1e first
part of that letter, I entirely forgot to do so, and hence I am obliged to intrude
on vour kindness to have a copy of the last two paragraphs forwarded to me at
your earliest convenience. )
I remain, &c.
(signed) J. G. Fleming,
The Secretaries, District Inspector.
Education Office.

(35.)

Sir, Education Office, 7 May 1857.
As requested by your communication of the 80th ultimo, we transmit you a Extract attached.
copy of latter portion of Mr. Head Inspector Kavanagh's letter of the 31st
January.
We are, &ec.

(signed) M. Cross,\ .
John G. Fleming, Esq. J. Kelly, jSecretaries.

District Inspector, Rathdrum.

Gentlemen, Rathdrum, 29 May 1857.

I 8EG to acknowledge the receipt of your communication of the 7th instant,
with copy of latter portion of Mr. Head Inspector Kavanagh’s letter of 31st
January last, enclosed.

Mr. Kavanagh states in this concluding paragraph of his communication
“ I may here add that I had in autumn last to call Mr. Fleming’s attention
to some serious instances, somewhat similar to this, in which he expressed
himself in the strongest and most decided terms in the observaticn books, as to
the unfitness of teachers; and in his next or subsequent reports in the book,
the same parties being in charge of the schools, no explanation whatever is put
forward to account for the change of opinion, The cases of the worst kind are
Corrigowen (12/6/55), and Barreneskey (18/12/55.)” As it will be necessary
for me to enter fully into the details of the Corrigowen and Barreneskey
schools, before concluding this communication, I shall now proceed to notice:
the general charge preferred against we by Mr. Kavanagh, of using the
strongest and most decided terms in the observation books of some of the
National Schools under my superintendence, regarding the unfitness of teachers,
although in subsequent visits, the same teachers being in charge of the schools,
no remark is made by me explanatory of any change of opinion on my

art.
P I beg to assure the Commissioners in the most distinct and explicit terms
which the strictness of official langnage permits me to use, that apart from the
Corrigowen and Barreneskey schools, Mr. Kavanagh never called my attention,
either directly or indirectly, by verbal or written communication of any kind,
to a single instance in which I employed “the most decided language, regard-
ing the unfitness of teachers in the observation books, but passed over the
matter on next and subsequent visits in utter silence, the same teachers being
in charge of the schools.” )

This state nent is strictly correct: and until Mr. Kavanagh names the other ™
cases to whith he refers, the matter is, I respectfully submit, at an end so
far as 1 am concerned. I think it right to add that I purposely deferred
replying to this portion of Mr. Kavanagh’s letter, until I made myself quite
certain of the facts of each case, by an actual inspection of the observation
books in all the schools which he inspected in this district. I aw, therefore,
in a position to state, with the most perfect confidence, that those other cases
of want of connexion, &c., in my entries in the observation books, to which Mr.

Kavanagh refers, have no existence whatever in fact.

1, therefore, respectfully request that Mr. Kavanagh may be called on to
specify those cases to which he states he called my attention in autumn last ;
failing to do so, his serious charge against me, of course, falls to the ground.

254. H Let
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Let him then name any school to which he believes his strictures on my
official conduct apply, and I shall, after very little delay, forward the obscrva-
tion book of that school to the office, in order that the Comnissioners may at
once see whether there are any grounds for the sermous charge now preferred
against me by Mr. Kavanagh.

I am most anxious to submit the case to this strict and fair test, for it is a
hard thing, after a lengthened perioa of 11 years in the Board’s service, to
suffer from unsustained and groundless charges, now for the first time pre-
ferred against me, but which, I repeat, have no foundation in fact.

With reference to the cases specially mentioned by Mr. Kavanagh, viz,
Corrigowen and Barreneskey, I feel it my duty to forward the observation books
on those schools to the office, with the view of placing the facts connected with
each case, in the clearest possible light before the Commissioners,

I visited the Corrigowen National School, for the first time, on 12th June
1855, James Davis being the teacher in charge. He was but 18 years of age,
and a probationer, and as his school had not been visited by any inspector
since October 1854, he came before me for the first time as a teacher,

I found him very deficient in literary acquirements, but as he appeared
steady, intelligent, and anxious to improve, I decided upon allowing him to
remain on trial until he attended the usual annnal examinations, which were
held in the following month of March. In short, I gave him to understand
that unless he succeeded by persevering study to pass his public examination,
he could not be sanctioned as qualified to conduct a National School.

I thought it necessary to make an entry to that effect in the observation
book, after my inspection, 12/6/55, in order that the teacher, Davis, who was
a very young man, might have constantly before his eyes the deep importance
of paying the strictest attention to his studies. .

I have merely to add that the matter necessarily remained in abeyance nntil
the Head Inspector and myself had decided upon this teacher’s examination
papers and general answering, with a view to his classification or rejection, as
the case might be. As this final decision had not taken place up to the date of
Mr. Kavanagh's visit to the Corrigowen National School in August last, he
consequently found no further remarks in the observation hook regardiug the
teacher’s acquirements, simply because the man’s case was then pending.

He was, in fact, a probationary teacher allowed to remain on trial, and I was
bound to suspend my judgment until his examination had taken place. Such
cases, which are of frequent occurrence in every school district, are not, I be-
lieve, in any way incompatible with the rules and regulations of the Com-
missioners.

Barreneskey, the second case specially mentioned in Mr. Kavanagh's com-
munication of 31st January last, now remains to be explained.

I visited that school on the 18th December 1855, on which oceasion there
were but few children present ; I could not, therefore, form any opinion regard-
ing the general proficiency of the teacher’s pupils; but “finding the school-
room, in point of neatness, cleanliness, &c., it possible in a worse state than at
last inspection, the school accounts carelessly and negligeutly kept, and the
suggestions left on those heads wholly neglected by the teacher (D. Phelan),
I concluded by recommending the manager to remove him in consequence of
his indolence and inefhiciency.”

I read over my observations (18/12/55) for the teacher's information before
leaving his school. He admitted there were some grounds for the unfavourable
tenor of my remarks ; but he earnestly requested a further trial. The poor
man had just lost his only son, who had been carried off by scarlatina: and he
stated that his faculties had been so stunned by his sudden bereavement that
he found it impossible to attend to the usual business of his school.

On hearing this, I requested him to accompany me to the manager's vesi-
dence in order that his case might be fully discussed.  We aceordingly called
on the manager, Rev. Mr. Kearney, who was fortunately at home. 1 then
preferred my charge of slovenly conduct, carelessness, &e. against the teacher
in presence of the manager. The teacher’s reply was patiently listened to,
and, I am bound to add, mauy, indeed most, of his statements were corroborated
by the Rev. Mr. Kearney, who candidly gave it as his opinion that there were
some mitigatory circumstances in Phelan’s (the teacher) case, which fairly
entitled him to a further trial before recommending his final removal from the
Barreneskey National School. .

Te
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He was, therefore, dismissed with an admonitory caution to pay the strictest
attention to the suggestions left for his guidance. This he promised to do,
and there the matter ended so far as regarded my visit of 18th December
1855.

I again inspected the Barreneskey National School on 12th June 1856,
when the manager kindly attended at my special request, that he might see
how far the school had improved, and to what extent the teacher had attended
to former suggestions. The children were very minutely examined on this
occasion, the accounts were subjected to the strictest scrutiny, and every point
requiring especial attention was minutely investigated.

I summed up my report (on a primary form) of this inspection by stating
that “ this school was unfavourably reported upon after last and previous visit.
I believe, however, that the teacher has made some exertions to remedy the
defects brought under his attention. He is a person of very little energy, and
wants method. The small average attendance is, in some measure, owing to
the mountainous and isolated nature of the country in the immediate neigh-
bourhood of the school.”

These remarks were of an unfavourable character, and implied censure rather
than praise ; but, on the other hand, as some efforts had been made to remove
existing defects, I was unwilling to damp future exertions on the part of the
teacher, by making any very unfavourable entries in the observation book, after
my inspection of the 12th June 1856. This arrangement had the manager's
entire approbation, as he conceived it to be the most prudent that could be
adopted under the circumstances. The accompanying note, which he kindly
wrote me at my request, fully explains his views of the case.

I cannot say whether Mr. Kavanagh got any information from the manager
and teacher of the Barreneskey National School regarding the facts which I
have just stated. It would appear, however, from the tenor of the remarks in
his reports on the Barreneskey and Corrigowen National Schools that he did
not, when perning those documents, view my official conduct in connexion
with those schools, in an unfavourable light; for I never received official
intimation, consequent on any of Mr. Kavanagh's reports, of the very serious
fault of making inconsistent and apparently contradictory entries in any one of
the observation books of the schools in the Wicklow district visited by him.
His replies to the query in his (Head Inspector’s form of report) “ Are district
Inspector’s suggestions pertinent ?” must consequently have been in the affirma-
tive, and therefore satisfactory.

I beg that special reference may be made to these reports of Mr. Kavanagh's
on the Barreneskey and Corrigowen National Schools, but more particularly
to the query, “ Are inspectors suggestions pertinents”” If (as I am sure must
be the case) his replies to that query, in August or September last, were of a
satisfactory nature, it seems very strange that on the 31st January last, he should
regard those suggestions as inconsistent and wanting connexion.

1 may add, that I got letters from the secreturies regarding a slight dis-
crepancy in the time-table of the Anmnacarter National School, the delay in
distributing the new forms of report book, &e., absence of a copy of the general
lesson in the Newtown Mount Kennedy National School, and many other official
letters on minor matters of detail connected with my duties of inspection.
Now all those communications arose out of statements in Mr. Kavanagh's
reports upon schools in this district ; but I never got any official intimation of
the far more serious omission of duty referred to by Mr. Kavanagh in the
concluding paragraphs of his communication to the secretaries of 31st January
last,

If such instances of omission really existed, why, I respectfully ask, did
Mr. Kavanagh defer noticing them officially until 3 Ist :Ianuary last, and then
only in the latter portion of a lengthened communication upon a totally dif-
ferent subject. With this final observation, I beg to leave my case in the
hands of the Commissioners.

I remain, &e.

The Secretaries, ' (signed) J. G. Fleming,
Iiducation Office. Dist. Insp. (35).
254. H2
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Sir, Education Office, 3 July 1857.
Your letter of the 31st January last, charging Mr. Fleming, District In-
spector, with neglect of duty, &ec., having been forwarded to him for explanation,
he has sent us two communications on the subject of those charges, copies of

which we enclose for your perusal. )
You are requested to furnish, at your earliest convenience, any remarks which
you may think. it your duty to make, in reference to the explanation afforded

by him.
We are, &c.
(signed) Maurice Cross,\ q,, vt meine
J. W. Kavanagh, Esq. =  James Relly, ) Secretaries.

District 35.—J. G. Fleming, Bsq., District Inspector.
Talbotstown Female National School, Roll No. , County Wicklow.

Case of Mary Murray, teacher of this school, reported by Inspector as too
young, and otherwise unsuited for her station; salary withdrawn from her
by Board’s Order on this Report; Manager's remonstrance against Order ;
matter is referred to Inspector for reconsideration ; Inspector recommends
trial to Teacher till District Examination of Teachers; 'l'eacher is examined
by Head Inspector (Mr. Kavanagh), and District Inspector Mr. Fleming, who
both concur in recommending her for Probation's salary from the date of its
suspension, and for third class (second division) salary, from tlie month in
which examination was held. '

Gentlemen,

I BEG leave to state that the examination of Miss Murray above referred to,
took place at the end of last January, with the teachers’ examination of the
district. Immediately after the examination, I forwarded a letter of complaing,
founded upon the case ; March 2d, Mr. Fleming was apprised of this complaint ;
his reply thereto, now before me, is dated April 24th, and a subsequent portion
of it May 20th, and after the lapse of five months I am now called upon to
notice Mr. Fleming's explanation, in reference to the simple complaint set forth
in my letter of January 31st last. In his letter of April 24th, Mr. Fleming very
correctly describes the substantive character of my complaint against him, *“as
an omission of duty on his part in recommending Mary Murray, teacher of the
Talbotstown Female National School, to be removed for incompeteney, without
first ascertaining by examination the extent of her literary attainments,” (page 1,
Mr. Fleming's letter 24/4/57).

I have carefully perused the 35 pages of explanation in reference to this
case, so clearly stated by Mr. Fleming himself, as just quoted, and the following
are the only points in it which require, or even suggest, any comment on my

art. :

d Page 7, Mr. Fleming states, “It is all important to observe that there were
three distinct reasons urged in his (Mr. F.'s) report (20/3/56,) for the teacher’s
removal :—-1st. Extreme youth. 2nd. Total inexperience of school keepings.
3d. Want of adequate literary attainments. He (Mr. Fleming) stated in his
report that he did not, at the time, test her literary acquirements. Why?
Because he was perfectly satisfied that the other two reasons alleged were quite
sufficient in warranting him to recommend her removal.” Perbaps I should
close, and offer n) comment on the admission, and the motive, set forth under
the third head. The drift of my complaint is, that Mr. Fleming found Mary
Murray acting as substitute teacher when he visited, November 1855 ; that he
found her actual teacher when he visited March 1856 ; that on neither oceasion
did he examine as to her literary attainmeats ; that upon his report of the
latter visit he had her removed, amongst other grounds, unon wunt of acquire-
ments which he admits he did not test ; and finally, that on the manager pro-
testing against the Board's decision, or rather against the grounds upon which

it
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it was made.®* Mr. Fleming again visited in August last, and without any
examination as to her attainments, recommends that the teacher get trial until
the district examination of the teachers.

If an officer makes a mistake, or falls into an error of judgment, even in a
very serious matter, at least when confessing it he has opportunity, if a frank
and straightforward man, of candidly, and without gloss, putting the higher part
of his character in a creditable position. Mr. Fleming adverts to three distinet
reasons urged by him for the removal of the teacher, and he stat s that it is all
important these three should be kept in mind. Page 14, Mr. Fleming states
that he was under the impression when he visited the Talbotstown I'emale
National School, August 13th last, that the case of Mary Murray would come
before me at the examination of the teachers of the distriet, * which he very
naturally expected would be held in that month, or at farthest in September;”
and this he assigns as the chief, or at least as an important ground, for his
recommendation to give Mary Murray further trial, and without examination as
to her acquirements.

The chief, almost the only thing, which the expected examination could test,
is acquirements, and I presume Mr. Fleming, as a first class inspector, will not
deny that. he is competent to inquire into, and report upon, unaided by even a
Head Inspector, a young woman's literary fitness to get trial as a probationer in
charge of a rural National School in a mountain district. Her age eould not
be affected, beyond a month, by the examination and her inexperience of school-
keeping, the last of the three grounds of remuval would be in the same cate-
gory. . As to her age, numbers younger have been trained and are highly
classed, and some teachers, very little her seniors, have got charge of model
schools ; as to inexperience it simply means that it is the first school of which
she has been placed in charge, and if this were urged generally it would be self-
destructive of the institution, or elset teachers, as such, should not merely be
immortal but eternal. In her instance she has been wholly brought up in a
National School, and as Mr. Fleming himself admits, under a very clever,
although an otherwise improper person, as teacher.

It pains me beyond expression to be obliged to lay bare hefore the Commis-
sioners the utterly uncandid, to use the mildest form of word, conduct of Mr.
Fleming in reference to the time when he expected the examination of the
teachers of his district to be held. The written portion of the male teachers’
examination for 1856 was held in Easter week, commencing March 24th, and
instructions were issued to all the inspectors, to furnish the papers, returns, &c.
within a couple of weeks of that date. InJuly, instead of April, I received Mr.
Fleming's men's papers, and in such a state of arrears, untidiness and neglect,
that on the 11th July [ wrote to him, imforming him that I regretted to be
obliged to return them to him that the proper forms might be complied with.
To this letter I have now before me his reply, dated ¢ Delgany, 14 July 1856,”
in which he states, “I regret you should find it necessary to be obliged to
return me the teachers’ papers, in order to have the results of the answering
transferred to the back of the dockets. This shall be done with as little delay as
possible, * * % * % Tt ghall be my special care to relieve you from the
trouble of sending me any such communication of a similar nature” (letter in
reference to this and other omissions of duty) “ henceforth.” In that letter he
also stated that I should have got the men’s exercises much earlier, as he had
forwarded them to the office nearly a month befure ; but, in reference to this
statement, I found, in one of his official note-books, a memorandum to write
same ; officially to hold over the exercises, for sume reason, after they had been
sent to the office. Aucust 15th, or two days after his inspection of Talbots-
town Female National School, Mr. Fleming again wrote to me from Baltinglass,
in reply to wy letter of the 9th of the same month, in reference to the men’s
exercises, and stated, “ With regard to the teachers’ written papers, which you
desire to forward to me in order to have dockets filled up, I greatly fear that if

sent

* Reverend Mr. Nowlan (11/6/56) informs the Board that he differs toto celo with Mr. Fleming s
states that she is competent ; and requests that Mr. Molley, inspector of next distriet, should be
called in to examine and report upon the case,

+ Would Mr. Fleming, when a cindidate inspector, like to have beea c¢jected without trial or
inquiry, as to his literary attainments, total inexparienze as an inspector disjualifying him t

254. H 3

Printed image digitised by the University of Southampton Library Digitisation Unit



62 CORRESPONDENCE, &c. RELATING TO

sent here, wid Dublin and Baltinglass, they may be lost or mislaid. I may add,
that in no other way could the papers be forwarded to me (here) than by
Dublin; you will, therefore, much oblige me by holding over those papers for a
few days, after which I hope to see you in Graystones, where I shall put all to
rights.”*

From these letters of his, dated July 14th and August 15th, I believe there
can be no shadow of a doubt, that when he had the interview with the Rev. Mr.
Nowlan, on the oceasion of his visit to Talbotstown I'emale National School, on
the 13th August, he did not expect that the examinations would be held in
August. When does Mr. Fleming arrive in Graystones to put all (the papers)
to rights ?—September 5th. The first time that [ met him since my arrival in
the district, July 31st; and I got the papers filled by Mr. Fleming so late, that
it was only on October 2d (se¢ my journal) that 1 was able to read over the
results of the examination with him, with a view to decide on who were to be
recalled to the oral examination.

Nor is this all. Towards the close of my stay in the district, Mr. Fleming
was in the habit of daily travel and intercourse with me, and on mentioning to
him that I was inclined to call in the teachers of some of the districts adjoining
Dublin, as all my colleagues had been in the habit of doing, but which I had
not, with the view to examination, and as this could best be done about the
Christmas holidays,] he expressed a wish that those of his district should he
included, and to which 1 agreed. About the 6th January Mr. Fleming and
Mr. Coyle were absent from their districts, in reference to the marriage of the
former, and, to meet the occasion, I went to Connuught to examine, and post-
poned the metropolitan examination January 19th, I addressed a letter to
Mr. Ileming in reference to the examination, and, as he had changed his
position since his previously expressed wish to have the examination in Dublin,
I left the place of its being held to his own option, thus, “ I am not yet decided
as to whether to summon your teachers with those of the North Dublin District
or not; the former was your wish, and would be meve convenient, but perhaps
such a course, now, would not so well suit you. Let me hear from you first
post.” Mr. Fleming decided on having his teachers examined in town, where
he himself was then staying in lodgings near Portobello; and, instead of going
off to Wicklow at expense, he remained in Dublin at 7s. 6. per day, and this
is a portion of his own privation in reference to the postponement of the
examination.

I submit this statement in reference to the question of the time and place
of holding the examination of the teachers, and, supported as it is by docu-
mentary evidence, [ shall offer no comment upon the matter.

I beg, however, to add another statement regurding the time and the place
of holding the examination of Mr. Fleming’s teachers.  About the st January
I heard that Mr. Fleming had mentioned in the Education Office that it was
not then the examination should be held, and on mecting him in the grounds,
in the presence of another gentleman, I mentioned to him what T had heard,
and in reply le said he had no recolleetion of having so complained or expressed
himself. 1 told him, that “ If he had it would be not only untruthful but un-
grateful, as the examination was about to be held in the place desired by him,
and at the time agreed upon.” And upon this, he remarked, “ You certainly
did promise to bring the teachers here about the vacation to oblige me, and
if T complained, as you were informed, it would be both untruthful and
ungrateful.”

Reviewing this portion of the case, Mr. Fleming fully admits the main com-
plaint which [ put forward against him, that of not examining, as prescribed
by the inspector’s code, Mary Murray, on any of the three occasions upon
which he visited and reported upon herself and her school. Salary was with-
drawn from her upon one of these reports, and she was restored, upon trial,

through

* Sill more remarkable in that letter of August 15, written two days after Lis inspection of Tal-

. Dbotstown Female National Sehool, Mr. Fleming never relers to the ease, nor informs me that he had

used my name t the manager, nor of his desire 1o have the examination held soon, in order to have

the case settled, although much of the letter is devoted to the disenssion of the auswering of the
male teachers, the examination, &e.

+ As Messrs. Butler and McCreedy had done in Dublin in previous year, Dr, Newell in Cork, &c,
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through another report, yet in no instance did the inspector examiue as to her
literary acquirements. Mr. Fleming turns round, and, while admit.ting, but
attempting to excuse or explain, this serious omission of a most important
duty, actually endeavours to implicate me, accusing me of neglect, delay, and
irregularity in various particulars. Thus, page 31, he states : —* Mary Murray
suffered a loss, I admit, in having her salary withheld for nearly three quarters,
but that loss is entirely attributable to Mr. Kavanagh’s neglect and unne-
cessary delay in holding the teachers’ examinations. Had these examinations
been held in August or September (as they ought and might have been),
Mary Murray would have received her salary in due course, and the matter
would have been arranged to the satisfaction of all parties.”

I have now to state that I first heard of Mary Murray’s case in a passing
conversation when driving on a car to inspect schools with Mr. Fleming, either
September 23d or 24th; from neither official nor private parties had I ever
before heard auything about her, her school, or her manager,* beyond any
routine matter that might have been advised to me from the office, and, if so,
of which I had no recollection. With this fact known to him, Mr. Fleming,
after seven weeks’ consideration of my letter, deliberately charges his superior
officer with delay and neglect in not having held the examinations in August
or September. August 13th he visited the Talbotstown Female National
School, and in his report thereon, recommended that “ It would be desirable
to let her (Mary Murray) remain as temporary teacher, but not recognised”
(I quote from page 11 of letter), “ or sanctioned by the Board (and conse-
quently without salary) until the examination of female teachers took place.”
This recommendation was not approved for some time, so that under any cir-
cumstances Mary Murray could not, as Mr. Fleming well knew, when writing
his letter now quoted from, be summoned in the capacity of teacher, before the
month of September. This disposes of the month of August, apart altogether
from the facts already set forth regarding Mr. Fleming's certain knowledge
that the examination of the men, and the mistresses are examined at the same
period, could not be held until I should receive from him the dockets, &e.,
which awaited correct filling in Greystones. Yet further evidence of Mr.
Fleming’s want of accuracy remains to be exhibited, and, as before, it shall be
done through his own written testimony. 1 wrote to Mr. Fleming in August,
from Greystones, informing him of my intentions as to the inspection of his
schools, &e., and requesting that he would join me there as early as possible.
His answer to this request, dated “ Kiltegan, Baltinglass, August 9th, 1856, is
now before me, wherein he states :—*“ Having recently got a reminder from the
office, | am busy furnishing the business of the 2d Term of Inspection. As yet
there remain some 21 schools to be visited and reported on. I trust to be able
to get through them all before the month terminates, as they are, with some
few exceptions, no single schools in this part of the district. I shall, however,
get on as rapidly as possible, consistent with a vigilant inspection of the schools
referred to, after which 1 shall be at your service at any time you require.”
Myr. Fleming remained in that locality until the end of August, and on the
evening of September 5th T first met him in Greystones. You now see, gentle-
men, that on the inspection of Talbotstown Female National School, August
13th, four days after the date of the above letter, Mr. Fleming could not have
expected the district examination of teachers to be held by him and me in
August, as he states it might have been; and in charging e with neglect of
duty in not so holding the examination, it remains for the Commissioners to
decide whether, from the evidence before tiiem, he was not fully aware that
the charge was utterly false.

I wrote to Mr. Fleming respecting the very improper manner in which he had
made up the written papers of the male teachers and his apology of July 4th
has been quoted. Instead of early in April, I do not get the exercises until July ;
no return accompanied them of the teachers who attended, of those that absented
themselves, or the heads under which the parties were summoned. 7The
preseribed form of summary report on the state of their schools was not sent,

nor

# Iu telling me of the case fortunately there wus a third party present, and it was he who brought
1o my iecollection who Reverend Mr. Nowlun was, as I denied to Mr. Fleming any personul know-
ledge of him; this was my first knowledge of the case at the close of September.
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nor was the back of the dockets filled in reference to inspectors’ opinion of the
schools, so that I knew nothing whatever of his opinion of their worth as
teachers. The usual list, giving inspector’s opinion as to whether, on the whole,
each tencher’s examination and general worth were such as to entitle him to be
re-called to the oral examination, was not sent. The hacks of the dockets of
15 masters were a perfect blank, although suggested by similar negleet on the
part of some of the officers, a special circular, with annexed example, was sent
to all the inspectors in 1855, prescribing the form for filling these documents.
Mvr. Fleming disregarded this cireular in reference to the examination of 1855,
and repeated it in 1856, when I was compelled to inform him that it the busi-
ness of ten district inspectors was thrown on me in refevence to this part of the
duties of the examination, | would be obliged to give up much of my ordinary
employment ; and on this account, I was sorry to be obliged to return the
papers that he might fill them properly as instructed by Bonrd's cireular. The
exercises of the men, instead of being fastened togetlier by a stitch, or a pin,
so as to have each man's papers together, reached me as a roll of some 400
detached leaves, coiled up and tied. I bore with the irregularity of 1855, but
I deemed it time to require Mr. Fleming to show something like respect for the
instructions of the Commnissioners in reference to the examinations, especially
enjoying, as he does, the rank and emoluments of a first class inspector. Some
of the answers in the written papers were not marked; some of the papers were
not forthcoming ; none of the results of the examination, or the details of the
answering, were trunsferred to the back of the dockets ; and it was only Septem-
ber Gth, Mr. Fleming arrived at Greystones to * put,” as promised in his letter
of the 13th August,  «ll to rights.” I sent the papers to him, with one of the
men's dockets correctly filled by myself, as an example of the instructions in the
Bourd’s circular of 1855 ; lie returned them some time after (his journal for the
month will likely show what days he was enguged upon them), and it was only
on October 2d, the day before | left the district, that I was able to finally read
over the papers and returns with him, with a view to rejecting undeserving
candidates. I had, however, read over the papers myself at an earlier date, but
I was ignorant as to the state of nearly all the men'’s schools, ur as to the results
of the inspection of them since the holding of the written examination six
months back. ;

I miay add that I have never before officially, or semi-officially, reported, or
mentioned, except to himself, this serious irregularity and neglect on Mr.
Fleming’s part, in reference to the written examination of the male teachers,
although a circular * approved of by the office, and drawn up by me last
Easter, was specially framed and intended to correct such laxity, should it exist
in any other officer’s conduct, and certainly 1 have never met another instance
of the kind, although I have been connected in the examinations with 40
inspectors.  Nor is this report of it voluntary and gratuitous; it is wrung from
me as an essential portion of evidence, that Mr. Fleming’s character and conduct
in this whole matter may be clearly seen by the Commissioners.

I have shown that I had intended to hold the examinations in August or
September, but that T was prevented by Mr. Flening's irregularity in reference
to the necessary papers and returns, by his' absence on other duty in a remote
part of the district, and, finally, when the close of September came, Mr. Fleming
expressed a wish to have the teachers examined with those of Distfict 28 in
Dublin duving the Christmas holidays. The case of Mary Murray had nothing
whatsoever to do with the holding of examination then, although strange to say,
Mr. Fleming makes the singular admission that, * had those examinations been
held in August or September, Mary Murray would receive her salary in due
course, and the matter would have been arranged to the satisfaction of all
parties.” If this be Mr. Fleming's opinion, as it certainly is wine, from the
examination of the young woman in January last, how can he reconcile it
with his deliberate recorumendation, for whicli e compliments himself (page 11)
on the exercise of “ a wise discretion ;" that ¢ Mary Murray should remain as
temporary teacher, but not recognised or sanctioned by the Board (and conse-
quently without salary), until the examination of femule teachers took place.”
He reconumends, subsequent to August 18th (date of visit to the school), that
she shiould be permitted to hold the place, and perform the dnties of a teacher,
but without the name or salary of such, yet he believes that had the young
woman been examined in August, the same mouth, by him and me, she would

' recvive
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receive her salary, extending back through the months of June and July ; and
the matter would have been arranged to the satisfaction of all parties. I have
already stated that I first heard of the case, or had my attention called to it by
Mzr. Fleming, the last week in September.

Up to this I have avoided calling attention to the unwarrantable line of con-
duct pursued by Mr. Fleming, in attempting to prescribe to me when and how
I am to perform my duties. I feel with the office, and with my colleagues, that
it is very desirable that examinations, &e. for each year should be held within
the year,* and this has been done by me each year since 1848, with the excep-
tion of 1855 and 1856, owing to causes known to you; and there may be one,
but scarcely more, of my colleagues who has not been obliged to hold exami-
nations in January for the previous year. TFurther it is to be recollected that in
1855 and last year, five head inspectors did the duty of six, by which I had two
districts beyond my due in charge. The same presumption is marked in his
complaint of the place where the examination was held, as apart altogether from
the fact that Mr. Fleming wished the examination to be held in Dublin, he was
perfectly well aware that there is an order of the Board permitting such; and
he was aware that his late head inspector, Dr. Newell, in Cork,and Mr. M ‘Creedy,
in Dublin, and others of my colleagues elsewhere, bad so called the teachers
and inspectors of two or more districts together, whilst I am, I believe, the
person who has least availed himself of the privilege.

If this were an ordinary case, | would feel it my duty to refer Mr, Fleming’s
letters of 52 pages back to the office, respectfully requesting that as there is no
denial, or attempt at denial, of the main charge against him, that of procuring
the removal of a teacher upon, amongst other grounds, want of literary attain-
ments which he did not test, and her subsequent temporary restoration without
examination, I was not to change places with the party who had so acted, and
permit him to turn round and bring a series of charges, in no way connected
with the simple case in question, against me. According to all official order
and propriety these should be made the subject of a separate and distinet com-
munication, and should be dealt§ with apart from a case with which most of
them have no connexion. In this instance, however, I hope that good will
arise from waiving from, and dealing with the whole question on its moral
merits.

1. Mary Murray's Age (page 6).—Mur. Fleming returned it as 19 years, in a
report, November 1855, and as 17} in a subsequent report, March 1856, stating,
however, in the latter, that her looks and general appearance indicated only
15} years. She must have looked at least as young in the previous November.
Strange that Mr. Fleming should then not have alluded to the seeming contra-
diction between her age as returned, and as indicated by her looks, although he
does so in a subsequent report when she returned herself, as is said, at only 17}
years. Or, if she had returned herself as 18 months younger after a lapse of
four months, strange that he should not have called attention to the inconsis-
tency of the matter in the report upon which she was removed. If she returned
herself as 19, it is singular that only four months after she should forget this
altogether, and return herself as precisely 174 years. Neither Mr. Coyle nor I
have any doubt that when she came before us for three days in January last, she
looked her returned age, 18} years. There are many first class teachers not
older, and several have got charge of district model schools at, or under, 19
years of age.

2. The Inexperience of Mary Murray, and. her want of Method.—As before
remarked, inexperience, in this sense, would prevent us from appointing, for
the first time, not only all teachers, but all inspectors; it was her first school,

+ she had been educated in it, and so apt must she have been in improving her
method, &c., that, whilst her age, one of the grounds of objection, was im-
proved by not quite five months, and whilst the inspector continued as ignorant
and as incurious as to her scholarship as before, he actually found such a

- change

* Mr. Fleming goes much farther ; he requires his head inspector to hold the examinations not
merely within the year, but in whatever month or months of it he is pleased to dictate. = If the 10
district inspectors all agreed with him as to holding them “in the fine warm weather,” it would be
difficult for the head inspecter to satisfy all in relation to the thermometer.
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change for the better in her method, from March to August, as to warrant hin,

on this ground chiefly, if not alone, to alter his opinion, and recommend ber
for further trial.

3. Mary Murray's Evamination and Classification.-~She was examined with
seven other female teachers from Mr. Fleming's, and 14 from Mr. Coyle’s
district, by these gentlemen and me. Iler written exercises were marked by
Mr. Coyle, but revised and slightly lowered in merit by me in the presence of
both inspectors; and her oral examination, as a member of a class of 22, was
thus divided : Mr. Coyle marked reading and grammar; Mr. Fleming, geo-
graphy and lesson books, and the spelling book superseded ; and arithmetic fell
to my share. Not the slightest difference of opinion arose in reference to the
propriety of classing her second division of third, and to get salary as a probu.-
tioner from the previous June up to January; und the marks which in the
aggregate she had obtained were compared with those of others on first division
of the class; no proposal was made by me to place her thereon, but as a mere
indication of her relative claims.

4. The detection of a Geography with Mary Murray at the Examination.— Mr.
Fleming has various peculiarities, even in the sense which he attaches to
common words: thus, he says, I made a speech to the teachers, directing them
not to use books or any unfair means of obtaining answers to the questions,
just as when he states that I accuse him of guessing the teacher’s age when I
say he estimated it ; this being very different from guessing. I had occasion to
be absent from the examination room for some time, and on my return | was
told by Mr. Fleming that he had found a geography generalised open in Mary
Murray’s lap. 1 at once inquired into the matter, and found that it had been
brought by Miss Doyle, of Phibsboro’, who volunteered the admission thatshe had
never used it ; that it was placed by her side on the form, and had fallen to the
next step below, where Mary Murray sat, and that she, Mary Murray, had
taken it up, and that Mr. Fleming had found it in her lap. I was displeased
with Miss Doyle, as I could not see why she brought the book except to use
it; but on the other hand, there was no evidence whatever that she had done
so, and when the book dropped by Mary Murray, I do not wonder at her
taking it up; I had no evidence to satisfy me that she had used it, and her
paper on the suliject shows that she bad not, to keep her in the examination.
I may also mention that during my absence, either the Resident Commis-
sioner or Mr. M‘Cuddy sent for Mr. Fleming in reference to what Mr. Ileming
described to me as an anonymous letter, in the handwriting of Rev. M.
Nowlan, manager of Mary Murray’s school, in which the worst sentiments
were expressed in relation to Mr. Fleming ; and it was soon after his return
from this interview that he detected the book. I gave the matter the fullest
consideration that evening with Mr. Coyle, and I saw nothing in it to warrant
further notice.

5. Rev. Mr. Nowlan’s Lectter or Note of January 26, 1857.—Mr. Fleming
was irritated beyond description on reading this note, addressed to the Secre-
taries, which he described as anonymous, but in Mr. Nowlan’s handwriting ;
and on expressing my doubt that he would be capable of such conduct, Mr.
Fleming, during the mid-day recess, on the 29th January, pressed me to go
with him to the office that he might show me the letter, and Mr. Coyle accom-
panied us. On the letter being placed in my hands, I was surprised to find the
so-called anonymous letter with the name of the writer to it. He began it, if
I recollect rightly, in the third and ended in the first person, on another page ;
and on reading it, I asked Mr. Fleming if he had any objection that Mr, Coyle
should see the letter, and on his replying in the negative, I handed it to him to
read. This is the instance of “bad taste” on my part which Mr, Fleming
refers to, that I should show, with his full permission, this offensive note to
Mr. Coyle, a man selected within that month as Mr. Fleming’s nearest and best
friend, although the young lads in the offices might all peruse it. '

6. Short Notice of Examination, §c., January 19.—I1 met My, Fleming in the
office, and apprised him that the examinations would be held on the 27th, 28th,
29th, and 30th of same month, and his letter, dated Greystones, January 21,
stating that he had then summoned all of his teachers, is now before me.
There was but one teacher absent, and he, a probationer, cannot have failed to

atteud
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attend owing to short notice; so that Mr. Fleming's complaint of his never
having had more than a few days’ notice of the time for holding them is dis-
posed of ; he had eight to cleven days, which was ample, as the result proved.

It is also stated that (p. 17), “ In consequence of this unnecessary delay”
(in holding the examination) * Rev. Mr. Nowlan seems to have lost all patience,
and with some reason, as the promised decision of the head inspector was to
all appearance indefinitely postponed.” [ never promised any decision, nor did
I ever receive, that I recollect, any special instructions about the case, which
1 first heard of September 22d or 25d ; and that Rev. Mr. Nowlan’s frame of
mind i3 not correctly deseribed, in relation to the alleged delay, I beg to inform
you that in the only note,* dated January 5, 1857, which I ever had from
Rev. Mr. Nowlan, there is an appeal to me to have his master in Rathvilly
National School recalled to the oral examination, which I refused, and it con-
tains not the slightest allusion to the Talbotstown case.

7. Examination of Mary Murray as a Pupil in the School ; how fur a
Plea for not examining her when a Teacher.—As stated in my letter of
January 31, when Mr. Fleming paid his first vigit, or made his only inspection
in Talbotstown Female School, he spent 21 hours in it, and examined Mary
Murray as one of 11 pupils in her class, and of 50 present in the school ; and
it was impossible that he could have foreseen the circumstances which led to
the remorval of the teacher by which Mary Murray came to succeed her. Even
if he had a very distinet recollection of her answering as a scholar in fourth
class in August, the following November, the subsequent March, or the next
August, her literary proficiency might have been as improved as her great
defect, method, turned out to have been in five months according to Mr.
Fleming’'s own report. M. Fleming adduces the cuses of two schoolst in
which | spent as short a time, and he might adduce, if he examined my
reports, hundreds; but in these two cases he examined with me, which is
equal to doubling the time; and so far as 1 am concerned, I have not, although
gifted with extremely good memory, the faintest recollection of any individual
pupil examined in them, and still less could I remember the details of any
pupil’s answering so as to serve instead of the required examination of a pro-
bationary teacher, as pointed out in the code. He admits (p. 29), that from
memory alone, and without reference to his note book, or some written
document connected with the case, he could tell nothing about the observations
left by him in any school in his charge; and if his memory be so bad in
reference to what he writes in relation to the proficiency of whole classes and
general opinions as to the merit and condition of schools, the impression which
Mary Murray’s answering in class made upon him, must be an extraordinary
instance of vividness and permanence, when it is so remarkably exceptional in
character.

8. Wiclklow

¢ T attach this note to last paze, and from its tone there can be no doubt that if Rev. Mr. Nowlan
felt any impatience, or disappointment, regarding the alleged delay in holding the examination, he
would have expiessed such to me; e does not even refer to the case, nor has he ever written to me
on the subject. He wrote 1st January 1857 to Mr. Flemiug on official business, and makes no refer-
ence to the case; and fisally, in his very offensive note (26/1/57) against Mr. Fleming, acknow-
ledging veceipt of teachers' summons to the examination, he never complains to the Secretaries of
the delay.

+ Arklow, Female—147 present. Talbotstown, Female—over 50 present.
1st. Book - - - 102 1st. Book - - - - 21
'2dn o e = - 24 = - = =
Seq. , - - - =10 45 4the 1l 29
qd., 5 - - = 2 @ Rest - - - -18 }
4th, 5 - - - =5

Time, 2 hours; Mr. Fleming and me. Tiwe, 2.15 ; by Mr. Fleming.

Ballinacarring, Mixed—82 present.

1st. Book - i 5wl st
ade oy = = =97 Note.—In the case of Arklow School, of the
Seq- gy = = ~ 8 Lug 102 in 1st. Book, 46 were in alphabet and 18 in
gde w - - ® - 10 [ alphabet sections, or G4 in letters,
4th, 5, - - - - 5

Time, 2.20 ; by Mr. Fleming and me.
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8. Wicklow Case; how far a Plea for Mr. Fleming’s Conduct.—The case of
Anne Salmon, of Wicklow, had not one single feature similar to, or in common
with that of Mary Murray, of Talbotstown. I first set my foot in Wicklow, and
Wicklow National Schools on the evening of February 21st, 1856, and on the
next two days, the examination of the teachers was held. On one of these days,
Mr. Fleming brought under my notice these schools ; the large population ; the
number on rolls, about 200 in each school ; and the low character of both in
public estimation, owing wholly to the inefficiency of the staff of teachers. The
head waster, Naughten, was then under sentence of removal, although classed
second, or it may be that Mr. Fleming told me that he expected he would be
removed, which he was, for continuous inefficiency. The assistant, Jones, was
rather unsuitable ; and in the girls’ school, Anne Salmon, appointed 3/53, and
classed third (not a probationer, as Mr. Fleming (page 9) incorrectly states), was
chief teacher, and Emma Farrell, a probationer assistant to her. I read Mr.
Fleming’s reports in the observation books of both schools, and they were
extremely unfavourable; in fact, they could scarcely be more so. Mr. Fleming
most earnestly urged me to see Rev. Mr. Grant, the manager, and to suggest
to him to make a clearing out of this whole staff, and provide efficient teachers
who would raise the character of the schools in public estimation, and I acted
on his suggestion, as the evidence before me was ample to satisfy me that at
least the heads of the schools were unsuited for such important posts as they
filled. That was merely my advice to the manager, and in it he and at least one
of his curates concurred; but what is there in all that bearing the remotest
analogy to the case of Mary Murray? Nothing whatever. The one was in
charge of a remote rural school in a mountainous locality, with an average
attendance of about 30 pupils; the other the head of a school, with an average
of 70, but which, under an efficient teacher, might from the population be 200
or upwards; the one was the chief town of the county, and with inhabitants
whose educational wants were higher and more numerous; the other was a
remote district, affording but poor remuneration to a teacher.

Did I, when I had opportunity, forego the examination of the parties referred
to, as Mr. Fleming had done in the other case* Not at all. Although
Rev. Mr. Grant assented to the expediency of their removal, I followed up
the routine of my duties, examined Anne Salmon and Emma Farrell on the
two days that I was there, and recommended the removal of the latter for
total literary incompetency, and classed Anne Salmon third, as she was, but
mentioned on the classification sheets the probability that manager would
remove her as unsuitable for such a school.

Again, on visiting the schools in the following August, I examined the male
assistant, Jones; Ihad the pleasure of procuring a superior head master instead
of Naughten; and I examined the assistant, Eliza Reynolds, and although
returning herself as only 15§ years, I recommended her recognition under her
sister, the head mistress, who succeeded Anne Salmon, and who ranked second
division of first class. In all this, where is there a single warranty to indicate
that I could approve of the course pursued by Mr. Fleming in relation to not
examining Mary Murray *

9. T'he Complaint of Mr. Fleming as to my Absence at the Levee on the 28ih
January, and the Consequences of same.—The teachers to be examined consisted
of 14 men and 22 women; 12 of the 36 were from Mr. Fleming's district, 21
from Mr. Coyle’s, and 3 from districts 19, 22, and 24. To examine these 36,
12 of whom were probationers, 11 of third class, 11 in second, and 2 in the
lowest division of first class, there were two first class inspectors and myself,
and four days were assigned to the duty. On one of the days of the examina-
tion, January 28th, knowing that I should be absent for about an hour beyond
the usual hour’s recess at mid-day, I gave notice both to inspectors and teachers
on the previous day that I would attend earlier in the morning, and T requested
the teachers then present to be earlier in attendance. I left the examination
room close upon 12 o'clock, Mr. Coyle being then in the room as well as Mr.
I'leming, and I returned before three o'clock, and remained examining until six
o’clock. Before I left I had arranged the female teachers for their written
examination, taken their names, schools, ranks, &c. and given out their first
paper, leaving directions as to the time of giving out the other three papers,
It is untrue that Mr. Fleming or Mr. Coyle had any undue, or even their proper,

share
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share of the duty imposed upon them ; and it is especially untrue that Mr.
Fleming was left single-handed, as he states, to do anything or direct anything
connected with the general proceedings of the examination. The production
of the official record of the oral answering of both men and women, will prove
that no statements could be more opposed to truth than those made by Mr.
Fleming in reference to the manner in which the examinations were conducted.
There was neither haste nor hurry, and the following abstract from the joint
record by Messrs. Coyle and Fleming, and me, will show the ample justice done
to the teachers, and the precise share which Mr. Fleming took in the subjects
of examination, The subjects of the oral examination were thus distributed :

* 1. Reading—14 men examined on by me; Messrs. Coyle and Fleming
present.
2.fGrammar—6 by me; 6 by Mr. Coyle; and 2, Mr. Fleming.
* | Parsing—6 by me; rest did not parse.
3 {Geogra.phy, Maps—14, Mr. Fleming.
"(Mathematical, &c.—6 by me.

4. Spelling and Derivation-—12, Mr. Coyle ; 2, Mr. Fleming,.
5. Lesson Books—14, Messrs. Coyle and Fleming.
6. Money Matters—5 by me; and 9, Mr. Fleming.
7. Reasoning - - - 8
8. Arithmetic - - - 14
9. Mensuration - - - 14
10. Geometry - - - - 8 All examined by me.
11. Algebra - - - - 8
12. Natural Philosophy - - 8
13. Book-keeping - - - 14]

Apart from the subjects (¥) the proficiency in which we denote by letters
rather than by numbers, of 1,011 distinet questions put, and the answers to
which are recorded, 576, or more than half of them, were put by me, the
other half being divided between Messrs. Coyle and Fleming ; and whilst Mr.
Fleming asked from 20 to 30 questions on outline maps of each teacher, my
questions were chiefly on subjects of a widely different character; thus at least
six to each on geometry, four on algebra, to some men 16 on natural philo-
sophy, to each four on mensuration and eight on arithmetic. On whom then
did the weight of the examination fall? On me alone.* Previous to the
examination, I understood Mr. Fleming to say he would take the mathema-
tical subjects, but when the time came he evinced a disinclination to undertake
them, so they fell to me.

Mr. Fleming had only four male teachers from his district, one 3°, one 27
one 2' and 1°. Apart from reading, parsing, &c. these men were asked
292 oral questions, or 73 to each, and let him refer me to any more extensive
or more searching examination of the kind, in which he ever before shared.

Perhaps it might be thought if I failed to refer to the written portion of the
examination of hoth sexes, that it was in this branch that the undue labour fell
upon Mr. Fleming. How he sent me the men’s papers I have already stated,
and of the written exercises of the eight mistresses who attended he marked
those of two teachers, Mr, Coyle those of three,} and [ those of the remaining
three,

In addition to the immediate duty of the examination, I computed the
travelling allowance of the 36 teachers, made more tedious, they being ﬁ'ici)m

ve

* At the oral examination of both sexes there were 1,755 questions put thus, by—

Mr, Coyle - - - - - - = - = 33
My, FIEming - - - - - - - - - 409
Both, or either - - " - - - = - 72
Mr. Kavanagh - - - - - - - - 936

Total - - - 1755

Mr. Coyle also examined women on reading and parsing, and I examined men on reading and

arsing. )
. + Mr. Coyle marked the written exercises of the entire 14 female teachers of his own district, and

more than Mr. Fleming of those that of the Wicklow district. Mlr. Coyle marked the papers of 17
teachers, Mr. Fleming of 2.
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five diffevent districts, wrote out the lists and paid the expenses : I also, as is
my babit, wrote out the classification sheets for the office, and his signature
was almost the hurden of the clerical duty which devolved upon Mr. Fleming.

Instead of either hurry or haste in connexion with the examination, so far
as the teachers were concerned, on the last day, Friday, the proceedings closed
about two o’clock, or earlier, and about four we adjourned to the waiting room
in the office, where, with Mr. Coyle's help, we were enabled to mark the written
exercises of the eight mistresses, and classify these and the four men from
My, Fleming's district by half-past seven o'clock. Doubtless Mr. Fleming would
have much preferred going home, as 1 would also, and attend next day, and
receive, as he would, 7 s 6d. allowance therefor; but [ deemed it better to
classify the teachers while our impressions of them were fresh, and thus
close the business of his district. The one evening's inconvenience to him is a
matter of frequent occurrence with me through the round of my circuit.

I trust that the nature of the complaints respecting the discharge of my
duty in relation to the examination of the teachers held in Dublin, and re-
membering from whom they come, against whom directed, and the occasion
which calls them forth, will excuse the detailed reply which I have felt it proper
to make to them.

10. It is also stated, as a matter of grave moment, that the male and female
teachers were brought together for the purpose of examination, and such
statement can have no pertinency to the case of Mary Murray, or why M.
Fleming did not examine her, unless he means to urge it as a reason that
she would have made still hetter written answering had the mistresses only
been present. On the occasion in question the women were engaged writing
their exercises on the desks in Mr. Sheehy’s lecture-room, and the men sat
in a semicircle below, on the platform, their hacks turned to the women,
and not only separated from cach other by a rail, but they entered and left
the room by different doors. The sexes were not examined together orally,
or in any sense whatever, beyond the physical fact that they occupied the
same room, intercourse of any kind between them being totally impossible ;
as to ““ the clatter of tongues,” such certainly would disturb the partics writing
if it existed. I have yet, however, to meet an instance of it at a teachers’
examination, We had men alone on Tuesday, men and women on Wednesday,
women and a few men on Thursday, and women on Friday; on some of the
days we occupied the museum, and we divided the room between the classes,
an inspector going to either end of the museum with his own class. Mr,
Fleming entirely ignores the fact that the centres of the 50 districts are all, or
nearly all, the largest towns in the country ; that it is there that all the teachers
are again and again examined ; that both sexes if not examined on the same
day, are examined one to-day, the other on the subsequent day ; that being in the
town at the same time is usual ; and, as was the case in this instance, generally
half of the teachers are trained, and are therefore accustomed to protect them-
selves when from home. I entertain a very different opinion of the teachers
from that indicated by Mr. Fleming’s apprehensions, and while I yield to none
in the desire to avoid all assemblages which might indirectly lead to even the
semblance of improper familiarity between the sexes, I cannot asscat to the
flimsy squeamishness which would permit a young woman to come to Dublin
to be trained, and away from her family, to protect herself by her own instinc-
tive discretion on Sundays, Saturdays, &c., when under no control, and yet
could not witness her in a large public room engaged in her duties, under
the direction of three married men, without the most prurient associations
being awakened, because some dozen other men are sitting with their backs
turned to her, in a remote part of the room.

11. “The head inspector should not, by the systematic neglect of an important
duty, dishearten and annoy those whom he is bound to cheer and support”
(writes Mr. Fleming, page 16), and again (page 34), “ I feel sincere pleasure
in being able to state that I have always been fortunate enough to to earn the
esteem and good opinion of the* several head inspectors under whose super-

intendence

“ 1 know this statement to be not « fact in the case of at least two, and I am uot one of the two,
I W. K,
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intendence I have been placed. Mr. Kavanagh is the only and exceptional
case to the contrary during an official carcer of nearly 11 years as district
inspector.”

The systematic neglect is explained as referring to the delay in holding the
examinations, a question already dealt with, and which Mr. Fleming states is
the cause of Rev. Mr, Nowlan's offensive and disrespectful letter to the Secre-
taries about him ; the rest of these two extracts evidently implies that, previous
to the complaint as to Mary Murray’s case, Mr. Fleming’s relations with me
were, to say the least, unfriendly. So far from this being the case, that to put
Mr. Fleming and his statements in the clearest light before the Commissioners,
I am reluctantly compelled, as in the many other instances in this letter, to
mention facts and circumstances in digproof which otherwise should never be
brought before the Commissioners. Mr. Fleming and I were first brought
into immediate official connexion when he got charge of the Wicklow district
in 1855, and that connexion ceased in March last. I visited most of the schools
in the Drogheda district previously inspected by Mr. Fleming, and although
there were many minor faults and errors of judgment in his manner of dis-
charging his duties, yet on the whole I thought favourably of him as an average
officer, and in his own presence, and unsolicited by any one, I mentioned to
Mr. Kelly the several good points in his proceedings. In 1854 he drew up his
outline map, and so anxious was he to obtain my support for it, with a view
to recommending its adoption by the Board, that he went down specially to
Drogheda, Cork being then his residence, to see me upon the subject. 1
examined the maps and the text most carefully, pointed out many defects, and,
anxious to serve him, lent my support to it only on his promising to have these
remedied in a second edition. One of the maps faulted by me he has since
removed, and replaced it by a somewhat better, and so anxious was I to serve
him, and at the same time not commit either my character or my conseience,
that on going down to Greystones last autumn, I brought with me a copy of
the atlas, with the maps and text carefully revised by me. This copy I sub-
mitted to him. We went over the errors, which he thanked me for correcting,
and I placed at his disposal expensive and most modern atlasses and geogra-
phies to aid him in bringing out, as he promised, an improved edition of his
little work. During the month (September) that we were in Greystones he
visited schools with me, he coming on my car whenever available; and not
merely was our official relations, but our social and private intercourse was of
the most friendly character. I left Greystones October 3d, but returned there
the 20th, at the request of Mr, Fleming, whose guest I was for the three
days that I remained inspecting schools, &c., with him. It is remarkable, in .
reference to the question of the date of holding the examinations, that during
my stay there no reference was made to the case of Mary Murray. The same
feeling continued between Mr, Fleming and me up to the last moment of our
intercourse. The very last day we met was the $0th January, when the exami-
nations closed; that day we lunched together, and that night, when we last
parted, I drove him, after we had classed the teachers in the office, in my car,
with Mr. Coyle, to the nearest point to his lodgings, in Portobello, and we
parted on the usual kindly terms. With Mr, Fleming I have never had any
disagreement or misunderstanding such as the terms of his letter would indi-
cate. Januvary 3lst, the very next day, after the close of the examination,
impressed with the deep iujustice and the highly irregular and improper pro-
ceeding in the case of Mary Murray, I wrote the complaint of that date, and
to shrink from my obvious duty in so doing would, in my conscience, incrimi-
nate me, as well in that case as in any similar one which might hereafter oceur,
from my neglect or partiality in omitting to do so. Mr. Fleming, amongst his
other strange contradictions and inconsistencies, persists (page 30) in stating
that Mary Murray was not “deprived of her bread” in consequence of his
neglect. Hesays, “thisis merely figurative speech ; dealing with facts it has no
meaning ; she was not deprived of her bread, nor even of the price of a single
loaf through his (Mr. F.'s) means.” What is his explanation of this singular
statement? That “ he (Mr. Kavanagh) and 1 (himself) had already signed
the classification sheet, recommending restoration of salary to Mary Murray, as
probationer, from the date of its withdrawal, and from January 1857 as third
class teacher.”

254 14 These
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These statements, in the face of the plain facts of the case, are, from their
nature, exempt from comment.

The last point in the whole case is that, in reference to the absence of entry
in the inspector’s observation book at his visit in August, to explain the
grounds upon which he founded his change of opinion as to the retention on
trial till the examination of Mary Murray in the school. I did not make this
statement without what appeared to me reliable evidence ; Mr. Fleming does
not deny the accuracy of the statement, and I have sent to the manager of
the school for the observation book, which I shall send to the office.

1 mentioned incidentally at the close of my letter of January 31st as follows :
“ T may here add that I had, in autumn last, to call Mr. Fleming’s attention to
some serious instances somewhat similar to this (Talbotstown Female National
School), in which he expressed himself in the strongest and most decided terms
in the observation hooks as to the unfitness of teachers; and in his next or
subsequent reports in the book, the same parties being in charge of the
schools, no explanation whatever is put forward to account for the change of
opinion. The cases of the worst kind are Carrigower (12/6/55) and Barniskey
(18/12/25.).” Mr. Fleming received this letter March 2d, and was unable to reply
to this particular paragraph (and the details which follow it) until the end of
May, a period of three months. He admits that he had to wait to inspect the
observation books of all the schools in the district which were visited by me
before he was in a position to reply to it. This affords a very unsatisfactory
view of the manner in which a first class inspector keeps his note books, as
there should be nothing in the observation books, a record of which should not
be made in his own note books, especially on so vital a point as the competency
or incompetency, or the unsuitability of any of the staff of the school.

Like Mary Murray’s case, he admits the absence of any entry on subsequent
visits which would explain his altered opinion, if altered, in reference to the
fitness and worth of the teachers in Carrigower and Barniskey, as reported at
the dates quoted. He admits the accuracy of the quotations of the strongly
expressed opinions as taken from the observation books. He admits that I
called his attention to this inconsistency in both these cases (letter 29/5/57,
page 2), in September last, yet in pages 10, 11, and 12 of same letter he
attempted to state that it was only in January I first took that view of this
irregular and inconsistent proceeding on his part. He further asks why I
deferred noticing officially such instances of omission, if they really existed, until
the 31st January ; he udmits I noticed them officially to himself, and must mean
why I did not report them as a formal complaint. I read over my notes of
inspection of all, or nearly all, his schools, as visited by me, to Mr. Fleming
officially ; and pointed out to him such leading defects as required correction.
Thus the use of unnecessarily strong language in the observation books, and
occasionally in the district books; his discontinuance of steel pens ; the rough-
ness of his manner to the children (specially complained of in Bray Convent
National School) ;* frequent omission of any entry of some visits in observation
books ; requiring the children to “ count the stops™ when reading; ampler
notes to be taken of the examination of the classes; omissions of important
matters (as general lesson) to be entered in observation book ; scantiness of
entries at foot of old form of observation book, &c., &e.; and inconsistent
reports, as in the cases of Carrigower and Barniskey. Mr. Fleming might as
well now interrogate me as to why these and many other matters were not
entered in my reports upon the schools to which they refer in the line opposite
the question, ** Are district inspector’s suggestions pertinent, &c.?’ The school
reports, as such, are unsuited for these matters; and in some of my communi-
cations in reference to Mr. Fleming’s district, I promised that I would forward,
which I intend to do, a general report on the inspection of the schools by
Mr. Fleming.

The reasons assigned by Mr. Fleming for the omission of any entry in the
observation book in Carrigower National Schools at any of the three visits follow-
ing that of June 12, 1855, which might explain his first entry that the teacher

“ cannot

* This he should specially avoid, as soon after his appointment as inspector Mr, M‘Crecdy lad
to correct him for striking children in the school upon the head in Mr. M‘Crecely's presence
during the examination of the classes, J p
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¢ cannot be sanctioned as qualified to conduct a school,” do not appear to me
at all satisfactory. Mr. Fleming arrived at that opinion without any reference
to a head inspector, or to any district examination; and it was his bounden
duty (as in the case of Mary Murray) to examine Davis next visit, November 6,
1855, and record the result in the observation book, especially with such a
strong and decided opinion already entered against the man, or he should
have examined him next visit, January 18, 1856, and recorded the result: a
third visit was made, June 18, 1856, and still either no examination, or at least
no record of it. When I visited, August 8, I at once examined the man, and
if the district inspectors be permitted to evade this most important part of their
duty on such unfounded pretexts as “the case is pending, awaiting the dis-
trict examination,” the results would be ruinous to the prospects of our schools.
This single case affords an apt illustration, as Davis absented himself from the
oral examination, held in January last ; case still pending therefore.

In the Barniskey case, Mr. Fleming's reason for the omission in his report
of June 1856, of any explanation of why the teacher continued in the school
after such an extremely bad report at previous visit, is the most singular and
simple exercise of benevolence that has ever come to my knowledge. July 18,
1855, Mr. Fleming reported in the observation book, “ Neatness and cleanli-
ness worse, if possible, than at last inspection; accounts carelessly and negli-
gently kept ; suggestions left wholly neglected. I believe he is a most indolent
and inefficient person, and I earnestly recommend rev. manager to remnve
him from a situation for which he is wholly unqualified.” He tells of his
interview with manager, and of the grounds upon which he changed his
mind ; also of what he inserted in his report to the office upon his inspection
of June 1856 ; but he should have inserted these grounds in the observation
book also, to explain to a new inspector, or new manager, his own conduct in
the matter. He says, “ As some efforts” (since the December visit) “ had been
made to remove existing defects, I was unwilling to damp future exertions on
the part of the teacher, by making any very unfavourable entries in the
observation book.” In other words, the man and the school had improved a
little, at least something, and out of prudence and kindness the inspector would
not damp his exertions by entering it, especially necessary as it was after last
bad report. This explanation I also regard as quite unsatisfactory.

Mr. Fleming challenges me to name a single instance (page 2, letter 29/5/57)
of any other case of this kind upon which I spoke to him, besides the two
cited ; and from mere memory, unaided by reference to my notes, I am able to
do so—=St. Kevin’s National Schools. This paraded request to name another
single instance is the less defensible, seeing that Mr. Fleming states he made
. an inspection for the special purpose of all the schools visited by me ; and if
s0 he must have been in St. Kevin's, as he well knew that I had visited it.
On his visit, February 20, 1856, he entered in the observation book that the
paid monitor (Mich. Healy, app. 7/54) was not qualified, and if not improved
by next inspection, that he, Mr. Fleming, would remove him. Now in the
subsequent visit of July 18, there is not any reference whatever in the report
in the observation book to the promised examination, or to the qualifications
of the same monitor, who was then in office. I have written to the manager
to send the observation books, and I shall forward them to the office. Not
ouly is this so, but bad as Mr. Fleming admits his memory to be, I think he
can have no difficulty in recollecting my having mentioned to him, when read-
ing over my notes of these cases, that his omission to make an entry, on his
visit of July 18, to explain his threat of February, was the more singular,
seeing that he examined, as I learned, the monitor at his summer visit to the
school.

I have now noticed every point requiring notice in Mr. Fleming’s two letters,
of 52 pages, in reply to my complaint preferred against him January 31st last.
The cemplaint was a serious but simple one, that a newly-appointed teacher,
whose school was twice examined by Mr. Fleming, was removed upon, amongst
other grounds, want of literary qualification, but that since her appointment
inspector had never examined her; and, having her removed, or salary with-
drawn from her, without examination, he had her retained on trial, on a
subsequent report, without any examination either. Whilst fully admitting
these facts, Mr. Fleming turns round, and, departing from the simple case before
him, he takes leave not only to criticise my conduct, but cven the very orders
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of the Board under which I have been acting. The question involved is a far
more important one than that of Mary Murray. I am senior amongst my
collcagues ; I have served as many years as head inspector as Mr. Fleming has
as district inspector, and not only I do not claim, but I repudiate all pretension
to have the slightest claim, on personal or on official grounds, to have any
weight attached to my testimony in a matter of this kind, beyond its intrinsic
worth.  If the humblest monitor or pupil fecls aggrieved, his full right to com-
plain, in proper form, should be recognised. In the discharge of a solemn and
painful duty I preferred my complaint against Mr. Fleming, in my letter of
January 31st, and in doing so I confined myself strictly, with the exception of
the reference to a kindred irregularity in last paragraph, to the recital of the
facts of the casc. In replying to Mr. Fleming’s letters of 52 pages, which
engaged his attention three months from the receipt of my complaint, I have
heen obliged to enter into details which were unavoidable.

I request the decision of the Commissioners on two distinct points, viz.: Mr.
Fleming’s conduct in not examining Mary Murray ; and, 2dly, the truth of the
allegations which he puts forth in Lis letters, the serious matters here stated in
my reply, and his general conduct in the whole business.

I am, &c.
(signed) James W. Kavanagh,
Head Inspector.
The Secretaries, Education Office.
(A.)

Cory of LETTER from Rev. Mr. Nolan, on Talbotstown Case.

Gentlemen, Rathvilly, 11 June 1856.

IT is now nearly a month since I received a note, stating that the salary
would be withdrawn after a certain time from the present mistress, Mary Murray,
of Talbotstown National School, County Wicklow. The cause stated, that “she
is not qualified to conduct the school with efficiency.” I must suppose this is
stated on the authority of the inspector. I am sorry to he obliged to differ
with him ; but in justice to myself, the mistress, and the school, I must say
that 1 differ tolo caelo with Mr. F. on this fact.

The untenable grounds for his judgment, and my reasons for differing with
him, shall, if necessary, be stated on another occasion. In the meantime that
no evil may arise, I request the Commissioners will be pleased to direet their
inspector from the neighbouring district (it is only a few miles from Baltinglass)
to visit the school and report; I have no fear of the result. Indeed, [ would be
sorry she should not answer my hopes, for she is a most respectable young girl,
and of as worthy a family as I have in the parish. I hope to be able by degrees
to get such a class of teachers into my schools. No man can have a greater
desire to have good and eflicient schools, and to suppose that I should select
unworthy and incompetent persons to conduct them, would argue an amount
of folly of which I hope I may plead not guilty. I request this note may be
laid before the Commissioners.

I remain, &c.
The Secretaries, Education Office. (signed) P. C. Nolan.

(B.)
Dear Sir, Rathvilly, 1 January 1857.
Ox consulting with my Rev. assistants I have resolved to take into Tineclash
School as teachers a man and wife; they are classed, and not lowly. I would
not undertake to be always contending with Inspectors and Commissioners—
defending an incompetent set.  You can then inform the teachers you spoke of
to me, that I will not engage them.
I have resolved also to retain the mistress of Rathmore School for the present.
Wishing you all the compliments of the season,
I am, &e.
J. G. Fleming, Esq., &e. (signed) P. C. Nolan.
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(C.)

My dear Sir, Ovoca, 20 March 1857.

You may remember that when here last with me, you called my attention
to your inspection of, and report on, the state of the Barniskea National School
and teacher, on the 18th December 1855, and requested that I would state to
you the impression made on my mind by your comments and report; I will
now endeavour briefly to do so; I clearly recollect that I quite concurred in
the censure you then passed on the teacher for want of energy in imparting
instruction, and for want of cleanliness of schoolroom, and for personal sloven-
liness ; on those matters we entirely agreed, as I thought your reproof just, and
sustained it ; there was, I think, an argument ad misericordiam, urged by the
teacher, namely, that his only son, a very interesting boy, dicd about that
time; this, I know, had much weight with us, and besides, amendment was
earnestly promised.

I now come to your examination of June 1856, of same school ; I was at it
with you and remember distinetly that you kindly admitted that improvement
and progress had taken place during the interval, but that it should continue
and enlarge in order to be satisfactory, I do not think you committed this to
the report-book lest it might dull exertion; these are the points that chiefly
occur to me at present regarding the inspections alluded to. There is one
circumstance I was nigh forgetting ; your bringing the teacher to my house
and severely reproving him, and most justly so, and I was happy to agree in the
reproof. Such are my recollections of the subject matter of this note, and I
remember that my impression was then that your zeal was commendable, and
not the less so because it was blended with clemency.

I remain, &ec.
J. G. Fleming, Esq. (signed) P. Kearney.

(1)

My dear Sir, ' Greystones, Delgany, 9 August 1856.
I uavE revised the exercises of the masters who attended the written

portion of the examination this year, and the following only are to be recalled
to the oral examination : —

N. Murphy, probationer, Ballyfadd.
P. Jones, probationer, Wicklow.
J. Davis, probationer, Carrigower.

B ::3?; r&m&tﬁfc}l@ b‘f}J . Githens, 3° class, Rathmeinge. ’Wv
Scarcely it - - - J, Keane, 3' class, Rathdrum P. L. U.
G. Byrne, 2* class, Trooperstown.
Hardly it - - - J. Lambert, 2' class, Arklow.
Rather weak - - - G. Peyton, 1° class, Tinahely.

Of the 13 candidates for promotion, the exercises of eight of them are
entirely below what would warrant their being recalled to the oral examination.
Unless fully 50 per cent. of the answers are marked satisfactory, or somewhat
imperfect, we cannot recall them. . .

Be so good as to let me know where it is most convenient that the men’s
exercises shonld be addressed to you, that the results of the written examination
of each teacher be transferred to the back of his docket ; as also a summary of
the state of his school. I regret having to do this, what I now do for the first
time in my life, but I have already stated the grounds upon which I feel con-
strained to refuse to receive an inspector’s work, unless formally and properly
done. Stitching the dockets in the order of the men's rank, and stitching eacl
man's papers at the corner (left hand) in the order of the subjects, would keep
the work conveniently together. You are of course aware that it is my duty to
preserve the dockets, at least, with the results of the examination marked
thereon.
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Please let me have a list of the female teachers (schools and rank men-
tioned), whom you intend to summon to this year’s examination, that I may
fix the time for holding the examination, and while here put it over us. In
a week or fortnight you can return me the men’s papers and dockets.

This week 1 found that the new report and register have not reached Callary
National School. Did you ever notice that the female teacher in Bray lives in
the school room ?  During school hours you see nothing certainly but cooking
utensils ; but she, her sister, and family use the room, but only before and after
hours as a living room.

I have, &c.
(signed) J. W. Kavanagh.

J. G. Fleming, Esq., Rathdram.

P.S.—When may I expect the district map ? I cannot move about without
it, and by this time you must know the district fully. I also wrote to the office
for a copy of it, but I do not think they have any, except that in the general
map of Ireland. Owing to the large increase in the salaries, numbers will
like to try their chance of promotion. If a female teacher applies, and that
she has the general conditions in her favour, it is unfair to refuse her; but
unless you have reason to believe that the party stands some fair chance of pro-
motion, there is no use in upsetting their schools, and annoying them with

failure.
(signed) J. . K.

(2.)

My dear Sir, Grenville, Rathgar, 19 January 1857.

In a post or two I shall give you notice to summon your teachers for exa-
mination ; meantime you will let me know the precise number and rank of the
female teachers whom you expect to attend.

I am not yet decided as to whether to summon them with the North Dublin
teachers or not ; the former was your wish, and would be more convenient, but
perhaps such a course now would not so well suit you.

Let me hear from you first post.

I remain, &e.

J. G. Fleming, Esq. (signed) James W. Kavanagh,
Inspector of National Schools, Head Inspector.
Greystones.
(3.)

Wicklow, 11 August 1858.
I cerriry that I have a distinet recollection of the following facts, which
took place at an examination of myself and other teachers, held in Marlborough-
street on 28th and 29th January 1857.

1. Mr. Kavanagh, on entering the room in which the examination took place,
spent a considerable time in calling over the names of the teachers, ascertain-
ing their respective classes, and arranging them in their proper order for
examination. When he had this part of the business completed, he retired,
and did not make his appearance till late on the same evening, when he pro-
ceeded to pay all the teachers their travelling expenses. 'This he did by
candle-light. I have not the slightest recollection of his taking any part in
the examination, farther than asking a few incidental questions whilst so
engaged (for he sat at the same Board with the examiners) ; but those questions
formed no part of the examination, inasmuch as answering them procured no
mark. I recollect having answered one of them myself, and one, like the
generality of his questions, not found in the programme, for which I got no
mark. I distinctly recollect that the greater part of this day’s businesg
devolved on Mr. Fleming, for he was examining for some time before Mr. Coyle
joined him. I have no recollection whatever of any person assisting him,Ionly

saw
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I saw a young man, whom I did not know, furnishing the female teachers with
pens, &c. That Mr. Fleming discharged his duty with great vigilance, I think,
is evidenced by the following facts: though busily engaged in orally examining
the male teachers, 1 distinctly recollect that he detected a violation of the rules
to be observed during examination, which took place amongst the female
teachers, and to which he called Mr. Kavanagh's atteution when he returned.

2. On the 29th, Mr. Kavanagh did not make his appearance till the exa-
mination had continued for some time. He then took the examination of the
male teachers into his own hands, and continued it till the close of daylight.

3. Mr. Kavanagh examined on this day, on the following subjects; T am not
positive as to their order :—Lessons on reasoning, arithmetic, geometry and
mensuration, algebra, book-keeping, natural philosophy.

I am prepared to show that a teacher might thoroughly understand and
distinctly remember the whole programme, and yet not answer many of his
questions. In arithmetic he did not proceed beyond the compound rules. I
am certain that none of the questions he proposed on this subject were taken
from any work published by the Board. I suppose they were taken from his
own, as he spoke a great deal about it at the examination. His examina-
tion on geometry was equally unfair. As I looked through some of “ Pott's
Geometry,” since the examination, I think, had the teachers studied it, they
might have answered some of them; but as for knowing what the Board has
expressly placed on their own programme, Mr. Kavanagh distinetly told us
that he would give no credit to any man for being able to solve problems,
classing such as mere child’s work. These were nearly his words. I recollect
having some conversation with Mr. Peyton, of Tinahely, immediately after the
examination. He fully agreed with me in my views of the examination.

(signed) Joseph Luambert,
Teacher of Wicklow National School.

(4.)

Sir, Loretto Convent, Bray, 16 August 1858.

1 BAVE been greatly surprised and pained to hear that any one could have
reported that a complaint had been made of your rude and rough manner
towards the children in the Bray National Female School (Loretto Convent).

I am happy to assure you that such a report is perfectly false, as on all
occasions I have had reason to be satisfied with the interest you evinced
towards the school, your manner towards the children, and your exactness in
seeing the regulations of the school observed.

When Mr. Kavanagh visited it upwards of two years ago, Miss Whyte, the
mistress, and myself were the only persons to whom he spoke, and both of us
can assert that no complaint of the kind was made to him.

Believe me, &e.
(signed) Concepcion Lopez, Manager.

(5.)
Convent of Our Lady of Loretto, Bray,
16 August 1858.

On account of information received from our district inspector, J. Fleming,
Esq., stating that he was rough and rude in his manners in Bray School, I take
this opportunity of contradicting it, as I have always found him most polite
and affable in my intercouse with him.

(signed) Elizabeth Wihite.
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(6.)

) 11, De Grey Terrace,
My dear Mr, Fleming, 11 August 1858,

Wit reference to your note of the 7th instant, and in reply to the inquiries
contained therein, I have to state, first, that so far as I may be supposed con-
cerned, I never gave any authority whatever, directly or indirectly, to Mr.
Kavanagh to make the statement which you quote from his letter of July
1857, namely, that you had not ““earned the good opinion of at least two of the
head inspectors, under whose superintendence you had been placed previously
to his becoming your head inspector;” nor did I ever say anything to Mr.
Kavanagh which could be properly construed by him to imply that I had
ever entertained any other than a good opinion of you, both as a private indi-
vidual and as an officer of the Education Board.

On the contrary I can, in the second place, and in answer to yournext query,
most unhesitatingly affirm that I have always entertained, and, when occasion
offered, as you yourself and others well know, have always expressed a very
high opinion of your character and worth, considered both as an officer of the
Board and as a gentleman and scholar.

Thirdly, as to what you quote from Mr. Kavanagh’s letter, that soon after
your appointment I had occasion to correct you for striking children in the
school upon the head, I have simply to say that nothing that ever occurred in
our intercourse, or which I ever spoke of its having so occurred, could justify
the insertion of such a statement in the way Mr. Kavanagh has given it. The
only incident, as I believe, to which this story can possibly allude, and which I
may have related to Mr. Kavanagh, when speaking, as I have often done, both
with him and other of my brother head inspectors, of the desirableness of our
inspectors receiving some sort of preparatory instruction and training in the
work of school inspection, before going out to assume the active discharge of
duty, was a very simple’one indeed ; a mere innocent inadvertence on your
part, arising entirely from your want of experience (for you had been then but
a few months out), and which in no sense could warrant anything like the gross
charge sought to be insinuated against you, that it was your practice to strike
children on the head. 1 have accompanied you, in the years we were united,
in the inspection of many, very many schools (weeks and months, on the whole),
and at distant intervals we have been together, and never did 1 see you touch a
child in a school but on one occasion (that which I suppose referred to), and
then, as I have said, it was through mere inadvertence, not from heat or passion,
or with a view to punishment, but simply to recall the child’s attention to the
lesson before it, and which, it seemed to you, it was, from giddiness of thought,
neglecting. To say that I “ corrected ” you, in any proper sense of the term,
on that or any other occasion of our official intercourse, is wholly inexact. Our
mutual relations did not admit of that; and neither at that or any other time,
so long as we were associated in the discharge of duty, did I ever feel prompted
so to exceed my proper powers. What did indeed occur on the occasion I
allude to, was a friendly interchange of thought, which ended in a few moments
in mutual agreement as to the course proper to be observed by an inspector in
his relations with the pupils of his schools ; and that course, I have every reason
to believe, you have since most faithfully followed.

As to the propriety of Mr. Kavanagh’s producing in an official document,
after the lapse of ten years, an incident so simple as that I refer to, and in pro-
ducing it, misstating and exaggerating it as he has done, I shall say nothing,
confident as I am that with every competent judge, with every man possessed
of any sense of fairness or official propriety, there can be hut one decision, and
that, I am sure, will not be one of approval.

I remain, &e.
J. G. Fleming, Esq. (signed) V. M:Creedy.
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My dear Sir, Londonderry, 12 August 1858.

I BEG to acknowledge the receipt of your note of the 7th instant, and in
reply have much pleasure in stating that during the entire time I had the
pleasure of official connexion with you, your conduct and mode of transacting
business have been most satisfactory. Since the first days of our acquaintance
until the present moment, I have always had the most favourable opinion of
you as an inspector and a gentleman.

I beg distinctly to state, that in any conversation I may have had with Mr.
Kavanagh, I never expressed any opinion regarding you, either verbal or written,
different from what [ have already stated above. My intercourse with you
both official and private has ever been most agreeable and satisfactory, and T
have always observed that your status and character, as an officer of the Board,
have been most praiseworthy and exemplary.

I remain, &ec.
(signed) James Patten,
J. G. Fleming, Esq. Head Inspector.

(8)

My dear Sir, 8 August 1858.
I mave received your note of the 7th instant, in which you state that Mr.
Kavanagh, referring to your conduct as an inspector, has, in a communication

of his to the Commissioners of National Education, asserted that he knows it to

be a fact that you did not earn the good opinion of at least two of the head
inspectors, under whose superintendence you were placed previous to the date
of his becoming your head inspector.

In order to try and ascertain if I am one of the “two head inspectors”

alluded to, you ask me the following question, “Did you ever authorise Mr.
Kavanagh to make such a statement?”

In answer to this question, I beg to say that I never, by letter or in conversa-
tion, authorised Mr. Kavanagh to make such a statement.
Your second question is, “ What is your opinion of my general conduct and

character as an inspector, and as a member of society, so far as you are in a
position to form a judgment on the matter ?”

To the first part of this question, I beg to say that I always considered you

an efficient inspector, and earnest in the discharge of your duty. I am aware
that come exceptions have been taken to your conduct, but these, even if well

grounded, would not modify the terms of my statement on this head.

Regarding you as a member of society, “ so far as I am in a position to form
a judgwent on the matter ™ (to quote your own words), I believe you to be an
honourable and a straightforward man. Of your social status, I know very
little. I have had the pleasure of seeing you at least twice at my own table, and
we have dined together on two or three occasions at hotels and at the houses
of mutual acquaintances. This, as well as I can remember, constituted the
whole of our intercourse, besides what was strictly official. I never expressed
any opinion upon this subject to any one. Your social position never was, to

the best of my recollection, discussed in my presence.

Yours, &ec.
J. G. Fleming, Fsq. (signed) W. H. Newell.

Gentlemen, : Wiclklow, 3 August 1858.
I mave the honour to acknowledge the receipt of your communication of
31st ultimo, with letter enclosed, from Mr. Kavanagh, and dated 10th July 1857,
on the Talbotstown case, to which you call my attention, for the purpose of
furnishing any remarks I may have to offer in explanation or defence with

reference to the statement set forth therein.

I shall begin by observing that Mr. Kavanagh, in the first part of his letter
254, K 4 - of
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of 10th July 1857, simply reiterates his original charge against me. He says,
“ Mr. Fleming found Mary Murray acting as substitute teacher when he visited
the Talbotstown school in November 1855 ; that he found her actual teacher
when he visited, March 1856 ; that on neither occasion did he examine as to
her literary acquirements; that upon his report of the latter visit he had her
removed, amongst other grounds upon want of acquirements, which he admits
he did not test; and, finally, that on the manager protesting against the Board’s
decision, or rather against the grounds upon which it was made, Mr. Fleming
again visited in August last, and, without any examination as to her attainments,
recommends that the teacher get trial until the district examination of the
teachers.”  One is led to think that Mr. Kavanagh had not read my letter of
explanation (24/4/57), when he wrote the words just now quoted. In that
letter 1 stated over and over again that I recommended Mary Murray’s removal
chiefly on the grounds of want of method, want of experience, inability to examine
a class of children, and extreme youth. I saw she had no better notion of
school-keeping than her litile pupils whom she profussed to teach. I saw she
was but the nominal teacher of the Talbotstown school, and qualifying for her
situation under a person named Anne Goss, who had just been dismissed from
the Dublin Training Institution on a charge of theft, and therefore I recom-
mended her removal. In short, this young person, about whom so much cor-
respondence has taken place, was, in August 1855, a mere school girl, subse-
quently transferred in December of same year, and without the slightest
preparation for the task, from her position as a fourth class pupil, to the respon-
sible office of principal teacher in Talbotstown school.

Nor was it in the least necessary for me to make any remarkable effort of
memory with reference to the nature and extent of her capabilities and mental
qualifications. Her method of examining a class convinced me that her know-
ledge of grammar, geography, and especially of the Board's lesson books, was
meagre and superficial in the extreme. Now, no one practically acquainted
with the duties of school inspection is ignorant of the fact that an infelligent
examiner will readily detect serious want of qualifications in the usual rudimen-
tary branches on the part of a teacher, by the very nature of the questions
which he puts to his pupils, and the answers he receives as such from them.
A child, for example, under examination by his teacher, makes a gross error in
parsing, in geography, or in explaining some passage of his reading lesson, and
no attempt is made by the teacher to correct the error, and if necessary, to
explain its nature to the class. Surely in such cases it is not unreasonable to
conclude that a teacher is ignorant and unqualified. T am, indeed, fur from
aupposing that the amount of a teacher’s qualifications can be ascertained
through the medium of so very imperfeet a test; but I do say, that gross
ignorance of any subject is quickly discovered in all cases similar to that which
1 have just described. This view I embodied in my last letter of explanation,
dated 24/4/57, in the following words: * She (Mary Murray) knew nothing
whatever of school-keeping. Her attempt to examine a class on the most
rudimentary subjects was a complete failure, for the very obvious reason that
she was wholly ignorant of the subject-matter of the Board’s lesson books.
This was quite apparent from the questions she put her pupils.” It is indeed
quite true, that I had not a complete conception of her literary attainments by
means of a lengthened and special examination, but it is equally true that I
had some knowledge of them, as any impartial person will clearly pereeive from
what I have just stated. All this is entirely ignored in Mr. Kavanagh’s letters
of 31 January and 10 July 1857, but his silence on so essential a point causes
me no disquietude, because want of method, inexperience, and extreme youth,
were the principal reasons urged by me, when recommending Mary Murray's
removal from the Talbotstown school ; not merely want of acquirements as he
must have perfectly well known, from even a hasty perusal of my reports on
that school. Regarding her age, I have nothing to add to what I stated on
that subject in my letter of the 24th April 1857, when 1 mentioned she gave
her age as 19 in the last week of November 1855, but being then only a sub-
stitute, acting temporarily in room of the regular teacher absent in training
school, and certain to return in the course of three weeks, T thought it nnnecessary
to make any further inquiry regarding Mary Murray’s age, seeing she was
about to leave in so short a time,  On my next visit, however (20 Marceh 1836)
1 find her acting as regular teacher in the Talbotstown school, and I then make
every effort in my power to secure satisfactory evidence as to her correct age,

which
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which she now returns only as 17 . I fail in doing so, for on referring to the
entry of her age in the register * of the school, I found the original figures had
been erased and fresh ones substituted in their place. This was the only
erasure of the kind in the register, and this circumstance coupled with the
contradictory statement of her age as returned by her in November 1855, and
March 1856, led me to entertain grave suspicions of her veracity. I had some
reason to believe her guilty of wilful prevarication and shuffling evasion in a
very serious matter ; but in the absence of clear and distinct proof, I could not
act on mere suspicion, no matter how well grounded. I forwarded however for
the information of the Commissioners, the page of the register in which I
found the erasure of age referred to above, together with a brief statement of
the necessary facts. 1 have in vain searched in Mr. Kavanagh's letter of
10/7/57, for any disproof or contradiction to this plain statement, which I now
respectfully leave before the Commissioners for their dispassionate consideration.

Mr. Kavanagh mentions, in page 3 of his letter of 10/7/57: “The chief,
almost the only thing, which the expected examination (of M. Murray)
could test, is acquirements. o " d o i ¢ Her age
could not be affected beyond a month by the examination, and her inexperience
of school keeping, the last of the three grounds of removal, would be in the
same category. As to her age, numbers younger have been been trained and
are highly classed, and some teachers very little her seniors have got charge of
model schools; as to inexperience, it simply means that it is the first school
of which she has been placed in charge, and if this were urged generally it
would be self-destructive of the institution, or else teachers, as such, should not
merely be immortal, but eternal.” The principal points at issue between
Rev. Mr. Nolan and me were : the amount of experience, knowledge of school-
keeping, method of conducting and examining a class on the part of Mary
Murray. I also urged her extreme youth as an objection to her appointment as
principal teacher in a national school. Now, Mr. Kavanagh had ample
opportunity for testing the reasonableness of all those objections when the girl
presented herself for examination at the Dublin Training Institution, in January
1857. He was in a position to question her regarding her age, and to call vpon
her for some explanation as to the great discrepancy of her statements to me
on that head, and the very suspicious fact of the erasure of her age in the
register book (circumstances all fully detailed in my report of 20th March
1856, which Mr. Kavanagh had carefully perused before the examination
terminated). But he did nothing of the kind; nor did he take the least
pains to satisfy himself respecting her method of imparting instruction, by
getting her to examine in his presence one or two classes in the adjoining
training school. Neither did he make the slightest attempt to test her know-
ledge of school-keeping by a short but searching examination, which would not
have cost him much trouble. He did, indeed, test her knowledge of the Lesson
Books which she was presumed to have been teaching her pupils during the
18 months preceding the date of her examination in January 1857, and the
result was that she failed to answer almost every question she was asked. I
know that, in her written exercise, she did not answer a single question taken
from the Lesson Books.

I am aware that a head inspector is not supposed to a have a personal know-
ledge of every teacher’s method, previous to his examination and classification.
Such information is usually obtained from the district inspector. DBut as Mr.
Kavanagh declined to act on my opinion of M. Murray’s method and know-
ledge of school-keeping, it was incumbent on him to satisfy himself, by a
searching inquiry, of the fallacy and inaccuracy of that opinion. Strange to
say, he never visited her school, he never examined her on school-keeping, he
never heard her examine a class, although he knew very well that it was on
account of serious shortcomings, under those two heads, that I recommended
removal from the position of principal teacher in the Talbotstown School.
And here I beg to express my disbelief that numbers younger than M. Murray
have been trained and are highly classified, or that teachers very little her
seniors have got charge of model schools. During my 12 years’ experience as
district inspector I never met with so young aperson in charge of a school, either

town

* Mary Murray was for some time a pupil in the Talbotstown School, and her age, when she was first
enrolled as such, had been entered in the register in which a column is set apart for such entries of age,
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town or rural. Neither is it necessary that teachers should be immortal and
eternal ; if unqualified, young persons are not occasionally permitted to take
charge of some of the national schools. Surely Mr. Kavanagh caunot forget, that
ever since his appointment as head inspector, the Commissioners have done all
in their power to supply the losses arising from deaths, emigration, &c., in their
teaching body, by creating a large staff of paid monitors, trained to the business
of teaching in each of the school districts, by means of pupil teachers in the
provincial model schools ; and lastly, by the establishment of a special class of
teachers from which school managers can at all times select efficient and ex-
perienced teachers.

Mr. Kavanagh writes, in page 4 of the letter from which T have already
quoted, “ It pains me beyond description to be obliged to lay bare before the
Commissioners the utterly uncandid, to use the mildest form of words, conduct
of Mr. Fleming in reference to the time when he expected the examination of
the teachers of his district to be held. The written portion of the male teachers’
examination for 1856 was held in Easter week, commencing March 24, and
instructions were issued to furnish the papers, returns, &c., within a couple of
weeks of that date. In July, instead of April, I received Mr. Fleming’s men’s
papers, and in such a state of arrear, untidiness, and neglect, that on the 11th
July I wrote to him informing him * * that the proper forms might be com-
plied with.” Mr. Kavanagh then gives extracts from my notes of the 14th
July and 15th August 1856, apologising for omitting to fill up the teachers’
dockets, and sums up in the following words: “1 believe there can be no
shadow of a doubt that when he had the interview with Rev. Mr. Nolan on the
occasion of his visit to Talbotstown Female National School on the 13th August,
he did not expect that the examinations would be held in August. * * *
I got the papers filled so late that it was only on the 2d October that I was
able to read over the results of the examination with him, with a view to decide
on who were to be recalled to the oral examination.”

First, as to the time Mr. Kavanagh received the teachers’ written papers, I
have merely to say that they had been properly marked and were lying for him
in the office, Marlborough-street, long before the time he states. Had he
written for them before July, they would have been forwarded to him in due
course. Second, every answer in the teachers’ exercises was most carefully
marked ; the papers and dockets placed in proper order before they reached
Mr. Kavanagh. The dockets were not indeed filled up; a few hours, however,
would suffice to do so. T left them blank, not from carelessness or neglect, but
solely because I had always done so during my official connexion with Head
Inspectors M‘Creedy, Patten, and Newell, and for the express purpose of giving
those gentlemen an opportunity to examine my marking of the teachers’ answers
before they were summarised and transfered to the back of the dockets. All
this I mentioned to Mr. Kavanagh in my note of the 14th July 1856, from which
he has given but a partial and garbled extract, and then adds: ¢ I believe there
can be no shadow of a doubt, that when he had the interview with Rev.
Mzr. Nolan, on the oceasion of his visit to Talbotstown Female National School
on the 13th August 1856, he did not expect that the examinations would be
held in August * * * * T got the papers filled so late that it was only on
2d October 1856 that I was able to read over the results of the examination
with him, with a view to decide on who were to be recalled to the oral examina-
tion.”

I have it in my power to deal very summarily with this and similar assertions
of Mr. Kavanagh as to the time when I expected the examinations for 1856 to
take place. I received the following communication from him, dated, ¢ Grey-
stones, Delgany, 9 August 1856. I have revised the exercises of the masters
who attended the written portion of the examination this year, and the follow-
ing only are to be recalled to the oral examination :

“ N. Murphy, Probationer, Ballyfadd.
P. Jones, Probationer, Wicklow.
J. Davis, Probationer, Carrigower.

I veparhios hin sctioal be} J. Githens, 3*, Rathmeigue.

very fair.
Searcely it - - - JI. Keane, 3', Rathdrum, P. L., U,
; G. Byrne, 2%, Trooperstown.
Hardly fit F = - J. Lambert, 2', Arklow.
Rathor weak - - = G. Peyton, 1°, Tinahely.

Of
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« Of the 13 candidates for promotion, the exercises of eight of them are entirely
below what would warrant their being recalled to the oral examination; unless
fully 50 per cent. of the answers are marked satisfactory, or somewhat imper-
fect, we cannot recall them. Be so good as to let me know where it is most
convenient that the men’s exercises should be addressed to you, that the results
of the written examination of each teacher be transferred to the back of his
docket, as also a summary of the state of his school. * * * % Please let
me have a list of the female teachers (schools and rank mentioned) whom you
intend to summon to this year’s examination, that | may fix the time for holding
the examination, and while here put it over us.”

I enclose the original document from which the above is copied. It places
(1 respectfully submit) beyond the pale of discussion all Mr. Kavanagh’s asser-
tions respecting the time when [ had reason to believe he would have held the
examinations for 1856. In his letter of 9th August 1856, he admits he has
revised “the exercises of the masters who attended the written portion of the
examination,” and he actually names the teachers whom he wishes to have
summoned to the oral examination, consequent on his own revision of the
results of each teacher’s written exercise, as marked by me. In his letter of
10th July 1857, he says, “I got the papers filled so late, that it was only on
2d October 1856 that I was able to read over the results of the examination
with Mr. Fleming,-with a view to decide who were to be recalled to the oral
examination.” Noris this all. Mr. Kavanagh “is pained beyond description
by my want of candour (to use the mildest form of words),” in stating to Rev.
Mzr. Nolan, on 13th August 1856, that his teacher’s case would soon be brought
under the head inspector’s notice. He was then residing in the district, where
he remained during the months of August and September. I therefore
expected him to hold his annual examination of teachers some time in August,
or at furthest in September, es]i)ecially as I had his instructions of 9th August
1856 to let him “ have alist of the female teachers whom you intend to summon
to this year's examination, that I may fix the time for holding the examination,
and while here put it over us.” I sent him by next post the required informa-
tion, and I naturally expected the near approach of the teachers’ examinations,
from the nature of the return called for, and from his expressed intention “ to
fix the time for the examination, and while here put it over us.” DBut in his
letter written in July 1857, he says, ¢ There can be no shadow of a doubt that
when Mr. Fleming had the interview with Rev. Mr. Nolan, on the occasion of
his visit to Talbotstown Female National School on the 13th August 1856, he
did not expect that the examinations would be held in August.” Strange con-
tradictions, which render it unnecessary for me to make further observations
on this part of the case; and, indeed, after this clear and unmistakeable con-
tradiction on the part of my accuser, as elicited from his own written state-
ments, and that on a point the most material of his indictment against me,
I might fairly close my reply, and, on the principle, * ez uno disce omnes,” con-
fide the case, as between my assistant and myself, to the Commissioners’
impartial decision. 1 say I might fairly do this, and, according to all the rules
of legitimate discussion, I submit I am entitled to do so, and here make an end.
But I forego this right, and in deference to the Commissioners, and to satisfy
them, as far as I can, on every point raised, I shall pursue the attack through
all its issues. In doing so, however, I beg that it be carefully borne in mind
that where I fail to produce other evidence than my own to countervail the
assertions of Mr. Kavanagh, T am dealing with one whose testimony has been
demonstrably shown to be unreliable. I am truly sorry that my position
requires me to write thus, but as a matter of self-defence, and in bare justice to
myself, I feel I can say no less.

In page 8 of same letter (10/7/57), Mr. Kavanagh writes: “ About the
1st January 1857, I heard that Mr. Fleming had mentioned iu the Education
Office, that it was not then the examination should be held, and on meeting him
in the grounds, in the presence of another gentleman, I mentioned to him
what I had heard ; and in reply he said he had no reccllection of having so
complained or expressed himself. [ told him that ¢ if he had it would be not only
untruthful but ungrateful, as the examination was about to be held in the
place desired by him, and at the time agreed upon ;' and upon this he remarked
“You certainly did promise to bring the teachers here about the vacation to
oblige me, and if I complained as you were informed, it would be both untruthfucll
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and ungrateful.”” Mr. Kavanagh had a conversation with me in the grounds
(attached to the training schools), about the time he specifies, with reference to
my complaint in the office, as to the time the examination should have heen
held. I regret very much that this conversation did not take place in presence
of a witness. It was to the following effect. On casually meeting him in the
grounds of the training school, he addressed me very abruptly ; and, in a tone
and manner 1 cannot call courteous, asked me, had I been making any remarks
regarding the time for holding the examinations. I explained to him that I
had made no complaint on the ground of any personal trouble or inconvenience
to myself, but that I had expressed an opinion adverse to an arrangement
requiring so many teachers to attend an examination in Dublin, during the
most inclement season of the year, and necessarily at a considerable distance
from their homes. I had just expressed a similar opinion in the Education
Office in presence of several persons, one of whom mentioned the circumstance
to Mr. Kavanagh. He thenleft me in the same abrupt manner he met me a few
minutes previously, and apparently dissatisfied with my explanation. Nothing
more occurred during our interview, the substance of which I have correctly
reported. It is of course open to Mr. Kavanagh to produce any credible
witness to disprove my statement ; his account of a conversation he had with
me about truth, gratitude, &e., is wholly imaginary.

In page 10 of his letter (10/7/57), he writes :—* August 13th, Mr. Fleming
visited the Talbotstown Female National School, and in his report thereon
recommended ‘that €it would be desirable to let Mary Murray remain as tem-
porary teacher, but not recognised or sanctioned by the Board (and con-
sequently without salary), until the examination of female teachers took place.”
This recommendation,” adds Mr. Kavanagh, ¢ was not approved for some time,
so that under any circumstances M. Murray could not, as Mr. Fleming well
knew when writing his letter now quoted from, be summoned in the capacity
of teacher before the month of September.”” The secretaries wrote to me in
July 1856, requesting to know, were there sufficient grounds for granting Mary
‘Murray a further trial. I replied in the affirmative, stating my reasons. I
knew for certain that my recommendation in her favour would, in due course,
be sanctioned by the Commissioners, although some delay might occur in
sending me the document formally announcing their judgment. It is mere
waste of time to dwell on such points. Every one acquainted with the rules of
official life, knows that when a case is referred to the head of a department for
his decision that decision, whatever it may be, is regarded as final by those
who placed the case in his hands. It is therefore abundantly evident that
after recommending in July 1856, Mary Murray for further trial, I was sure
that if summoned to attend an examination in the following August she
would be permitted to take her place with the other teachers. And I again
repeat, with the knowledge of all the facts now before ime, thatif Mr. Kavanagh
had held the examination in August or September, as he ought and might have
done, she would have received her salary in due course, and the matter would
have been arranged to the satisfaction of all the parties concerned. He tries
to make such an opinion appear irreconcileable with my recommendation, “that
Mary Murray should remain as temporary teacher, but not recognised or sanc-
tioned by the Board (and consequently without salary) until the examination of
female teachers took place.” Now there is not the slightest inconsistency in
this case. The recommendation just quoted was made in August 1856, before
Mr. Kavanagh's very decided views on the Talbotstown case had become known.
But surely I was justified, when writing my letter of April 1857, in presuming
that his estimate of Mary Murray’s age and general qualifications, so very
favourable in January 1857, would have been sufficiently high in the preceding
August or September to warrant him in recommending her for salary as a
probationer, if not as third-class teacher. Such a contingency wus, to say the
least, extremely probable.

Nor is this the only instance of confusion of ideas in Mr. Kavanagh’s letter
(10/7/57). 1 wrote to him 9th August 1856, stating that I was then much
occupied with the duties of inspection, which would detain me for some time in
a distant part of my district. Hence he concludes that 1 did not expect the
examination of teachers to take place in August or September. Why not
My letter (9/8/57) has reference solely to the business of inspection, which
the district inspector is bound to suspend at any time his superior officer dirﬁgts

im
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him to attend the examination of teachers. But I got no such command from
Mr. Kavanagh, and I was therefore obliged by my instructions to proceed with
the business of inspection. This clear distinction between the duties of school
inspection and the examination of teachers, renders wholly abortive his attempt
to show, from my own written testimony, that I could not have expected the
examination of the teachers in August or September 1856.

He adds (page 7 of the same letter), “Ileft the place of its (the examination)
being held to his own option;” and page 17, “ Mr. Fleming wished the exami-
nation to be held in Dublin.” These statements are clearly contradicted by
the instructions conveyed to me in his letter of 9th August 1856, where he
himself fixes the time and place for holding the examination. It is perfectly
absurd to talk about my option in the matter. Mr. Kavanagh himself had no
option in the matter. Of the 10 school districts under his superintendence in
1856, he had examined and classified the teachers of only three of those districts
within that year; and with the same districts under his charge in 1855, he
examined and classified the teachers of only one district in that year. Hence,
to make up for lost time he was obliged to summon teachers from several dis-
tricts to the same examination ; thus getting through the legitimate business of
weeks in a few days. Notwithstanding these facts, and his letter to me of
9th August 1856, he is not deterred from stating that his delay in holding the
examination was owing to my carelessness and neglect. And here I am com-
pelled to ask, Did I keep him back in his examinations of the year 1855,
deferred by him to the year 18562 Did I interfere to prevent his proceeding
in the summer and autumn of 1856 with those six other districts, the examina-
tion of whose teachers, as well as that of mine, he adjourned to the year fol-
lowing? Or is Mr, Kavanagh prepared to say of my six brother inspectors
what he said of me, that it was their delay which caused the postponement?
Or, lastly, was it through my obstructive influence he committed the same pro-
crastination in the year 1857, when I was altogether dissociated from him in
conducting the business of teachers’ examination for that year? To these
queries I know Mr. Kavanagh can return no pertinent reply, and therefore
I submit that all he has said of me as interfering with the timely discharge of
his duty in the matter in question, is but the tortuous pleading of one who
seeks to screen himself at any cost from the consequences of his own culpable
neglect of an important duty, by unscrupulously transferring the blame to
another.

But *““Mr. Fleming,” he says, “wished the examinations to be held in
Dublin.” 1 distinetly recollect his intimating to me, towards the close of
1856, that it was his intention to summon my teachers to the Dublin examina-
tion. I made no objection to the arrangement. I knew it was perfectly useless
for me to do anything of the kind; besides, as far as I was personally con-
cerned, it mattered little whether the examination took place in Wicklow or
Dublin. True, I “stopped in lodgings near Portobello,” but the only business
which brought me to Dublin was the special duty connected with the teachers’
examinatious, at which I had to assist, in compliance with Mr. Kavanagl’s
imperative instructions. I have to add, it was but a short time before the
examinations were held that he informed of his intention to summon the male
and female teachers to attend on the same days. He states, indeed (page 10,
letter 10/7/57), 1 “had certain knowledge that the masters and mistresses
are examined at the same period.” Now the masters and mistresses are
frequently examined at different periods, but never, to my knowledge, on the
same day and in the same room by any of the head inspectors, exclusive of Mr.
Kavanagh, He refers indeed to the examples of Messrs,. M‘Creedy and Newell,
in regard to which I have merely to observe, that although officially connected
with those gentlemen for more than eight years, I never knew either of them
to examine the mesters and mistresses on the same day and in the same room.
But Mr, Kavanagh feels no hesitation in assembling together a large number of
young men and women (most of them unmarried), at a considerable distance
from their homes, in the centre of a populous city, with means at their disposal
for dissipation, if so inclined, their travelling charges having been just paid
them. 1 strongly object to such an arrangement, but he sees nothing wrong
in it. My expression of opinion on the point he styles flimsy squeamishness.
Yet, will it be believed, this gentleman, my censor who now, assuming the air
of the robust moralist, ridicules me as one whose weak effeminacy of thought
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arises from a somewhat suspicious pruriency of fecling, is the same who, when
it served his purpose, made an attack on a brother inspector (Mr. Clarke), but
through mistake as it afterwards turned out, and upon a wholly false assumption,
for having, as he alleged, permitted a few monitors of both sexes (their average
age hardly excceded 14 years, and within easy distance from home), to be in-
structed and examined together under the immediate superintendence of
one of the most respectable first-class teachers in the service of the Board.
He at once denounces the supposed arrangement. It is fraught with moral
danger.” Tndeed! How then is it “flimsy squeamishuess™ to object to
the practice of assembling together in the same room and on the same day
large numbers of unmarried adults of both sexes, for the purpose of passing
their examinations, unwarrantably deferred by him, and for holding which he
had at his disposal the greater part, if not the whole, of the preceding summer
and autumn.

It now remains for me to offer a few brief remarks on the remaining parts
of Mr. Kavanagh's letter: and, first, with reference to Mary Murray’s exami-
nation and classification, 1 have only to repeat what [ stated in my letter of
24th April 1857 :—*“ She is completely ignorant of the subject-matter of the
Lesson Books of the Board. She failed in giving a satisfactory answer to any
one of the questions taken from those books for the examination of probationary
teachers. IHer oral answering on the same subject was even worse. She failed
in every subject (Arithmetic alone excepted) upon which she was examined.”
Mr. Kavanagh does not deny the accuracy of these statements, which if
unfounded, or even exaggerated, he had it in his power to disprove or qua-
lify, by producing the girl Murray’s written exercises, and the records of her
oral answering, which he had and still has in his possession. | referred to those
documents in my last letter on the Talbotstown case, and called for their pro-
duction. A rigid and impartial examination of the papers now indicated would
quickly satisfy every unprejudiced mind that there were no grounds for stating
“The question which we had to discuss was, should she not be placed, relatively
to all our other decisions, on first division of third class.”—Mr. Kavanagh's
letter, 31/1/1857.

Detection of a Geography with Mary Murray at the Examination.—During
Mr. Kavanagh's absence, on Wednesday 28th January, and while the female
teachers were engaged with their written exercises, I noticed a book lying open
on Mary Murray's lap. On my asking her for it she handed it to me, when it
proved to be a copy of the “ Geography Generalised,” the questions on geo-
graphy being then before her. 'This occurred in presence of my brother
inspector. Several teachers were also witnesses of the circumstance. It is
not, however, in the least necessary to seek their testimony, for the young girl,
when questioned on the subject in my presence by Mr. Kavanagh, admitted,
what indeed she could not deny, that she had a geography open on her lap, her
exercises on geography being then before her. But he had no proof of her
guilt, because, he says, “I had no evidence to satisfy me that she had used the
book, and her paper on the subject shows that she had not, to help her in the
examination.” No evidence! Surely the testimony of two inspectors, eye-
witnesses of the fact, was evidence quite sufficient to justify the most summary
proceeding in the case. Her paper, indeed, did not indicate that she had used
the book, because I required her to give it up before she had time to make any
unfair use of it. Here is a young person openly detected, in presence of some
30 persons, in the very act of committing a serious offence which she had not
time to complete. Therefore, says Mr. Kavanagh, there is no evidence of her
guilt. Why? Because her paper on geography showed that she had not used
the book. Such quibbles are below one’s notice. Mr. Kavanagh was absent
when the occurrence happened. He, nevertheless, undertakes to describe
rather minutely what took place, but his desecription is not very intelligible.
¢ T at once inquired,” he says, “into the matter, and found that it had been
brought by Miss Doyle, of Phibshoro’, who volunteered the admission that
she had never used it ; that it was placed by her side on the form, and had
fallen to the next step below, where Mary Murray sat, and that she, Mary
Murray, had taken it up, and that Mr. Fleming had found it in her lap. T was
displeased with Miss Doyle, as I could not see why she brought the book,
except to use it ; but, on the other hand, there was no evidence whatever that
she had done so, and when the book dropped by Mary Murray I do not
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wonder at her taking it up.” According to this account the book dropped
from Miss Doyle’s seat to the seat below, where M. Murray was sitting,
Now every one then present will, if questioned on the point, state the very
reverse of this. Mary Murray sat behind and immediately above Miss Doyle,
who remained in the very front seat throughout the entire examination. It is
quite useless to question the fact; there were too many persons present on the
occasion, and if Mr. Kavanagh will only prove it to be otherwise, I shall at
once give up my case as a bad one. The book, he says, dropped from Miss
Doyle to Mary Murray, and next line or so, * when the book dropped by Mary
Murray, I do not wonder at her taking it up.” But taking into consideration
their relative positions in the room, it was impossible the book could drop from
Miss Doyle to M. Murray. To be brief, his attempted explanation of the
occurrence is to me perfectly unintelligible; I can make nothing of it. But
confusion of ideas must necessarily result from a futile attempt to twist facts
in support of a foregone conclusion, I think it unnecessary for me to notice
the unworthy insinuation that I detected the book with Mary Murray, because
I had just been reading an anonymous, and not very flattering production, in
the handwriting of her school manager. 1 never saw the letter Mr. Kavanagh
speaks of until long after she had finished her exercise on geography (the first
subject but one which is taken up by the teachers). He has not the slightest
reason for supposing otherwise. It is simply a gratuitous assertion on his part,
regarding a circumstance which occurred in his absence, and of which he knows
nothing whatever.

Mr. Kavanagh adds, I was irritated beyond description on reading this note
addressed to the secretaries, I certainly expressed my astonishment after
perusing the document referred to, but the strong language employed by him
to express how I felt on the occasion is exaggerated, in fact hyperbolical.

Short Notice of Examination of Teachers—Mr. Kavanagh writes (p. 22 of his
letter), “ January 19th.-~I met Mr. Fleming in the office, and apprised him that
the examinations would be held on the 27th, 28th, 29th, and 30th of same
month ; and his letter, dated Greystones, January 21st, stating that he had then
summoned all of his teachers, is now before me. * * * * [e had eight
to 11 days, which was ample, as the result proved.” I am in a position to set
this question at rest by simply referring to his letter, written to me on the very
day he specifies to have met me in the office. He writes, “ Rathgar, January
19th, 1857.—In a post or two [ shall give you notice to summon your teachers
for examination. Meantime, you will let me know the precise number and
rank of the female teachers whom you expect to attend.” I enclose, for the
information of the Commissioners, the original letter, now quoted from. It
very clearly proves that Mr. Kavanagh is in error when he states he met me
in the office on the 19th January, and apprised me the examinations would be
held on the 27th, 28th, 29th, and 30th January. Had such been the case, why
write to me from Rathgar (direeting his letter to Greystones), on the very same
day (19th January) ; and, without making the slightest reference to any previous
arrangement or conversation between us, intimate that in “a post or two™ I
was to receive the notice to summaon the male teachers, which he now states he
gave me on 19th January? Moreover, all the probationary and third-class
teachers, nearly four-fifths of the actual number summoned, were required to
attend on 27th or 28th January; hence even assuming all the notices to have
been issued on the 21st or 22d January, to effect which the utmost postal des-
patch must have been used, it follows that my complaint regarding the short-
ness of Mr. Kavanagh’s notice of the examinations remains fully established.
Surely four or five days’ notice was not sufficient, especially as the average
length of the female teachers’ journeys amounted to 50 miles, if not more, the
distances travelled by the male teachers being somewhat less. It should also
be borne in mind that in most instances the teachers’ schools and homes are
far from a post town and from their managers’ places of residence, so that it
often happens that communications, forwarded to teachers through the school
managers, do not reach the former for several days after their delivery by the
postmaster.  In making the foregoing remarks, I refer solely to the teachers of
Wicklow district. Mr. Kavanagh is quite correct in stating that he promised
no decision of the Talbotstown case; but I, as the district inspector, and well
acquainted with all the facts, promised the Rev, Mr. Nolan to have it brought

~under the special notice of the head inspector, for his final decision, on 1§he
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occasion of his general examination of the teachers; but that examination,
which might and ought to have been held by Mr. Kavanagh during his two
months’ stay in my district (August and September 1856), was unnecessarily
deferred by him, and consequently the final arrangement of Mary Murray’s
case indefinitely postponed, thus keeping the manager of the Talbotstown
School in lengthened suspense on a subject, in which it appears he took a deep
interest.

The observations made in the first part of this communication are, I respect-
fully submit, a sufficient justification of the course 1 followed in reference to
the case now under discussion. I acted in the manuer which seemed to me
most judicious; and, from deep anxiety to avoid all grounds of complaint, I
referred my proceedings to Mr. Kavanagh, for his final opinion. It proved to
be very different from what 1 anticipated ; but I at onee bowed fo his better
judgment, and, of course, any suggestions from him as to my conduct in simi-
lar circumstances, would have received my most cheerful acquiescence. There
the matter should have ended. He preferred, however, emhodying a string of
charges against me, in an official document, for what, under the most unfavour-
able construction, had been an error of judgment.

“The case of Anne Salmon, of Wicklow,” writes Mr. Kavanagh (page 25, letter
10/7/57) ‘““ had not one single feature similar to, or in common with that of
Mary Murray, of Talbotstown. * * * The one was in charge of a remote rural
school in a mountainous locality, with an average attendance of about 30
pupils the other the head of a school with an average of 70. * * * Did I, when
I had opportunity, forego the examination of the parties referred to, as M.
Fleming had done in the other case? Not at all.” Mr. Kavanagh suppresses
a most important fact. He had deliberately decided on recommending the
immediate dismissal of Anne Salmon and Emma Farrell before their examina-
tion took place. He expressed his determination to do so in my presence and
that of the Rev. Mr. O'Sullivan, of Wicklow, a gentleman who is prepared, if called
upon, to corroborate my statement by the most distinet and positive testimony.
It was perfectly understood by us both that Mr. Kavanagh deemed the removal
of the parties now referred to, as absolutely necessary in consequence of their
want of method and general inaptitude for the business of teaching ; and these
were the considerations which alone influenced him in recommending their
dismissal, for he had not at the time tested their literary acquirements, In
short, they were removed from their situations because (as in the case of Mary
Murray) they were sadly deficient in method, and showed no aptitude for the
business of teaching. There is, I admit, some difference between the cases of
Anne Salmon and Mary Murray, the former being in every respect better
qualified for the profession of teaching than the latter. The question of pupils’
attendance in no way aifects the main question at issue. Is it ever justifiable
for an inspector to recommend the removal of a teacher whom he knows to be
wanting in method and incapable of imparting instruction to his pupils, without
first subjecting his literary acquirements to a rigid test? I believe such a course
perfectly legitimate. There are hundreds of well-informed persons who would
prove very useless teachers. Mere book knowledge, and the ability of im-
parting instruction to a large number of children, are very distinct quali-
fications.

Mr. Kavanagh states (same letter, page 28) four days were assigned for the
examination of 36 teachers, summoned from districts 19, 22, 24, 21, and 35, the
examiners consisting of himself and two first-class distriet inspectors. Turther
on, he adds, “I left the examination room close upon 12 o’clock, Mr. Coyle
being then in the room as well as Mr. Fleming, and I returned before 3 o’clock,
and remained examining until 6. * * * ¥, It is untrue that Mr. Fleming
or Mr. Coyle had any undue, or even their proper share of the duty imposed upon
them, and it is especially untrue that Mr. Fleming was left single-handed, as he
states, to do anything, or direct anything, connected with the general proceed-
ings of the examination. The production of the official record of the oral
answering of both men and women will prove that no statement could be more
opposed to truth than that made by Mr. Fleming, in reference to the manner
in which the examinations were conducted.” This certainly is strong language,
to which I mean to offer no other reply than a brief summary of facts based
upon evidence of the clearest kind. A reference to the classification sheets will
prove that on the first day of the procecdings (27th January) nothing wa}s'; donza1
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beyond getting through the oral examination of four male teachers, all of whom
were in lowest class. There remained, therefore, but three days for the oral
examination and classification of ten male teachers, all in a high class (2d or
1st, their examination consequently embracing 18 different subjects) ; and for
the written and oral examination and classification of 22 female teachers; the
marking of all their answers ; summarising same on back of dockets ; inquiring
as to the state of their schools; and, finally, the calculation and payment of the
travelling expenses of the entire 36 teachers.®* On one of those three days Mr.
Kavanagh admits he was absent for less than three hours; but he remained away
for a much longer time, as I shall presently show. Mr. Coyle was also absent
during early part of same day, in consequence of a severe cold. Hence it
appears from Mr. Kavanagh's own admissions, that the entire duty of superin-
tending the written examination of 22 female teachers, and the oral examination
of 10 highly-classed male teachers, devolved upon Mr. Coyle and me during the
three hours Mr. Kavanagh was absent on Wednesday, 28th Jannary. Now, it
was impossible for us to discharge this double duty at the same time in the way
the Commissioners expected it to be performed.t The oral examination of 10
highly-classed national teachers is a very arduous and responsible task, the cor-
rect performance of which demands and absorbs all one’s time, attention, and
energy. Two inspectors are invariably required for such a duty ; one to pro-
pose the questions, the other to mark the teachers’ answers. All this clearly
shows that a fatigning and disproportionate amount of labour must necessarily
devolve upon any examiner placed in a similar position to that in which Mr.
Coyle and I were left during Mr. Kavanagh's prolonged absence on the day
already referred to. He states, indeed, that it is especially untrue that I was
left single-handed to do anything, or direct anything, connected with the
general proceedings of the examination. On this point I beg to forward the
subjoined evidence of Mr. Lambert, a most respectable 2d class teacher, who
was present during the whole of the proceedings connected with the examina-
tions ol 28th and 29th January 1857. His testimony clearly corroborates my
account of what occurred ; it is not, therefore, necessary for me to further ex-
patiate on this portion of Mr. Kavanagh's letter.

Mr. Lambert writes, “ 1 have a distinct recollection of the following facts
which took place at an examination of myself and other teachers, held in
Marlborough-street on 28th and 29th January 1857 : First, Mr. Kavanagh on
entering the room in which the examinations took place, spent a considerable
time in calling over the names of the teachers; ascertaining their respective
classes ; and arranging them in proper order for examination. When he had
this part of the proceedings completed he retired, and did not make his
appearance till late in the same evening, when he proceeded to pay all the
teachers their travelling expenses. This he did by candlelight. I have not the
slightest recollection of his taking any part in the exawination, farther than
asking a few incidental questions, whilst so engaged (for he sat at the same
board with the examiners) ; but these questions formed no part of the examina-
tion, inasmuch as answering them procured no mark. I recollect having
answered one of them myself (and one, like the generality of his questions, not
connected with the programme), for which I got nomark. I distinetly recollect
that the greater part of this day’s business devolved on Mr. Fleming, for he was
examining for some time, before Mr. Coyle joined him. I have no recollection
whatever of any person assisting him, but I saw a young man,” (one of the
teachers examined the previous day,) “whom I did not know, furnishing the
female teachers with pens, &e.  * * * .1 distinetly recollect that
Mr. Fleming detected a violation of the rules to be observed during the exami-
nation, which took place amongst the female teachers, and to which he called
Mr. Kavanagh’s attention when he returned. Secondly, on the 29th, Mr.
Kavanagh did not make his appearance till the examinations had continued for
some time ; he then took the examination of male teachers into his own hands,
and continued it till the close of daylight. Thirdly, Mr. Kavanagh examined
on this day on the following subjects——I am not positive as to their order :

lessons

* Those teachers excepted who resided in Dublin, or its immediate vicinity.
+ 1 entertain very little doubt that Mary Murray was not the only teacher among those engaged
with their written exercises, who availed herself of the occasion to copy from books and papers.

254. M

Printed image digitised by the University of Southampton Library Digitisation Unit



00 CORRESPONDENCE, &c. RELATING TO

lessons on reasoning, arithmetic, geometry and mensuration, algebra, book-
keeping, natural philosophy. [ am prepared to show that a teacher might
thoroughly understand and distinctly remember the whole programme (school
course), and yet not answer many of his questions.  In arithmetic, he did not
proceed beyond the compound rules. I am certain none of the questions he
proposed on this subjeet were taken from any work published by the Board, I
suppose they were taken from his own arithmetie, as he spoke a great deal
about it at the examination * e * . Irecollect having some
conversation with Mr. Peyton of Tinahely, immediately after the examination ;
he fully agreed with me in my views of it.” Mr. Lambert is, I beg to add, the
only male teacher, now in Wicklow, of the four who were present from this
district, at the exaumination of 27th, 28th Junuary 1857. If called on, they will, I
fecl assured, corroborate to the fullest extent their fellow teacher’s statements.
I have also to observe that Mr. Lambert is not the only teacher who has
expressed himself dissatisfied with Mr. Kavanagh's questions and method of
examining on arithmetic. A pretty general feeling exists among those teachers
whose opinions I have heard on the point, that his questions on that branch
were not usually taken from the Board’s text books, but (as Mr. Lambert opines)
probably from his own work on arithmetic. He certainly spoke a good deal
about it to the male teachers under examination on 29th January 1857, mention-
ing among other remarks, that they would shortly have an opportunity of pro-
curing a copy of it at his publishers, who were then bringing out a new edition
of the book.

Towards the close of his letter (10/7/57), Mr. Kavanagh enters into very
lengthened details to show that he and I were on the most friendly and social
footing up to the actual date of his letter of 31st January 1857. Without
admitting or denying the accuracy of that statement, what, I ask, has it to do
with our mutual official relations. Plainly nothing whatever ; such matters
should not be mixed up with the discussion of a simple question of official
duty ; but as Mr. Kavanagh forces the unpleasant topic on one’s notice, I am
obliged to set myself right with reference to some of his statements. He says
(page 36 of his letter), * so anxious was I to serve him x * 4 3
that on going down to Greystones last autumn, I brought with me a copy of
Mr. Fleming's atlas, with the maps and text carefully revised by me. This
copy I submitted to him ; we went over the errors, which he thanked me for
correcting, and I placed at his disposal expensive and most modern atlases
and geographies to aid him in bringing out, as he promised, an improved
edition of his little work.” It is really painful to have to notice such petty
trifles, wholly of a personal character, but 1 feel it due to myself to state,
that the only alterations or errors in my atlas, pointed out to me for cor-
rection by Mr. Kavanagh, were, the substitution of the word bed for the word
stratum, the necessity of giving more perfect and detailed statistical returns
of the European States, the correction of some defects in the circles on the
map of the hemispheres.

A comparison between the two last editions of the Atlas will show that the
alterations and corrections referred to by Mr. Kavanagh are limited to those
1 have mentioned. He lent me during his stay in Greystones (August,
September 1856) a copy of “ Johnstone’s Chemistry of Common Life;” but
I never had from him at any time a single map, atlas, or work on geography,
much less “ expensive and most modern atlases and geographies.” I must say
that in all Mr. Kavanagh's lengthened communication of 10/7/57, I met with
no statement more opposed to fact.

He writes (page 38 of his letter), ¢ The last point in the whole case is that
in reference to the absence of entry in the inspector's observation book at his
visit in August, to explain the grounds upon which he founded his change of
opinion as to the retention on trial, till the examination, of Mary Murray in the
school. I did not make this statement without what appeared to me reliable
evidence. Mr. Fleming does not deny the accuracy of the statement, and [ have
sent to the manager of the school for the observation book, which I shall send
to the office.” Reliable evidence! He does not produce a scintilla of evidence
in the matter. He is formally asked to explain why he quoted from a public
document, the observation book belonging to a national school, the original of
which, or a copy of which, he had never seen. What course does he adopt ?
‘When challenged as to the propriety of such a step, he quietly sends for the book
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to ascertain whether his remarks with reference to the entries it contains are
correct or otherwise, But, * Mr. Fleming,” he says, ¢ does not deny the fact.”
I neither denied nor admitted the fact. The onus of proof lay with My,
Kavanagh, and the plain question is not what I deny or assert in April 1857,
but upon what grounds he quotes in January 1857 from a document which he
never saw, a copy of which he never got, and of which he had no information
whatever even of a verbal kind. The facts in this instance are strong and
undeniable ; it is impossible to explain them away by shuffling evasion and vain
sophistry. Nor does Mr. Kavanagh explain why his quotation from Rev. Mr.
Nolan's letter (dated 11th June 1856) is directly the reverse of what that gentle-
man really did write. He is equally silent on points 2, 3, in which I condensed
the substance of my letter of the 24th April 1857, and which were submitted to
him for explanation and reply. This is my last observation on the Talbotstown
case.

It now remains for me to notice some strange allegations in the closing pages
of his letter, where he re-opens the question of the want of consecutiveness, &e.
in my entries in the observation books of Corrigower, and Barreneskey National
Schools. As Mr. Kavanagh brings no new fact or argument in support of his
original assertions, and as I believe he fails to invalidate the plain statement
which I sent the Commissioners on 29th May 1857, in explanation of my entries
in the observation books of those schools, I am content to leave this part of
the case to the impartial and dispassionate consideration of those whose duty it
is to review my conduct in the matter. In justice to myself I am bound to add
that I never received any official notice from him on the subject of my entries
in the books of the two schools now referred to. He spoke to me about them
in a casual conversation I had with him on various other topics, and I gave him
what I then believed he regarded as a satisfactory reply to his observations.
He certuinly never gave me the slightest reason to suppose he would, some six
months afterwards, charge me with serious neglect of duty in reference to the
Corrigower and Barreneskey schools. His course of action in these cases is,
however, wholly beyond my comprehension. He visited the Corrigower and
Barreneskey schools once, and only once, the former on 8th August 1856, the
latter on 17th September 1856. In his confidential reports on those schools,
he is required to give his opinion, for the special information of the Commis-
sioners, as to the pertinency of the suggestions left by the district inspector
during his visits to the school, thus specially examined by him, to ascertain how
far the district inspector has fulfilled so essential a part of his duty. I have
now before me copies of his reports embodying the results of his inspection of
the Corrigower and Barreneskey schools. In both of these documents he replies
affirmatively, and without the slightest exceptional remark to the following query :
“ Do the suggestions left by the district inspector seem pertinent to the state of
the school 7™  This is his opinion in August and September 1856 ; but in the
conclusion of a letter written on 31st January 1857, on some other subject, he
finishes with these remarkable words, “ I may here add, that I had to call Mr.
Fleming’s attention last autumn to some serious instances somewhat similar to
this, in which he expressed himself in the strongest and most decided terms in
the observation books, as to the unfitness of teachers; and in his next or subse-
quent reports in the book, the same parties being in charge of the schools, no
explanation whatever is put forward to account for the change of opinion. The
cases of the worst kind are Corrigower and Barreneskey.” If those serious
cases of inconsistency, &c. in my suggestions in the observation books of the
schools, really existed, the worst cases of the kind being Corrigower and
Barreneskey, why state in his confidential reports, written for the special
information of the Commissioners in the preceding August and September, upon
those very schools, that the suggestions left by me in the observation books were
pertinent ;  the school reports, as such, are unsuited for these matters.” Perhaps
s0, hut whatever their defects, they are admirably suited for ascertaining through
the medium of a special query, whether the district inspector’s suggestions
are pertinent to the state of the school. If they be not so, it is clearly the
head inspector's duty to report specially, and at the time, for the immediate
information of the Commissioners, the worst cases of neglect. Plainly then, as
regards this part of the case, if Mr. Kavanagh at the time he drew up the
reports of August and September held the opinion of me, which he has since
expressed, he failed in duty to the Board in mot then recording it; butif his
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recorded opinion of me then was that dond jside entertained by him, what are
we to think of his subsequent charges ?

Mr. Kavanagh writes (third, last page of his letter) as follows :—* Mr. Fle-
ming challenges me to name a single instance of any other case of this kind,
upon which 1 spoke to lim, besides the two cited; and from mere memory,
unaided by reference to my notes, T am able to do so—St. Kevin's National
School.  This paraded request to nnme another single instance is the less defen-
sible, seeing that Mr. Tleming states he made an inspection for the special
purpose of all the sehools visited by me, and if so he must have been in St.
Kevin's, as he well knew that 1 had visited it. On his visit, February 20th,
1856, he entered in the observation book, that the paid monitor (Michael
Healy, appointed July 1854) was not qualified, and if not improved by next
inspection that he, Mr. Fleming, would remove him. Now, in the subsequent
visit of July 18th, there is not any reference whatever in the report in the
observation hook to the promised examination or to the qualifications of the
same monitor, who was then in office.” Mr. Kavanagh is quite correct in sup-
posing that T visited St. Kevin’s National School before I requested him to name
the other schools in the observation books of which I expressed myself in the
“strongest and most decided terms in the observation books, as to the unfit-
ness of teachers; and in his next or subsequent reports in the book, the same
parties being in charge of the schools, no explanation whatever is put forward
to account for the change of opinion.” In proof of this assertion he points to
my remarks regarding the paid monitor in St. Kevin's National School. Now,
a puid monitor is always a very young lad ; in the case referred to, his age was
under 14 years; he is a sort of apprentice to the teacher, but most assuredly
he is not the teacher in charge of the school. No one knows better than M.
Kavanagh that it has not been the district inspector’s practice to make any
remarks whatever in the observation book with reference to literary deficiency
of the paid monitors. The Commissioners have placed in the inspector’s hands
a large book (ruled, and with printed queries on each page), in which he is
required to record his opinions of the paid monitor’s acquirements, literary pro-
ficieney, &e., ascertained by Lhim at certain intervals by means of a special
examination. My predecessors in charge of the district from 1846 till 1855,
never made a single entry in any of the observation books of the schools, in
reference to the case of a paid monitor. I did so, but only on one occasion ;
and I departed from the usual course followed by all other inspectors in charge
of the distriet, for the following reason: the teacher of St. Kevin's school
feeling that his young monitor, M. Healy, had not been sufficiently attentive to
his private studies, requested me to make some entry in the observation book
by way of admonition for his past neglect. This, I repeat, was an unusual
course, but 1 complied with the teacher’s request because 1 deemed it reasonable
and prudent. I examined M. Healy on my next visit, July 1856, and subse-
quently in October of same year. 1 did not, it is true, record the results of
those examinations in the observation book of St. Kevin's school, because that
book was not infended for any such purpose. Consequently Mr. Kavanagh
had no reason to expect he should find any entry in it respecting the paid
monitor’s examination. Therefore it still remains for him to answer my ques-
tion, or challenge, as he calls it, and to name the other serious instances of
inconsistency and want of consecutiveness in the suggestions left by me in the
observation books of the schools under my superintendence.

Mr. Kavanagh states (page 41, letter 10/7/57) that, among other defects,
“ he pointed out to Mr. Fleming for correction the roughness of his manner to
the children (specially complained of in Bray Convent National School),”
adding, “This be should specially avoid, as, soon after his appointment as
inspector, Mr. M‘Creedy had to correct him for striking children in the school
upon the head in Mr. M‘Creedy’s presence, during the examination of the
classes ;” and in reference to my statement in last page of my letter of 24th
April 1857, “ that I had always been fortunate enough to earn the esteem and
good opinion of the several head inspectors under whose superintendence 1 had
been placed,” he remarks, “1 know this statement to be not a fact in the case
of at least two head inspectors, and I am not one of the two.”

Mr. Kavanagh visited the Bray Convent Naiional School, for the first time,
some two years ago, during his stay in Greystones (August and September
1856). I believe his first visit occurred in August, and during my a.bsenc;s;
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his second and last visit, in the following September, when I was present all
the time he remained in the school. On neither occasion, nor at any time,
was the slightest complaint ever made of my conduct by any person connected
with the Bray Convent School. On bringing Mr. Kavanagh’s statement under
the notice of the manager and the teacher of the school, the only parties he
had any conversation with regarding the school, its arrangements, &c., they
expressed the utmost surprise, and at once volunteered to contradict, in the
most distinct terms, his most unwarrantable assertion. Mrs. C. Lopez, the
manager of the school and superioress of the convent, thus writes: “ Loretto
Convent, Bray, 16 August 1858. I have been greatly surprised and pained to
hear that any one could have reported that a complaint had been made of
your rude and rough manner towards the children in the Bray National Female
School of Loretto Convent. I am happy to assure you that such a report is
perfectly false, as on all occasions I have had reasun to be satisfied with the
interest you evinced towards the school, your manner towards the children,
and your exactuess in seeing the regulations of the school observed. When
Mr. Kavanagh visited it upwards of two years ago, Miss Whyte, the mistress,
and myself were the only persons to whom he spoke, and both of us can assert
that no complaint of the kind was made to him.—Mrs. Conception Lopez,
Manager, Bray Convent National School.”

Miss Whyte, the teacher, writes : “ With reference to the statement that
you were rough and rude in your manners in Bray School, I take this oppor-
tunity of contradicting it. I have always found you most polite and affable in
my intercourse with you.—Elizabeth Whyte, Teacher, Convent, Bray, National
School.”

The following is Mr. M‘Creedy's reply to a communication from me, asking
him, first, whether he ever authorised Mr. Kavanagh, by word or writing, to
state that 1 had not earned his good opinion and esteem when acting nnder
him, in my capacity of district inspector, from the first day I had charge of
a school district, July 1846 till 1853, when I was placed under the superin-
tendence of Dr. Patten ; secondly, To what extent Mr. Cavanagh was justified
in using his name to support a statement to the effect that I had in his, Mr.
M‘Creedy’s, presence, struck a child upon the head immediately after my
appointment as inspector.

“11, De Grey Terrace, 11 August 1858. With reference to your note of
7th instant, and in reply to the inquiries contained therein, I have to state,
first, that so far as I may be supposed concerned, I never gave any authority
whatever, directly or indirectly, to Mr. Kavanagh to make the statement which
you quote from his letter of July 1857, namely, that you had not earned the
good opinion of at least two of the head inspectors, under whose superintend-
ence you had been placed previously to his becoming your head inspector.
Nor did I even say anything to Mr. Kavanagh which could be properly under-
stood by him to imply that I had ever entertained any other than a good
opinion of you, both as a private individual, and as an officer of the Education
Board. On the contrary, I can, in the second place, and in answer to your
next query, most unhesitatingly affirm that I have always entertained, and
when occasion offered, as you yourself and others well know, have always
expressed a very high opinion of your character and worth, both as an officer
of the Board, and as a gentleman and a scholar.

“ Thirdly, Asto what you quote from Mr. Kavanagh’s letter, that “ Soon
after your appointment I had reason to correct you for striking children in the
school, and upon the head.” T have simply to say, that nothing that ever
occurred in our intercourse, or which I ever spoke of, as having so occurred,
could justify the assertion of such a statement in the way Mr. Kavanagh has
given it. The only incident, as I believe, to which this story can possibly
allude, and which I may have related to Mr. Kavanagh when speaking, as
I have often done with him and others of my brother head inspectors, of the
desirableness of cur inspectors receiving some sort of preparatory instruction
and training in the work of school inspection before going out to assume the
active discharge of duty, was a very simple one indeed, a mere innocent inad-
vertence, on your part, arising entirely from your want of experience (for you
had been then but a few months out on duty), and which in no sense could
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warrant anything like the gross charge sought to be insinuated against you,
that it was your practice to * strike children on the head.”

“I have accompanied you, in the years we were united in the inspection of
many, very many schools; weeks and months on the whole, and at distant
intervals, we have been together, and never did I see you touch a child in a
school hut upon one occasion, that, I suppose, referred to, and then as I have
said, it was through mere inadvertence ; not from heat, or passion, or with a
view to punishuent, but simply to recall the child's attention to the lesson
before it, and which it secemed to you it was from giddiness of thought neglect-
ing. To say that I corrected you, in any proper sense of the term, on that or
any other occasion of our official intercourse, is wholly inexact. Our mutual
relations did not admit of that ; and neither at that nor any other time, so long
as we were associated in the discharge of duty, did I ever feel prompted so to
exceed my proper powers. What did indeed occur on the occasion 1 allude to,
was a friendly interchange of thought, which ended in a few moments in mutual
agreement us to the course proper to be observed by an inspector in his relations
with the pupils of the schools, and that course I have every reason to believe
you have since most faithfully followed. As to the propriety of Mr. Kavanagh’s
producing in an official document after the lapse of 10 years, an incident so
simple as that I refer to, and in producing it misstating and exaggerating it as
he has done, I shall say nothing, confident as I am that with every competent
judge, with every man possessed of any sense of fairness or official propriety,
there can be but one decision, and that I am sure will not be one of approval.
— Wm. M‘Creedy, Chief of Inspection, Dublin.”

From 1853 till 1855, [ was officially connected with Head Inspectors Dr.
Patten and Dr. Newell. In reply to my queries—1. Did they ever in any way
authorise Mr. Kavanagh to state that 1 had not, when acting under their
jurisdiction, been fortunate enough to earn their good opinion and esteem ;
also, 2. Their opinion of my character as a public officer, and a member of
society, Dr. Patten writes, “ Londonderry, 12 August 1858. I beg to acknow-
ledge the receipt of your note of the 7th instant, and in reply have much plea-
sure in stating, that during the entire time I was officially connected with you,
your conduct and mode of transacting business had been most satisfactory.
Since the first day of our acquaintance until the present moment I have always
had the most favourable opinion of you as an inspector, and a gentleman. I
I beg distinctly to state that in any conversation I may have had with Mr. Ka-
vanagh, I never expressed any opinion regarding you, either verbal or written,
different from what [ have already stated above. My intercourse with you, hoth
official and private, has ever been most agreeable and satisfactory, and I have
always obscrved that your status and character as an officer of the Board, have
been most promising and exemplary.—Jas. Patten, Head Inspector, National
Schools.”

Dr. Newell writes as follows : —“ Dublin, 8th August 1858. I have received
your note of the 7th instant, in which you state that Mr. Kavanagh, referring
to your conduct as an inspector, has, in a communication of his to the Com-
missioners of National Education, asserted that he knows it to be a fact that
you did not earn the good opinion of at least two of the Lead inspectors, under
whese superintendence you were placed, previous to the date of his becoming
your head inspector. In order to ascertain if I am one of the head inspectors
alluded to, you ask me the following question, ‘Did you ever authorise Mr.
Kavanagh to make such a statement?’ In answer to this question, I beg to
say, that I never, by letter or in conversation, authorised Mr. Kavanagh to
male such a statement. 1 beg to suy that I always considered you an efficient
inspector, and earnest in the discharge of your duty. Regarding you as a
member of society, so far as 1 am in a position to form an opinion on the
matter (to quote from your own words), I believe you to be an honourable
and straightforward man.—W. H. Newell, Lr.p., Head Inspector, National
Schools.” .

It is necessary to mention, that my official intercourse with Dr. Newell ceased
on lst April 1855, frolm which date Mr. Kavanagh became my superior officer,
and under his superintendence I remained till Mgy 1857. But as Mr.
M¢Creedy, Dr. Patten, and Dr. Newell are the only head inspectors (Mr. Ka-
vanagh, of course, excepted), under whose official control I acted from é;?se
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first day I got charge of a school district till the present moment, their distinct
contradictions to his statements affecting my character and position render it
wholly unnecessary for me to pay them any serious notice. The same observa-
tion applies with equal force to his strange assertion, that my conduct was
specially complained of in Bray Convent National School. All this should
serve as a warning to Mr. Kavanagh to be more cautious in his attacks upon
the character and reputation of others. He is doubtless aware that any one
may set up his assertion against that of another, in which case an unscrupulous
man will sometimes succeed in making the worse appear the better cause.
Should he, however, in his hurry to run down an opponent, and in the heat of
foolish recrimination, so far forget himself as to appeal to persons of honour
and impartiality to endorse his gross misstatements, he cannot always escape
an ignominious exposure of his want of truth and candour. With this reflection
I conclude my case.

I think it right to enclose, for the information of the Commissioners, the
original documents forwarded to me by Mrs. C. Lopez, Miss White, Mr.
M‘Creedy, Dr. Patten, and Dr. Newell ; and I beg to add in explanation of the
great length of this communication, that Mr. Kavanagh's letter, to which it is a
reply, covers some 46 closely-written pages of foolscap paper. He introduces,
it is true, a great deal of matter entirely irrelevant to the subject under discus-
sion. I felt it necessary, however, to refute all his misstatements, point out his
numerous exaggerations or suppressions of fact, and, when required by the
nature of my defence, call attention to his own contradictions and inconsistent
statements. Otherwise my silence on any of his minor charges might be
assumed as an admission on my part of their truth. In drawing up my reply [
have carefully confined myself to a clear, concise statement of facts, and to
conclusions suggested by a careful consideration of documentary or other evi-
dence of the most satisfactory nature. But I have sedulously eschewed all
silly imputations of motive, vain recrimination, and unbecoming person-
alities. .

I have only to express a sincere wish that my reply may be regarded by the
Commissioners as satisfactory and conclusive.

I have, &c.
(signed) J. G. Fleming.
The Secretaries, Education Office.

DocumEnTs referred to in my letter of 3 August 1858.

"Viz. 1. Letter from Mr. Kavanagh, 9/8/56.
2. » 5 19/1/57.
3. Communication from Mr. Lambert, teacher.
4. Letter from Mrs. C. Lopez, Bray Convent.
5. = Miss White & s
i W. M‘Creedy, Esq., Chief of Inspection.
; ~ Dr. Patten, Head Inspector.
8. 5 Dr. Newell, Head Inspector.

‘(signed)  J. G. Fleming,
District Inspector of National Schools.
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No. 1. (C))

CorrrsronNpence between the Commissioners of National Eduecation, Irelands
and Mr. James W. Kavanagh (late Head Inspector of National Schools), and
with Mr. Cornelius Mahony, District Inspector, relative to Mr. Mahony’s
recommendation for depressing Thomas Little, Teacher of Keash National
School, from a higher to a lower class, from the 13th February to the 13th July
1857.

. Office of National Education,
Sir, 13 February 1857.

WE are to call your attention to the following remarks made by Mr. Head
Inspector Kavanagh upon the classification sheet, in which Thowmas Little, the
teacher of the Keash National School, is recommended for the third division of
the first class: —

““This man was depressed in 1855, from 1° to 2% on a slightly unfavourable
report on his school by Mr. Mahony, whose two previous reports, as well as
those of the former inspector, were decidedly favourable. MF: Mahony knew
and felt, and states that the punishment was severe in the extreme, but he feared
he would incur blame by so expressing himself to the office. Admonition is the
usual punishment in such cases.”

In connexion with the foregoing extract we subjoin statements taken from your
report of the 21st April 1856, upon which the order of depression was made by
the Commissioners :—

“ Very indifferent reading. Bad pronunciation, which the teacher had evidently
talken no pains to correct. A general deficiency in grammar and geography ;
much of the latter being the result of too high classification.

“ Apart from teacher's classification, I can find no evidence of anything beyond
the most ordinary capacity in the management of his school. Fe may be a good
scholar, but he certainly is but an indiffereut teacher.

““ His method of conducting the school is not more successful than 3', or
cven than many 3* teachers. Whatever his acquirements may be, it is evident
that he is wanting either in diligence or singularly deficient in ability to com-
municate instruction. IHe seems to have formed a very low estimate of what is
to be expected from him, and there can be no doubt that he has been culpably
inattentive to his duties. 1 have hesitated until now to express this opinion,
though I had reason to form it at the previous as well as at the present visit.
School is stationary; or, at best, progress so very far short of what might
reasonably be expected from a teacher so highly classed and so well remunerated,
that it cannot be said to be progressing.”

Again, in your subsequent report of the 18th November, you furnish a return
whereby it would appear out of 40 pupils present and examined, there was not
one able to read the third or any higher book, not one knowing map of Europe
or Ireland, and not one able to write a good hand with ease and freedom, while
all would have appeared backward in meanings of words and subject atter of
lessons.

You are now earnestly requested to give these extracts your serious con-
sideration, and inform us if it was on your representations Mr. Kavanagh was led
to form the opinion he has expressed.

You will also state at the same time whether Mr. Little was present at the
written examination held in the past year, and, if not, by whose invitation he
appeared at the oral examination of January 1857.

We remain, &ec.
M. Cross, ’
C. Mahony, Esq., J. Kelly, } Secretaries.
Inspector, Carrick-on-Shannon.
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Derresston of Thomas Little, Teacher of Keash National School, County Sligo.

District No. 17, Carrick-on-Shannon,
Gentlemen, 21 February 1857. _

Ix answer to your communication of the 13th instant, directing my attention
to the remarks made by Mr. Head Inspector Kavanagh on the classification sheet
recommending the promotion of Thomas Little, teacher of Keash National
School, and inquiring whether it was on my representation Mr. Kavanagh was
led to form the opinion he has expressed, | beg to state (1), that I am certain
Mr. Kavanagh arrived at the conclusion that this teacher’s depression was
¢ gevere in the extreme” solely from an examination of my report of the
21st April 1856, upon which the order of depression was made; and (2), that
his representation of certain views and feelings of mine relative to the case is
not strictly accurate. Perhaps the most intelligible explanation I can give, and
the best way I can comply with the instructiuns conveyed by your letter, is to
state the whole transaction in detail.

A few days after this teacher’s depression was notified to me.[ met Mr.
Kavanagh in Dublin. He had received some communication (of the nature of
which I am not aware) from the manager of the school, and he called at the
office to examine my report on which the depression was made. Lest I may
possibly have overstated the case against the teacher, I looked into the report
along with Mr. Kavanagh. After a careful review of it, I assured him that I
could not modify or unsay anything in it; that, as he seemed to be appealed to,
I would be glad if he went down and examined the school himself, to ascertain
how far I was right or wrong, and that if he did so I was confident he would
pronounce my report to have erred most on the side of laxity. On reading over
the report, he stated his opinion very decidedly and emphatically that it was so
¢« glightly unfavourable ” as not to warrant any penalty beyond a reprimand. It
is evident that Mr, Kavanagh arrived at this conclusion solely and exclusively
from the evidence supplied by the report. I am not aware that [ gave expression
to any opinion of my own at the time, and even if I did, it would be doing Mr.
Kavanagh a wrong to suppose that he would take opinions second-hand from me.
When 1 signified wy readiness to do all in my power to have the case recon-
sidered, and asked him to recommend what had best be done, he said that he
would call on me at the proper time to summon the teacher to the oral exami-
nation, * for special reasons,” under the fifth head of the third general regulation
for the examination and classification of teachers. Some eight or nine months
afterwards, when conferring with Mr. Kavanagh about the oral examination to
be held, he reminded me to have this teacher summoned to it; and upon my
expressing a hope that he may deserve to be reinstated in his former rank, as I
thought the depression was too severe a penalty, Mr. Kavanagh remarked that
the right word should have come at the right time; that T ought to bave written
a remonstrance to the Office against such a sentence ; and that throughout his
long acquaintance with the institution he always witnessed the most cordial
readiness to repair any wrong that may be done.

As to my wriling on the subject, there were two grave difficulties in the way 3
first, the case had been taken up by Mr, Kavanagh, to whom I regard myself
especially subordinate in all that rclates to the classification of teachers. It
came within his province more than mine ; an appeal was made to him ; he had
instructed me how to act in the case, and he may naturally regard any further
interference as unnecessary and unwarranted intermeddling on my part.
Moreover, this depression was a type of a class which he and some of his
colleagues regarded as striking at the root of head inspector’s primary and
essential prerogatives, classification having been awarded by a higher authority ;
upon a more searching inquiry, and being altogether a more solemn act than
examining and reporting on a school, they looked upon it as turning the pyramid
upside down to reverse the elaborate decisions of the court above, upon the hasty
judgment of the court below, by depressing teachers from the rank which head
and district inspectors had awarded upon the mere reports of district inspectors.
Thercfore, when questions above my sphere were involved it was not for me to
interpose. Secondly, I did not see how 1 could appeal with propriety, from the
Commissioners to themselves, against their own decision, when I bad no new
grounds on which to ask them to reverse it. If I could impeach the evideuce
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furnished by myself, I would gladly have done so ; but when I had told the truth,
and scarcely the whole truth, to canvass the sentence would be an implied
impeachment of the justice or judgment of the Commissioners in the sentence
which they had based upon that evidence. It would be virtually asserting that
T knew what was just better than they did. Differences of opinion as to the
measure of penalty are scarcely avoidable, and though I may feel that an
excessive amount was administered, in the present instance, it would scarcely be
decorous in me to give expression to that feeling, whilst my function was merely
that of a witness, to set myself up also as a judge and jury ; and when the highest
judicial authority that could be appealed to had passed judgment upon my
testimony, to try to overrule its decision, and to shape and warp it according to
my individual notions. If the matter, however, had not been taken up by
Mr. Kavanagh, I would have advised the manager to request, and if he failed to
do so, I would myself have requested, a reconsideration of the case, on the
grounds that no previous warning, remonstrance, or admonition, had been
addressed to the teacher.

It would appear from Mr. Kavanagh’s statement, that I refrained from
expressing my opinion through fear of incurring blame; whereas, that is only
Mr. Kavanagh’s own conjecture; and he had no reason for forming it, except
that I stated to him in substance the difficulties which I have just explained.
They are somewhat of a technical character, and whilst I feel the difficulty of
putting my opinion officially on record, consistently with proper regard to
subordination, [ never imagined that the honest and respectful expression of my
opinion, on a matter where justice was concerned, would incur the slightest
blame. When Mr.Kavanagh believed that I was influenced by the moral cowardice
of acquiescing in injustice, from any paltry, personal, or selfish consideration, he
had a perfect right to say so; but he has fallen into a mistake in putting his
own opinion, as an admission, into my mouth.

As a question has arisen about my opinion on the case, it cannot be con-
sidered disrespectful in me now to state that opinion plainly. I think the
punishment would be anything but severe, if the teacher’s inefliciency were
persisted in; but, as it appears he never received any previous warning or
admonition, I think it would have conduced more to his reformation, and be
more in harmony with the general leniency and moderation of the Board's penal
decisions, to have cautioned him first, and given him an opportunity of amend-
ment, instead of visiting him with an immediate penalty. Perhaps I am to
blame for not having reported upon his inefficiency at once, before I stated it so
very decidedly in my report of the 21st April, but I had not evidence to warrant
more than a suspicion; or, at least, my prepossessions were so strong in the
teacher’s favour, as may be seen from my former reports, that it required concise
evidence of the strongest kind to shake them. DBut apart from any one's
individual theories, the facts of the case, which are beyond dispute, are very
plain; a first-class teacher, with a special endowment, is ascertained to be not
more efficient than an average specimen of indifferent third class men. This is
reported for the first time ; till then he was unvisited by reprimand, warning, or
penalty ; whether his punishment, under such circumstances, ought to be imme-
diate, or provisionally postponed, and the amount of it, immediately or remotely,
are questions easily determined by the proper authority, according to its regulated
principle of aetion.

With respect to my report of the 18th of November, subsequent to the teacher’s
depression—from which it would appear that his continued inefficiency is sought
to be inferred,—I am bound to state that, low as the ascertained results of the
examination of the 18th November are, they do not seem to me to afford evidence
of culpable neglect. Most of the pupils examined had only just returned to
school after an absence of several months. They were all too highly classed.
Extravagantly high classification, disregard of elementary principles, and pushing
those comparatively more advanced into exercises and subjects far beyond their
comprehension, were the prevailing defects in the school. Solid advantages
were sacrificed to the empty ambition of trying to work wonders, and whilst
rearing up structures in the clouds the common-place work was despised, of
laying a firm foundation on the solid earth below. TFor instance, one of the
prodigics of the school who, T was assured, could analyse and parse the most
difficult poetry, proved upon examination not to be able to distinguish the parts
of speech. Those in 4th class, who were scarcely fit for 3rd, and whose depres-
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sion I recommended, were kept reading the most difficult lessons in the 5th book.
Having been for many months unaccustomed to read at all, and being in the
habit, whilst they were at school, of reading what they did not understand, it is
to be expected that they could not read any book with intelligence. The same
cause will account for their backwardness in meaning of words and subjects of
lessons. Iam of opinion, on the whole, that whatever is faulty in the school
may be traced to injudicious management and crotchetty notions on the teacher’s
part, who, though he has had the benefit of training upon special class, seems to
despise the ordinary modes of instruction, and fancies that he has hit upon some
royal road of his own to knowledge.

Finally, I beg to state, in answer to your inquiry, that this teacher was not
present at the written examinations held in this district last year, and that he was
summoned to the oral examination by me in compliance with Mr. Kavanagh’s
instructions, directing me to summon him.

I have, &e.
(signed) C. Mahony,
The Secretaries, Education Office. District Inspector.

_ Office of National Edueation,
Sir, 14 May 1857.

REFERRING to your communication of the 21st of February last, respecting
the remarks made by Mr. Head Inspector Kavanagh on the classification sheet, — Zacigg,
recommending the promotion of Thomas Little, teacher of the Keash National \
School, we are again to return the classification sheet, and to inquire of you,—

1st. If the note inserted by Mr. Kavanagh at bottom regarding Little, was
written before or at the time you attached your signature.

2d. If this note had your entire concurrence and assent.

We remain, &c.
(signed) M. Cross,

Cornelius Mahony, Esq., J. Kelly, } Secretaries.

Inspector, National Schools,
Carrick-on-Shannon.

(District No. 17.)

Gentlemen, Carrick-on-Shannon, 16 May 1857.

In answer to your communication of the 14th instant, enclosing the classifi-
cation sheet of promotions recommended at the oral examinations held in this
district on the 7th and 8th of January, and inquiring,—1st. Whether the note
inserted by Mr. Kavanagh, with reference to the case of Thomas Little, teacher
of Keash National School, was written before or at the time I attached my
signature, and 2d. Whether that note had my entire concurrence and assent, I
have to state :

1. That the classification sheet contained no such remarks when I signed
it; that they must have been inserted some days subsequently to my signa-
ture, and after I sent back the sheet (which I retained two or three days
after having signed it, for the purpose of transcribing into it some of the
roll numbers and average attendances, as per last report), to Mr. Kavanagh
for transmission to the Office ; and that I knew nothing about these remarks
until I read them in your communication of the 13th February.

2. With reference to the inquiry, whether these remarks had my entire
concurrence and assent, I beg to state, that I have not, directly or indi-
rectly, concurred in or assented to them; that a portion of them, at least,
happens not to be exactly in accordance with my individual opinion, as I
have already explained ; and that I would not have endorsed the statement
when it was made, neither can I give an unqualified assent to it now, in all
its particulars.

I have, &c.
(signed) C. Mahony,
The Secretaries, District Inspector.

Office of National Education.

]
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SII‘,_ Education Office, 26 June 1857.

We forward you a copy of a letter of the 13th I'ebruary last, addressed to
Mr. Mahony, District Inspector, calling bis attention to the remarks made by
you in re_ferencc to Thomas Little, the teacher of the Keash National School,
county Sligo, on the classification sheet of District 17, furnished in January last;
also a copy of a letter from Mr. Mahony, in answer thereto, dated 21st February
Jast ; and two copies of letters subsequently written on the same subject, one to
Mr. Mahony, dated 14th May last, and the other from him in reply, dated
16th May last. )

You are requested to furnish, at your earliest convenicnce, any explanation
you may have to offer as to the course pursued by you in reference to the
teacher, Thomas Little.

We are, &ec.
(signed) M. gm”"l Secretaries.
J. Kelly, |
J. W. Kavanagh, Esq.

Sir, Education Office, 10 July 1857.
WE beg to remind you of our communication of the 26th ultimo, accom-
panied by copies of two letters from Mr. District Inspector Mahony, regarding
the course pursued by vou in reference to a teacher, T. Little; and we have to
request that you will comply with our instructions without further delay.

We are, &ec.
(signed) Maurice Cross, | « .
‘ Tames Kelly, Ibecretaneg.
James W. Kavanagh, Esq.,
Head Inspector, N. S., Rathgar.

Keash National School Roll, No. , County Sligo.

Derression, by B. O., of Teacher Thomas Little from 1% (321) to 2* (24L),
on Mr. Mahony’s report (21/4/56); and recommendation of Mr. Kavanagh,
Head Inspector, and Mr. Malony, District Inspector, to restore Teacher ter
his former rank on Ist class.

Gentlemen,

Tor the first time I learn from your instructions of the 26th ultimo, that a
correspondence has been going on with Mr. Mahony in reference to this case for
upwards of four months. In compliance with your directions, I beg leave to
state the course pursued by me in the matter, and in doing so I shall follow the
precise order in which its several facts occurred.

Iinmediately after the depression of Mr. Little, the Board’s order to that effect.
was advised to me in the usual manner; and about the same date I received a
note from Rev. C. Cosgrave, P.P., manager of the school, complaining of this
decision. I had not known nor do I know Rev. Mr. Cosgrave ; and from the
receipt of his note in May, until after the examination (held the following
January), upon which his teacher was recommended for restoration, I purposely
abstained from even acknowledging the receipt of that communication.

My impressions of Mr. Little’s character were very favourable. He had
been placed on first class, after an examination held by Messrs, M‘Auley and
O'Gallagan and me in 1854, and I regarded the punishment as unusually
severe.

On my way to the office to examine the report or reports, which led to the
depression of the teacher, T met Mr. Mahony (May 31, 1856) in the lawn, and
told him the case as I had heard it. At my request, he accompanied me to the
inspection office, where I examined with him his report, dated 21st April 1856,
upon which the order for depression was made, and his previous reports of
19th November and 11th June 1855. I found that Mr. Mahony’s two reports
for 1855 were at least so far satisfactory that no admonition aroge from them.
I recollected that at the close of 1854 teacher was promoted on the combined
grounds of attainments and efficiency, and it exceeded in severity all the
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instances of punishment to teachers which had ever come to my knowledge, to
depress a man by one-fourth of bis income, upon a single unfavourable report of
such a character. In answering the question, * Has the school improved or
retrograded since last inspection 2’ Mr. Mahony, epitomising his opinions of the
school, says: “ School is stationary. or at best progress so very far short of what
might reasonably be expected from a teacher so highly classed, and so well
remunerated, that it cannot be said to be progressing.”

I stated to Mr. Mahony, that as he admitted that the punishment was
extremely severe, and as he did not expect that his report would bring anything
beyond a severe admonition to the teacher, it was his bounden duty, on receipt
of the advice of the Commissioners’ order, to request a reconsideration of the
case, with a view to modification of the sentence.

Mr. Mahony's statements 2s to any suggestion on my part to modify or unsay
anything which he had said in his report, if he really means to state that I made
any such suggestion, are simply without any foundation whatever. He made no
recommendation, or gave no suggestion as to the form or amount of punishment,
and to suggest to him to alter or modify the facts and opinions connected with
his inspection of a school which I had never visited, is a line of conduct which [
am incapable of pursuing. Mr. Mahony's statement that I arrived at the
cenclusion as to the severity of the punishment “ solely and exclusively from the
evidence supplied by the report™ (26/4/56), is also quite incorrect, as I examined,
in his own presence, his two previous reports upon the school. These reports
(June and November 1855) brought me back to 1853 and 1854, and the
close of the latter was the date of the teacher's promotion when Mr. O’Galligan
reported most favourably of his worth as a schoolmaster. It is upon a
consideration of all these, and not upon a single report, that my opinion as to
the severity of the punishment was founded.

I know not how, or upon what grounds, Mr. Mahony can speak so confidently
of the views of the head inspectors in reference to depressions of which this case
is a type ; and certainly it is not from me that he has heard any expression of
opinion to warrant his becoming the exponent of our views in the matter.

The courts above and below, the pyramid, and the prerogatives, are all of his
own creation, as are also the indecorum of interference, the judge and the jury.
1 am confident that I state the opinions of each of my colleagues as well as my
own when I mention that I have never entertained views so utterly absurd as
those put forward by Mr. Mahony. I believe that not only may, and should,
teachers be admonished, fined, and depressed, but even dismissed on the reports,
or even a single report, by a district or sub-inspector, according to the nature
and circumstances of the delinquency. He (the court below) neither awarded,
recommended nor suggested the depression ; and the court above (the head and
district inspector) were unanimous in their recommendation to the real and only
court, the Commissioners, to reverse that decision.

The time for holding the examinations of the teachers arrived, and I directed
Mr. Mahony to summon Mr. Little. Mr, Mahony stated his desire to see the
man reinstated in his former rank, and also informed me that a report since
made on his school was more favourable. I also requested that My. Little
should bring with him to the examination both the observation books of his
school, that I might fully examine into the recorded details of the working of his
school for years back.

The teacher was cxamined on the 7th and 8th January last, and his answering
was equal, as it had proved on a previous occasion, to first class. . He had not
attended the written portion of the examination (held in March 1856), because
he was then on first class, and depression did not ensue until May; but he had
attended both written and oral in 1854, when he proved his fitness in all portions
of the course for the rank to which he was then promoted.

Not the slightest difference of opinion existed between Mr. Mahony and
myself as to the recommendation made to restore the teacher to his former
position.  Respecting the observations made by me upon the classification-sheet,
it is perfectly clear from their nature and phraseology that they were mine, and
mine alone, and would have been entered there to explain the peculiarity of the
case whether Mr. Mahony withheld or lent his concurrence to them. We had
been up to a very late hour on Friday night (January 9th) marking the written
exercises of the schoolmistresses, and classifying both sexes. On Saturday
morning 1 wrote out the classification-sheets, and a few minutes before the
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coach drove up (9} o'clock, I think) in the morning, I sent for Mr. Mahony to
sign the sheets ; he was barely in time to do so, and a few matters (Roll Nos.,
&ec.) requiring to be filled, I left the sheets in his hands for some days. On their
being returned, I added, before sending to the office, the observations referred
to, in order to cxplain the restoration of the teacher. In numbers of instances I
have, when necessary, written observations of my own on the classification-sheets,
sometimes with my initials annexed, and sometimes indicating by their matter
that they were mine alone, and that the district inspector had no connexion with
their composition.

Although they goncur with Mr. Mahony, and not me, I think it right to notice
the remarks made upon his report of the 18th November last in your lctter to
him, dated 13th February 1857. Any person reading the remark that ““ out of 40
pupils present and examined, there was not one able to read the third, or any
higher book, not one knowing the maps of Europe and Ireland, &c.,” would
naturally understand that the 40 were expected to answer to these grades, whereas
10 of the children were classed in first, 13 in second, 12 in sequels (nine in the
lower one), and only three in third, and three in fourth book. Now,as the three
in third book may have been only recently removed thereto, the only pupiis that
you could expect necessarily to read the third book, as desired, were the three
in fourth book. Inspector wrote of both classes in observation book (third
and fourth), ‘“These are too highly classed ; they should at once begin the
third book, be exercised on the meaning of each lesson, and receive frequent
repetitions in the subjects of the lessons read by them. Their proficiency is
generally fair, except in reading and explanation,” From this you may perceive
that the inspector was satisfied with the proficiency in geography, penman-
ship, &c.; in all, except reading (arising from over-classification, an error of
judgment), and explanation. He also reports that the proficiency was fair in
each of the first, second, and sequel classes; subject matter, and connected
therewith, meaning of words, being the only other points below satisfactory.

I beg leave now to rehearse the main facts of this case. Thomas Little is 25
years of age, and was educated in Artane National School, and in the Central
Model School, Marlborough-street. He was appointed to Newecastle National
School in March 1850 ; placed 3' by Messrs. Butler and Mc Dermott in 1851 ;
trained in the ordinary class 1852, and obtained 2* from professors, on special
class in autumn 1852, and obtained 2, & higher rank very rarely given on
clearing ; appointed to Keash National School, November 1852 ; classed 1° in
December 1854 by Mr. Me Auley and me (Mr. O’'Galligan), reporting that he
should be recalled to the oral examination, and that his school was creditably
conducted. This man had never received a reprimand of any kind, and the fonr
reports on his school by Mr. O’Galligan were fair ; the first two by Mr. Mahony
were such as, at least, brought no censure, and at last an unfavourable report is
made by Mr. Mahony. Without previous warning, admonition, or trial, this
man, after six years’ good character, is at once degraded two important steps,
and deprived of one-fourth of his income. This I believe to be severe, and so
far as I know, unprecedented. I took such steps to put the matter before the
Commissioners as the nature of my office permitted, and I have left nothing
undone to satisfy my own conscience that in making the recommendation for
the restoration of the teacher’s rank, to which the inspector fully agreed, I
have bond fide grounds upon which to rest the case.

I remain, &e.
The Secretaries, (signed) James W. Kavanagh,
Education Office. Head Inspector National Schools.

P. §—A few, perhaps six, since 1847, cases have occurred in which teachers
were promoted who had attended the oral examination only, and several were
dismissed thereupon. In the former class there were always strong reasons in
favour of, or to justify it. The last case is that of the teacher of Balla Male,
Sir R. L. Blosse’s school, who was promoted from 2! to 1* on oral cxamination
unly.

Grenville, Rathgar, ¥1st July 1857. J. W. K.

* Received in the Office on 13th July 1857.
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Cast of Thomas Little, Teacher of the Keash National School, County SZgo.

Owdered, Tuar teacher Thomas Little be depressed to 27 class from 1° class
from 30th April 1856, he being careless, negligent, and wholly unworthy of his
present high rank.

The foregoing order was made on the following statements in Mr. Mahony's
Report on the School, dated 21st April 1856 :—

Acquirements.—“ Very indifferent reading. Bad pronunciation, which the
teacher evidently had taken no pains to correct. A general deficiency in
grammar and geography, much of the latter being the result of too high clas-
sification. Apart from his classification, I can find no evidence of anything
beyond the most ordinary capacity in the management of his school. He may
be a good scholar, but he certainly is but an indifferent teacher.”

Method.—** Not more successful than 3', or even than many 3? teachers.
Whatever his acquirements may be, it is evident that he is wanting either in
diligence or singularly deficient in ability to communicate instruction. IHe seems
to have formed a very low estimate of what is to be expected from him, and
there can be no doubt that he has been culpably inattentive to his duties. I
have hesitated until now to express this opinion, though I had reason to form it
at the previous, as well as at the present visit.”

State of School.—* Stationary, or at least progress so very far short of what
might reasonably be expected from a teacher so highly classed and so well
remunerated, that it cannot be said to be progressing.”

It would appear from Mr. Kavanagh’s letter of the st July, that information
of teacher’s depression was communicated to him by the Rev. Mr. Cosgrave ;
that after receipt of this communication Mr. Kavanagh, accompanied by Mr.
Mahony, called at the office, examined the report of which extracts are given
above, and then determined to summon Little to the annual examination.

it is here to be observed that Mr. Little had not attended the written examina-
tion of teachers for 1856, and was not therefore entitled in any way to be called

to the oral examination; Mr. Kavanagh, therefore, in summoning him to the’

oral examination, departed from the usual course.

Second, it is to be observed that Mr. Little was not depressed for incompetency
or want of scholarship, but for inefficiency and want of success as a school-
keeper ; and therefore Mr. Kavanagh’s summoning him to the annual examina-
tion, where his competency alone could be tested, was not at all the course to
be adopted in the circumstances, as, no matter what the results of such examina-
tion, Mr. Kavanagh could furnish no proper grounds to the Commissioners for
altering their decision.

Mr. Little having attended the examination, Mr. Kavanagh and Mr. Makony
forwarded his name on the classification-sheet, and recommended him for restora-
tion to his former rank.

On his classification-sheet appeared the following note, apparently the joing
production of Mr. Kavanagh and Mr. Mahony, the sheet on which it was
inserted bearing their joint signatures : — _

“This man was depressed in 1855 from 1° to 2° on a slightly unfavourable
repori on his school by Mr. Mahony, whose two previous reports, as well as
those of the former inspector, were decidedly favourable. Mr. Mahony knew
and felt, and states, that the punishment was severe in the extreme, but he fears
he would incur blame by so expressing himself to the office. Admonition is the
usual punishment in such cases.”

Three thiags ought to be noted with regard to this memorandum—

1. That apparently it purported to be the joint production of Messrs.
Kavanagh and Mahony.

2. It characterises the report of the 21st April, from which extracts are
given above, and on which teacher was depressed, as “slightly” unfavour-
able.

3. It states that Mr. Mahony was deterred from appealing against the
decision of the Board by the fear of incurring the blame of the Office.

254. N 4 As
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As to the fivst, Mr. Mahony not only denies all participation in the memoran-
dum, but states that it was inserted subsequently to his giving his signature.
That it is not in accordance with his individual opinion, and that he could not
therefore have endorsed the statement or given it his unqualified assent.

And Mr. Kavanagh himself admits now that he inserted the note after My.
Mahony had attached his signature to the sheet.

As to the third, Mr. Mahony himself, in his letter of the 21st February last,
denies that Mr. Kavanagh had any reason for the statement, and that he, Mr.
Mahony, never imagined that he would ever incur the slightest blame from the
Oflice for the honest and respectful expression of his opinion.

With regard to the second point, the extracts given above speak for themselves.

Tinally, as bearing on the question of the teacher's merits as a school-keeper,
the following extracts from Mr. Mahony's letter of the 21st February, a copy
of which Mr. Kavanagh had before him when he wrote his of the 1st July, are
to be considered.

Mr. Mahony states of Little, though “a first-class teacher, with a special
eadowment, he is ascertained not to be more efficient than an average specimen
of indifferent third class men,” and again :

¢« Ixtravagantly high classification, disregard of elementary principles, and
pushing those comparatively more advanced into exercises and subjects far
beyond their comprehension, were the prevailing defects in the school.  Solid
advantages were sacrificed to the empty ambition of trying to work wonders, and
whilst rearing up structures in the clouds, the commonplace work was despised,
of laying a firm foundation on the solid earth below. For instance, one of the
prodigies in the school, who, I was assured, could analyse and parse the most
difficult poetry, proved upon examination not to be able to distinguish the
parts of speech. Those in fourth class, who were scarcely fit for third, and
whose depression 1 recommended, were kept reading the most difficult lessons
in the fifth book. Having been for many months unaccustomed to read at all,
and being in the habit whilst they were at school of reading what they did not
understand, it is to be expected that they could not read any book with intelli-
gence. The same cause will account for the backwardness in meaning of words
and subjects of lessons. I am of opinion, on the whole, that whatever is fault
in the school may be traced to injudicious management and erotehetty notions
on the teacher’s part, who, though he has had the benefit of training upon special
class, seems to despise the ordinary modes of instruction, aud fancies that he has
hit upon some royal road of his own to knewledge.”

24/7/57.

No. 1. (D.)

Corrrsronpence between the Commissioners of National Edueation in Zreland,
and Mr. James W. Kavanagh (late Head Inspector of National Schools), and
with Mr. J. G. Fleming, District Inspector of National Schools, relative to the
Appointmeunt of a paid Monitor in the Ballynacarrig National School, County
Wicklow, from the 10th March 1857 to the 12th of August 1858,

Sir, Education Office, 10 March 1857.

We enclose you a letter of the 2d instant from the Rev. R. Galvin, of Rath-
drum, stating that there is great necessity for a monitor in the Ballinacarrig
National School, and requesting a reconsideration of the case with a view of
having a successor to Dowdall appointed.

Your opinion as to the propriety of appointing another monitor in this school
as successor to Dowdall is requested at your earliest convenience. You are to
return the enclosed when answering this letter.

We are, &e.

Juno. G. Fleming, Esq., (signed) M, Cross,
Rathdrum. J. Kelly,
Secretaries.

B Tl e e ——
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Roll, No. 3,551. Ballinacarrig National School, Vested, County Wicklow ;
Manager, Rev. R. Galvin; Teacher, John Byrne.

Gentlemen, Rathdrum, 9 May 1857.
I BEG to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of 10th March last, requesting
my opinion as to the proprizty of appointing another monitor in the Ballina-
carrig National School as successor to Denis Dowduall. T have also to acknow-
ledge the receipt of Rev. R. Galvin's note (enclosed in your communication of
10th March), requesting a reconsideration of the case, and a further trial to John
Byrne, teacher of the Ballinacarrig National School, by allowing him a succes-

sor to Dowdall,

Dowdall acted as paid monitor in the above-mentioned school till January last,
when he was removed (B. O. 16/1/57) ; Mr. Kavanagh, head inspector, having
reporied him as ““ unfit for his office ; and as the head inspector turther stated
that the Ballinacarrig National School is not conducted in a manner suited to
the training of a monitor, the secretaries directed me not to recommend the
appointment of a successor to Dowdall.”

A few explanatory remarks regarding the attendance, method of teaching, &e.,
adopted in the Ballinacarrig National School, will materially contribute to place
this case in a clear, correct point of view.

The Ballinacarrig National School is situated in the centre of a large rural popu-
lation, consisting, with some inconsiderable exceptions of farmers, dealers, and
agricultural labourers in full employment. These people are for the most part in
comfortable circumstances for their position in life, and are, generally speaking,

anxious to have their children educated.

As there are no other schools but those of Rathdrum in connexion with the
Board within three miles of Ballinacarrig National School, the attendance of the
latter, especially from the month of May till harvest, is very large, averaging
nearly 90 for the summer months.

- The teacher, John Byrne, was appointed to the Ballinacarrig School in 1844 ;
he was soon alter trained, and his promotion to first-class took place in 1851,
when he was examined with other national teachers in Tinahely by Messrs.
Butler and Davitt. No teacher in the district works more assiduously or with
greater energy than Dyrne in the discharge of his duty; he bas, the manager
informs me, at all times used his best exertions to improve the children placed
under his charge.

These circumstances had doubtless due weight with my predecessors, Messrs,
Molloy and M*Creanor, both of whom deemed Byrne a persun suited “ for the
training of a monitor.” Accordingly in the year 1853, Mr. Molloy appointed
James Dowdall as paid monitor in the Ballinacarrig National School.

James Dowdall resigned in 1854 to take the charge of the Killaineron National
School as temporary teacher, when Mr. M¢Creanor appointed Denis Dowdall to
succeed his brother {James Dowdall) as monitor in the Ballinacarrig National

School.

Shortly after this, Mr. M*‘Creanor left the Wicklow district, and when I, as
his successor, first visited the Ballinacarrig National School, I found D. Dow-
dall acting in it as paid monitor. I examined him on two different occasions
during the year 1855, and in both instances I found him lamentably deficient in
literary acquirements. He could neither write nor spell, and his knowledge
of grammar, geography and arithmetic was meagre and superficial in the ex-
treme. 1 consequently felt it my duty to give him a special caution that he
would be dismissed unless he acquitted himself in all respects more creditably
at next examination. IHis answering, however, at that examination, which
took place in November 1856, was so bad, that Mr. Kavanagh, as I anticipated,
recommended his removal.

That step was, I believe, imperatively called for, as all hope of proficiency on
Dowdall’s part was at an end. Considerably more than a year had elapsed be-
tween the date of his first and last examination, yet on both those occasions his
answering was most unsatisfactory.

The boy was in fact so dull, heavy and stupid, that his teacher’s incessant
efforts to improve him were all in vain; and I quite concur with Rev. Mr, Galvin
in thinking “ that he could never be trained to become an efficient monitor.”
Dowdall’s gross ignorance was doubtless a valid reason for his removal from
the situation of paid monitor ; but it by no means followed that because Byrne,
his teacher, had not been successful in training a boy as monitor who was sadly
254. O deficient
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deficient in natural abilities, * that the Ballinacarrig National School is not
conducted in a mauner suited for the training of a monitor.”

This statement of Mr. Kavanagh took me quite by surprise, for after his
inspection of the Ballinacarrig National School in September last, he gave it as
his opinion that * it was one of the neatest, cleanest, and best kept country
schools he had cver visited.” This remark evidently applies to what may be
regarded as the material of the school ; but Mr. Kavanagh appears to have been
so much pleased with the general satisfactory and efficient state of the Billinacarrig
and Rathdrum Boys’ National Schools, that upon his recommendation the
manager of them, the Rev. Mr. Galvin, was specially complimented in a com-
mendatory letter from the Commissioners for the general efficiency of the
national schools under his management. A complete set of the Board’s books,
with a copy of the annual reports, all neatly bound in cloth, accompanied the
complimentary letter referred to, in accordance with Mr. Kavanagh’s sug-

estions.
. There are (see margin *) eight national schools under Rev. Mr. Galvin’s manage-
ment ; the first five of these Mr. Kavanagh never even saw; he could not tell
from his own observation whether they were thatched or slated, in good or bad
repair, how provided with books, apparatus, &c.; he was, I may add, equally
ignorant regarding the qualifications of the teachers in those schools; in short,
for all practical purposes Mr. Kavanagh was no more in a position to form any
fi}-[)inion from his own inspection or knowledge of those five schools, Mucklow,
acreddin, male, Macreddin, female, Claravale, and Glenmalur, than if they had
been in Canada or Australia, and under the superintendence of Mr. Robertson
or Mr, Davitt. He felt justified nevertheless in recommending the manager,
Rev. Mr. Galvin, to be specially complimented by the Board for their general
efficiency.

1 beg to observe, with respect to the three national schools under Rev. Mr,
Galvin’s management, which Mr. Kavanagh visited, that the first, Rathdrum,
male, was everything that could be wished for, the teacher being one of the
best in the district, and some 3017. having been paid by the Commissioners in
July last for repairs, painting, inclosure of play ground, &c., as the Rathdrum
school-house is vested in the Board. The second school, Rathdrum, female,
was, when jointly inspected by Mr. Kavanagh and me in September last, in a
very low state of efficiency. The following is the entry in my district book as
the resultof my inspection of the Rathdrum Female National School on 22/9/56 :
¢ School retrograded since last inspection, junior classes especially ; first-class
very backward ; industrial teaching low; answering on grammar, geography
and arithmetic only middling.” This opinion was quite in accordance with that
of Mr. Kavanagh, as may be seen by comparing our reports of 22/9/56 on the
Rathdrum Female National School. Ballinacarrig, the third and last school
under Rev. Mr. Galvin’s management which Mr, Kavanagh visited, is officially
declared by him to be conducted in such a manner as not to be suited for the
training of a monitor.

Tlie sum of all this appearsto be, that Mr. Kavanagh first recommends that a
complimentary letter and a set of the Board's books be sent to the Rev. Mr,
Galvin for the gencral efficiency of the national schools under his management,
eight in number.

Five of those schools Mr. Kavanagh never saw ; one, the Rathdrum, male,
which he inspected, left nothing to be desired ; a second, the Rathdrum, female,
which he also inspected, was, at the time of his visit, in a very low state of effi-
ciency ; and the third, Ballinacarrig National School, which he reported upon
last, is stated by him to be conducted in such a manner as not to be suited for
the training of a monitor.

Thus, B. 0. 24/10/56, compliments Rev. Mr. Galvin on the general state of
efficiency of all his schools, while B.O. 16/1/567, states that one of these very
efficient schools referred to in B. O. 24/10/56, is conducted in a manner so
unsatisfactory as ‘“ not to be suited for the training of a monitor.” ‘

It may be well to remark that Mr. Kavanagh paid but one visit to the Bal-
linacarrig National School ; and, T may add, that he inspected but one school in
this district (Trooperstown, manager I. Grattan, Fsq.) since September last.

Official

* 1. Muckiow. 2. M‘Creddin. 3, M‘Creddin, femnle. 4. Glenmalur. 5. Claravale.
fi. Ruthdrum, male. 7. Rathdram, lemale. 8. Ballinacarrig. '
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Official praise and censure thus hastily awarded must eventually become
valueless in the estimation of school managers, who cannot be supposed to
attach any weight to opinions formed upon insufficient grounds, and contra-
dictory in their nature.

I beg respectfully to add that Mr. Kavanagh should have paid more than one
hurried visit to an important and largely-attended school before he reported it as
not suited for the training of a monitor, especially with the fact before him, that
the same school had been regarded by three successive district inspectors as
suited for that purpose. The united experience of those inspectors (Messrs.
Molloy, M'Creanor and self), extended overa period of several years, and their
numerous, regular and incidental visits to the Ballinacarrig National School
during that lengthened period afforded ample opportunity of forming a pretty
accurate opinion of the teacher’s (J. Byrne) capabilities.

Mr. Kavanagh, however, after one short visit of 2 hours 15 minutes’ dura-
tion to the Ballinacarrig National School on 23,9/56 (when there were
upwards of 80 pupils present, and a considerable portion of his time neces-
sarily devoted to the scrutiny of the school accounts, examination of paid
monitors, &e.), sets aside the matured opinion of three district inspectors,
whose coincidence in the same view was, to some extent, a proof that their
decision was judicious and correct.

I may be asked what has all this todo with the subject-matter of the seeretary’s
communication of March last, requesting to know from me, “Is it proper to
appoint another monitor in the Ballinacarrig National School, as successor to
Dowdall?”” I beg most respectfully to reply, that in my mind every word I have
written in this case is absolutely necessary. For if, as Mr. Kavanagh states, the
Ballinacarrig National School is not conducted in a manner suited for the
training of a monitor, it follows that during the last two years I have allowed
an incompetent teacher to have the charge of a paid monitor. Now this neglect
(supposing it proved) of one of the most important duties of a district inspector,
the judicious selection of suitable schools for the training of monitors, could only
have arisen from extreme carelessness, or else from the want of ability on my
part to distinguish an efficiently conducted school from a bad one, or to select
glne intelligent, competent teacher from the unquahfied and indolent of his

ass.

I feel, however, entitled to hope that the statements and explanations given in
this communication will satisfy the Commissioners that neither of those suppo-
sitions in any way applies to my official conduct.

It is, I feel, very necessary for me to state that I am far from regarding the
Ballinacarrig teacher, J. Byrne, as a person in all respects suited for training a
monitor. He invariably acquits himself indifferently in the presence of strangers
in consequence of extreme nervousness, which, in his case, amounts to a species
of disease. When called on by the inspector to examine a class, he becomes
quite agitated ; the man’s frame literally trembles from feverish excitement,
which, however, soon subsides if no notice be taken of it, and if he be allowed to
get on by himself and without any interruption; but when he commences to
examine a class, his manner is nervous, anxious, and hurried. He repeats over
and over again the words of his questions to the children under examination ;
but, as I have already remarked, he becomes calmer and more settled in manner
if quietly left to himself.

1 am free to admit that I never considered Byrne's method of teaching very
good. I stated in my last report on his school, “He (Byrne) is deficient in
method, and fails when examining a class to express himself with that clearness
and precision of language which, as a first-class trained teacher of more than 12
years' experience, he should have long since acquired.”

All this is quite true; but it is equally true that Byrne is as well, perhaps
better, qualified to train a monitor than some other teachers in this district, who
‘still retain their monitors ; and, it is but just to add, that when speaking of his
method as deficient, I judged him by the standard of his class, whichis 1°; and
although he does not fully come up to that standard, he is, at all events, equal
to 2. As such he is of course entitled to the services of a paid monitor, since
the Commissioners sanction the appointment of a monitor in a good school under
a teacher in 3"

The teachers of the St. Kevin's and Bray Male National Schools are merely in
secoud class, and have been reprimanded more than once for neglect and ineffi-
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ciency. Mr. Kavanagh inspected those schools last autumn, when C. Brown,
teacher of the Bray National School, was severely admonished on his report,
6/8/56. The same teacher was also admonished on my report, 31/1/56, for dis-
orderly conduct of pupils, and fine threatened. St. Kevin's National School
was until last year in a very unsatisfactory state, and the teacher, C. O’Rorke,
was severely reprimanded on a former report of mine.

Both these teachers have improved their schools within the past year, and
have, consequently, been permitted to retain their monitors. The same kind
consideration should, I respectfully recommend, be extended to Byrne of the
Ballinacarrig National School, for he has ever been a faithful, zealous and hard-
working teacher. As such, apart from his lengthened period of service, in his
school, he descrves well of the Board. If allowed another paid monitor as suc-
cessor to Dowdall, he will, I feel satisfied, redeem his character, for Dowdall’s
failure at the last examination of monitors was not, I know, owing to any neglect
or inattention on the part of his teacher.

It is most important to observe, that although the teacher, Byrne, certainly
anticipated his monitor’s removal, he was very far from expecting that Mr.
Kavanagh would have reported his school as “ conducted in a manner not suited
for the training of a monitor.” The head inspector never made any intimation
of that nature to me or to the teacher; on the contrary, after Mr. Kavanagh had
ascertained that Dowdall was wholly unqualified for the situation of paid monitor,
he himself, in my presence, and in presence of the teacher,J. Byrne, pointed
out a young lad named John Radcliffe, one of the pupils present, as a proper
substitute for Dowdall, who, it was undevstood, should be removed.

All this occurred on 23d September last, during Mr. Kavanagh’s inspection
of the Ballinacarrig National School, which he never subsequently visited,
nor did he ever see or examine the teacher, Byrne, since the date specified
above. Strange to add, Mr. Kavanagh states some three months afterwards
that this same school * is not conducted in a manner suited for the training of a
monitor,” although, it is unnecessary to add, from the fact of his naming John
Radcliffe as a fit person to act as a monitor in it, he must have believed it to
have been conducted in a manner ‘“ suited for the training of a monitor.”

I beg to remark, that this case would (in all probability) have never been
brought under the Commissioners’ notice had Mr. Kavanagh, as I believe he was
bound to do, communicated with me before signing the paid monitors’ dockets,
recommending gratuities to their respective teachers. My signature was, I
believe (in accordance with the official regulations), to have been attached to
those documents. Mr. Kavanagh, however, dealt summarily with each case
without conferring with me about it.

Such a course of proceeding is unjust to the teachers, for the district inspector
may often be in a position to state circumstances in favour of the teacher which
might alter or mitigate an unfavourable opinion on the part of the head inspector.
This remark specially applies to those teachers whose schools had never been
visited by the head inspector.

An example at hand amply illustrates my meaning. Mrs. Murray, tcacher of
the Hacketstown Female National School, county Carlow, got no gratuity for
her care and instruction of her paid monitress, M. Snell, for the past year.
Now Mrs. Murray's school is the best girls’ school in the district (see my reports
and those of sub-inspector Barrett) ; she has left nothing undone to improve her
monitress, who is a giddy, idle girl, and pays little or no attention to her
teacher’s advice and tuition.

In this instance, a most deserving and efficient teacher is, I respectfully
submit, unfairly punished. Had the case come before me for an opinion, I
would have recommended the dismissal of the idle, inattentive monitress, and the
payment of the gratuity to the zealous, painstaking teacher.

_ Strict adherence to the Commissioners’ regulations regarding the examination
of and signatures to the paid monitors’ dockets will prevent a recurrence of
cases similar to that now detailed for the information of the Doard.

I remain, &c.
(signed) J. G. Fleming,
The Sgerctaries, District Inspector.
LEducation Office. :
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Sir, Education Office, _l{i July 185.7_

Anx application having been made to this office by the Rev. Richard Galvin to
appoint a successor to Denis Dowdall, late nionitor in the Ballinacarrig National
School, who was dismissed on a report of yours, stating him to be unfit for his
office, and the matter having been referred to Mr. Fleming, district inspector, he
lias forwarded to us the enclosed letter.

As Mr. Fleming, from his knowledge of the teacher, considers the statement
made by you, * that the Ballinacarrig National School is not conducted in a
manner suited for the training of a2 monitor,” quite unwarranted, and at variance
with vour formerly expressed opinion of the same school ; and as he further passes
certain remarks as to the treatment generally by you of the schools of his district,
we are fo request that you will furnish, at your earliest convenience, any
observations you may think necessary to make in reference to his statements.

When answering this communication you are to return the enclosed.

We are, &c.
(signed) M. Cross ;
J. W. Kavanagh, Esq. J. Kelly, ’}Secretanes,
Gentlemen, Rathgar, 28 July 1857.

In compliance with your instructions of the 16th instant,* T beg leave to

make the following observations upon the two points referred to in your
letter :

1. You state, “Mr. Fleming, from his knowledge of (Mr. John Byrne) the
teacher considers the statement made by me, ‘that the Ballinacarrig National
School is not conducted in a manner suited for the training of a monitor,” quite
unwarranted, and at variance with my formerly expressed opinion of the same
school.”

I visited and examined this school, September 23d, and found 82 pupils
present; Mr. Fleming accompanied me. We met the manager that day in
Rathdrum, before our visit to Ballinacarrig- 1 examined some of the classes,
Mr. Fleming others, and T had the teacher to examine and teach before us. I beg
to refer you to my report upon the school. Yau will find it highly favourable
as to the house, premises, furniture, fittings, order, cleanliness, &c.; and
unfavourable, in many respects, so far as the answering of the pupils is concerned.
You will find it reported, that the teacher’'s manner is nervous and excitable ;
that his method is rather superficial ; that his mode of examining is of the same
character, and not testing; that his aim goes no higher than to inform or instruct;
but that, on the whole, his general fitness as a teacher for that school is pretty
fair. I have not seen the report since 1 sent it to the office in September; I
think, however, you will find this a correct summary of it. The master’s wife,
a very intelligent woman, acts as workmistress, and has done so for the last
ecight years, and she also assists in the care of the junior classes. Dowdall, the
monitor, was examined by me; and Mr. Fleming and the teacher both inter-
posed to prevent me from recommending his immediate removal, praying that he
might get a last trial.

"The average daily attendance for the year ending 31st August 1856 was 55,1
(males 32, girls 23,) and during that year never amounted to nearly 90 for some

months,

7 My letter in reference to the paid monitors was dated gd Jonuary 18573 Secretary’s letter to
Mr. Fleming on same, dated 10th March 1857 ; Mr. Fleming’s reply thereto, dated gith May 1857 ;
Secretary’s letter forwarding same to me, dated 16th July 1857; my reply thereto, dated 28th
July 1857.

+1855: Men. Female. Total. Men. Female. Total,
September - - 33 21 54 0oL = -
chober = & & 34 24 58 ‘:111;”1 3; j; 52
November - - 29 18 47 i A - "‘ 33 75
December = = 21 13 54 June - < 43 34 77 |Average

°F |duly - - 42 3 73 [ 69
1856: August - - 30 23 53

Junvary - - - 27 18 45
February - = 20 15 41 Average - - 32 23 55
Mﬂrch - - - 33 20 43 . o Pe——
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months, or for any month, as stated by Mr. Fleming (page 2); but even if it
had, it is on average attendance for some period, year, half year, &c., that
grants are made, and not on a maximum number for a short time.

The school had failed in the two years (from 10/54) that Dowdall was paid
monitor, to make anything of him, and the inspector failed to remove him as
unfit. In the four inspections of the school made by Mr. Fleming previous to
our visit in September last, there is no record in the observation book warning
both teacher and monitor of the great deficiency of the latter. The entries at
the first three of these visits (July and December 1855, and April 1856) are
scant and meagre in reference to the school ; and the only record respecting the
fourth inspection (21/5/67) is the date and hour af the head of the page.
Although the school is in the parish, and within three miles of the inspector’s
oflicial residence, six months after the supposed distribution of the new observa-
tion books, it was not then supplied with a copy, nor was the copy found at
previous visits filled. The irregularities of this kind which I found arosc altoge-
ther from the itinerant squatting, for I can call it by no better name, of the
inspector, hetween his three centres, Graystones, Rathdrum and Kiltegan. He
kept neither house, lodgings, conveyance, office,* nor fixed place for managers
or teachers to call on him; but in oriental fashion, struck his tent when the
official duty was done in one locality, minimised his personal and official baggage,
and removed to another place in the district. This I mentioned last year to one
of the secretaries, and some two months since to the resident Commissioner.

When Dowdall’s answering came before me, I at once, from his deficiency,
and from his previous examination by myself, recommended his removal, which
Mzr. Fleming should have done at soine of his visits to the school, if he examined
the boy ; and upon this no difference of opinion arises on the part of manager or
inspector.  But upon the docket I added, * School is not conducted in a manner
suited to the training of a monitor ;”+ and thereupon Mr. Fleming devotes 12
pages of luboured composition to refute this opinion, and also to show an incon-
sistency in my conduct.

The grounds upon which that opinion are founded are these : First. The school
is conducted by a first-class master (32 1.) and his wife (the daugher of a national,
I think, teacher), who not merely acts as workmistress, but also as literary
assistant, although only paid (82) in the former capacity ; and to an average
attendance of 55 pupils (32 boys and 23 girls) this teaching staff is ample.
Second. The school is conducted rather as two separate schools under two
teachers (save as to the senior girls, who join the boys’ classes) than as one
mixed school under one teacher. Third. The master’s manner and temperament,
arising, as I have no doubt, from constitutional causes, are not such as to suit
him as an example to a monitor for four important years of his life. Fourth.,
His method of teaching and examining is faulty, but not to the extent that
upon this alone I would refuse him as a monitor. And lastly, the monitor
granted to it failed in two years to be made anything of. Also, the services of
a paid monitor are wanted more in many other schools in the district; thus,
whilst there are really two teachers in Ballinacarrig, with an average attendance
of 55, it can have no claim for the further grant of a monitor, compared with
Trooperstown in the same parish, with an average of 40, under an excellent first-
class teacher, and conducted in a manner admirably suited to the training of one.
Again,} at Ballinahinch National School, under a teacher 3', who, although
not trained, has one of the best-taught country schools that I have examined ;
average attendance 39: it has far higher claims than Ballinacarrig.

" You now see, gentlemen, the clear and distinct grounds upon which my opinion
that a monitor should be refused to Ballinacarrig is founded, and you now un-
derstand what I meant when I stated that ¢ the scliool is not conducted in a
manner suited to the training of a monitor.” This is my opinion now ; and I

recommend

“ Not cven a depdt. The Rathdrum National School (male) is used for the purpose, and the
parcels belonging thereto are the only untidy feature in that neat school.

+ Mr. Ileming glosses this statement by repeated assertions, which imply that ¢it is conducted
in a manner so unsatisfactory as not to be suited for the training of a monitor” (page G) ; whereas
the schionl may be fairly taught, and comparatively efficient, and yet not so conducted as to be
suited to the training of a monitor. = :

1 See reference to this in my report, 29/10/56, upoo Trooperstown National School; even thz
cleven unpaid menitors in it are remarkably smart and apt teachers,
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recommend that the place be assigned to a suitable person in Trooperstown
National School. o .

Respecting the alleged inconsistency in my opinions, there is none whatever.
It is untrue that on the occasion of my visit I named or suggested a successor
to Dowdall ; but it is quite true that I pointed out the absurdity that so deficient
a lad should be retained, seeing that several of the boys, and one especially,
were his superiors in the class.

The constructive charge of inconsistency, attempted to be inferred from my
recommendation that the Board should mark, by the presentation of a set of
their books, with a complimentary letter, to Rev. Mr. Galvin, upon his zeal in
advancing the interests of the national schools in his parish,* and upon their
general efficiency, is quite in consonance with Mr. Fleming's whole character, as
lately exhibited in my letter of the 10th instant.

My attention was first called by Mr. Fleming himself to the excellence of the
Rathdrum National Schools; and, many months before I visited them, he sent
the teacher, Mr. O'Neill, to my house in Dublin, soliciting me to visit them, that
I might ascertain O’Neill’s claims for higler promotion, as to a district model
school. I spent two days examining the boys’ school, and a day in the girls’
(Mr. Fleming with me in the latter), and Mr. Galvin was present at the chief
portion of my examination of the boys. The schools are the neatest I have
ever been in in Ireland—vested in the Board—but Mr. Fleming adds, this, if
not a reproach, at least to detract from the managers’ merit, in reference to their
condition. The grant from the Board was applied to the shell, &e., of the house,
but did not extend to the fittings, &c., of the schools. The boys’ school was on
the whole in the highest state of efficiency; and the girls’ school, under a new
teacher, who had heen only three weeks in office, pretty fair., I am much sur-
prised at the wilful suppressio veri respecting the female school. Mr. Fleming
examined, July 11th, 50 pupils present, and Anne Reynolds, 1* teacher of
school ; his report in the observation book is on the whole decidedly favourable.
Anne Reynolds leaves the school at the end of that month, and goes to Wicklow
National School ; Rev. Mr. Galvin applies to Mr. Fleming to recommend him a
suitable successor; but while the matter is pending, Mr. Galvin writes to
Mr. M‘Creanor, late inspector, and he sends him Miss Reid, from the Clonmel
district ; and thereupon Mr. Fleming complains to me of the want of courtesy
showed to him in the matter, and views Miss Reid with no very favourable eye.
September 1st, Miss Reid enters upon her duties, vacation having been given
after Miss Reynolds had left for Wicklow; and Mr. Fleming now quotes his
report of an examination, held three weeks after her appointment (22/9/56), as
derogatory to the teacher. Compare his report of July 11th with that of Sep-
tember 22d, and consider the change of teachers, and also the intermediate
vacation, and some falling off should reasonably be expected.

Next the Ballinacarrig school was visited, which in neatness, cleanliness,
order, &c., leaves nothing to be desired, and on the whole is a good country
school.

Next Trooperstown, which although nominally under the managership of
teacher’s father (a farmer), is really under the moral management of Rev. Mr.
Galvin, who frequently visits it, and feels just as much interest in it as in any of
the schools of which he is regular manager. This I examined, and with Mr.
Fleming. I visited it on a previous occasion, and reported on it (16/9/56) ; it
is an excellent school, and I was very happy to promote the teacher to first
class.

Next the workhouse school (girls) in Rathdrum, which I visited ; and so far
as I could judge from an inspection of the penmanship, witnessing how the
business was conducted, &ec., I was much pleased with it, and Rev. Mr. Galvin
takes a lively interest in its working. )

I spent several hours with Mr. Galvin while examining the Rathdrum National
Schools, and heard his views and opinions upon popular education. 1 had never
met the gentleman before. I visited five schools in his parish, and fully exa-
mined? four of them; and further, I found that not merely in the schools of his

own

* Please attach that letter to this for reference as to the terms upon which I made the recom-

mendation.
+ The inspection of one was both Lefore and after the date of the letter to the Board.
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own parish, but the report books of those in adjoining parishes, attest his zeal
and interest in education elsewhere; all this T know of my own knowledge.

Before I forwarded to the Board the recommendation to compliment Rev. Mr.
Galvin, he was the frequent topic of conversation with Mr. Ileming, as almost
‘“ the ideal” of a school manager ; he stated matters to his credit which are unfit
for official report, and represented his appointment to that parish as one of the
best acts ever done by Archbishop Cullen. I may add, that his Grrace visited the
Rathdrum Schools, and expressed himsclf very favourably as to their condition.
Mr. Fleming stated to me again and again that Mr. Galvin’s example, his activity
about the schools, and the condition in which he keeps them, exercise the most
beneficial influences upon the neighbouring clergy. When praising the clean-
liness, ncatness, &e., of the schools in that parish which I visited, Mr. Fleming
assurcd me that, ont he whole, all the rest of Rev. Mr. Galvin’s schools were
cqually well cared and kept.  In addition to all this, before I forwarded that
letter I had minutely (as Mr. Fleming too well knows) examined his district
book, which was in my hands for over a week ; and as Mr. Fleming admits that
his memory is bad, the shortcomings which I found therein written on its front
page will remind him of the fact, and of the date of the examination. Now,
interested as I felt mnyself, and increased as this was by Mr. Fleming’s report
about the schools in Rev. Mr. Galvin’s parish, I examined the reports of them
as recorded in the district book. You now see, gentlemen, that my recommen-
dation was founded upon the fulness of knowledge ; and take up my letter, and
you will not find an allegation in it not strictly correct.

If T had seen and examined but a single national school, as lately in the case
of Balla, county Mayo, it would have been my bounden and gratifying duty te
commend its manager, if he aided in having it conducted with credit and
efficiency, to the notice of the Board ; but in the case of the Rev. Mr. Galvin,
I examined four schools, and visited another in his parish.

Mr. Fleming does not, I hope, correctly estimate his own veracity and judg-
ment when he so ignores his testimony, both oral and that recorded in his official
books, as to state that I was ‘ unable to know from my own observation, whether
some of the schools were thatched or slated, in good or bad repair, &e.” * In
short, for all practical purposes, that I was no more in a position to form
an opinion, from my own inspection of five of the schools, than if they had
been in Canada or Australia, and under the superintendence of Mr. Robertson
or Mr. Davitt’” There might be point and pertinency in this nonsensical
flourish, if I had ever stated, directly or by implication, that I had any know-
ledge of the five schools referred to, as derived from my own inspection of them,
or if that knowledge entered into or was a necessary element to warrant me in
the recommendation made. Mr. Fleming got his first place as clerk, and his
present situation, not upon actual examination of him (except in penmanship)
in the strict sense, but upon presumed reliable testimony as to his fitness and
attainments. Commissioners that never saw him inspect a school, and the
greater number of whom do not know his very personal appearance, promoted
him a grade in his class; and even had I no evidence, beyond reliable report, I
would vote a set of books to a manager on evidence upon which we vote tens of
thousands of pounds in salaries to teachers, of whose schools the head inspec-
tors have no knowledge from personal inspection.

Of the 10 schools* in Rev. Mr. Galvin’s parish, I visited five ; examined fully
and reported upon four of them; and had ample opportunity, from Mr. Fleming’s
own lips, and from a minute examination of the several reports upon the other
five, and indeed upon all, as recorded in the district book, to learn their condition
in all respects. Mr. Fleming was fully aware of every one of thesc facts when
writing the following comment, upon my recommendation that the Commis-
sioners should compliment Rev. Mr. Galvin: ¢ Official praise and censure thus
hastily awarded must eventually become valueless in the estimation of school
managers, who cannot be supposed to attach any weight to opinions formed upon
insufficient grounds, and contradictory in their nature.” There is as much truth
‘however in the passage as there is in many of the statements by him which I
had to refute lately on another subject, or as there was in the statement which he

made

* Rathdrum Natioval Schools.—1. Rathdrum, male. 2. Rathdrum, female. 3. Ballinacarrig,
4+ Trooperstown (inS{JFttefl and reported on 1(/g/56, and further examined and reported on 29/10/50).
5 Rathdrum, P. L. U. 6. Macreddin, male, 7. Mycreddin, female. 8. Claravale. g. Mucklow.
10. Glenmalur, 3 )
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made to me, that his predecessor left no Paid Monitors’ Registry after him in
the district (see my letter, 3/1/57); whereas Dr. Newell on a late occasion found
that the book had been left, and was lying in the usual depét, the National School,
Rathdrum.

I dismiss that subject with assuring the Commissioners _l:lmt I intimated to
Mr. Fleming my intention to recommend that Rev. Mr. Galvin be complimented,
that it had Mr. Fleming’s warmest approval, and subsequent to its passing the
Board, that he informed me it was a wise and proper step.

2. In your letter of the 16th instant, you state that Mr. Fleming *further
passes certain remarks, as to the treatment generally, by me, of the schools of his
district ;” and you also call on me to make any observations which I may think
necessary thereon. After a very careful perusal of Mr. Fleming’s letter of
May 9th, | am unable to find any remark deserving of notice except the
following :—

Page 7, he says, [“ought to have paid more than one hurried visit to an im-
portant school like Ballinacarrig.” The hurried visit lasted two hours and twenty
minutes; two inspectors examined ; and I state with the fullest confidence, that at a
moment’s notice I can furnish fuller, more important, and more reliable infor-
mation respecting that, or any other school that | have inspected in the district,
than he, the Jocal officer, can, and of the truth of this assertion he has ample
proofs. On the day in question I visited five other national schools, in every
one of which I did some duty, how small soever the amount; Rathdrum, male
and female (2), and Poor Law Union (3); and Newbridge, male and female (5).

Not only does Mr. Fleming lecture his superior officer, and call him to task
for the manner in which he discharges his duties, but while seeming to do so, in
the following instance it is really the Commissioners and the official regulations
that are on their trial. Page 11, he states: ** This case would (in all proba-
bility) have never been brought under the Commissioners’ notice, had Mr.
Kavanagh, as I Dbelieve he was bound to do, communicated with me before
signing the paid monitors’ dockets recommending gratuities to their respective
teachers. My signature was, I believe (in accordance with the official regula-
tions), to have been attached to those documents ; Mr. Kavanagh, however, dealt
summarily with each case, without conferring with me about it.” T quite agree
with Mr, Fleming that his signature should have been attached to the dockets,
but surely he does not expect me to do that duty, which he should have done
when sending up these documents ; and its absence is complained of by me in
my letter of January 3d, addressed to you thus: *“1 forward herewith paid
monitors’ dockets of District 35 for 1856, noted and signed by me, but wanting
the signature* of the district inspector.” Mr. Kavanagh did not deal sum-
marily, or in any other than the prescribed manner with each case; and itis a
waste of the public time to bave me employed replying to his ignorant remarks
in reference to the eszential portion of his own routine duties.

In the case of the Hacketstown Female National School, Mr. Fleming (page 12)
accuses himself that he allowed a giddy idle girl to remain as monitor under a
deserving teacher, to whom she paid little or no attention, whose advice and
tuition she disregarded, and who left nothing undone to improve her. He thus
deprived the school of the benefit of the services of a proper monitress, the
mistress of the gratuity to which she would doubtless be entitled for the instruc-
tion of such a person, and permitted the sad example of this undeserving girl tc
remain before the scholars.| For this serious remissness on his part I am sure
the Commissioners will modify the punishment, as the inspector is his own
accuser; the attempt to connect me with the case or its results fails.

If this course be persisted in of sending papers to me for remark, that on the
face of them furnish any reply necessary, I must suspend my ordinary duties, or
at least lose much of the time that should be lawfully devoted to them. I think
Mary Murray’s case and this are sufficient of Mr. Fleming for some time.

I remain, &ec.
(signed) James W. Kavanagh,
The Secretaries, Education Office. Head Inspector.

« Thie unofficial habit accords with my Report regarding the manner in which he sent me the
returas, &c. of the men's written examination for 1856, )

+ If Mr. Fleming had stated these facts, as he now states them, in the proper place upon the
docket, I would have noted the girl for removal, and I now recommend her immediate removal upon
his present report. :

254. P
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Gentlemen, Rathgar, 1 August 1857,

I request you will attach this letter and the six documents forwarded here-
with to my communication of the 28th ult., in reference to the case of the
monitorship in Dallinacarrig National School, district 35.

In Mr. Flemings letter upon this subject, dated May 9th, he repeatedly
inveighs against my incounsistency in recommending that the manager of the
Rathdrum and other National Bchools should be presented with a set of books,
and a complimentary letter by the Commissioners on the grounds of his zeal in
the promotivn of education and the general excellence of his schools, whilst
some few morths after so doing [ stated that “one (of the ten schools) was not
conducted in a manner suited to the training of a monitor.” He says that
“ official praisc and censure thus hastily awarded must eventually become value-
less in the estimation of school managers, whe cannot be supposed to attach any
weight to opinions formed upon insuflicient grounds, and contradictory in their
natare.”

I'he documents forwarded herewith, which only now turned up in putting by
some of my correspondence, were all written about the time I made that recom-
niendation, and they are therefore of the most reliable character.

No. 1. Mr. Fleming’s note requesting a loan of his District Book, then and
for some time in my possession. 1 had examined Rathdrum male school for
two days (September 2d and 3d), and had visited the female school. Mr. Galvin
was present for hours during one of the days; and from this interview, the
Ligh efliciency of the schools, and the reports which I had heard of the other
schools of the parish, I examined with interest Mr. Ileming’s reports upon them
all in the District Book.

2. Mr, U’ Neill's letter (8/10/56), giving names of some of his pupils, and an
account of the working of his school.

3. Mr. O’Neill's letter (18/10/56), written by direction of Mr. Fleming, urging
the claims of his school, and the schools of the parish, for aid to introduce vocal
music into the vicinity. This letter very correctly expresses the claims of
Rev. Mr. Galvin in relation to his schools.

4. Letter from Rev. Mr. Galvin (16/10/56) on same subject, and in proof of
san:e aims.

5. Rev. Mr. Grant's note (29/10/56) as to the high character of Miss Reynolds,
in Wicklow National School, where she had removed in the previous month
from Rev. Mr. Galvin’s female school, Rathdrum. (See page 7 of my letter.)

6. Mr. Fleming's own summary report on Ballinacarrig National School, from
which you will see that long previous to this controversy the teacher, John
Byrne, was summoncd to the written examinaticn of 1856, for unsatisfactory
answering at previous examination (scct. IIL. head 4 of general regulations);
that he describes his * Method of teaching™ as ¢ Midilling;" extent of instruc-
tion imparted, “ Middling ;” and reports on school for previous year as “ Not very
favourable.” Average attendance, 56; or 36 boys and 20 girls. This report
was written late in September 1856.

‘T'here are some ather documents which, if I find, they will further expose the
character of Mr. Fleming, in putting forward such a production as his letter of
May 9th.

I remain, &ec.

(signed)  James IF. Kavanagh,
The Secretaries, Education Office. Head Inspector.

(No. 1.)

Memorandum at top of this note in the handwriting of Mr. Kavanagh: « This
note was written, I think, on Saturday, 13th September, and the District
Book had been in my hands from the previous week.—J., W. K.—1/8/57.”

Dear Sir,

You will be good enough fo let bearer have my District Book, as I cannot
draw up my reports without it. I shall only require it for a short time (say for
to-day), after which you may have it for the rest of the week, if necessary.

I remain, &c.
J. W. Kavanagh, Esq. (signed) J. G. Fleming.
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(No. 2.)
Memorandum by Mr, Kavanagh: ““ No. 2, with my Letter, 1/8/57.—J. W. K.’

Rathdrum National School,
Sir, 8 October 1856,

Ix compliance with your request, I beg to submit for your information the
names, &c. of the boys who were educated in my school for the profession
of teacher:

1st. Terence O’Neill, who acted as monitor for nearly two years in this
school (from the lst November 1852 till the 1st August 1854); was then
trained in the junior special class; and afterwards, in June 1855, appointed
teacher of Claravale National School ; Roll, No. 7,250.

2d. James Shulock, who succeeded T. O'Neill in the monitorship, and after-
wards went to Clonmel Model School as pupil teacher.

3d. Peter Murtagh, the present monitor, and successor to J. Shulock ; and
James Murphy (if I may include him), who is at present preparing, by your
directions, to become pupil teacker in a model school.

It may be asked (and very naturally too) why I have not, during my long
service under the Board (now 10 years), trained more boys for the teaching
Erofession than those abovemenlioned_. My answer is, that the bois who have

itherto, with few exceptions, constituted the advanced classes in my school,
were the sons of perscns of rather respectable circumstances in life, who would
prefer any other pursuit for their children before that of teachenr.

The following are the names, taken from the register, of a few of the class of
boys here referred to :—

Nume. Rel. Den. Observations.
Samuel Manning- - - E.C. - - Son of pr. Manning, this town ; now
Francis Maming - = E.C - - ] at school in Dublin.
Edmond Manning - - E.C. - - | Corballis Castle; now emigrated.
John Mapning - - - E.C. - -
Simon Moran - - - R.C. - - Brother of Bishop Moran, late of
Haddington-road, Dublin.
Charles Byrne - - - R.C. - - Now St. Lawrence School, Dublin ;

brother of the late Rev. Mr. Byrne,
C.C., Castledermot.

Augustine Cowly - - R.C. - - Sonof Mr. Cowly, of this town, shop-
keeper and van proprietor.
Johnston Moreton - - E.C. - - Son of the late hotel-keeper of Rath-

drum ; now at business in Brown &
Thomas’s, Dublin.

Perhaps it may not be wrong to state, although it may appear somewhat
irrelevant to the matter in question, that I met with great opposition from many
parties immediately after the opening of this school; from persons who were
averse to our system in consequence of its principles; and from others, because it
was intended to supersede in this locality the entire services in fature of the
hedge teachers. Eut I perseveringly continued to remove these obstacles to my
success, till 1 eventually obtained a character here for myself, as well as a per-
manent basis for the system | so strenuously advocated, by the close attention
I always paid to the duties of its office.

As | feel somewhat reluctant to make further observation relative to any par-
ticular class of persons, or to the difficulties 1 had to overcome in conscientiously
and effectually fulfilling the duties of my situation as teacher, I shall pass over
in silence many little incidents in the history of this school, and conclude by
merely adding that I have now altogether gained the confidence of all classes of
persons as to the education of their children, and particularly of those who at
first set an example of the greatest opposition to my success ; and further, I have
shown, by the effectiveness of the instruction imparted in my school, that I am
pow and henceforth deserving of both their encouragement and support.

Hoping you will pardon me for this very long letter,

J. W. Kavanagh, Esq., I have, &c.
Head Inspector, National Schools. (signed) James D. O Neil.
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(No. 3.)
With Mr. Kavanagk's Letter of the 1/8/57.

Sir, Rathdrum, 18 October 1856.

_ Havine heard that a singing master is to be sent by the Board to give
mstructions in the Wicklow and Arklow National Schools, and knowing the
anxiety of the Rev. Mr. Galvin, our patron, to obtain, if possible, a similar favour
for the schools of his parish, but more especially for those of this town, I beg
most respectfully to lay before you, for your consideration, by direction of M.
Fleming, the grounds on which we rest our hope for a participation in the
above-mentioned favour.

Feeling it unnecessary to dwell here on the civilising effects which a know-
ledge of vocal music produces, or to speak of the great assistance it affords in
general to a polished and refined education, so essential at least for the respect-
able class of females attending our National Schools, I shall therefore, and
without further comment on the value of an accomplishment so well known to
all, come to the matter in question.

The first point | wish to draw attention to, then, is the great number of both
teachers and children of this locality that could avail themselves of such singing
master’s instruction, should he make Rathdrum his central place of residence ;
and the second point is, the ready and cheap mode of conveyance that exists
between this and the neighbouring towns.

This parish contains nine National Schools (excluding those of the work-
house), all under the management of the Rev. Mr, Galvin, and they have a
gross attendance, I should say, of not less than 750 children. The Rathdrum
schools, in point of position, are in the centre, and command a daily attendance
at present of 130 children, which is not likely to decrease much, if any, for the
ensuing year. From all these schools then, the teachers, and in most cases the
majority of the children, would attend such instructor at the time and place
appointed ; nor would the numbers be confined to this parish alone, since there
arc schools in some of the adjoining parishes not more than four miles from
this town, wliose teachers, I am confident, would gladly avail themselves of any
opportunity to qualify themselves in that way.

Taking Rathdrum, then, as the radiating point, as it is “ head quarters” of the
inspector, the tcachers of the following schools, with the principal children
thereat, would attend Lere at the times appointed :—

Rathdrum, male and female.

Claravale.— Distance from Rathdrum - - - 2 miles.
Ballinacarrig i % - - - 2 5
Trooperstown ' . - - - 4 ,
Kilcashel » N 5 - - 3%,
And the teachers alone from the following schools :—
Glenmalur.— Distant from Rathdrum - - - 6 miles.
St. Kevin's 54 - - - w B
Macreddin 4 i - - = 6
Newbridge & i . . x B
Banardarrig " o . e = B s

It will be easily seen from the above that there is ample scope for the labours
of a singing master in this locality ; and as far as material is concerned, in
reference to the children here, I believe them to be not inferior to those of
either Wicklow or Arklow in the qualities necessary to turn such instruction to
the best possible account.

As to the rate of conveyance by public vehicles or ears between this town
and Wicklow, it is exceedingly moderate. 1 believe it is at present as low as
Gd., and the rate to Arklow is equally trifling. Without dwelling longer on
this point, which can offer no obstacle to the attainment of the matter in ques-
tion, I beg to say that the advantages conferred on this locality in an educational
point of view, by your conceding to our request, would be incalculable, inas-
much as all the above-mentioned teachers would thenceforth introduce the

system of vocal music into their schools, and thereby instruct others whg in
ime
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time might become teachers also, and so increase, in one hundred fold propor-
tion, the value of the original instruction given. )

Feeling no confidence whatever in any statement from myself being effective
in the present case, I may therefore be allowed again to repeat that such is the
desire of the Rev. Mr. Galvin to have his schools in point of instruction second
to none of similar circumstance under the Board, and knowing, as I have stated,
how sanguine he feels about the present matter, his disappointment will be
therefore great indeed should he not receive for his schools (for these at least)
the same privilege about to be granted to those of Wicklow and Arklow. In
conclusion I shall only add, that as I have hitherto endeavoured to the best of
my abilities to advance the interests of national education in this locality, I
shall not be wanting in the present instance (if I get the opportunity of doing
so) to co-operate in the extension of this most desirable acquisition and useful
appendage to a liberal education.

I have, &c.
J. W. Kavanagh, Esq., (signed) James D. O Neill.
Head Inspector, National Schools.

(No. 4.)
With Mr. Kavanagh's Letter, 1/8/57.

Dear Mr. Kavanagh, Rathdrum, 18 October 1856.

Having heard that a singing master is to be sent by the National Board to the
Wicklow and Arklow National Schools, I take the liberty of urging our claim
to get him lere. Also I would go so far as as to suggest that this place, being
central, might be made his head quarters.

There are public conveyances from Wicklow Railway to this town twice a day;
fare, 6d. We have nine or ten National Schools in the parish; and our
male teacher, Mr. O'Neill, has deserved well of the Board by the very superior
style in which he carries out the system. He has been a model for the teachers
all round. .

We are all determined, as far as we are able, to promote the interests of
national education, and not to let any of the neighbouring parishes take the
lead of us. Feeling the very great importance of singing with regard to its
civilising influence, and confident that we will be able to realise a large singing
class, I hope you will kindly urge our claim on the National Board.

I remain, &c.
(signed) Richard Galvin.

(No. 5.)
Enclosed in Mr. Kavanagh's Letter of the 1/8/57.

Dear Sir, Wicklow, 29 October 1856.

I suprusE you are aware that our male school here is now without a teacher
this some time past. You were kind enough to promise me that you would
procure a proper teacher for it, as soon as Mr. Noughter would resign it. He
is now gone, and the school is in a bad way without him ; as bad as he was, it
was much better to have him, than to have no teacher. Pray let me know
what chance I may have to get one to take the charge of it. If 1 get a teacher
equally clever, and as anxious as Miss Reynolds is to promote the interest and
character of the school there, I am persuaded our schools will take a hizh stand;
for Miss Reynolds is doing wonders in her school.

My dear sir, I hope you will be able to procure a proper teacher as soon as
possible.

I remain, &e.
(signed) J. Grant, P. P.

J. J. Kavanagh, Esq. (Wicklow.)
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(No. 86.)
CHARACTER SHEET.—DisTrICT 35.
— =
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When I‘;g:; 'Gtmorul
Roll Class | Age | rcinted| When | of | Ubecryance
COUNTY. SCHOOL. Teacher's Name. and | of d General Rules
Numbor. s JT - UNLER | Trained.| Regula- of
\i.biﬂ'l].i er. Board. :.tlnnls Bourd.
| moned.
——— q— | ’ *
Wicklow - - 34551 Ballinnearyig - | John Byrme - - 18 45 044 1845 | 4th Fair = -
4 Stato of
I-:x:?nt State of School as regnrds Cleanliness Sﬂ]wla_&c:ounm’ — Have
Mathiod Instruction ol . - 4 tiu]! Reparts
for the or the last Year
of fepaxnd, Dis Pro- | Pro- of or Asto Dbeen
’ o= ° | ficiency | ficiency Schoo of As to
Teaching, Branches cipline of ot _ | Schaol Ac- Year. Favourable,
taught. and yantor | Santop Pre- |ohiliven, Neatnoss. or not?
Order, | A1 ces. | Classes Room. | mises. curacy.
M.
Middling - | Middling - | B. B. C. A. AL . B. B. 36 Not vory fa-
20 vourable.
Gentlemen, Wicklow, 10 August 1858.

I BEG to return herewith the accompanying documents,* forwarded to me
with your letter of 31st ultimo, in reference to Mr. Kavanagh'’s communication
of 28th July 1857. They call for no remark from me, as they do not, in the
slightest degree, affect the maiu question at issue between us.

Mr. Kavanagh writes to the Commissioners, stating that the Ballinacarrig
National School is unsuited for training a paid monitor. The manager’s letter
of appeal, requesting a reconsideration of the case, is referred to me. I report
favourably upon it, adding that I and my predecessors always regarded that
school as adapted for training a paid monitor; expressing my surprise Mr.
Kavanagh should think otherwise, as he had but a short time ago requested the
Sccretaries to forward Rev. Mr. Galvin a complimentary letter, and a complete
set of the Board’s books, for the general efficiency of the scheols under his
management (Ballinacarrig being one of them). I further mentioned that
Mr. Kavanagh had never entered five of the eight schools which he reported as
efficient.

What connexion, 1 ask, have the documents (now referred to) with the
case? None whatever. 1. Rev. Mr. Galvin speaks in very favourable terms
of Mr. O'Neill, teacher of the Rathdrum National School, and requests the
services of a singing master for the schools in his parish, 2. Letter from Rath-
drum male teacher, enclosing the names of some boys educated in his school
for the profession of teaching, with a brief sketch of the history of his school.
3. Letter from same party, urging the claims of the schools under Rev. Mr.
Galvin’s management, to the services of a singing master. 4. Note from Rev.
Mr. Grant, of Wicklow, referring in highly favourable terms to the success and
efficiency of a Miss Reynolds, who had been previously teacher of the Rathdrum

Girls’

* See List of documents given at end of this Jetter.
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Girls’ National School. 5. A note of mine requesting Mr. Kavanagh to let
me have the District Book. 6. Summary of my report on the Ballinacarrig
National School.

The first five of these documents are entirely irrelevant to the subject-matter
under discussion, and as regards the questions in dispute between Mr. Kavanagh
and me, they mean nothing, and are nothing. The only probable reason [ can
surmise for their production, is, that he hoped, by heaping around the original
case, which was in itself a very simple one, a mass of wholly irrelevant matter,
to succeced in diverting attention from the real points at issue. I always spoke
of the Rathdrum Boys' National School and of its teacher, in terms of high
commendation. I have only to add, that in no report of mine is there any
statement to warrant the assumpton that I ever regarded the Ballinacarris
National School as unsuited for training a meonitor.

I beg, &ec.
(signed) J. G. Fleming,

The Secretaries, Education Office. District Inspector.

DoCUMENTS RETURNED.
Letter from Mr. Kavanagh to Secretaries, dated 1 August 1857.
Letter from Rev. R. Galvin to Mr. Kavanagh, dated 16 October 1856.
Letter from James D. O'Neill to Mr. Kavanag!:, dated 8 October 1856.
Letter from James D. O’Neill to Mr. Kavanagh, dated 18 October 1856.
. Letter from Rev. J. Grant to Mr. Kavanagh, dated 29 October 1856.
Letter from Mr. Fleming to Mr. Kavanagh (no date).

COC U

Gentlemen, Wicklow, 12 August. 1858.
I gave the honour to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of 31st ultimo,

enclosing a communication from Mr. Kavanagh, dated 28th July 1857, in
explanation of his statement that the Ballinacarrig National School was unsuited
for the training of a paid monitor. I now forward, agreeably to your instrue-
tions, the following remarks in reply to his letter of the above-mentioned date.

After a careful perusal of Mr. Kavanagh's lctter, I find nothing in it to
weaken, or in any way invalidate, the clear statement which I niade in reference
to this case in my communication of the 9th May 1857. Ie indulges, it is
true, in strong personalities and aimless invective, which I shall not notice.
I cannot, however, permit his numerous misstatements and exaggerations to
remain unanswered. After making a few preliminary observations which call
for no reply, he begins by saying, “Dowdall, the monitor, was examined by
me, and Mr. Fleming and the teacher both interposed to prevent me from
recommending his immediate removal, praying that he might get a last trial.”
The teacher and 1 had but one opinion regarding Dowdall’s abilities; we
thought it a hopeless task to qualify him for tlie profession of teaching, for
which reason 1 requested Mr. Kavanagh to recommend his immmediate removal.
He declined doing so, in consequence of the approaching examination of paid
monitors, when an opportunity would offer of dismissing Dowdall, in the event
of his still remaining ignorant and unqualified. The teacher never interfered
in the matter, one way or the other.

Mr. Kavanagh adds (same page, letter 28th July 1857), “ In the four inspec-
tions of the school made by Mr. Fleming previous to our visit in September
last, there is no record in the Observation Book warning both teacher and
monitor of the great deficiency of the latter. Although the school is in the
parish, and within three miles of the inspector’s official residence, six months
after the supposed distribution of the new observation !JOOkS 1t was not then
supplied with a copy, nor was the copy found at previous visit filled. The
irregularities of this kind which I found, arose altogether from the itinerant
squatting, for I can call it by no better name, of the inspector between his
three centres, Greystones, Rathdrum, and Kiltegan. He ‘kept neither house,
lodgings, conveyance, office ; not even a depdt, nor fived place for managers or
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teachers to call on him ; but in oriental fashion struck his tent in one locality,
minimised his personal and official baggage, and removed to another place in
the district. This 1 mentioned last year to one of the secretaries, and some
two months since, to the Resident Commissioner.

I examined the monitor, Dowdall, in October 1855, and found him so deficient
that he was specially cautioned for bad answering. The admonition was
forwarded to the manager, Rev. Mr, Galvin, who lost no time in communicating
its substance to the teacher, Mr. J. Byrne, and to the monitor himself. I
subsequently recorded in the Paid Monitors’ Register, thatDowdall was extremely
ignorant and should be dismissed, if not better qualified at next examination.
This was quite enough for every useful purpose, and nothing more is, I believe,
ever done in similar cases by my brother inspectors. In fact, the Commissioners
do not require the District Inspector to record the results of the paid monitors’
examinations in the observation books of the schools. This Mr. Kavanagh
knows perfectly well, and he departs from the real point at issue between us,
when he introduces the question of what I did or did not write in the observa-
tion books.

The written statements, appended to my letter of 3d instant, of all the head
inspectors with whom I did duty previous and subsequent to my official
intercourse with Mr. Kavanagh, render it unnecessary for me to notice at any
length the latter’s remarks regarding my mode of life. I have always endea-
voured to conduct myself as became my position, and his statements to the
countrary are utterly without foundation. Having one of the most extensive
districts in Ireland under my charge, I was necessarily from home for several
days, and occasionally for some weeks together. DBut this was a matter of
necessity, not of choice ; and my predecessors were obliged to do the very same
thing. This can be easily conceived when I state that the Wicklow district is
extremely mountainous, that nearly all the schools are at considerable distances
from my official centre, and that they are scattered over an area of 823 square
miles. Assuming, however, that my mode of life was really what Mr. Kavanagh
now states it to have been, the question naturally suggests itself: Why is it that
he never spoke to me on so essential a point of duty? In his letter of 10th
April 1857 he covers some four pages of paper in showing that, till the 30th
January, the very last day we met, his relations, social and official, with me
were of the most friendly character, and he sums up in the following words :
¢ During the month (September) that we were in Greystones he visited schools
with me, he coming on my car whenever available; and not mercly were our
official relations, but our social and private intercourse was of the most friendly
character ” (the words are underlined in Mr. Kavanagh's letter). “1 left
Greystones 3d October, but returned there the29th, at the request of Mr. Fleming,
whose guest I was for the three days that I remained inspecting schools, &e. with
him * * * The same feeling continued between Mr. Fleming and me up to the
verylast moment of our intercourse.” Isthis very friendly feeling consistent with
his entire silence as to my mode of travelling through the district ? But apart
from all considerations of friendship, he was bound by the strict letter of his
duty to report for the information of the Commissioners any act of mine in the
least derogatory to the respectable position in which I had been placed. He
never did anything of the kind ; I can produce the originals of all his letters to
me. I have seen all his reports on schools under my superintendence ; I have
read every line of his official correspondence regarding me up to the 29th
May 1857 ; and in none of these documents does he make the slightest refer-
ence, or drop even the most remote hint, that could be interpreted as indicative
of the opinion which he now expresses in his letter of 28th May 1857, long after
all official intercourse between us had ceased. But dismissing, for a moment,
this common-sense view of the question, what, I ask, is to be thought of the man
who with professions of friendship on his lips, and holding with me, as he himself
asserts, not only official, but social and private intercourse of the most friendly
nature, remains before me all the while silent upon a subject intimately affecting
my honour and character, and then, on the eve of our official separation, but
without the slightest or most distant allusion dropped to me of his views
or intentions, avails himself of the opportunity given him by his position
privately to whisper his inuendoes against me in the ears of the Secretary and
Resident Commissioner, and, so far as in his power, try to damage me in their
estimation? But Mr. Kavanagh is not ashamed to admit that he acted towards
me as I have just described, for he states (page 3, letter 29/7/57): * This,”
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my supposed mode of life, I mentioned last year to one of the Secretaries,
and some two months since to the resident Commissioner, during which time
our official and social relations were of the most friendly character. Every
honourable man, even the rudest minds, acting from the common instinet of
justice and fair play, can entertain but one opinion of Mr. Kavanagh's conduct
in this matter. I now sum up this part of the case thus: either Mr. Kavanagh
had substantial grounds for stating that whilst under his direct official control,
in 1855, 1856, and up till 290 May 1857, my mode of life, *“itinerant squatting,”
was derogatory to my position, and seriously interfered with the correct
discharge of my duty, or he did not hold such an opinion. Assuming the first
supposition to be true, then he was false and disloyal to me in his capacity of
private friend, in never giving me the slightest hint of the very low estimate he
entertained of my conduct and mode of life, and he was still more unfaithful
towards the Commissioners in making no official report on a subject so
momentous to the well-being of the service, in which he held so responsible a
position. But if during our long intercourse he had no reason for expressing
(and certain it is he never did express officially or otherwise to me) the very
unfavourable opinion of my habits of life, now set forth in such strong language
in his letter of 29th May 1857, it is plain Mr. Kavanagh has improvised a
serious charge against his subordinate in office to suit a discreditable purpose.

Mr. Kavanagh refers (page 4 of his letter 29/8/57), to the grounds upon
which he founded his opinion that the Ballinacarrig National School is not
suited for training a monitor: 1. Present teaching staff ample; 2. The school
is conducted rather as two separate schools under two teachers than as one
mixed school under one teacher; 3. Master's manuer and temper; 4. His
method of teaching and examining a class ; 5. The monitor failed in two years
to be made anything of. In the first place, the attendance at Ballinacarrig
National School is considerable during the greater part of the year. I have
frequently seen 80, 90, and even 100 children present. The attendance con-
tinues very large all through the summer, and even during the winter months
it slightly exceeds 40. Now, even assuming the annual average attendance at
the winter minimum of 40, the school would, by the rules of the Board, be
entitled to the services of a paid monitor, and of course much more so when
we find that on Mr. Kavanagh’s own showing the annual average reaches 55.
The teacher’s wife attends only for two hours daily, and for the-express purpose
of conducting an industrial or sewing class, for which alone she is paid by the
Board. That duty is too important to be neglected, which it must be if she
devote any portion of her two hours to the literary business of the school,
supposing her capable of doing so, which she is not. Therefore, the teaching
staff, as Mr. Kavanagh calls it, is not ample., The staff comprises but one
person, the male teacher, who cannot conduct the business of his large school in
a satisfactory manner, without the aid of an assistant or paid monitor. There
is, in short, but one literary teacher, and but one room in the Ballinacarrig
Naotional School. This is a sufficient reply to Mr. Kavanagh's remarks, that it
is conducted rather as two separate schools under two teachers. Finally, he

ays a hurried visit of some two hours to a large school, numbering 82 pupils,
which he finds in charge of a very nervous and timid man, unaccustomed to
see strangers, and more or less awed by the unexpected visit of a head inspector.
Without seeing anything more of either school or teacher, he comes to the
conclusion that it is not suited for the training of a monitor. I again repeat,
that it was impossible for him to form anything like an adequate opinion of the
school or teacher from a short visit of some two hours, a considerable part
of which was consumed in examining paid monitor Dowdall, and in scrutinizing
inspection of the school accounts, observation books, &c. The monitor’s
failure in his studies arose from his want of natural abilities, and could in no
way be attributed to the teacher’s neglect. The lad was kept on trial for two years
in the hope of his ultimate improvement, and for the additional reason, that it
was impossible to find any better qualified person to take his place.

I have now briefly referred to the grounds which Mr. Kavanagh states
influenced him in representing the Ballinacarrig National School as not suited
for the training of a paid monitor; and for the purpose of giving the Commis-
sioners the fullest information on the case, I have gone to the trouble of
exposing their fallaciousness. But a far more serious question here arises:
was Mr. Kavanagh led solely by what he saw of that school in deciding it was
not suited for training a monitor? Or were the reasons he now alleges as
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teachers to call on him ; but in oriental fashion struck his tent in one locality,
minimised his personal and official baggage, and removed to another place in
the district. This I mentioned last year to one of the secretaries, and some
two months sinee, to the Resident Commissioner.

I examined the monitor, Dowdall, in October 1855, and found him so deficient
that he was specially cautioned for bad answering. The admonition was
forwarded to the manager, Rev. Mr. Galvin, who lost no time in communicating
its substance to the teacher, Mr. J. Byme, and to the monitor himself. I
subsequently recorded in the Paid Monitors” Register, that Dowdall was extremely
ignorant and should be dismissed, if not better qualified at next examination.
This was quite enough for every useful purpose, and nothing more is, I believe,
ever done in similar cases by my brother inspectors. In fact, the Commissioners
do not require the District Inspector to record the results of the paid monitors’
examinations in the observation books of the schools. This Mr. Kavanagh
knows perfectly well, and he departs from the real point at issue between us,
when he introduces the question of what I did or did not write in the observa-
tion books.

The written statements, appended to my letter of 3d instant, of all the head
inspectors with whom I did duty previous and subsequent to my official
intercourse with Mr. Kavanagh, render it unnecessary for me to notice at any
length the latter’s remarks regarding my mode of life. I have always endea-
voured to conduct myself as became my position, and his statements to the
contrary are utterly without foundation. Having one of the most extensive
districts in Ireland under my charge, I was necessarily from home for several
days, and occasionally for some weeks together. DBut this was a matter of
necessity, not of choice ; and my predecessors were obliged to do the very same
thing. This can be easily conceived when I state that the Wicklow district is
extremely mountainous, that nearly all the schools are at considerable distances
from my official centre, and that they are scattered over an area of 823 square
miles. Assuming, however, that my mode of life was really what Mr. Kavanagh
now states it to have been, the question naturally suggests itself: Why is it that
he never spoke to me on so essential a point of duty? In his letter of 10th
April 1857 he covers some four pages of paper in showing that, till the 30th
January, the very last day we met, his relations, social and official, with me
were of the most friendly character, and he sums up in the following words :
¢ During the month (September) that we were in Greystones he visited schools
with me, he coming on my car whenever available; and not merely were our
official rclations, but our social and private intercourse was of the most friendly
character (the words are underlined in Mr. Kavanagh's letter). I left
Greystones 3d October, but returned there the29th, at the request of Mr. Fleming,
whose guest I was for the three days that I remained inspecting schools, &e. with
him * * * The same feeling continued between Mr. Fleming and me up to the
very last moment of our intercourse.” Is this very [riendly feeling consistent with
his eutire silence as to my mode of travelling through the district ? But apart
from all considerations of friendship, he was bound by the strict letter of his
duty to report for the information of the Commissioners any act of mine in the
least derogatory to the respectable position in which I had been placed. He
never did anything of the kind ; I can produce the originals of all his letters to
me. I have seen all his reports on schools under my superintendence ; I have
read every line of his official correspondence regarding me up to the 29th
May 1857 ; and in none of these documents does he make the slightest refer-
ence, or drop even the most remote hint, that could be interpreted as indicative
of the opinion which he now expresses in his letter of 28th May 1857, long after
all official intercourse between us had ceased. But dismissing, for a moment,
this commmon-sense view of the question, what, I ask, is to be thought of the man
who with professions of friendship on his lips, and holding with me, as he himself
asserts, not only official, but social and private intercourse of the most friendly
nature, remains before me all the while silent upon a subject intimately affecting
my honour and character, and then, on the eve of our official separation, but
without the slightest or most distant allusion dropped to me of his views
or intentions, avails himself of the opportunity given him by his position
privately to whisper his inuendoes against me in the ears of the Secretary and
Resident Comimissioner, and, so far as in his power, try to damage me in their
estimation? But Mr. Kavanagh is not ashamed to admit that he acted towards
me as I have just described, for he states (page 3, letter 29/7/57): * This,”
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office without meaning. Mr. Kavanagh, however, pleads t!mt he had my oral
and written testimony to guide him in the matter. To which I have merely to
reply, that he never in any way, either by writing or in conversation, asked my
opinion on the matter ; and nothing I ever said to him could at all lead me to
think that he was about making the recommendation already referred to. In
almost every instance, so far, where our statements are at variance upon the
same points, I have been fortunate enough to hold documentary evidence of
such a nature as relieved me from the trouble of dwelling at any length in my
explanation of his statements. I am to scwe extent equally fortunate in this
instance. Fe appeals to my written testimony in the district book, in which,
he says, he made a minute examination of the abstract of my reports upon the
five schools (under Reverend Mr. Galvin's management), which he admits he
never visited, It is only right to refer to my entries in the district book
respecting those schools, and which I forward herewith for the information of
the Board: Macreddin (male), Macreddin (female), Claravale, Glenmalure,
and Mucklow, are the names of the five schools referred to. It is, of course,
unnecessary for me to return any entry in the district book subsequent to the
date of Mr. Kavanagh's letter of recommendation in reference to the Reverend
Mr. Galvin's schools.

NAME Supiply
of Inspector’s Opinion of Teacher, &e. Datae of Visits. State of School, | School Accounts. o
SCHOOL Books.
1. Macreddin (male) | Deficient in method; caveless as regurds | 12 July - 1855 | Can form no ade- | Middling - - | A supply Te-
nentness and cleanliness of school-room. quate  opinion, quired.
being my first
In 1st division of 34 class. visit.

Slated house ; flooring boarded ; no clock nor black board, Scliool struck off roll, for insufficient average attendance, 5 October 1855 ;
restored 27 June 1856,

Not neatly kept | Adequate.

1

2, Macreddin (fe- | Attentive and painstuking;very small attend- | 26 October 1855 | First inspection
male.) ance, not likely to increase to any great
t.

exten 23 Feb, - 1830 | Improved - - | ditto - - ditto.
Teacher in 1st division of 3d class. 8 May - 1850 | Stationary - - | Register badly | Insufficient.
kept.
No clock nor black board ; room slated ; flooring boarded.
9. Mucklow - - | Middling, both as regards method and ae- | B May - 1855 | First inspection - | Middling - - | Tolerable,

quiremeuts. (Subsequently recommended
L?r t]liifﬂ).*.nssal Iy ldexd Inspector, Dr, | 23 Nov. - 1855 | Closed.
ewell. '

14 April - 1856 | Mi o 2 =, = 1
acliar o pesiiliamen: p 850 | Middling Toleruble Adequate

19 August 1850 | Stationary - - | Fair- - - | ditto.

Small thatched house; earthen floor; no clock ; but one large map in the school.

4. Claravale - - | Deficient in method ; wants energy ; school | 5 October 1855 | Can hardly form an | Middling - - | Inadequate,
fn a backward state. I cunnot report opinion, being
more favourably of it afier second visit. my first visit,
| 90 Feb. - 1850 | Closed ;  teach
Teacher in 8 division of Sd class. | © s |
0 May - 1856 | No improvement - | Tolerable - - | Adequate,

A very bad school-house ; thatched ; carthen flooring, vsed tempovarily till manager proeures a more suitable building.

5. Glenmalure - | Acquirements and method only moderate. | 23 May - 1855 | Cannot form an Middling - = | Inadequate.
Attentive, . opinion,  heing
my first visit.
6 Dec. - 1855 | Closed.

2 April - 1856 | Closed, owing to |
the extreme se-
verity of the wea-
ther,

13 June 1856 | Improved - = | Tolerable - ~ | Adequate.

School-house (narrow and contracted in dimensions) in o very dilapidated state.
254. Q2
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It rests with the Commissioners to decide whether the foregoing abstracts of my
reports, taken from the district book, on the above-mentioned schools, afforded
Mr. Kavanagh any reasonable grounds for making a general statement regarding
their efficiency, &e.  In his letter of 28 July 1857 he speaks of all the national
schools in Rev. Mr, Galvin’s parish. T cannot conceive why he does so: his
letter of recommendation has reference only to the schools under that gentle-
man’s own management. But when called upon to explain (if so disposed) why
it was he reported as to the efficiency of five schools which he never saw, he
simply admits that such was the case, and then follows his strange explanation.
“T did not,” he says, ¢ form any opinion respecting those five schools from my
own personal inspection of them, but, in addition to the three schools under
Rev. Mr. Galvin’s management, and which I did inspeet, I also visited two
schools, Rathdrum Poor Law Union, and Trooperstown, both in his parish.”
What have they to do with the case ? Are they under that gentleman’s manage-
ment or control* Not at all. But, says Mr. Kavanagh, Trooperstown School
is under Rev. Mr. Galvin’s moral management. 'The reverend gentleman’s
note is now before me, in which he distinctly states, ““ It is not true that I ever
had the moral management of the Trooperstown School,” neither has he any-
thing to do with the arrangements and control of the Rathdrum Poor Law Union
Schools, which, as everybody knows, are under the direct and exclusive manage-
ment of the Poor Law Guardians. I now beg to conclude this part of the case
with the following brief summary of facts: 1. Mr. Kavanagh never examined
a single child in the Rathdrum Poor Law Union Girls’ School: he mercly
walked with me into the girls’ room, looked about him for a minute or two,
glanced his eye over a few of the children’s copy-books, and then left.
2. He never even entered the Rathdrum Boys' Poor Law Union National
School. 3. He never examined a single child in the Trooperstown National
School on the occasion of his first visit (16 September 1856), for the simple
reason that he only arrived at the school at 34 p.m., or half an hour afier the
pupils had left; consequently there could be no examination. This is stated in
the report of his first visit to the Trooperstown National School, although he
sedulously conceals the fact in his letter of explanation of 28 July 1857. His
subsequent visit to that school, when he did examine the children, occurred on
the 29th October 1856, long after he had recommended that a complimentary
letter and a set of books should be forwarded to the Rev. Mr. Galvin. Moreover,
he never examined the teachers of those schools during his transient visits,
extending to a few minutes in one case, and from 3} till 41 in another. 4. He
consequently knew nothing whatever of the literary qualifications of the
teachers, or of the proficiency and answering of their pupils in either of the
schools, Rathdrum Poor Law Union or Trooperstown, when he wrote the
recommendation referred to, although he names them as two of the five schools
whose satisfactory condition influenced him when making that recommendation.
5. Hence, of the 11 National Schools * in Rev. Mr. Galvin's parish, not less
than six were never even entered by him; to two of them he paid a mere
flying visit, without examining either the teachers or their pupils; and of the
remaining three which he did regularly inspect, he condemns one as wanting
in a most essential element of school management; and of a second his report
is by no means favourable, thus leaving him a personal and favourable know-
ledge of but one school as the basis on which to forward his recommendation
as to Rev. Mr. Galvin. And now, I would ask, is Mr. Kavanagh justified in
asserting that when making that recommendation he acted from ““a fulness of
knowledge™ ? In concluding, I feel bound to convey, through you, gentlemen,
to the Commissioners, my warmest thanks for their kind consideration in

anting me an opportunity of replying to charges which, had they appeared
uncontradicted, must have injuriously affected my character as a gentleman and
as an officer of the Board.

I beg, &ec.
(signed) J. G. Fleminy,
The Secretaries, Education Office. District Inspector (40).

* Ballinacarrig, Rathdrum (male), Rathdrum (female), Rathdrum P'oor Law Union (female),
Rathdrum Poor Law Union (mule), Macreddin (male), Macreddin (female), Mucklow, Glenmalure,
Claravale, and Trooperstown.
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Ballinacarrig National Schools,
Sir, 11 August 1858.

In compliance with your request, I beg leave to remind you that on the day
of Mr. Kavanagh's visit to my school on the 23d September 1856, when making
some objections to the capabilities of my paid monitor (Denis Dowdall), he «t
the same time pointed to a boy in the fourth class, named J. Radecliffe, who he
thought would be a suitable person to succeed Dowdall in my school, in case
that he (Dowdall) did not acquit himself satisfactorily at the coming examina-
tion of paid monitors. You may recollect the fact yourself, as I think you
were standing near at the time. Mr. Kavanagh certainly left the impression
on my mind that in case of Dowdall being dismissed, I could immediately have
another boy appointed in his place, on account, as I before remarked, of his
pointing to the boy. Now, it appears rather strange to me, that he (Mr.
Kavanagh) should be instrumental in depriving so large a school as mine of
the advantages of a monitor on the grounds of my school not being conducted
in a manner suited for the training of such; or how he could, in a short visit
of about two hours, form as correct an opinion of the working of my school as
the other inspectors who had a knowledge of me and the school for years, and
who were, of course, unanimous in their opinions that my school required a
paid monitor, and was conducted in a manner suited for the training of the
like. I am prepared, if called on in a lawful manner, to make an affirmation
before a magistrate to the truth of what I state in this note relative to Mr.
Kavanagh; and I would wish to get a fair trial by having another monitor
appointed to my school, as I feel confident that I am well able to train a boy
in my school who would give satisfaction in any school to which he might be
afterwards appointed as teacher, as a monitor whom I taught in my school
conducted Ballycanew National School, and, according to the patron's state-
ment, gave entire satisfaction to all concerned in that establishment.

I am, &ec.
(signed) J. Byrne.

No. 1. (E)

CoRrRRESPONDENCE between the Commissioners of National Education, Ireland,
and Mr. James W, Kavanagh (late Head Inspector of National Schools),
relative to his application to have a Treatise on Arithmetic, compiled by him,
placed on the list of books sold by the Commissioners for the use of the
National Schools, and also relative to the advertisement, or handbill, respect-
ing the work in question. From the 17th March to the 13th October 1857.

Gentlemen, Rathgar, 17 March 1857.

WitH a view to its being placed on the price list amongst the books approved
of and recommended, I beg leave to submit to the Commissioners of National
Education the accompanying copy of the 5th edition of my Treatise on
Arithmetic.

This edition has been carefully revised, and also enlarged by a considerable
amount of new matter upon subjects not treated of in any similar work in use
in Ireland. See the articles on Interest, Coins and Coinage, Decimal Coinage,
Calculation, Notes on the Use of Decimal Fractions, &e.

There is no work in English on arithmetic which, taken as a whole, contains
more of the science, or theory ; and in treating of the subject practically, [ have
used and applied those peculiar advantages which 23 years’ experience of your
schools and teachers have given me. An examination of the work will show
that from the first to the last ample directions are given through it for teaching
arithmetic, and it contains more of what I may call the literature of the
science than any similar treatise with which 1 am acquainted.

Some persons might object to increase the number of works, already three,
on arithmetic, on the Commissioners’ list; but you have two grammars, four
geographies, three atlasses, &c. The small book is not an arithmetie, although
itis a work on calculation, nor does it profess to be more. Dr. Thomson’s
treatise is used chiefly in the few north-eastern counties, and owing more to
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local circumstances than otherwise, and our teachers desire a work written by
a person better acquainted with the peculiar wants and circumstances of the
Irish National Schools. It is a good book in the hands of a high order of
teachers, who themselves are superior to it ; but the low sale of 2,500 copies of
it last year, or under five copies to each school, indicates its want of general
use.  The Board's larger arithietic sells merely because it is cheap, and on the
price list; it could have little sale on its merits, whilst Dr. Thomson's could
and has. [ refer you to the opinions of any of our officers competent to judge
as to the imperfection of your long arithmetic as a school book. Its cheap-
ness, &e., sceured for it a sale of 6,700 copies, or about 13 to each school. last
year,

L may observe, that there are 17 works on arithmetie, and six on algebra,
published by Messrs. Longman & Company, London, on the Price List of the
Committee of Council on Education in England.

If approved, the Commissioners may have the arithmetic on the same rerms
as they get similar works, and I am most anxious to have its price fixed at the
lowest profit.

I am, &ec.
(signed) James W, Kavanagh.

The Secretaries, Education Office.

(B. 0. 5/6/57.)

Sir, Ilducation Office, 12 June 1857.

Your letter of the 17th March last having been laid before the Board, we
are to inform you, that the Commissioners of National Education conceive that
the works on arithmetic already supplied by the Board to the national schools
are sufficiently good, and that it is not desirable to multiply the number of
works on the same subject.

I'or these and other reasons (which the Commissioners do not think it
necessary to specify in detail), they regret they cannot comply with the appli-
cation made by you to place your arithmetic on the list of the books sanctioned
by the Board. '

We are, &e.
(signed) Maurice Cross,) Ebnmeraios
James Kelly, | ’
J. W. Kavanagh, Esq.

(B. O. 4/9/57.

Sir, Education Office, 5 September 1857.
Tur Commissioners of National Education having had before them the
advertisement published by you regarding your arithmetic, we are to in-
form you that you are to be in attendance at this office on Friday next, the
11th instant, at the hour of one o'clock p. n., in case your presence before the
«d may be necessary.
B ey g We are, &e.

(signad) %;iziﬁeg;oss, ] Secretaries.
2 ]
J. W. Kavanagh, Esq., Head Inspector.

Gentlemen, Grenville, Rathgar, 12 S:E:pte:mbei' 1857.
In reference to the hand-bill advertisement of the publication of a mew
edition of my arithmetic, and which was the subject of consideration by the
Comumissioners on yesterday, I deem it right to submit the following state-
ment; : 1
i is ing impr hjectionable
1. When I wrote and printed this, I saw nothing improper or ob] .
in its matter or form ; as it is quite clear that had I felt or believed that it
was open to objection by the Board, I would never have printed thousands of
them for circulation amongst the national schools. “
9. At least three of the other five head inspectors, unsolicited by me, have

i to others, stating it to be their opinion that the wurk.in
written to me, and ; g P i
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question is by far the best upon the subject in the language, and, as a mfxtter of
modesty, 1 deemed the short and pithy advertisement adverted to the simplest
form of summing up its character.

3. The district inspectors have repeatedly been made the channes for the
circulation of varicus publications (free) by a late member of the Board, many,
if not all of them sold to teachers. Professor M*'Gauley’s Algebra, after it had
been refused a place on the Board's Price List, and for the last 19 years several
of Professor Sullivan’s works, have been on sale in the Training Department,
some of them which had never been on the price list, and some which had
subsequently been placed thereon. Works also written not by officers of the
Board have been on sale in the Training Jepartment.

4. As stated on yesterday, the hand-bill in question has not been circulated
or issued beyond 50 copies, which I requested to be sent to Glasnevin ; antd if
these were sent, or were distributed, which I do not know, this is the full and
entire extent of its circulation. [ have sent no copy to the inspectors, nor, with
the exception of one or two friends, have I sent them a copy of the book, and
I awaited issuing the notices until I should first communicate with them, upon
the subject ; so far, therefore, there is nothing to be cancelled, nothing to be
recalled, in reference to the inspectors, and the error of judgment on the hand-
bill is limited in its effects strictly and literally as I have stated.

5. I understand that the hand-bill is disapproved : this 1 regret, and the
matter is merely an error of judgment, founded upon uncensured practices in
the Board’s service. I shall, as in duty bound, cancel the hand-bills; but as
they have not been issued (save as stated), I respectfully submit, that to forward
any circular to inspectors or teachers whe have never seen or heard of the
hand-bill, is not only unnecessary under the circumstances, but, no matter how
framed, such circular would have the effect of injuring my property, character
and position—a result not to be expected from a mere error of judgment in
framing a hand-bill, which has never been circulated, and one which I feel
confident is foreign to the desire of the Commissioners in the matter.

I have, &ec.
(signed) James W. Kavanagh,
Head Inspector National Schools.

The Secretaries, [iducation Office.

(B. 0. 11/9/57.)’

Sir, Education Office, 16 September 1857.

Tae Commissioners of National Education, having attentively considered
the verbal explanaiion made by you, when called before them at their meeting
on the 11th instant, with reference to an advertisement of the fifth edition of
your treatise on the “ Principles and Practice of Arithmetic,” we are directed
to inform you that they strongly disapprove of the langnage used by you in
that document. They further consider that it is calculated to lead the public,
the national school teachers, pupil teachers, and monitors, to suppose, not only
that your work on arithmetic ought to be preferred to those which are pub-
lished and sanctioned by the Commissioners, but that their head inspectors
would act upon this opinion, and that the majority of the district inspectors
would serve as your agents in promoting the sale of the book. You admitted
in your explanation that you forwarded 50 copies of the advertisement and of
your arithmetic to the teachers in training at Glasnevin, and that you printed
3,000 copies of the advertisement, evidently, as the Commissioners conceive,
with the object of circulating it more widely.

The Commissioners, therefore, direct us to state that you have acted with
gross indiscretion and impropriety in drawing up and issuing the document in
question ; and we are to add, that they will take this matter into serious con-
sideration when they proceed to decide on your conduct in relation to several
other cases in which you are coneerned, and which are now before them.

We are, &ec. '
(signed) Maurice Cross ;
To J. W. Kavanagh, Esq. James Kelly, ’} Secretaries,
&c. &ec. &e.
2544 Q4
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Gentlemen, Rathgar, 17 September 1857.

I BEG leave to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of yesterday, conveying
the order of the Commissioners, dated the 11th instant, and in which it is
stated that they are to “ proceed to decide on my conduct in relation to several
cases in which T am concerned, and which are now before them.”

‘The order regarding the printed bill about my arithmetic was made without
asking me for any explanation respecting it, and on the 12th instant I sent in
a statement upon the subject. When called before the Commissioners, I was
asked two, and only two, questions: Whether I wrote the bill; and to what
extent I have circulated it 7 and this formed the entire conversation upon the
matter.

The paper lately read by me before the British Association is, I presume, one
of the cases above referred to, and upen this, also, I have not been called on
for any explanation, although it was alluded to, but merely so, by the Board on
last I'riday, while I was in attendance, and an order was afterwards made to
insert the advertisement respecting it in the ¢ Saunders’ News-Letter ” of the
14th instant.

Again, I am aware that a complaint is pending as to arrear in replying to a
few letters and journals within the past year, and in connection with which I
am charged with such neglect that I was well nigh causing the failure and
total shipwreck of the scheme of organization of the City of Dublin Schools in
March last. This latter has not been referred to me for explanation, and, so
far from its being well-founded, it was I mainly who saved it from failure and
certain shipwreck, and caused it to succeed ; and to accuse me of putting the
scheme in any peril by my neglect is as unjust as to charge me with the mutiny
of the sepoys and the present disasters in India. This matter has not, so far as
I know, been brought under the notice of the Board.

I trust that, under these circumstances, the Commissioners will consider that
I make only a reasonable request in a matter which appears to be regarded as
seriously affecting me, when I ask to have full and timely notice of such
intended inquiry, the nature and detail of the several cases to be considered by
them, in order that I may submit written explanations upon each, and also that
my attendance be required should oral explanation be deemed necessary.

I have, &e.

(signed)  James W. Kavanagh.
The Secretaries, Education Office. :

Just Published, Price 2s.; Free by Post, 2s. 4d.
ARiTnMETIC, ITS PRINCIPLES AND IPRACTICE,
By James W. Kavanagh, Iisq., Head Inspector of National Schools.

This edition (5th) is considerably enlarged, by new and important matter upon coins and
coinage, decimal coinage, notation, decimals, and interest.

The work is interspersed with ample directions as to the best mode of teaching the
gubject, and organizing classes in it. In this respeet, it is the only work of the kind which
embodies both the entire science of arithmetic, and also the method of treating it as
approved by all the head inspectors, s'mcl as practised in the Central Training and Model
School Departments. Teachers, pupil t_cacherg, and monitors who master its matter, cannot
fail in any personal examination on arithmetic to which they may be subjected; and if
they ndhere to its form and method, they may feel confident, that in this most important
branch their classes will be efficiently taught, and favourably reported on by the inspectors.

Published by Marcus and John Sullivan, 27, Marlborough-street, Dublin; or may be
had through the Author (Education Office), or through most of the District Inspectors.

Post-office orders the best form of remittance.

(B. 0. 18/9/57.)

Sir, Office of Education, 19 September 1857.
In reply to your letter of the 12th instant, containing certain explanations
relative to your advertisement of the publication of a new edition of your arith-
metic, we are directed by the Commissioners of National Education to inform
you
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vou that the letter in question has in no respect caused a change in the opinion
formed by them on reading your advertisement. ~_C31_1 the contrary, it rather
makes them fear that you are incapable of perceiving, even after the gross
impropriety of your conduct was pointed out to you, that you had committed
a great offence. o L
The only answer that the t_jomlmssmners feel themselt:es warranted in giving
to your present explanation is, that, had such an advertistment been published
by any of the officers of the Board to_wlmm you allude, even by one who had
never before (as you have often done) incurred its severe censures, they would,
without a moment’s hesitation, have declared his conduct to have been most
indiscreet and most improper, and would have taken into their consideration
what adequate punishment ought to be inflicted on the writer.
We are, &c.
(signed) Maurice Cross,

J. W. Kavanagh, Esq. James Kelly, }Secret“"ies'

Education Office, Training,
Gentlemen, 22 September 1857.

WitH reference to Mr. Kavanagh’s letter of the 12th instant, in which he
states, in justification of his advertisement about his arithmetie, that my books
were sold in the Training Establishment for the last 19 years, even before they
were placed in the sanctioned list, I beg to inform the Board, through you, that
the statement has no foundation in fact. I never asked, nor did any person on
my behalf ever ask, a teacher or pupil to buy a book of mine. If you refer
to an official letter from me, dated 25 November 1844, you will find that my
books were originally written to supply a want which I found in the National
Schools while acting as inspector from the year 1832 to 1838, and that I offered
them to the Doard gratuitously. The generosity of the Board prevented them
from accepting them unless I would consent to receive the usual terms per
sheet which were paid to others. As my books were not compilations, I, fortu-
nately for myself, declined to supply them as such, and this led me to publish
them at my own risk and expense. And after they had passed through several
editions, and when their success was no longer doubtful, the Board took them
from me, as if from a stranger ; but with this difference, that my books are at least
g(} per cent. cheaper than any of those supplied by the trade to the National

chools.

My books, I need scarcely add, are now supplied by the trade.

With regard to the Papers on Popular Education, there is some foundation
for misrepresentation ; but by the enclosed circular which was sent to each of
the head and district inspectors in 1854, it will be seen that I intended to be
a loser to a considerable extent by these publications; and, in fact, I offered a
gentleman 507. out of my own pocket, with any profits there might be, to be
editor for one year. This he declined to accept, but he offered and -gave his
assistance gratuitously, DBy my letter also to Lord Morpeth in 1840 (which is
in the same circular) it will be seen that I could not have any pecuniary interest
in such a publication. I may now mention, that I have announced openly to
the present and last two classes that there were a few hundred copies of the
work remaining, and that the publishers would give any person who said he
was a national teacher a copy for 1s. instead of 1s. 6d., the selling price ; and
on all such occasions 1 never failed to add, that if it were inconvenient for any
teacher to purchase a copy, I would give him an order for one if he called upon
me in private. And by a return which I have just received from the publishers,
I find that they have, since the 26th May 1856, given to Dr. Sullivan’s orders
56 copies.

1 am sorry to trouble you with this long lefter, but I consider it due to myself
and also to the Board to make these explanations.

_ _ I am, &ec.
The Secretaries, &e. &ec. &e. (signed) Robert Sullivan.

254- R
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(B. 0., 25/9/57.)

Sir, Education Office, 26 September 1857.

Your letter of the 17th instant having been laid before the Board, we are
directed to inform you, with reference to the following paragraph* which it
contains, that the Comwmissioners of National Education will conduct the inquiry
into your conduct in the manner which, in their judgment, will be best caleu-
lated to clicit all the facts, and to enable them to arrive at a just decision. If,
in the course of the inquiry, they should find it necessary to call for any expla-
nation in addition to what you have already furnished, or to require your attend-
ance, they will give you due notice.

We are, &e.
(signed) Muaurice Cross, | g il

J. W. Kavanagh, Esq. James Kelly, | e

(Paragraph referred to.)

“[ trust that under these circumstances the Commissioners will consider that
I make only a reasonable request in a matter which appears to be regarded as
seriously affecting me, when I ask to have full and timely notice of such mtended
inquiry, the nature and detail of the several cases to be considered by them, in
order that I may submit written explanations upon each, and also that my
attendance be required should oral explanation be deemed necessary.”

M. C.
J. K.
(6183—57. B. 0., 25/10/57.)
Sir, Office of National Education, 3 October 1857.

W have laid before the Commissioners of National Education your letter of
the 22d ultimo, in reference to the allusion made to your books in Mr. Kuva-
nagh's communication of the 12th, and we are now directed to state that the
Commissioners consider your explanation quite satisfactory.

We are, &ec.
(sigued) Maurice Cross,) e
Robert Sullivan, Esq., Lv.D., James Kelly, J-Secretam B
Training Department.
Gentlemen, Rathgar, 6 October 1857.

IN reference to my letter of the 12th ultimo respecting the Handbill adver-
tisement of my work on arithmetic, I beg leave to state that Dr. Sullivan met
me in the grounds in Marlborough-street some time since, and informed me
that the statements made in my letter, in reference to the sale of his works
(not when on the Price List), would oblige him to write to the Commissioners
on the subject. He read for me various letters showing the history of his
several, or at least his earlier publications, and these he told me he intended to
submit to the Commissioners. | am informed that he has written upon the
subject, and without intending the slightest disrespect, unkindness, or unfriend-
liness to Dr. Sullivan, to whom and to whose books I referred, merely in self-
defence, I beg leave to submit the following statements : —

I beg leave to submit the Price List of the Commissioners from September
1842, from which it will appear that at that date there were no works by the
professors, or by private authors thereon, and also the Price List of April 1843,
when works by these parties first appear. I am aware that although not

: appearing

® See at close of letter.
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appearing on the price list, both * The Outline,” by Professor Sullivan, and
« Lectures on Natural Philosophy,” by Professor M‘Gawley, were supplied from
November 1840 (date of circular), through the storekeeper, and sold for cash,
(at least the latter work) by the superintendents to the national school teachers,
and this practice of the superintendents being agents for the cash sale of books
by both the professors, ceased only in December 1842. I have before me a
letter which rather appears to be a circular from Professor Sullivan, dated

“ My dear Sir, “ Education Office, 14 April 1842.

“ T have at length been enabled to send you (through Mr. Lawrence) copy
of my lectures.

* Should you consider it as a work likely to be useful to our schools you will
greatly oblige me by doing what you can to assist me in getting it off as soon
as possible. Lest you should suppose that [ have turned book-maker, and wish
to turn my friends into booksellers, I shall state briefly the circumstances
connected with each of my publications and leave you to judge : —

¢ 1st. ¢ The Outline.’ " o -

“ 8d. The only books for which I require your friendly assistance are the
¢ Geography,” and the ° Lectures,” and only for the present edition. Should
any of the teachers inquire about the other book, you will oblige me by inform-
ing them that they must get some person to call on Mr. Lawrence, our book-
seller, for them.

I am, &e.
“To ————, Esq. (signed) “ Robert Sullivan.”

“ Superintendent of National Schools.”

The next letter, from Professor M‘Gawley, written a few months after, shows
that the superintendents were not only booksellers, so fur as the national schools
were concerned, but also that their customers were drawn from a wider field.

% Dear Sir,  Office of Education, 20 July 1842.

“ As I am anxious to get out a second edition of the book published by me
some time ago, and am informed that some of the copies taken by the Board
have been sent to you, I shall feel much obliged if, without any trouble to
yourself, you can forward their sale. '

“1 have no objection that, when you deem it right, they should be given,
even at the reduced price, to those who are not national teachers.]

Very truly yours,
“To —, Esq. (signed) James W, MGawley.
“ Superintendent of National Schools."”

A question arises, was the Board taxed for any of the copies so suggested to
be sold to other than national school teachers?

A little book of questions drawn up by Mr. Butler, late Head Inspector, was
on sale in the Training Department, by Professor Sullivan, in 1843-44. A good
little treatise on algebra, by Mr. Lawler, inspector, was on sale to teachers and
pupils by Mr. Larkin, before and during my Head mastership, and with my full
permission, in the model school. It was also sold by the inspectors.

Professor M‘Gawley's algebra was refused a place in the Price List; he sold
it with his own hands to the teachers in training ; the inspectors in the country
assisted bim, and he turned round to the Board, set forth this circulation as an
index of its popularity and merit, and the Commissioners, on second applica-
tion, inserted it on the Price List.
 Dr. Sullivan, with his publishers, next door to the Office, does not need to
sell any of his works (not on the price list) in the Training Department, but
he recommends them there; thus his Papers on Popular Education, and his
tracts for the Diffusion of Useful Knowledge.

Far be it from me to adduce any of these practices as against any of the
parties in question. My object is to put in its true light what has been done

towards

_ .t The inspecturs were mere local storekeepers for the Board’s publications, but they were, in
addition, regular booksellers and reviewers for those by the professors, ?
{ Contrary to the Board’s instructions iu circular 28/11/40, section y, which see.

254. R 2
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towards me, when 1 printed, but scarcely can be said to have circulated, the
censured advertisement respecting my book. I had the very highest encou-
ragement and approbation to bring out this new edition of my arithmetic ; my
colleagues, of various grades, were most favourable to it; up to the decision of
the Board I was led to the confident belief that it would be placed on the Price
List, a belief shared in by every one to whom I had spoken upon the subject;
and when the unexpected and unfavourable decision was expressed, it was
accompanied Dy the regret of the Commissioners. With the practices of 17
years, as already stated, before me, I printed the bills in question ; and if [ had had
the faintest fear that, in so doing, I was incurring any risk of displeasing the
Commissioners, it is clear that I wounld never have intended them for circulation
with impunity thronghout the whole of the institution, when it was quite open
to me to effect the desired end, the circulation of my book, after the manner
of the professors and the other authors mentioned,* all of whom had the wiser
diseretion to follow the silent and safer course of oral appeals and manuseript
circulars.

I deeply regret that the handbill was so framed as to be unsatisfactory to the
Commissioners, but an examination of the entire of the facts here set forth,
must, [ humbly conceive, satisfy every calm and unprejudiced mind that I had
the strongest grounds for believing that there was no impropriety in the step
taken, as it is scavcely compatible with ordinary sanity, to suppose anything
else from the open and fearless mode in which I acted.

With the exception of 50 copies the bills were not circulated by me, and
with the exception of one person, I am not aware that even one copy of the
book was sold by any officer of the Board, and not one by myself, by my
direction, or on my application.

Under all these circamstances the punishment extended to me is severe,
beyond all parallel in the history of the national system, and such as I may
hope would not have been inflicted if all these facts were known and considered
by the Commissioners. Many of them are of opinion that my book has con-
siderable and distinetive merit; some of the best practical judges believe that
it is superior in many respects to either of the larger works on the Board’s list,
I got the warmest encouragement to publish this edition of it, and the circular
issued to the inspectors regarding it would lead many of them to closcly scan
it, expecting to find some open or lurking immorality or sedition in its pages,
so strongly are they prohibited from having connexion with it.

It is said that the professors have little or no profit by some of the works
which they circulate by the means stated, and that their object is the public
good. Granted. I have nevermade a shilling by my book, and shall be aloser
by the present edition. 'The propriety of the means taken to circulate a work
cannot be determined by the audit of the author's profit ; or if so, I hope, like
them, to escape censure.

I have, &c.
(signed) James W. Kavanagh.

The Secretaries, Education Office.

Gentlemen, Rathgar, 12 October 1857,

I BuG leave to request you will attach this letter to mine of the 6th instant,
on the subject of the printed Hand Bill, respecting my work on arithmetic.
 In Professor Sullivan’s circular to the Superintendents, dated 14th April
1842, the following passage occurs in the omitted portion (marked by asterisks) :
« 2d. The Geography.—After waiting three years for a geography, which Mr.
Carlisle has engaged to compile, I wrote mine to supply the urgent demand
for a work of this kind, till his should appear. The Board, as you are aware,
are at no loss by the work, nor am I gainer; in fact I will be a loser by the
present edition. Should the work succeed, it will pay.

«The Lectures.—The necessity for something of the kind, particularly for
the untrained teachers, led me to publish this work at my own risk and expense.
The agreement between the Board and me is this: They take 20,000 copies 1;}f

the

* As well us others not stated,
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the book, on condition that I am to refund the money unless they are sold
within six months. The price paid, or rather advanced, by the Board, is one
shilling a copy in sheets, and the binding will be three pence.” The other book
referred to in that letter (last sentence) is Sullivan’s Dictionary of Derivations.

In the previous spring (2d March 1842) Professor Sullivan sent a circular
as follows, to the superintendents, announcing the publication of his Geography
Generalized, and like his colleague Professor M‘Gawley he encourages therein
that the book should be sold to those not in, as well as those in, national
schools.

“ My dear Sir, “Education Office, 2 March 1842,

“1 have written your name in a copy of my geography, and have left it with
Mr. Lawrence for you. The lectures I will send yoa when published.

“You will oblige me by informing the teachers that [ have enabled the
Board to supply their schools with this geography, substantially bound, for a
shilling a copy. It is sold to the pubiic at 1s. 6d., in wrapper. As the Board
have a halfpenny profit on each copy sold, there is nothing wrong in selling it
to any person they please.* The more sold the better for the author.

“I am, &ec.
€ o—— Tisq. : (signed) “ Robert Sullivan.”
“ Superintendent National Schools.”

In May 1842 another circular was sent by Professor Sullivan, with a view to
stir up the superintendents to quicken the circulation of the geography :

“ My dear Sir, “ Education Office, 22 May 1842.
“ You will oblige me by saying how many of the Geography Generalised you
‘“ have on hands, and whether you are likely to get them off before Christmas.

“1 am, &ec.
(signed) “ Robert Sullivan.”

In order to further the sale of the professor’s books, some of the superin-
tendent's established branch depdts at various schools in their districts; the
teachers acted as sub-agents, gave returns of the stock and proceeds of sales
at stated periods, and forwarded Post-office orders for the amount to the super-
intendents, I have now before me such a return and letter (25/11/42), en-
closing remittance.

These documents sufficiently illustrate how ably and effectively the entire
official machinery of the institution was used to start, circulate, and extend the
professor’s books, those not on, as well as those on the price list, and amongst
the general public, as well as in the national schools.

The prospectus of the Schoolmasters’ Magazine, issued in September 1839,
was also circulated through the agency of the central establishment, and the
numbers of the work were sold by the inspectors, who remitted the proceeds
to the publisher in Armagh.

As already stated in my letter of the 6th instant, my sole object in submit-
ting these simple facts is to show that several of the Board's officers had been
for years, and some yet are, effectively doing what was merely intended to be,
but never done, through my printed but uncirculated advertisement.

I have, &ec.
(signed)  James W. Kavanagh.
The Secretaries, Education Office.

Education Offices, Training Department,
Gentlemen, 13 October 1857.

For the information of the Board, I will explain as briefly as possible Mr.
Kavanagh's last statements regarding my books; my letter, which he calls “ a
circular,” was a private one written to four or five of my personal friends, as
Mr. Butler, Mr. M‘Creedy, and Dr. Patten, and as he has quoted only so much
of it as suited his purpose, I request you will call upon him to entrust it to
you for my inspection, for 1 have no copy of it. The object of this letter was

to

* By statement already quoted, the Board lost at least 3 4. a copy for binding.
254. R3

Printed image digitised by the University of Southampton Library Digitisation Unit



134 CORRESPONDENCE, &c. RELATING TO

to communicate an arrangement which had been made by the Board with
regard to my lectures and letters on education, and the first edition of the
Geography Generalised. The purport of it, [ recollect, was that the necessity
for giving the large number of untrained and untrainable national teachers
soinc¢ information on the subject of systematic education led me to publish my
lectures, and that the Board had purchased from me 2,000 copies (not 20,000,
as AMr. Kavanagh states) at half-price (1s. 3 d.), and that they were to be sold
to the national schools at 1 5. 4 4. per copy, with the other books; for at the
period the Superintendents or inspectors sold the Board's books to the national
schools, and in each district there was a depdt. The money, however, which
the Superintendents received for my books was sent to the Board, and not to
me, for I had already been paid for them. This appears from an official letter
which I enclose, No. 1. Its date is Oth April 1842, And by the same letter it
will be seen that I was bound to repay the Board for all copies remaining
unsold by the inspectors, after a certain date :—* six months after the Ist of
May next.” My anxiety, therefore, to get off the work before the time men-
tioned was natural, and as the Board lost nothing by it, but, on the contrary,
bad a small per-centage for selling it, I was justified in telling them they might
sell it to any person that required it. I should add, too, that I had otfered this
work gratuitously to the Board before I published it, and that I subsequently
repeated the offer.—See the official letter which I enclose, No. 2.

The facts regarding the publication of the Geography Generalised are similar.
When 1 was appointed to teach geography, the Board had no text-book on the
subject, and after waiting upwards of three years for one, I drew up my little
work. On its first appearance the Board purchased 3,000 copies of it from me,
at about half price, and directed them to be sold to the national schools, with
their other books. In the case of this book also, the Board were at no loss by
selling it, but on the contrary had a small per-centage on each copy. This
appears by the following minute :—

“ 3d February 1842. Read letter from Mr. Sullivan, directing the attention
of the Commissioners to a work on geography about to be published by him,
and proposing to supply them with 3,000 copies, in sheets, at 8 3d. cach, which,
when bound, could be sold to the teachers or managers of national schools for
1 5., and to the public for 1s. 6 d.

“ Read also a letter from the Rev. Dr, Henry, expressing his approval of the
work.

“ Oprdered, That a copy of the work be sent to each of the Commissioners
for examination, and also that a copy be sent to the Rev. J. Carlisle, inform-
ing him that the Commissioners being of opinion that Mr. Sullivan’s work will
not interfere with the treatise which he has in preparation, are strongly dis-
posed to sanction its immediate introduction into the national schools.”

*“10th February 1842. The Commissioners take into consideration Mr.
Sullivan’s letter of the 3d instant.

“ Ordered, That Mr. Sullivan be informed that the Commissioners accept
his proposal, and have directed he shall be paid 106 Z 5 s., being the sum
charged by him for 3,000 copies of his work. The Commissioners also approve
of Rev. Dr. Henry’s suggestion of separating the outline of geography from the
other part of the work, and of publishing it in a detached form (this appeared
as the Introduction to Geography and History).

With regard to the Outline of the Rules and Regulations and Methods
of Teaching in the Model Schools, every one connected with the system knows
that it was never sold at all to the national teachers. It was presented by me
to the Board for gratuitous circulation among the teachers, and for several
years repeated, and large editions of it were distributed. Tn fact, Mr. Kavanagh
himself, both as Head master of the Model school and as District inspector, must
have distributed hundreds of copies of it; and yet he states in his letter, “ The
outline by Professor Sullivan and the Lectures on Natural Philosophy, by
Rev. Mr. M'Gawley, were supplied from November 1840 (date of circular),
through the storekecper, and sold for cash (at least the latter work) by the
superintendents to the national school teachers.” 1 will make no comments on
«at least the latter work.” ¢ The circular,” referred to in the foregoing
sentence, was sent through the storekeeper by the permission of the Board.
I cannot at present find a copy of it, but if Mr. Kavanagh sends the uno;ullle

8,
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has, it will be seen that it had the official approval of the Board, and that the
storekeeper was permitted to receive the money for the books, and to hand it
to the professors. The books on the list had been examined and approved of
by the Board, and they were, in fact, supplied by the Board to the teachers in
training.

"l'hesge books were, I think, Mr. M‘Gawley’s Lectures, and my Dictionary
of Derivations, Spelling-book Superseded, and Elements of English Grammar
Many country teachers had applied for these books, and an oppertunity was
thus afforded them to get them at greatly reduced prices. Itis to this list a
reference is made in the Board's letter, No. 1 (enclosed) : —

“ Your list of books and prices may be forwarded with the circular now
issuing from the office, but the Commissioners prefer that the books not pur-
chased by them should be procured in Dublin, and not from the super-

intendents.”

Mr. Kavanagh had also the bad taste to refer to Mr. Butler’s little book,
which he says I sold for him to the teachers in training. Thirteen years ago,
when Mr. Kavanagh was charged with forcing this same arithmetic on the.
teachers in the truining class, he made the same statement in justification of
his own conduct ; and in the professor’s letter in your office, dated 13th October
1844, the groundlessness of this charge is shown. Mr. Butler wrote and printed
at his own expense, for the use of the teachers in his district, “ Questions”
on the Lesson and other Books sanctioned by the Board, as the Lessons on
Reasoning, and my lectures. As the teachers who came from Mr. Butler's dis-
trict had this little book in their hands, the other teachers, considering that
they were placed at a disadvantage, requested me to put them in the way of
getting copies. I then wrote to Mr. Butler, and requested him to send any
copies that he had remaining to Mr. Rintoul’s care, and that he would sell them
to any of the teachers that would ask for them. Mr. Butler sent the copies he
had on hand (not more than 100, I think), and they were sold at half price by
Mr. Builer’s directions. In fact, Mr. Butler lost by the little work, and he
intended to do so; but Mr. Kavanagh cannot understand this, for though he
was told this 13 years ago, he returns to the charge. In fact, the only book
which was improperly sold in the Training Establishment was Mr. Kavanagh’s
own book. TIf it ever passed through four editions, it was by pressure upon
the Glasnevin teachers, class after class, for nearly ten years; and I will
also add, that if Kavanagh’s Arithmetic possessed the extraordinary merits
claimed for it, it would long since have become a standard Class Book in the
Public schools not only in Ireland, but also in Great Britain and the colonies.
It has been 13 years before the public, and it is as yet scarcely known to the

trade.

I am, &c.
The Secretaries, &c. &c. (signed) Robert Sullivan.
(No. 1.)
Sir, Education Office, 9 April 1842.

Trae Commissioners of Education having considered your offer, direct us to
acquaint you that they agree to purchase 2,000 copies of your “ Lectures and
Letters upon Popular Education,” at 1 s. per copy, upon the condition stated in
your letter of the 31st ultimo; namely, that certain passages in the work already
pointéd out shall be expunged, and that you are “willing to undertake to repay
the amount advanced by the Board, in the event of the work not being sold
within six months,” the period of six months to date from the 1st May next.

Your list of books and prices may be forwarded with the circular now issuing
from the office ; but the Commissioners prefer that the books not purchased by
them should be procured in Dublin, and not from the superintendents.

We are, &ec.
(signed) Maurice Cross.
R. Sullivan, Esq., James Kelly.

&e. &c. &e.
Training Department.
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(No. 2.)

Education Office, Training Department,
Gentlemen, 23 February 1855.

You will oblige me by stating to the Board that it is my intention, with their
permission, to present them with a manual for the use of the teachers of their
schools. This manual will contain, either in the body of the work, or in the
appendix, the greater portion of my “ Lectures and Letters on Popular Educa-
tion,” which the Board have already sanctioned. But as it is my wish that the
intended work should not only be useful, but also unobjectionable to all parties,
I purpose to bring it out in detached papers under the fullowing heads : *“ Notes
of Lectures on Education and School-keeping, by Professor Sullivan (not
published.)” By bringing out these papers at intervals, and as if for the use of
my class, the Commissioners will have time to examine themn at their leisure,
and to make any suggestions to me that may strike them as necessary. These
suggestions I will attend to, if made by any of the Commissioners individually
and verbally, which I think would be better than if they were made officially by
the Board.

If the Board approve of this plan, it will be necessary to get an order for
printing, but not publishing these papers at intervals. But if it is not approved
of, I will then bring out the work myself, and offer it officially to the Board
for the use of the teachers of national schools. In this case it will be difficult
to have alterations or omissions made in it; and in fact the Board will have
either to accept or refuse it as it stands.

I am, &ec.
The Secretaries. (signed) Robert Sullivan.

(No. 3, in reply to No. 2.)
(1475—55. B. 0. 2/3/55.)
Sir, Education Office, 12 March 1855.

Wz have laid before the Commissioners of National Education your letter of
the 23d ultimo, in which you state your intention to present them with a
manual published for the use of the teachers of the national schools, &c., &c.

We are to inform you that the Commissioners decline to inspect the work
as you propose ; they prefer to examine the proof sheets when the work shall

have been completed.

We are, &ec.
(signed) Muurice Cross,
Robert Sullivan, Esq., LL.D. James Kcﬂé/, )
ecretaries.

Training Department.
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No. 1 (F.)

CORRESPONDENCE between the Commissioners of National Education, Ireland,
and Mr. Jumes W. Kavanagh (late Head Inspector of National Schools), rela-
tive to the manner in which the Official Records of the following Districts
have heen kept by the Inspectors in Charge, from the 10th April 1857 to
25th July 1857, viz.:

District 17 - - Mr. Mahoney. | Distriet 25 - - Mr. Conwell.
» 19 ~ - Mr. Adair. , 26 - - Mr. O'Carroll.
» 22 - - Mr. M‘Sweeny. | , 28 - = Mr. Coyle.
»» 28 - - Mr. Strong. J s 85 - - Mr. Fleming.
s 24 - - Mr. Porter. . 5, 40 - - Mry, Clarke.
Gentlemen, Grenville, Rathgar, 10 April 1857.

In compliance with the instructions of the Commissioners, I beg leave to
submit the following report upon the manner in which the official records of
the districts are kept by the inspectors connected with me in 1856, viz.:
district book, guard book, map, paid monitors’ register, note books, and term
return.

District 17.—Mr. Mahony, Carrick-on-Shannon.

1. District Book.—The standing items as to house, &e., are pretty fully given
throughout ; but on the whole the rest of book in great arrear, and not at all
regularly or formally filled. As a general rule, neither the fees nor the endow-
ments are ever entered, and often the numbers of pupils are ‘omitted. The facts
as to the inspection for third term of 1856 are not yet entered.

The index column, which refers to the official action founded on inspector’s
reports, is scarcely at all filled.

" On the whole, book in great arrear, and fails in its important object.

2. Guard Book.—No letter pasted in, or indexed since May 1856. Letters
loose in book. On the 27th, 28th, 29th, and 30th Aungust, and on 3d September,
advice given of 162 letters sent from office founded on inspectors’ reports ; none
of these pasted in, and no record of them under th:e schools to which they refer
in the district book.

3. Map.—Index torn out; only 22 of the 138 schools marked (and rudely)
on map.

4. Monitors’ Register,—Greatly in arrear; no entry in it since September
1854.

5. Note Books.—Most scantily filled, especially in reference to the examina-
tion of the classes and the state of education, methods of teaching, discipline,
and school-keeping. Numbers entered, stating the results of examination, but
scarcely any entry of the page, or grade of the book, or subject examined on.
Inspector states in reference to this, that he makes notes on slates, &e. of these
matters, and merely records the numerical results in book. I am quite dissatis-
fied with the total absence of any reliable record of the detailed examination of

the classes.
6. Term Return.—Appears to be correct.

On pointing out to Mr. Mahony the importance of these official documents,
and the great arrear and irregularity which he has permitted to accumulate in
reference to their keeping, he informed me that it was out of his power to reach
on this work, and do his other duties. On looking over his term returns, how-
ever, I find that he inspected no schools on four weeks of the third term of
1856, viz., those ending September 6th and 13th, and December 24th and 31st,
and some of this time should have been devoted to the proper keeping of his
official documents.

I examined a number of the report books and observation books of the schools
in this district, and in a few cases I found slight discrepancy between the time
spent in inspection as recorded in the two books ; thus,—

254. S Kennard
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Kennard National School, 1855, 21/9. 21 o'clock to 4.50 (4 ¢ in other).
= 0 1856, 30/4, 12 (121) to 4 o'clock.
= . 1856, July 3d (4th).

o5 s 1856, October 8th, 2.20 (21) to 31.

Liscarbon National School, 1855, Dec. 7th, 1 to 31—1 is 12 .
7 N 1856, July 24th (26th).

Slievenakilla National School, 1855, Nov. 14th, 10 § to 1 o'clock (12 2).

Lavoir National School, 1856, Oct. 9th (7th in obs. book) 11 to 12} o'clock.

Drunchinne National School, 1856, March 14th, 11 (1032) to 4L

These evidently as to the hours, arose from haste, oversight, or some such
cause, as no officer can have an object in such discrepancies.

I also found that Mr. Mahony never entered any remark of a favourable kind,
even when he thought well of the school ; but henceforth he will record praise
when deserved as well as blame.

The inspection of this district is effected within term, but at great labour to
the officer while on duty, and involving serious irregularities in the schools.
The inspector was on duty 14 weeks of last term (1856), and during nine of
these, he examined and reported on 2 to 21 schools (10 to 13 a week) every day,
and the average distance of each of his schools from his centre is 11 miles.
The result is, that the time spent in many of the schools is altogether insuffi-
cient for the purpose of efficient examination or inspection ; a large number of
the double schools are examined by bringing the boys and the girls together in
the one school; and further, the inspection is often commenced at and after
two o’clock, and in order to obtain the materials of his report, the teacher and
school are detained by the inspector up to and after nightfall. Thisis a great
hardship, especially to the little children, many of whom have to travel a mile or
more to their homes ; and in winter, when there is no leave for dinner, they are
thus kept fasting far too long. Asexamples of these, I may cite Drum, and Enis.
National School, 75 present, examined from 1 to 5% o'clock on the 1lth
November, the sun that day setting at 9 1. past 4 o’clock ; Annaduff Male and
Female National Schools, 60 present, examined from 2} to 5 & o'clock, Septem-
ber 15th ; Kilmore National School, 61 present, examined from 2 to 5 2 o'clock,
Septewber 22d; Lisduff Male and Female National Schools, 46 present, 2} to
5 o'clock, September 18th ; Coralubber, October 30th, 2.40 to 5 o'clock, 46
present ; Bridgecarton Male and Female National Schools, 2 to 6.20 o'clock in
both schoels; Kennard National School, 24 to 4.50, September 21st; and
Liscarbon, 2 £ to 51 o'clock, 104 present.

I beg leave to call attention to this serious irregularity, that it may be
stopped before the managers interpose to direct the teachers to close their
schools at the precise time mentioned on the time-table.

District 19.—Mr. Adair, Bailieboro’.

All My. Adair’s official papers are well kept, and none of them in arrear. He
complains that he is not able to devote as much time to the educational portion
of his duties in the school as formerly, and that the best interests of the schools
suffer in consequence.

. District 22.—Mr. M‘Sweeny, Claremorris.

All his official documents are in a state of extreme neglect, arrear, and con-
fusion. I brought them all to the office with a view of showing them to the
resident Commissioner, but on hearing the case he was satisfied as to the nature
of the matter, and I then refurned the books to the inspector. The district
book is not properly kept, and is in arrear: the guard book is neglected; the
map is spoiled from the rude manner in which the position of the schools is
marked; the monitors’ vegister belongs to another district, and contains
scarcely a single entry in reference to this district; the ferm return is filled
(because the office requires it), and the note books are scantily filled, and on
many grounds their educational contents are of liitle worth.

Distriet 23.—Mr Strong, Roscommon.

I examined the records of this district in a cursory way only when I visited
in July 1856, and some of them were tolerably fair. At next visit I shall report
in detail upon the various items.

District
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District 24.—Mr. Porter, Granard.

The examination of the teachers was held at Longford, not Granard; and on
speaking over the matter of the district documents with Mr. Porter, and ex-
pressing a wish to drive over to Granard and see them, he stated that they
were in arrear, and not ready for inspection.

District 25.—Mr. Conwell, Trim.

Every official record connected with the district well kept, and everything
formal and up to time.

District 26.—Mr. O’ Carroll, Drogheda.

Business in arrear. Inspector states that he has little or no time to devote
to the keeping of the official records, and it is only now he is about to make
trial of the note books, never used up to this. He kept notes taken on common
paper, and which he has filed for reference.

District 28.—Mx Coyle, Dublin.

1. District Book.—Of the 107 schools in district, 26 are in Mr. O’Galligan’s
charge, and the records of these should be filled by him into Mr Coyle’s book.
Mr. Mulloy, in the same way, owes other entries. Book very much in arrear
on the whole.

2. Guard Book.—Letters all preserved in boolk, but none, except circulars of
1855, pasted in. No index made out.

3. Map.—Safe and clean, but no schools marked on it as yet.
4. Monitors’ Register.—Pretty well kept, but last examination not yet re-
corded in it.

5. Note Books.—Very fair ; should be fuller in the notes about the exami-
nation of the classes.

6. Term Return.— He had sent it into the office, but saw a rough copy of it.
The inspection in this district is by far heavier than in any district connected

with me; the attendance is the most numerous, and the sanitary condition of
the city schools of a very low character.

District 35.—Mr. Fleming, Rathdrum.
1. District Book.—Greatly in arrear, and badly kept; useless from the arrear
in its more important features.

2. Guard Book.—No letter ever pasted into it; no index; no connexion
between it and the district book to indicate the official action in reference to
schools.

3. Map.—Very perfect; Mr. Fleming employed or had a person to mark
the positions of the schools upon it.

4. Monitor's Register.—None ever kept by him in the district, nor has he
the form.

5. Note Books.—Very unsatisfactory : rarely is there any reference to the
examination of the children, and the entries are of the most meagre character.

6. Term Return.—Satisfactory.

District 40.—Mr. Clarke, Wexford.
1. District Book.—Neatly kept as to form ; arrear in some particulars, and
information scant.
2. Guard Book.—Fairly kept.
3. Map.— Well kept.
4. Monitor’s Register.—Much in arrear. There are 48 monitors in district,

and only seven names (10 less 3 off) on register. This book is greatly neg-
lected.

254- S 2 5. Note
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5. Note Books.—I send in two furnished by Mr. Clarke himself as a specimen
of the worthlessness of the cducational statistics of that district. I requested
Mr. Clarke to bring me any two of his note books ; at first he questioned the
right of a head inspector to see these books, and these are the two which he
brought.  These two note books contain notes of 92 visits to or inspections of
81 iwtic.m:tl schools, and from an analysis of these the following deductions are
evident - —

1. That Mr. Clarke spends a small number of days out on the business
of inspection.

2. Inorder to make up in some degree for this, when he goes any dis-
tance from Wexford, or is at the expense of posting (he keeps no horse),
he visits two, three, and sometimes four schools in the day.

3. The average time spent in each of 89 inspections of these 81
schools is two hours 13 minutes, and the average number of pupils
present in each school, at his visit, was 47. When the time necessary
for official inquiries, examination of accounts, &e., is deducted from this
two hours 13 minutes, a very small portion remains for the most
important duty an inspector has to perform, the examination of the pupils
in the course of instruction pursued. :

4. The two note books do not contain even the faintest note or memo-
randum in reference to any examination of the classes beyond the mere
entering of figures on the table of proficicney opposite the classification of
the pupils. The two pages intended to record the details of the examination
of the classes, &c., are throughout the two bcoks as free from ink or pencil
as when they left the Education Office.

5. The numbers which record the proficiency are not entitled to reliance,
as the numerous and manifest coincidences between the numbers in certain
classes and branches, and the numbers said to have answered satisfactorily
in them, are so glaring, and so contradict all that we know of the state of the
schools, that experience must reject them as not reliable. Annexed I give the
names of the 81 schools, and to 40 of the more obvious cases of these
coincidences I have prefived aun asterisk, that the details may be referred
to and examined in the inspector’s note-books.

[ feel deep pain in being thus compelled, from a sense of duty, to lay before
the Commissioners this statement in reference to the manner in which Mr.
Clarke performs his work, but it is clear I have no other alternative.

6. Term Return—IHe stated that he had sent it to the office, but I saw
that intended for first term 1857, from which it appears that he had
visited ten schools up to 23d January.

These are the ten districts which were in my charge in 1856, but as two of
the sub-inspectors, Messrs. Molloy and Barrett, were also engaged therein, I
examined their note-books when I met these gentlemen. Mv. Barrett is doing
very fairly; Mr. Molloy admirably. Early last year I spent some days with
Mr. Molloy, in the city schools, and pointed out to him improved modes of
examining and note-taking, and I forward with much satisfaction two of his
note-books as specimens of careful and detailed accounts of his inspection. It
is to be recollected that the sub-inspectors make no primary reports, yet upon
nearly every one of the schools such a report could be made from Mr. Molloy’s
notes. I suggested still more system to him, and to give up pencil notes and

use ink.

Amongst the many important suggestions which this report calls forth, there
is one which demands immediate attention, the necessity of having a duplicate
of each inspector’s journal in the hands of the head inspector of the circuit, on
each Monday morning, and also of the term return at the proper time for
making it.

I remain, &c.
(signed)  James W. Kavanagh.

The Secretaries, Education Office.
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DISTRICT 20.—WEXFORD.

Ixpex to Scheols in two of Mr. Clarke’s Note-Books.

1 | Murrintown - -
#2 | Picreestown - -
#8 | Dunescastle - -
“4 | Bannow - - -
5| Siom - - - -
6 | Caroreigh - - -
*7 | Cullinstown - -
*8 | Taghmon = - -
*9 | Curracloe = - -
#10 | Oilgate - - -
11 | Coolumanie - - -
12 | Baldwinstown - -
13 | Rathangan - - -
#*14 | Duncormack - -
15 | Kiltealy - - -
*16 | Ballindaggin - -
17 | Enniscorthy (P. L. U.) -
18 | Wexford (female) (No. 2)
19 | Tagoat (female) - -
*20 | Adamstown (female) =
*21 | Adamstown (male) -
?22 | Raheen - - -
*23 | Bullybawn - = &
*24 | Rathduff - - -
*25 | Templeludigan - -
*26 | New Ross (P.L.U.) -
27 | Clologue - - -
"28 | Ferns ma.la} - -
*29 | Ferns (female) -
30 | Ballyduffe - - -
31 | Camolin (female) - -
32 | Camolin (male) -
33 | Ballyvogue - - -
34 | Coolgenon - - -
#35 | Newtownbarry (male) -
1
*36 | Newtownbury (femsle)
#37 | Tagoat (male) - -
=38 | Kilrane - - -
#39 | Bree (male) - -
*40 | Dree (female) - -
41 | Cushinstown (male) -
42 | Cushinstown (female) =
43 | Rathgarogue (mele) -
44 | Rathgarogue (female) -
%45 | Clonroche (female) -
“46 | Clonroche (male) -
*47 | Donard (male) - -
48 | Donard (female) - -
40 | New Ross (male) - -
50 | Crenkan -« - =
*51 | Montfield - L S
52 | Skreen (male) - =
53 | Skreen (female) - -
54 | Wexford (male) (No. 2)
55 | Glenbryan - -
56 | Davidstown - -
254.
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20 May - =
20 May - -
21 May - =
21 May - =
23 May - -
al l\rn.y o =
19 Mareh - "
06 h’[ﬂ.}' - -
26 May - -
3 June - 5
4 June - E
4 June - -
5 June - =
5 June - -
5 June - =
6 June - %
6 June - -
23 April - =
7 June -
9&10 June =
11 June - i
12 June - =
19 March - &
12 June - -
19 Mareh - -
12 June - -
13 June
13 June - -
13 June - E
10 April - =
14 June - =
18 June -
18 June - 5
18 June - i
25 April - =
19 June - =
19 June - -
19 June - -
20 June - -
22 April - =
20 June
21 June
24 April
21 June
24 April
24 June - a
24 June - -
25 June - &
18 Marek - -
25 June - . -
18 March - -
26 June (? 25th)

]
L)

26 June (? 25th)
26 June - -
26 June - -
27 June - -
27 June - b
27 June - -
927 June - -
28 June - &
17 April - -
28 June -
3 July - -
4 July - "
14 March 1856
4 July - &
11 March 1856 -
18 September -
4 Merch - -
6 Mareh 1856 -

101 to 12 o'clock
1 to 4
10 to 12}
1 to 3
11 to 3
8} to 10
2 to 2%
1'[]-I to 12
to 8
to 3
to 12
to 3
to 104
to
1} to
114 to
2l to
12 to
10 to
10 to
10 to
10} to 12
12 to 1%
12 to 1%
11 to 12
2 to 4L

”
”»
»
»
”
”
”
2
n
”
t1]
n
"
bH
tH

oW
‘ﬁ‘“:;*“l

81 to 10
10' to l‘”L
llrto 4
9lto 121
12 to 5
9} to 12
1L to 5
121 to 9}
10 to 12
104 to 124
1L to 31
34 to
11 to
34 to
1% to
10° to 12
i220 to 2
12 to 2
2 to 3;}
8} to 104
11 to 1%
10 to 11
105 to 12
11 to 1
12 to 1 %
01 to 11}
11l to 11}

“lir—-a

»

2 to 4 »

PRESENT.

36 ; no examination.
8 ; no examination.
49
48
78
78
22
None,
33
68
38
161
95
No notes.
222
53; no examination.
13
14
16
3
19
13
44
72
a7
180
96; no examination.
(i3]
50 ; no examination.
12
45; no examination.
42; no examination.
50 ; no examination.

51; scant notices.
52

None present, only inspeetors.

4 to 8%
9L to11L

11l to 1} I
2 to 4

4 to 5%

9,20 to 11}
4hours -
12L to 3 oclouk
10 to 2}
10} to —
9} to 12
124 to
2% to
101 to
101 to
11 to

Ll
n
”

€, 19,10 i 10

&3

473 no notes.

{continued)
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Districr 40.—Wexrorn.—Index to Schools in two of Mr. Clariks’'s Note books—continued.

69 | HHiltown (male) 20 March - 1 to 3 odelocki 30

57 | Courtmuouddy (male) - | 7 March - 11 to 12} o’clock{ 7 =
*58 | Courtmnenddy female) 7 Mareh - 12} to 1L, 10
69 | Wexford (female) No. 1) | 10 Murch - 101 to 243 A 181 ; mno notes.
60 | Bluckwater (male) - | 11 Mureh - 104 to 121 36
61 | Trinity - - - | 12 Mareh - 10} to 12 ” 23
62 | Clearistown - - | 12 March - 12) to 23 5 33
*63 | Forth - - - - | 12 March - 3to s , 38
64 | Mulrankin - - - | 13 March - 12 to ‘8% 26
*“G6 | Maygluss -« - | 13 Mareh - 3 o6 82
66 | Gulbally (male) - - | 18 March - 2 to 3% , 10
*07 | Gulbully (female) - - | 18 March - 38yto 5 7
68 | Clongeen - < - | 20 March - No hour - - | No number.

70 | Hiltown (female) 20 Murch - 3 o & % 26

Lk KR OE R} o® OV OLOF VW OECER W LE KR

71 | Ballyminn (male) - | 7 April 1856 12 to 2% 44
*72 | Ballyminn (tﬂmu]e) -| 7Apil - 10 to 12, 52
73 | Tullycanna - - | 15 April - 10l to 2% 29
74 | New Ross (fLma]a) - | 18 April - 10 to 21 182
76 | Oulart (fomale) - - | 22 April - 11t 1 5 23
#76 | Oulart (mnale) - - | 22 April - 1 to 3 - 28
77 | Castledockrell - - | 28 April - 3Lto 5 2 32
78 | Kilmyshall = - -] 24 Apiil (? 23&) 104 t012 20
79 | Kingsland - - - | 25 April - 11to 34 41
80 | Wexford (male) (I\o 1) | 13 Muy - -111 to 3 3 60
%81 | Barntown - - | 14 Moy 1856 - |11 to 3 » 56
J. W. Kavanogh,
Head Inspector,
Sir, Lducation Office, 28 May 1857.

Wits reference to the report of the 10th April last, furnished by you, setting
forth the manner in which the official records of the districts under your
charge are kept by the inspectors, we observe that the remarks made with
regard to Mr. O’Carroll, District Inspector, are very brief and not sufficiently
explanatory.

We are to request that you will furnish the same kind of detailed particulars,
in his case, as you have done in those of the other inspectors in connexion
with the following books and papers :

The District Book, Guard Book, District Map, Monitors’ Register, Term
Return.

In case of each of the above-named documents you are to report exactly the
state in which you found it.

We are, &ec.
J. W. Kavanagh, Esq., (signed) Maurice Cross,
Head Inspector. James Kelly,
Secretaries.
Gentlemen, Rathgar, 5 June 1857.

IN compliance with your instructions 1 beg leave to inform you of the state in
which I found Mxr. O'Carroll’s official documents, on inspecting them yesterday in
Drogheda —

District Book.—Admirably kept ; entries posted up to last week’s inspee-
twn and the information fuller than I have met with in any other ofticer’s
book. There is one head, however, which he has nns.nppxehended estimate
of teacher’s character, and owing to which he did not fill it up until the party
left the district ; he now under stands the correct object of the heading.

9. Guard Book.—Two volumes of letters pasted in, paged, and very well
indexed ; no arrear. Book well kept.
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3. Note Book.—Extremely well kept, from February 11th last, and informa-
tion very full. Notes on copy paper, of inspection for '55 and 56, kept in a
portfolio.

4. Map.—No school ever marked on it ; did not know how to enter them.

5. Paid Monitorss Book.—He has had no advice as to several recommenda-
tions made four months since ; some arrear in book ; he is about to open a new
book and mark up all entries due as to monitors.

6. Term Return.—Sent to office.
I remain, &ec.
The Secretaries, (signed) James W. Kavanagh.
Lducation Office, Dublin.

Sir, Education Office, 8 June 1857.

In answer to your letter of the 5th instant, acquainting us with the state in
which you found Mr. O'Carroll's official documents on the 4th instant, we are
to state that you have entirely mistaken the purport of our letter of the 28th
ultimo. What was required, and what was asked of you, was simply to report
in detail the state in which you found the several official records in Mr.
O’Carroll’s charge, at the time when you first examined them.

We are again to request that you will do so, giving from your notes taken at
the time of your first inspection of them, and referred to in your report of the
10th April last, a detailed statement, such as you have given in the cases of
Messrs. Mahony, Clarke and Fleming, of the precise condition in which you
~ then found Mr. O'Carroll’s official books and papers.

You must see that such information is absolutely necessary, in order that the
Board may deal equally and fairly with those officers of whose neglect you
complain.

We are, &c.
J. W. Kavanagh, Esq. (signed) M. Cross

Head Inspector. T Kd&’}Secremries. _

Sir, Education Office, 3 July 1857.
We are to remind you of our letter of the 8th ultimo, calling for your
report, in detail, as to the state in which you found the official records of Mr.
O’Carroll’s district, at the time when youn first examined them, and are to
request that you will furnish the required information without further delay.

g We are, &ec.
J. W. Kavanagh, Esq. (signed) Maurice Cross, .
° James Kelly, }Secretam%°

Sir, Education Office, 14 July 1857.
WE have again to request that you will reply to our letter of the 8th ultimo,
relative to the state in which you found Mr. O’Carroll's official books and
papers, on your first inspection of them.

We are, &e. .
J. W. Kavanagh, Esq. (signed) M. Cross,) L s
Head Inspector. J. Kelly, jSecretaries.
Sir, Education Office, 18 July 1857. .

WE have again to request that you will reply without further delay to our
letter of the 8th ultimo, regarding the state in which you found Mr. District
Inspector O'Carroll’s official books. '

We are, &e.

J. W, Kafanagh, Esq. (signed) Maurice Cross, e
Head Inspector. % James Kelly, }Sem etaries.
254- - s ‘l'
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Office of National Education,
Sir, 24 July 1857.
LxrerrING to our letters of the 8th of June, and of the 3d, 14th, and 18th
instant, calling upon you to report in detail, for the information of the Com-
missioners, the state in which you found the several official records in Mr.
O'Carroll’s charge when you first examined them, we are now to request that
you will inform us by return of post whether it be your intention to comply
with those instructions, and why you have omitted doing so up to the present

time.
We remain, &e.
J. W. Kavanagh, Esq. (signed) Maurice Cross ™
Head Inspector. James Kelly, ’}Se"ret‘“ 3
Gentlemen, Rathgar, 25 July 1857.

IN reply to your instructions, I beg leave to state, in reference to the
remarks made in my letter of 10th April last, respecting the manner in which
Mr. O'Carroll kept his official documents, that Mr. O’Carroll’s books were not
examined by me, for the following reasons:

I noticed him that on the occasion of my visit to Drogheda to examine
the teachers (9th and 10th February), 1 would examine his various official
books, &c. ; and for this purpose I appointed, when I arrived there, the evening
of the 10th for that duty. Mr. O’Carroll told me that they were all in arrear;
that there was no use inspecting them that time ; that his other duties so much
engaged him as to leave him no time for the books; that he kept no regular
note books, as the space was too small therein after the questions for the large
hand that he wrote, but that henceforth he would try and fill the proper note
books. He stated, however, and I knew of old, that he takes and preserves very
ample notes of his inspection, on leaves of common copy paper.

In reply, 1 informed Mr. O'Carroll, in presence of Mr. Molloy, sub-inspector,
whose note hooks I then examined, and sent some of them to the office, that it
was my duty nevertheless to see and examine the books.

Mr. O'Carroll was then delicate, although able to join us at the examination ;
and on the 10th, the marking of the teachers’ written exercises and the business
of the classification occupied us to a later hour than I had expected. [ sent
Mr. O’Carroll home to get his books ready for examination, and was on my way
to his house, when I learned that I had scarcely time to be over to catch the
last train, which I had arranged to return by, so I turned back and drove to
the train.  Next, or on an carly day, I wrote to Mr. O’Carroll, explaining the
cause of the disappointment, and telling him that T expected to go to Drogheda.
shortly, when I would examine his official documents. On receiving your letter,
I visited, 4th June, and reported to you, 5th June, the state in which I then
found the several records of District 26.

Beyond Mr. O’Carroll's own admission, as correctly reported in my letter of
10th April, I am unable to supply any further information ; and my report with
regard to him is precisely similar to that with respect to Mr. Porter, of the
Granard District. Wherever the documents were well kept, as in the cases of
Mr. Connell and Mr. Adair, I reported in general terms; and where I did not
examine them, as in the case cf Districts 24 and 26, I gave the officers’ own
acccunt of them in June. Mr. O'Carroll told me that it was subsequent to
my visit in February he had put his documents into shape and had worked up
arrears.

I remain, &ec.
The Secretaries. (signed) James W. Kavanagh.

DistrIicT 26.

MrMmORANDUM in reference to Mr. Kavanagh's Remarks on Mr. O’ Carroll's
District.

Lerrrr No. 1, dated 10th April 1857, is a report from Mr. Kavanagh, Head
Inspector, upon the manner in which the official records of the districts under -
his charge have béen kept by the inspectors in 1856. 3

n
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In this report Mr. Kavanagh professes to show the state of the district book,
guard book, map, paid monitor’s register, note books, and term return.

In the cases of Mr. Mahony, Mr. M‘Sweeny, Mr. Fle_m‘ing, and Mr. Clarke, he
goes most minutely into detail as to the manner in which those documents are
kept, and in each case points out instances of much neglect.

As regards District 26, in charge of Mr. O’Carroll, the following is the state-
ment made by Mr. Kavanagh, in the report referred to :—

« Business in arrear. Inspector states, that he has little or no time to devote
to the keeping of the official records ; and it is only now he is about to make
trial of the note books, never used up to this. He kept notes on common paper,
and which he has filed for reference.”

These remarks of Mr. Kavanagh, regarding Mr. O'Carroll, having been con-
sidered quite too brief, he was called upon by letter of the 28th May 1857 “ to
furnish the same kind of detailed particulars as in the cases of the other
Inspectors referred to, setting forth exactly the state in which he found Mr.
O'Carroll's books.”

Letter No. 2, dated 5th June 1857, from Mr. Kavanagh, is intended as an
answer to the Secretary’s letter of the 28th May 1857. Mr. Kavanagh, how-
ever, avoids the instructions given in the letter of the 28th May, and gives the
state in which he found Mr. O'Carroll's official documents on (yesterday) the 4th
June 1857.

This answer not being satisfactory, Mr. Kavanagh was informed, by letter of
the 8th June 1857, that he had entirely mistaken the purport of the letter of
the 28th May 1857 ; that what was wanted, and what was asked of him, was
simply to report in detail the state in which he found the several official records
in Mr. O’Carroll's charge at the time when he, Mr. Kavanagh, first examined
them.

By this letter, 8th June 1857, Mr. Kavanagh was again requested to do so,
giving from his notes taken at the time of his first inspection of them, and
referred to in his report of the 10th April, a detailed statement, such as he gave
in the cases of Messrs. Mahony, Clarke, and Fleming, of the precise condition
in which he then found Mr. O’Carroll's official books and papers. Mr. Kavanagh
was told that, to enable the Board to deal equally and fairly with those officers
of whose neglect he complained, the information required regarding Mr.
O’Carroll’s books, &e., was absolutely necessary.

Mr. Kavanagh not having replied to the letter of the 8th June 1857, was
reminded of it on the 3rd July 1857.

Again reminded on the 18th July 1857.

Again reminded on the 24th July 1857.

Letter No. 3, dated 25th July 1857, is Mr. Kavanagh's reply, in which he
states, with reference to his remarks on Mr. O’Carroll’s official documents in the
letter of the 10th April 1857, that Mr. O'Carroll's books were not examined by
him at all. Assigns as reasons, that having appointed the evening of the 10th
February 1857 with Mr. O’Carroll, for the examination of his official books, &e.,
Mr. O'Carroll informed him that they were all in arrear, and that there was no
use inspecting them that time; that his other duties left him no time for the
books ; that he kept no regular note books, but promised to do so in future.

"That Mr. O'Carroll was informed, in the presence of Mr. Molloy, Sub-Inspector,
that it was his, Mr. Kavanagh's, duty, nevertheless, to see and examine the
books.

The delicate state of Mr. O'Carroll’s health, and the length of time occupied
in the examination of teachers, are given as further reasons by Mr. Kavanagh,

Mr. Kavanagh mentions, that having arranged with Mr. O’Carroll, after the
marking of the teachers’ exercises, to examine his books, he learned that he had
scarcely time to catch the last train, which he arranged to return by, so he
turned to catch the train; that he wrote to Mr. O’Carroll, mentionine the cause
of the disappointment, and telling him that he would be shortly in Drogheda,
and would examine the documents. Books examined on the 4th June lg:i? —
(See Letter No. 2.) '

254- i Mr. Kavanagh
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Mr. Kavanagh states that his report on Mr. O'Carroll's official documents, in
his letter of 10th April, is similar* to that with respect to Mr. Porter. That
wherever the documents were well kept, as in the cases of Mr, Conwcll and Mr.
Adair, hie reported in general terms ; and where he did not examine the docu-
ments, as in the cases of Mr. O’Carroll and Mr. Porter, he gave the officers’ own
account of them. That Mr. O’Carroll has told him thtat he has put his docu-
rIr‘uints into shape, and worked up his arrears since Mr. Kavanagh's visit in
‘ehruary.

No. 1. {G.)

CornresronnrncE between the Commissioners of National Education, Ireland,
and Mr. Jomes W', Kavanagh (late Head Inspector of National Schools) ; and
also with Robert Sullivan, LL. p., Superintendent of the Training Department,
and Mr. Joln Rintoul, Assistant in ditto, relative to a statement made by
Myr. Karanagh, that no opportunity has been afforded to the Teachers in
Training of witnessing the mode of teaching the First Book of Lessons, from
the 24th of April to the 4th July 1857.

Education Office, Training Department,
Gentlemen, 24 April 1857.

As it has been asserted that the Teachers who have been trained in this
Institution are not made acquainted with the improved methods of teaching the
alpbabet, I feel myself called upon to state, for the information of the Board,
that there are no grounds for this assertion. By referring to the official pro-
gramme,t it will be seen that this is the very first subject which is taken up;
and | can state, with confidence, that no class fur the last 19 years has left this
without having been fully instructed in the best and most approved method of
teaching the alphabet.

And in order that the untrained Teachers of our schools might know
something of the improvements that had been made in the method of teaching
gencrally, I, so far back as the year 1839, published alittle book, called “ Lectures
and Letters on Education.” Among those was a lecture onalphabetic teaching,
and so recently as last year the substance of this lecture was republished in
“The Papers on Popular Education,” and I request particular attention to the
last paragraph of it; for, after all, it is the wethod adopted by the Board that
we should recommend ; and, more particularly, when it is the easiest and best
method that has been, and I will add, that can be devised. In proof of this, I
will for the present merely quote an extract or two from letters which I received
fromn Mr. Kavanagh on this subject, in the year 1841. He was then the Teacher
of Tullamore National School; and I had said to him, while in training (as I
have always been in the habit of saying to Teachers of whose abilities I had
formed a bigh opinion) if you succeed in introdueing any improvements in
school keeping, or in methods of teaching, you will oblige me by giving me an

account

* Which, however, it is not; for while in the case of Mr. Porter it is distinetly stated that the
official books called for by him were not produced, and therefore not seen or examined, in the case
of' Mr. O’Carroll, on the contrary, Mr, Kavanagh’s statement is so worded as to imply, as it did
actually imply, in the minds of the officers here, that he had seen and found in arrear the official
books in question, _ )

+ Subjects of Professor Sullivan’s Lectures and Ezaminations.—1. Best method of teaching
the Alphabet— Lancaster’s, Jacotot’s, Wood’s, Pillan’s Plans. 2. Improved method of teaching
Orthograply—Practical Rules for Spelling. 8. The most approved method of teaching Reading
—Rules for Reading. 4. Best method for teaching the Meaning of Words— Roots and Derivations
—English Grammar and Composition. 5. Easy Lessons in Reasoning, or the Elements of Logic
6. Exnwinations in the Lesson Books publisfled by the Board. 7. Reviews of the different
Systems of Popular Education—Bell and Lancaster—Pestalozzi, Fellenberg, &c. 8. Different
methods of teaching—tbe Intellectual, the Monitorial, the Siniultineous, the Elliptic or Sug-
gestive, and the Mixed or Eclectic methods. 9. Reviews of the principal Treatises on Popular
Education, includiog Abbott’s “Teacher” and Hall's Lectures on Schoal-keeping (American
writers). 10. Geography and the Elements of Astronomy. 11. The Elements of Political
Economy, taking Archbishop Whateley’s “ Easy Lessons on Money Matters” as the basis; and
touching only on those topics which are plain, practical, and corrective of popular prejudices.
12. An Outline of Enylish Literature and General History.
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account of them, and I will read your letter publicly tnr the class, giving your
name and the name of your school. Such letters from Ff:ach_ers (and | have
many of them) I have always regarded as official communications and not as
private letters. i

In a letter dated Tallamore, 1st January 1841, Mr. Kavanagh says, * The

Outline is invaluable; it contains excellent instruetions in the departments in
which Teachers require most and possess least information, how to teach. I was
sorry to find your instructions for teaching the alphabet omitted init; as [
practised it since I came here I can with truth say, children would learn the 26
small letters while they would be learning A. B. C. according to the old school
slan.”
: And on my asking him to send me a full account of his success, in order
that I might read it to the class, he replies in a leiter dated 15th of the same
month, * In compliance with your request, [ beg leave to briefly state the method
of teaching the alphabet practised by me. and which is (with scarcely any differ-
ence) the plan suggested by you in your invaluable Lectures on the Art of
Teaching. The plan is so simple and rational that any person, upon hearing it,
cannot but be struck with its practicability and usefulness ; but 1 question if
any person could at first anticipate such signal success from its application as
I have met with.” He then gives in detail his application of the method, and
concludes: “any teacher, how incompetent soever, may in this way convey to
the most stupid child a knowledge of the alphabet in a week, what was in Mr.
Byrne's days the work of months; yes, sometimes of a year!™ “So much for
your method of teaching the alphabet as applied by me.”

What he calls my method, and italicises as such, is, as I have stated in my
Lecture, the method which the Board have adopted and recommended in their
First Book of Lessons, which has been successfully used in thousands of schools
for the last 23 years. It well deserves all the praises which Mr. Kavanagh has
given to it, for a simpler or more philosophic plan could not be devised.

This plan, and the whole of the arrangement of the First Book of Lessons, we
owe to the founders of the Edinburgh Sessional School, as may be seen by
referring to Mr. Wood’s book. (:Sec also Professor Pillan’s account of the method
of teaching how to read in this school, which I now enclose.)

I shall only add, that if any plan has been discovered since, “ which will
enable any teacher, how incompetent soever to convey to the most stupid child
a knowledge of the alphabet in (less than) a week,” the Board should adopt it at
once, and the discoverer should be honoured and rewarded as the greatest
benefactor of children that the world has yet seen. One word more: 1 hope
that the method suggested is not a mechanical one, either new or old; such
toys may be suited for nurseries, or for ad captandum displays in public, but
it is absurd to think that they could be used, except at great expense and with
very little success, in the thousands of schools under the Board.

I am, &e.
The Secretaries. (signed) Robert Sullivan.
Gentlemen, | Rathgar, 4th May 1857.

I BEG leave to submit, for the information of the Commissioners, the following
statement in reference to the instructions lately given by me to considerable
numbers of the National teachers in and about Dublin, upon school matters.

Saturday, 7th March.—The nature, object, and advantages of organisation,
and the leading dutes of organisers, were explained to 66 teachers from both
the Dublin districts; and the members of the Men's Special Class were also
present.

'E‘_:aturday, 21st March.—Instruction and explanation on the subject of organi-
sation were given to 33 teachers, for two hours.

Saturday, 28th March.—The teachers of the North Dublin District only were
summoned, but many from the south side also attended ; subject of instruction,
“ School Accounts and Educaticnal Statistics.” Present, 52 teachers.

254. T 2 Saturday,
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Saturday, 4th April. —There were 79 teachers present ; subject, * The little
New Comers and their Halfpenny Primer ;” and also, some unnoticed points in
refercuce to our school aceounts,

On all the previous occasions the teachers met in one of the lecture rooms
in the Training Department, but the two following meetings were held in
St. Paul's National School, Queen-street, as the situation was considered more
central for the teachers who were in town attending the written examination.
These meetings were held in the evening at seven o'clock, whereas those in
Marlborough-street were held at one o'clock in the day. There were 71 teachers
preseut on the evening of the 16th of April, and 68 on the evening of the 17th;
subject on both, the “ First Book of Lessons.”

Saturdzty, 18th April- —The instruction was resumed in Marlborough-street ;
present, 102 teachers ; subject, “ First Book of Lessons.”

Saturday, 25th April—Eighty teachers attended; subject, * First Class,”
how to carry out its school programme, including the following points, reading,
spelling, grammar (to class words), arithmetic (first notions of number), and
subjects of general intelligence suited to young children.

Saturday, 2d May.-—About 105 teachers attended ; but as I had been out of
town, and not arriving at one o’clock, some persons told the teachers that I
had not returned from the country, and that there would be no instruction, so
that on my arrival at two o’clock all had left with the exception of 25 teachers,
and these I instructed on the teaching of penmanship, dictation, grammar, &e.
I then read to them the order of the Commissioners, with the exception of the
last paragraph in it, directing the discontinuance of the Saturdays meetings
henceforth, and informed them that I intend to avail myself of the occasion of
the approaching examination of the Dublin teachers, in order to complete the
entire of the subjects upon which 1 had arranged to instruct them.

Up to Easter, all the organisers in town who were mnot otherwise engaged
attended the instruction, and since Easter the four connected with my circuit
were regular in their attendavce. The teachers and assistants from West
Dublin Model, from Inchicore, and from Glasnevin Schools, were nearly all
present regularly.  Mr. Young (once), Mr. O'Sullivan, and Mr. Sheehy, as
also Dr. Clarke attended ; Messrs. Barrett and O’Galligan, Sub-Inspectors ; (oyle
and M‘Dermott, District Inspectors; Sheahan, Keenan, Hunter, and Newell,
Head Inspectors ; Mr. M‘Creedy and the Right honourable A. Macdonnell, Resi-
dent Commissioner, were amongst those present on one or more occasions.
The members of the Special Class, and several teachers from the south side of
the city, expressed a wish to be present; but | deemed it better, in order to
preclude all ground of misapprehension, to deny admission, after the first or
second day, to all teachers under training, and merely to permit, but neither to
invite nor encourage, the attendance of a few of those from the south side,
should there be room for them in the lecture room. On the five days in April
that the instruction was upon Method in the Lowest Classes, the average number
of teachers present cach day was 80, and of persons 100; so that I may state
with confidence that not less than 140 different teachers received more or less
instruction.

The teachers were supplied with note-books, pencils, and a copy of the First
Lesson Book, and each teacher has forwarded to me the notes as taken, or
rather those somewhat expanded, so as to exhibit the leading principles and
facts set forth in the course of my instruction. All of these papers give proofs
of great attention on the part of the jteachers;_and although very va.ried,.a.s
might be expected, owing to differences’in the ability and power of observation
of the parties, without exception they all afford ample evidence that the
teachers are now satisfied as to the paramount importance of the method of
teaching the junior classes, of the serious defects in the generality of our schools
in this respect, and of the various means for their correction. Not only their
attention, but that of numbers of others through those who attended, is
awakened to the deeply importunt fact, that the pupils in First Bock constitute
half the gross number in our schools, and that from their ranks the recruits
must be advanced to fill the places of those who, leaving school from the higher
classes, go out into the several walks of life.

I shall in a few days send in a list of the teachers who attended, and a few

of the papers which they have written on the subject of my instruction. I s&;ll
0
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also forward, when Mr. Joyce shall have made it out, an account of the 'actual
locomotive expenses incurred by the teachers, and paid by me, amounting to
about 97 It does not amount to more than 1 /. each day for the instruction
of such a large number of teachers, and to effect this my duties were in nowise
interfered with ; and as most of the schools are closed on Saturday, and the
hour of meeting having been one o’clock, little inconvenience arose to either
schools or teachers.

Many of these teachers were trained ; but T feel bound to eall attention to
the fact, that no opportunity has been afforded to the teachers while in training
(at least 1 state so confidently as to the men) to witness the mode of teaching
the First Book of Lessons. They never see it taught; and even if they did,
there is no person in the Training Department, now connected with that branch,
who has had any experience of the existing defects in the ordinary National
Schools throughout Ireland, and consequently there is no one who could bear
upon the question like one of your experienced inspectors.

I know, and every one who has heard a few of the lessons knows, that a vast
amount of good has been done to the teachers by the few days instruetion ;
and, so far as the junior classes are concerned, inspection is simplified on the
north side of Dublin.

I remain, &ec.
(signed) James W. Kavanagh.

The Secretaries, Education Office.

Gentlemen, Training Department, 12 June 1857.

Ix returning Mr. Kavanagh's letter of 4th May, for the perusal of which I
have to express my thanks, I beg to state that the only portion of it which
concerns me, is the following paragraph :—* I feel bound to call attention to
the fact that no opportunity has been afforded to the teachers while in training
(at least 1 state so confidently as to the men), to witness the mode of teaching
the First Book of Lessons. They never see it taught ; and even if they did, there
is no person in the Training Department, now connected with that branch, who
has had any experience of the existing defects in the ordinary National Schools
throughout Ireland. and consequently there is no one who could bear upon the
question like one of your experienced inspectors.”

In so far as this paragraph contains merely matter of opinion, I abstain from
noticing it ; but as it purports to state a fact, which yet is no fact, I must say,
in self-defence, that Mr. Kavanagh has no grounds for his statement, and that
if it were true, as he alleges, that the teachers in training have no opportunity
of witnessing the mode of teaching the First Book of Lessons, and that they
never see it taught, then I ought to be called before the Board and reprimanded
for a dereliction of duty, inasmuch as this is one of the subjects with which I
am specially charged. So contrary, however, is the real fact, that for many
years past 1 have myself taught and heard the teachers, both male and female,
teach the First Book thoroughly, and have frequently had occasion to express to
the various classes my regret at the length of time we were compelled to remain
over that book, but that I felt the importance of their teaching it well.

[t may, perhaps, be in the recollection of the Resident Commissioner, that
about nine years ago or more he introduced the late Mr. Joseph Hume, m.».,
into the lecture room when I was in the act of teaching the First Book to a
class of boys brought up from the Model School, in presence of the teachers in
training, on which occasion Mr. Hume made some pertinent remarks on the
advantage of teaching on an intellectual system from the very beginning, and
expressed his satisfaction that a rational system had been adopted in our Train-
ing Institution.

In regard to teaching the alphabet, my practice has been to elicit from the
teachers the various methods adopted in their schools. A familiar discussion
then takes place, and the merits and demerits of each plan are considered.
The different methods that have been proposed by educationists are then ex-
plained, and the plan of the First Book, which is that of the ““Sessional School,”
pointed out. So careful have I been in this matter, that [ have taken pains to
show the teachers that they should commence at page 6, and go over the first
three lessons of section 1, before they make use of the alphabet at all, and that

254- T3 they
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they are to use the latter, not for the purpose of teaching the letters, but as an
examination exercise after the pupils have learned them from the above men-
tioned lessons. I have also, for obvious reasons, suggested to the teachers the
propriety of dividing these lessons into six or eight parts. I was one of the
parties consulted in the compilation of this book, and before it was published I
pointed out the anomaly of putting the alphabet hefore section 1, as it did not
accord with the proposed plan of teaching it; and subsequently, in 1835 or
1836, I urged on Doctor MacArthur the propriety of making the alteration ; and
so far as I can recolleet, the only reason assigned for permitting it to remain
unaltered was that, as the alphabet was not to be used in the ordinary way, it
mattered little where it stood, while it looked better at the beginning like other
primers,

[ trust I may be forgiven for having written at such length, as I have taken
up my pen solely in self-defence.

I have, &ec.
(signed) John Rintoul

-

(8781/57. B. O. 19/6/57.)
Office of National Education,
Sir, 24 June 1857.

Wz have laid before the Commissioners of National Education your letter of
the 12th instant, containing your remarks upon the statement made by Mr.
Kavanagh, Head Inspector, in his communication of the 4th ultimo, to the é¢ffect
that no opportunity has been afforded to the teachers in training (particularly
the men) to witness the mode of teaching the First Book of Lessons.

We are no.v directed to state that the Commissioners consider the explana-
tion in your letter satisfactory.

We are, &e.
Maurice Cross,) Se
Jumes Kelly, | ™

J. Rintoul, Esq.

Moyrally House. Enfield. Cretanios.

(signed)

(B. 0. 19/6/57.)
Sir, Education Office, 4 July 1857.

Your letter of the 4th May last, stating that no opportunity has been
afforded to the teachers in training to witness the mode of teaching the First
Book of Lessons, having been referred to Mr. Rintoul, Assistant Professor, we
are to state that he has forwarded a letter of explanation, dated 12th ultimo, of
which we enclose you a copy, and that the Commissioners of National Educa-
tion consider it satisfactory.

We are, &ec.
J. W. Kavanagh, Iisq. : Maurice Crass,} o
Head Inspector. (signed) Jumes Kelly, Seeretaries.
No. 1. (H.)

CoRRESPONDENCE between the Commissioners of Natural Education, Ireland,
and Mr. James W. Kavanagh (late Head Inspector of National Schools),
relative to his habitual delay and irregularity in the transmission of his
weekly Journals ; in replying to communications addressed to him from the
Office, and to other matters of a similar nature, from 3d July to 5th October

1857.
Sir, Education Office, 3 July 1857.
O~ the 6th December last we forwarded to you, for any observation you
might have to make, a letter of the 22d November last, from Mr. James Browne,
District Inspector, suggesting some amendments in the Class Rolls for National

Sc_ho?is. We
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We are to direct that you will return his letter without further delay. with
any remarks you have to offer on the subject to which it relates.

We cannot but express our astonishment at the delay which you have allowed
to occur with regard to this matter ; a period of nearly seven months having
elapsed since you were written to thereon.

We are, &ec.
(signed) Mawrice Crossy) 2 r
J. W. Kavanagh, Esq. James Kelly, | Secretaries.

(B. O. 24/7/57. Official Memorandum.)

Office of National Education,
Sir, 27 July 1857.

WE are directed by the Commissioners of National Education to transmit to
you a copy (herewith enclosed) of a statement subicitted to them from the
Inspection Department, respecting the habitual delay and irregularity that have
taken place in the transmission of your weekly journals, and in replying to com-
munications addressed to you from this office.

We are to state to you that the Commissioners have felt much surprise and
dissatisfaction at the state of things represented in the memorandum referred
to, and they direct that you will, before the next meeting of the Board, furnish
an explanation respecting each item in the statement.

We are, &c. 5
{signed) Maurice Cross, o
James W. Kavanagh, Esq. e James Kelly, }Semetanes.
Head Inspector.
(No. 1.)

Mr. James W. Kavanagh, Head Inspector.

Inspection Department, 24 July 1857.
HEeAD Inspector’s journals for the weeks ended on 4th, 11th, and 18th instant,
have not yet been received in office, and consequently the manner in which
Inspector’s time has been occupied for the last month is quite unknown here.
Attention requested to the following abstract of letters, written to Mr.
Kavanagh since 22d September 1856, on the subject of the transmission of his
journals.

Journals for weeks ended 6th, 13th, and 20th instant, called
for.

1st October 1856 - - Journals for weeks ended 6th, 13th, 20th, and 27th ultimo,
called for, The omission to forward them causes incon-
venience, and leaves office in ignorance of Inspeetor’s
address.

23d QOctober 1856 =~ - Journals for weeks ended 4th, 11th, and 18th instant,

called for.

5th November 1856 - - Journal for week ended on 1st instant, called for. Itis
essentially necessary that the office should know his

22d September 1856 -

arrangements.
22d November 1856 - - Journal for weels ended on 15th instant, called for.
10th December 1856 - - Journals for weeks ended on 156th, 22d, and 29th ultimo,

and 6th instant, called for.
22d December 1856 - =~ Journals in arrear, called for.
2d January 1857 - - Journals for past seven weeks, called for.
6th March 1857 - - Journals for weeks ended on 7th, 14th, 21st, and 28th

ultimo, ealled for.
19th March 1857 - Journal for last week, called for.

9th July 1857 - - Journal for week ended 4th instant, called for.
Inspection Department, 24 July 1857.

J. D.

254. T4 The

Printed image digitised by the University of Southampton Library Digitisation Unit



159 CORRESPONDENCE, &c. RELATING TO

The following is a Return of Letters on different subjects written to Mr.
Kavanagh, of which he has been reminded, but which he has not as yet

answered.
6th December 1856 - - Letter of this date, calling for his observations as toa
suggestion of Mr. Browne (James), in reference to the
Class Rolls.
3d July 1857 - - TReminded.
3d Janmary 1857 - - Letter of this date, for his opinion as to suggestion of Mr.
Conwell, District Inspector, to give a book, barometer,
thermometer, &ec., to Model Schools.
18th February 1857 - - Reminded.
19th January 1857 - - Requested to furnish a list of the schools nnder his super-
vision, which he would recommend for organisation.
3d March 1857 - - Reminded.
4th May 1857 - - Letter of this date, sending Mr. Clarke’s refutation of Mr.

Kavanagh’s statements, for any observation Mr. Kavanagh
might wish to make.

8th June 1857 - - Letter of this date, requesting his opinion as to the manner
in which Mr. Carroll, District Inspector, keeps the books
of his distriet.

3d July 1857 - - Reminded.

14th July 1857 - - Reminded.

18th July 1857 - - Reminded.
Gentlemen, Grenville-Rathgar, 28 July 1857.

Your letter of the 27th instant calls on me to explain why my journals for
the 4th, 11th, and 18th instant, have not been sent into the office, and why
replies have been delayed to the following letters : one containing a suggestion
from Mr. James Browne, Inspector, as to class rolls; one from Mr. Conwell as to
barometaic and other observations and records in Trim ; and one of January last
upon the organisation of the Dublin schools.

Tirst as to the letters. It is well known, known to those in the Inspection
Office, that I have given Mr. Browne’s suggestion consideration, and that
in my addresses to the teachers in Marlborcugh-street, last March, I spoke
favourably of it ; but not formally replying to it can, as T well know, cause no
official inconvenience, as from its nature it would be quite useless, until some
modification of the Class Rolls was about to be made, and I kept it and many
other suggestions by me until I saw some likelihood of such change. Next, Mr.
Conwell's suggestions : many months since, I told Dr. Clarke that I wished his
advice and counsel on this subject. He was overworked most of the time since,
and unable to take it up with me; and just before his departure for Temple-
moyle I called on him upon this matter, and we agreed to postpone it until his
return after vacation. It is an important question, and requires more careful
consideration than you would at first suppose. The third letter should not
have been quoted as in arrear, that in reference to the organisation of the City
of Dublin Schools. My whole occupation, which you were well aware of, for
the month of March, is the reply to it, the introduction of the organisation into
the Dublin schools in the face of many obstacles.

You also refer to two other letters, but the replies to which you acknowledge
having received before you wrote your communication of the 27th. In refer-
ence to one of these letters, that of Mr. Clarke, I beg to remind you that my
report is dated 21st January last, Mr. Clarke's remarks thereon, dated 11th
March ; that your letter thereon is dated 4th of May ; that owing to the size of
the parcel, &e. and being from home* I did not receive it until 10th of May,
and that my reply dated the 25th instant, is the earliest that 1 could forward,
owing to other duties, and to the lengthened and detailed nature of the com-
munication to be answered.

As to the three journals in arrear, no inconvenience can have arisen there-
from, as my address was known to the Inspection Office, and the cause c:lf ihe

elay

* You had my correct address in the office, but it was not attended to.
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delay was neither neglect nor inattention. I can never engage that my journals
will reach precisely on Monday morning each weck, nor could any one who
knows anything of the life of a Head Inspector expect such. I feel, a}n:l have
ever felt, that in the main the rule is a right one; but I am not surprised that
sometimes delay has arisen in my transmission of them. If a return be called
for of the arrear of the journals of all the Head Inspectors since 1847, [ am
quite content to stand on my 10 } years’regularity. Whenever there has been
any unusual delay in the transmission of my journals, I have invariably sent an
explanation.®

I am sorry that the arrear of a few weeks' journals and two letters—-these
received before you wrote: the delay as to the other two has been explained—
should be deemed matter for dissatisfaction, and I can only state that my un-
divided time is devoted to my duties, and that 1 am perfectly conscious 1 never
deliberately, and of my own neglect, cause the slightest arrear in the transmis-
sion of official papers. These journals, and a reference to the two letters, shall
be forwarded without delay.

I am, &e.
(signed) James W. Kavanagh,

The Secretaries, Head Inspector, National Schools.

. Education Office.

Meyvoranpuy for Mr. M Creedy, with Head Inspector Kavanagh's Letter of
28th July 1857.

1. LeTTER of Secretaries did not refer to the Journals for the weeks ending
4th, 11th, and 18th instant merely, or principally, but to nearly all his journals
since September 1856. The delay in transmitting them has been habitual.
Numerous instances were quoted in the statement submitted to the Board ; the
Commissioners called for an explanation as to each item in that statement ; but
Mr. Kavanagh takes notice of one item only as far as the journals are con-
cerned.

2. Head Imspector was also asked why replies to our letters in the cases of
M. Clarke and Mr. O’Carroll, and to our reminders (of which three were written
in the latter case) had not been furnished. These he omits to notice as por-
tions of the complaint against him. True, replies in those cuses reached the
office on the evening of the day on which he was written to. but they had not
arrived when the matter was brought under the notice of the Board, and he
was therefore bound to state the cause of the delay.

In Mr. O'Carroll's case, he was called on five times altogether. After the
receipt of the fifth letter he replied, but it does not appear in that reply, nor in
this letter, why he did not answer our communication previously.

3. Mr. Kavanagh states, that it was well known in the Inspection Office
that he had given Mr. Browne’s suggestion consideration. None of the clerks
in Inspection Office were aware that he had done so. However, what we had
reason to complain of was that he did not reply to our letter or to our re-
minder.

4. As regards Mr. Conwell's suggestion, Mr. Kavanagh, on receipt of the
letter of the 27th instant, wrote to say he approved of it, and recommended its
adoption. .

5. As to the letters addressed to Mr. Kavanagh, regarding the duties of the
organisers, copies of which are attached, one was written to him on the 19th
January, telling him that the organisers would return from Belfast about the
close of February, when they were to be engaged in organising the Dublin
schools, and requesting him meanwhile to communicate with the city inspectors,
Messrs. M‘Dermott, Coyle, and O’Galligan, and also with the local managers, as
to the schools to be organised; and to send a list of the schools that might be
selected to this office.

: To

# See my letter, 3/1/37.

U
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To this letter Mr. Kavanagh never replied, and what is more he wholly
neglected to act upon its instructions; for on the arrival of the organising
teachers hiere in Dublin on the 28th of February, it was discovered that Mr.
Kavanagh had made no due preparations whatever for their arrival ; had sought
no interview with managers or patrons, to prepare them for the services of the
organisers, and had not even informed the inspectors, Messrs. MDermott,
Coyle, and O'Galligan, of what was contemplated.

The consequences of this were :—

ist. That the organising teachers, 12 men and three women, were kept idle
in the city for nearly a fortnight, no schools being prepared for them ; and

2dly. As the Resident Commissioner is well aware, such were the miscon-
ceptions, fears, and jealousies, which were excited among the managers, owing
solely to the haste in which the matter was finally taken up by Mr. Kavanagh,
that the whole system of organisation was put in peril, and the enterprise had
nearly made shipwreck at its very outset.

The secoud letter, of the 3d March, a copy of which is also attached,
reminded Mr. Kavanagh of the preceding one of the 19th January, and again
requested him to send in a list of the schools selected for organisation ; but neither
to this did Mr. Kavanagh ever reply.

6. No one in Inspection Office knew Head Inspector’s address for the last
month, though he says it was well known to the office; it was known that his
family lives at Rathgar, but nothing more. However, the point referred to in
ow letter was not his address, but the *“ occupation of his time for the last
month.”

7. It will be found on reference to documents that Dr. Newell’s journals have
reached this office with the utmost regularity on the Monday succeeding the
week to which they had reference. Mr. Hunter’s journals, in like manner, are
forwarded punctually, at least they reach the office on either Monday or
Tuesday. But the point complained of was not that the journals did not
arrive on Monday morning, or on Tuesday, or on Wednesday, but that they
did not arrive for three and four weeks, and even for seven weeks in one
instance. Monthly transmission has been the rule with Mr. Kavanagh, weekly
the exception, -

8. The incorrectness of quotation, * a few weeks journals and three letters,”
has been already noticed.

Mr. Kavanagh states that whenever any unusual delay has occurred in trans-
mission of his journals be invariably sent an explanation.

During the period referred to in the memorandum laid before the Board only
two letters on this subject were received from him, one stating that he was
obliged to hold a journal over for a week, the other is the one quoted in the
margin of his letter, and was called forth by a remonstrance from the office.

Sir, Education Office, 19th January 1857.
Wa: have to inform you that it has been arranged that so soon as the organ-
ising teachers at present under the superintendence of Mr. Keenan, Head
Inspector, shall return from Belfast, where they are about proceeding, and it is
likely will remain for upwards of a month, they are to undertake the organi-
sation of such of the city schools as may in the interval be named by you for
the purpose. ‘ _ ) -
You are accordingly requested to communicate on the subject at your earliest
convenicenee, with the city inspectors, Messrs. M<Dermott, Coyle, and.O G_alhgan,
as also with the managers of such schools as you and they may think in want
of the services of these teachers, and furnish a list of such schools to this
i We are, &ec.
(signed) M. Cmss’]-Secretaries.
J. W. Kavanagh, Esq. J. Kelly. |
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Sir, Education Office, 3 March 1857,
WE have to remind you of our letter of the 19th of January last, and are to
request that you will furnish, with the least possible delay, a _hst of such of the
city schools as you consider in need of the services of organising teachers.

We are, &c.

(signed) A Cm”’]Secretaries
J. W. Kavanagh, Esq., J. Kelly, »

Head Inspector.

Exrract from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Board, dated
21 August 1857.

Tre Secretary lays before the Board a letter from Mr. J. W. Kavanagh,
Head Inspector, dated 28 July, in explanation of the statement submitted to
the Commissioners at their meeting on the 24th of that month, with regard to
his neglect in not replying to official communications, delay in forwarding his
weekly bills, &c.

Ordered, That the Commissioners having been informed that there are
several communications in the office from Mr. Kavanagh relative to matters
in which a difference of opinion exists between him and some of the District
Inspectors, direct that the decision on this particular case he postponed until
a digest be made of the communications referred to, which is to be laid before
a special meeting of the Board.

Gentlemen, Rathgar, 5 October 1857.

I was much surprised to find by an official memorandam which I read in
the office, that my letter of 28th July has not been deemed a sufficiently full
reply or explanation to yours of the previous day, communicating an order of
the Commissioners in reference to the transmission of journals and replies to
letters by me.

Reference to my letter will satisfy you that I give therein specific replies
upon the several items: journals and letters then in arrear, and also a general
explanation as to the alieged irregularities in the transmission of my journals,
I evaded nothing, but gave such answer to the terms of your letter, coupled
with the nature of the memorandum attached to it, as seemed to me to require.

The refusal of the Commissioners (B. O. 25/9/57) to inform me of the
several matters in reference to me which they are about to consider, and as it
is certain that this alleged neglect on my part is one of the matters, I owe it
to myself, and to the Board, to furnish a correct statement of the case, and
from the full and detailed examination of which the treatment to which [ am
subjected will be clearly seen.

1. Arrear in Journals.

In the year ending last week I was written to 12 times for journals, at the
following dates :—

22 September 1856.—I was then in Greystones; * the office was in regular
communication with me there ; reports and letters from me were received from

that address, and the office was fully aware that I was occupied in the inspection
of schools. '

Ist and 23d October 1856.—During this month I was in Dublin, and fre-

1(g.lleni:l]ﬁr in and out of the office, so that both my address and my duties were
own.

5th and 22d November 1856.—Letter of November 5 (Wednesday) called
for my journal of 1st, which, by the practice of the office, was only in arrear

from

* Where I was sent by my medical adviser on account of my health being delicate,
254. r2
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from the 4th (Tuesday), and letter of the 22d called for a journal the receipt of
which on the 18th would have been deemed satisfactory. I was in the office
frequently during both weeks, and my address and occupation were both known.

10th :}nd 22d December 1856, and 2d January 1857.—These three letters
refer to journals for November and December. I forwarded a special letter of
3d January 1857, explaining the cause of this unusual delay in my journals.

Gth March 1857.—Letter refers to journal for four weeks in February ; two
of the four were Saturdays, when I was engaged on duty, which precluded me
from my usual duties. Thus: February 7th I was travelling all day, from
Wexford to Dublin, and Saturday, 28th, I inspected four National Schools,
with a view to their organisation. I was in constant correspondence with the
office during the month, so that both my address and my duties were known.

19th March 1857.—Journal of the week ending 14th, expected by the 17th
(a holiday in the office), called for. On the 14th (Saturday), I was engaged
from 10 to 6 o’clock in sending out and bringing with me depdt supplies of
apparatus to Dublin schools; and on the 16th and 18th I was occupied in
visiting schools, in attendance on his Excellency the Earl of Carlisle, and in
calling on clergymen respecting school organisation. I was in the office daily,
and my address and duties were well known.*

9th and 27th July 1857.—The three journals, those for the 4th, 11th, and
18th July, here referred to, conclude the list, and formed the immediate subject
of the Board’s Order communicated in your letter of 27th July. During this
month my health was very poor, and the sudden death of a near relation de-
pressed my spirits, and not only took away my mind from my routine business,
but on the 18th (s¢e my journal), when the arrear of the journals for the two
previous weeks would have been made out, I was called away to the country on
urgent family business in reference to my deceased friend.

I beg to call attention to the general question as to the journals, now that I
have gone over every item in the memorandum. Since March 1855 I have been
residing in Dublin, and my frequent calls at the office, especially if changing
my address by going to the country, never allowed my address to be a matter of
doubt ; in proof, I beg leave to state, that owing to neglect on this point no
letter of communication of any kind has during this period either been delayed
or has miscarried. As stated in my explanation of 18th July, I fully admit that
it is extremely desirable that the very journal should be in the office, as required ;
but the inconvenience arising from the instances of its not being so has been
entirely and most seriously exaggerated in this case. The Commissioners would
naturally rise from the perusal of the documents before them, but not yet offi-
cially known to me, with the conviction that, either through wilful and habitual
negligence, or worse, through contempt for the routine requirements of the In-
spection Office, 1 failed to forward my journals, and when called on for explana-
tion, that I designedly evaded the leading points to which my attention was
called.

I pray the attention'of the Commissioners to the following statement :—Satur-

ay is the day set apart for official correspondence, including the ma.kmg out of
my journal for the previous week; now, during the 11 months to which the
above dates refer I had been on extra and laborious duties of another kind on
not iess than 16 Saturdays. Thus:—

Saturday, 20th December 1856.—In Bailieborough District Model Schools,
and travelling to Dublin, 77 miles, 10 3 o'clock, p.m. '

Saturday, 10th January 1857.—Classification of teachers in Drumsna (Lei-
trim), and travelling 97 miles to Dublin, 10 3 o’clock, p.m.

17th January 1857.—Writing out classification returns of male and female
teachers of District 24 (Granard), examined this week

31st January 1857.—Ditto as to examination of teachers of District 28
(North Dublin) and 35 (Wicklow), examined this week.
7th February

* The three objects of our journal are, to record our expenses, 13 and arrear in forwarding it is
never complained of under that head, as such causes a delay in the paymm:lt (:lf;louf' accounts: our
past weck’s oceupation, 2: und our futuve week’s intended employment, and address, 3.
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~th, February 1857.—Travelling from Wexfor d to Dublin, 3 miles

agth February 1857.—Inspected four National Schools, with a view to their
orzanisation : interviews with manager.

~th March 1857.—Explained to 66 teachers in the rooms of the training
department, by direction of the Commissioners, the nature, objects, and advan-
tages of the proposed organisation of the City of Dublin Schools.

14th March 1857.—Engaged from 10 to 6 o’clock with organisers in sending
out apparatus to the City Schools.

21st March 1857.—Instructed 33 teachers in Marlborough-street, 51 to 6§
o'clock, evening. Lecture to teachers. His Excellency the Earl of Carlisle
present.

28th March 1857.-—Instructed 52 teachers in Marlborough-street on school
accounts.

4th April 1857.-—Instructed 79 teachers.
18th April 1857.—Instructed 87 teachers.
25th April 1857.—Instracted 100 teachers.
2d May 1857.—Iustructed about 40 teachers.

On these last eight Saturdays several of the inspectors (head, distriet, and
sub) and of the gentlemen connected with the Training and Model School de-
partment attended ; the actual travelling expenses of the teachers were paid by
the Board, and the resident Commissioner kindly attended on one of the days
of instruction.

Saturday, 9th May 1857.—I inspected three National Schools in Mayo, and
travelied 30 miles.

Saturday, 23d May 1857.—Writing examination papers for female teachers
for 1857.

Saturday, 20th June 1857.—Had to attend a dying relative.
Saturday, 18th July 1857.—Engaged as to death of relative.

It is quite evident that the official duty done on these days deranged my
ordinary work, and obliged me to postpone my correspondence, &c., supposed
to be done on Saturdays, caused arrear and irregularity to the extent stated as
to the punctual transmission of my journals; but I altogether deny that the
office was either ignorant of my address or unacquainted with my occupation to
the extent stated.

Further, I invited, in my letter of 28th July, a comparison of the relative
punctuality of all the IHead Inspectors as to the transmission of journals; but
instead, a return is given embracing Mr. Hunter's practice, my colleague for
about as many months as I have been years Head Inspector, and Dr.
Newell's.

Now, neither of these gentlemen was engaged in Saturday duty of an extra
kind such as [ have detailed, and up to last March both gentlemen were sta-
tioned in the provinces, where the non-transmission of their journals could not
be supplied to some extent by a call to the office. I wanted a return for the
past 11 years which would embrace Messrs. Butler, M‘Creedy, myself, Dr.
Patten, Mr. Sheahan, Dr. Newell, and Mr. Keenan, especially as to the first
two, as they had been stationed in Dublin.

I may add, that my journals have been regularly forwarded since July, save
one week, when 1 wrote a letter instead ; and for the last seven months I have
received but three letters on the subject.

2. Arrear in replying to Letters.

_ The letters referred to in the memorandum accompanying your communica-
tion of 27th July are 11, bearing upon five subjects: 1. Mr. Browne's suggestion
as to class rolls ; 2. Mr. Conwell’s suggestion as to meteorological instruments

254. U3 for
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for Trim Model School; 3. List of schools to be organised in Dublin; 4. Mr.
H. P. Clarke's reply to my report upon the monitors of his district; and 5. Mr.
(’Carroll’'s manner of keeping his official records.

In my letter of 28th July, I explained the cause of the delay as to 1 and 2,
and also as to 4 ; the other two I shall now notice. First, as to Mr, O’Carroll’s
manner of keeping his books; T reported upon Mr. O'Carroll (10/4/57), just
as I had done in the case of the other officers, and in a general report upon
all of them; but on receiving further instructions, I proceeded at once to
Drogheda, examined his books, and next day reported by letter the result, On
receipt of this letter yon write to me intimating that I misconceive your
instructions, although I followed them strictly, and in the sense in which
I considered they could alone be understood, and three letters within a fort-
night were sent to e, reminding me to report upon the matter. That fort-
night almost immediately followed the death of a relative, already referred to;
and 25th July, three days before the receipt of the Board’s Order, 1 replied,
showing that I could furnish no further iuformation beyond that contained in
my reports of 10th April and 5th June, and that T had dealt with Mr. O'Carroll
as I had with other officers.

The last letter remaining (No. 3) requires especial notice, and I trust the
Commissioners will patiently enter into its details. January 19th last a letter
was addressed to me informing me that the organisers were then about to proceed
to Belfast, where they were “likely to remain for upwards of a month, when
they were to return to Dublin and organise such of the city schools as in the
interval might be named by me for the purpose; I was accordingly requested
to communicate on the subject with the city inspectors, Messrs. McDermott,
Coyle, and O'Galligan, as also with the manager of such schools as we might
think in want of organisers, and furnish a list of such schools to the office.”
Same post that I received this letter (20/1/57), | informed the secretaries that
the duties of the examination of the teachers would engage me until about
10th February, after which I would enter upon the business of the organisation
of the city schools. My engagements connected with the examinations occu-
picd me up to T4th February, and it was only on 23d Febrnary that [ was able
to enter upon the visitation of the south city schools. That week, containing
two semi-holidays, I visited 18 National Schools, working on Saturday. Those
on the north, or my own side, I did not require to visit as I had already
inspected every one of then, and proposed some of them for organisation.

1 may here remark that an order made (13/2/57), and communicated to me
in secretaries’ letter of 17th February, assigned the South City District to Dr.
Newell, and this alone would free me from all further responsibility in the
matter, as Dr. Newell was to permanently e:ter on his new charge 1st March.

Not so, however; | felt that on many grounds I could do for the new scheme
of organisation in Dublin material service. [ decmed it a boon sadly wanted,
aud although Dr. Newell arrived in Dublin on the 3d March to enter on his
new duties, [ continued t. labour in his distriet during March and April, until
the organisation was fully, finally, and cordially accepted in Dublin. March 3d,
a letter was sent to me calling on me to furnish the list of schools referred to
in the extract already quoted from secretaries’ letter of 19th January, and as I
have never given such a list * this is referred to in the memorandum of 27th
July as one of the instances of habitual neglect which needed explanation. In
my reply thereto, I stated, “The third letter ™ (as to list of schools) “ should
not have been quoted as in arrear. My whole occupation, which you were well
aware of, for the month of March is the reply to it, the introduction of the
organisation into the Dublin schools, in the face of many obstacles.” Sug-
gestive as I deemed this, it appears that it wholly fails to be a satisfactory
answer ; but instead, I am charged, in connexion thervewith, as having by my
neglect,—

1. Caused the organisers to be idle for nearly a fortnight in Dublin, no
schools heing ready for them.

2. Caused

* The organisers were under the personal direction of the inspectors, more especially under mine,
. . . A
und we sent them where required, go that lists of the schools were wholly unnecessary. The depdt
deliveries of apparatus duily showed the schools being organised.
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ben consulted or made aware of the scheme, before the organisers were sent
to work.

3. Caused the whole scheme to be put in peril, and the fesidcnt Commis-
sioner, doubtless without his knowledge, is appealed to as evidence that I was
well nigh shipwrecking the entire scheme, owing to my negleet.

2, Caused them to be expelled from schools because the managers had not

The Commissioners will, I trust, make due allowance for the natural indignation
which an honest and earnest, and old public servant must feel at such a charge,
unsupported by a particle of material truth, being brought against him, and
1 hope to satisfy them that a more unfounded and ungrateful charge, if public
servants may reckon on gratitude, could scarcely be coneeived.

As to the alleged fortnight’s idleness, I beg leave to annex, in disproof, the
copy of the journal of the ablest of the orgunisers, Mr. Joyce, to show you that
the organisers arrived in Dublin, from Belfast, on Saturday, 28th February,
that their schools were told off to them on Saturday, 7th March, und that they
were working in them on Mouday, 9th. The occupation of the organisers was
ample and necessary the first week.®* The ecircumstances of Belfast and
Dublin are widely different; the organisers are of different religions, and there
were sufficient schools under the management of different creeds in Belfast,
whereas of ordinary national schools in Dublin, I know of one only not under
Roman Catholic direction. When a single individual opposed, or was indifferent
to the organisation in Dublin, the scheme came to all but a dead lock. This I
foresaw, and I objected to sending or permiiting these officers to go to the
schools, until we should have an opportunity of speaking with them on the
line of conduet they should adopt, and of feeling our way in a new and critical
undertaking. So far as the north side of the city was concerned I had employ-
ment on Monday morning, 2d March, for my share of the organisers, and
also for a fair share of them on the south, as by Monday I had visited 24
schools and met the most influential of the managers on Dr. Newell's side of
the city.

I had spoken over the scheme with Mr. Coyle, again and again, and we were
of one mind regarding it, and on Monday, 2d, T called on Mr. M‘Dermott to
meet us. Mr. O’Galligan had no connexion with any schools in or near the
city, and next day we spent over three hours in conference upon the schools to
be organised, and in reference to the general question. Wednesday, 4th, Dr.
Newell, Mr. Keenan, and myself, spent the chief part of the day in connexion
with the subject, and every day of this week I was engaged for some time with
the Resident Commissioner in consultation upon the measure. Thursday, 5th,
Dr. Newell, Mr. Keenan, Mr. M‘Dermott, Mr. Coyle and I, spent hours in
considering the question ; and after mature deliberation, and finding that the
great body of the city teachers were adverse to the scheme, we decided, with
the approbation of the Resident Commissioner, not to send out the organisers to
the schools uatil Monday, 9th ; meantime, to call in the teachers, and explain
the nature, objects, and advantages of the .measure to them. I beg leave to
submit a copy of the lithographed cireular, drawn up by me, and approved of
by the Resident Commissioner, which was issued to the managers of schools
on Thursday, 5th March. On this day, I called on the managers of 11 National
Schools ; Friday, the 6th, I was engaged chiefly in making out notes for next
day’s instruction, and in conference with Mr. Coyle as to some clergymen upon
whom he should call. Saturday, 7th, instructed 66 teachers as to organisation
of schools; besides these all the organisers were present, and Messrs. Newall,
Keenan, Hunter, M‘Dermott, Coyle, O’Galligan, Barrett, Sheehy, OSullivan,
&e. Thus was the first week spent, and that evening the organisers were all
allotted to their several schools for duty on Monday, 9th.

The second charge is, that the organisers were expelled from schools because
the managers had not been consulted, or made aware of the scheme before the
organisers were sent to work. So farasI know, tiis is simply untrue. [ have

never

* Five of the fifteen officers hud their families in Dublin, and as they had been zbsent from them
for six weeks, some of them be,ggec! to be excused from active duty,and all of them had reports, &c.
to make out. (See Mr. Joyce’s Diary respecting their previous week in Belfast.)
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never been a party to the sending of any organiser to enter on duty in a school
without first obtaining the cordial approval of the manager. The officers were
excluded the schools, or rather checked in their work in them, but in no instance
until after the managers had changed their minds upon the subject. In truth,
the Catholic clergy had a meeting on Friday, 6th March, and His Grace Arch-
bishop Cullen having spoken mistrustingly of the scheme of organisation, the
Roman-catholic clergy, were almost who had previously approved of it, with-
drew their consent to the measure,

The third charge of peril and shipwreck, owing to alleged neglect on my part.
is so utterly contrary to the fact, that it requires unusual command of temper to
reply to such a statement. The Roman-catholic Archbishop had checkmated
the whole proceeding ; although he is not the official manager of any National
School, I felt it my duty, in company with Mr. Coyle, to wait on [is Grace,
and T succeeded in obtaining a withdraweal of his prohibition. His two viears,
his dean, all the managers of the schools to be organised in and near Dublin
(save one or two), were waited on by me ; managers of over 60 National Schools.
In no single instance did I fail in enlisting them in favour of the scheme when-
ever I met them, and with scarcely an exception I met them all. The Resident
Commissioner is appealed to for evidence as to what he knows, and he will state
this charge to be utterly unfounded. Ie will state, that during the whole period
of the organisation he had seen on my part a devotion to its success which none
could exceed ; that not merely the five days of the official week, but also Satur-
day, for cight weeks, was devoted to the interests of the organisation ; that when
nearly all despaired of its acceptance in Dublin, and even when it was proposed
to stop the work, and send back the whole staff to the north; when such men
as the Very Reverend Dr. Yore, Archdeacon Hamilton, &e. had withdrawn their
promised support, the Resident Commissioner will, I have no doubt, tell that the
task of removing misapprehension and of reassuring the public mind was yvolun-
tarily undertaken by me. The disaffection first openly appeared on Saturday
evening, 7th, and to arrest it at once, Mr. Coyle and I spent from an eaxly hour
on Sunday, 8th, in conference with two influential clergymen, managers of six
National Schools, through whom we were enabled to effect mueh good. That
same day (Sunday) Mr. Coyle and I waited on the Resident Commissioner, to
communicate to him the result of our mission. Next day we had the honour
of an interview with his Grace Archbishop Cullen, and we succeeded in re-
moving from his mind the objections which he had expressed to his clergy
against the measure. It was this which secured for the organisation the suc-
cessful resnlts which have attended it in Dublin. Same day [ called on the
managers of 20 schools, and to introduce the organisers to them, where em-
ployed.  Thus from day to day was I employed, and whenever uny symptom of
misapprchension or indifference presented itself north or sou!:h of the city, week
day or Sunday, I at once addressed myself to its removal. Thus, Sunday, 22d
March, I was engaged seven hours in calling on the clergymen on the south side
of the city. I instructed the teachers myself, sometimes to the number of 60
or 70 ; in the evenings I attended the lectures and classes under the organisers.
At my suggestion his Excellency the Earl of Carlisle attended to hear this im-
portant part of the scheme, and his visitution of the great majority of the City
Schools, undertaken at my suggestion, not merely gave éclat to the measure, but
it has done vast service to the best interests of national education in Dublin.

The City Schools, that were a notorious disgrace as a class to the national
system, are now, at least on the north side, tolerably respectable, and several of
them likely to become efficient in the highest degree. In securing this great
end I was cordially seconded and ably assisted by Mr. Coyle, whose personal
influence with the managers rendered important service during the period of
our labours.

Under my dirvection, and with the approbation of his Grace the most Rev.
Archbishop Dixon, about 30 schools in and round Drogheda are being similarly
improved by Mr. Joyce, and I there also secured the cordial support and co-ope-
ration of the managers in favour of the measure.

I trust the Commissioners will kindly excuse this otherwise ostentatious
statement of my share in the work of organisation. To borrow the ideas of the
charge
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charge against me, I have shown, that instead of having wellnigh s}u}'{}ﬂ:ecked

the bark of organisation, I was “ the pilot who weathered the storm,” in the

Dublin Channel at least, and landed her useful cargo in every little bay round

the coast, even where the native chiefs had deemed her flag alien and her cargo
oo B

R I have, &e.

(signed) James W. Kavanagh.

The Secretaries, Education Office.

Dear Sir, 108, Amiens-street, 19 September 1857.

1 BEG to forward you, in compliance with your request, the following extract
from my diary for last February :

Thursday, 26th February 1857. Last day in Chapel-lane National School,
Belfast.

Friday, 27th. Writing reports, five hours; conference with Mr. Keenan, two
hours 45 minutes.

Saturday, 28th. Travelling from Belfast to Dublin.

For the next week, ending 7th March, I kept no regular diary, as I was not
employed in organising; I was, however, closely engaged at home writing
reports, and I went several times to Marlborough-street on business relative to
my future destination. On Saturday, the 7th, there was a meeting of the teachers
of the city and vicinity ; on this day all the organisers attended, and were appor-
tioned to their respective schools. My diary resumes.

Monday, March the 9th. Commenced the organisation of St. Peter’s National
School, Phibsboro ; took materials for reports ; saw manager, &c. &c.

I have, &ec.
J. W. Kavanagh, Esq., (signed) P. W. Joyce, Organiser.
Head Inspector.
Reverend Sir, Education Office, § March 1857.

- Tre Commissioners of National Education having decided upon affording the
benefits of organisation to such of the national schools in and near Dublin, the
managers of which desire it, we beg leave to inform you, that the nature, objects,
and advantages of the proposed scheme will be explained to the teachers of this
district on Saturday next, the 7th instant,* at the hour of two o’clock, in the
Central Model Schools at Marlborough-street; and we have to request that you
will be pleased to direct the teachers, male and female, of the national schools
under your control to attend on the occasion.

We hope to be able to wait on you on an early day to explain the details of
the scheme, with a view to obtain your support and co-operation in extending it
in your schools.

We are, &e.
(signed) Inspectors.

(No. 3.)
Mexoranpud on Mr. Kavanagh's Letter of 5th October 1857.

TuE terms of the order of the Board communicated to Mr. Kavanagh on the
27th July were, that he should

“ Furnish an explanation respecting each item in the statement,” prepared by
the inspection department, and a copy of which was then enclosed to him.

The order contained nothing calculated to convey the impression that a
general explanation was the one required, or that the explanation was to be
confined to the journals and Ietters then in arrear.

On the contrary, particular care was taken to guard against this by the terms
made use of in writing to head inspector, and by underlining the word eack (item).

Mr. Kavanagh in reality admits that he did not comply with the instructions

given

* Before this date T had wuited on the managers of 50 national schools to explain the scheme to
them, and during the organisation I visited the managers of 76 nationul schools; 34 on the south,
and 42 on the north side of the city. J. IF. K.
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given to hiw, for on ascertaining that his omission to do so had been noticed, he
then hastened to go into details. (See letter, 5th October.)

The purport of the explanation here given is clearly this :

That the only use of the journals which a head inspector furnishes is to put
the office in possession of his address, perhaps the very least of the many
objects which the document is intended to serve. Tor even were his daily
address never known to the office, communications could always reach him by
being addressed to his official centre, whence it is to be presumed they would be
at once transmitted. But Mr. Kavanagh seems to forget that the journal is
intended to show the Board the nature and amount of public business performed
by the head inspector from day to day, and that his omission to furnish it (even
were his address known to the office) leaves the Commissioners in ignorauce of
the occupation of his time during the period of its detention, and when that
extends, as has been the case here, to three, four, and even seven weeks, much
inconvenience is experienced.

Assuming, as he states, that during those weeks for which he omitted o tfor-
ward journals, the duties on which he was engaged were nevertheless known to
the office (of course that could be only in a general, indirect, or accidental way),
it would be absurd to suppose that such information is official. could be laid
before the ('ominissioners, or could meet with official action, in case such should
be deemed necessary.

But what about his reports? The course is not to forward these before the
journals, consequently when the latter are delayed, say for a month, the former
are also delayed. The defects in the schools, requiring recognition on the part
of the office, are allowed to remain in existence for a month or two months, as
the case may be, because the head inspector will not send forward his reports.

On puge 3 Mr. Kavanagh observes that the delay in the journals has never
been objected to on a financial head, containing, as they do, a record of his
personal and travelling expenses, because ¢ such causes a delay in the payment
of our accounts.”

Itut this is irrelevant. No one is more fully aware than Mr. Kavanagh that
the finance committee pass the account of his expenses only once a month, and
consequently that no delay whatever takes place in passing his accounts, from
the fact of his holding over the journals until the close of the month, and he must
kunow that he has so kept his journals over until the very day before the sitting
of the finance committee, and that he has himself come to the office to see that
they are sent forward to committee, and when his reports were not all uap, to
use his influence to have the journals sent on by promising to clear off the arrcars
in the reports by a certain day.

The only reason for making a comparison between the relative degrees of punc-
tuality that attended the transmission of the journals of Messrs. Kavanagh,
Newell, and Hunter was that those journals, and those only, were ever received
by the writer of that part of the memorandum in which the comparison was
instituted. The idea of evading a comparison between Mr. K. and other head
inspectors, because such might prove favourable to the former, never entered the
writer’s mind.

The observation as to the regularity that has attended the transmission of his
journals since July last shows that it is a mere fear of consequences that induces
him to become regular, as all the letters and warnings that were written from
time to time by the secretaries had no effect upon his practice in this respect.

It likewise shows that his former assertion, to the effect that it would be impos-
sible to comply with the office regulations on this point, is incorrect. The
punctuality of other head inspectors, as also of the great majority of the district
inspectors, conclusively proves it to be so. ) . .

As to the long detail of particulars entered into by Mr. Kavanagh with a view
of showing that for a series of Saturdays he was so occupied with other duties
of a miscellaneous kind that he could not find time to write out his weekly
journals so as to have them forwarded punctually to the office, two simple remarks
may be made. . .

© 1st. That complaint was made of Mr. Kavanagh in regard to his journals,

not because these documents failed to reach the office with punctuality each
successive Monday morning, but Dbecause they failed often to do so for

wecks., .
2d. That the district inspectors are regularly, and throughout the entire
year, obliged to discharge most weighty and important duties on the Sa(ti:;-
s - ?
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day, and yet they are required, and of the great majority it is not required
in vain, to send in their journals to the office punctually every Monday
morning,. o
And surely what the district inspectors are required to do, and the majority of
them regularly and most punctually, in fact, do, it is not too. much to expect
from the head inspectors, their superiors, and who, as the superintendents of the
first, ought pre-eminently to be examples in themselves of- official exactness and
despatch. _

A copy of the letter referred to by Mr. Kavanagh i$ annexed, and from its
perusul it will be seen that it was meant to account for his delay in forwarding
his annual reports for publication, and that it is only incidentally he alludes to
the work of organisation, and then simply as one of the hindrances to his devoting
himself sooner than the 1st of March to the work of preparing those reports.

Gentlemen, Grenville, Rathgar, 20 January 1857.
I~ reply to your circular respecting the reports which I intend for publication
ie the proceedings of the Commissioners for 1856, I beg leave to inform you that
I hope to be able to submit the following ;—

1. Report on Trim District Model Schools.

2. B Bailieboro’ ~

3. W Schools (Ordinary) examined.

4, % Examination of Male and Female Teachers.
b. - Examination on Common Things.

The examination of teachers, and the writing connected therewith, will engage
me until about the 10th proximo. Provision must be made by the head inspectors
for drawing up examination papers in time for the examinations at Easter; and
further, I am instructed to enter on duty in reference to the city schools, which
should be doue next month, so that it is clearly out of my power to enter on the
drawing up of any of these documents until or after March Ist. I do not think
I would be able to have them in the office before the 15th of April at the earliest
date. .

I remain, &c.
(signed) James W. Kavanagh.

To the Secretaries, Education Office.

Frow the foregoing letter it is plain Mr. Kavanagh contemplated entering on
the work of preparing for the organisation of the city schools about the middle
of February, and completing such preparation before the 1st of March so as to
be then free to devote himself to his annual reports; but did he so enter upon
the work ?

The following is the answer :—

On the 10th February Air. Kavanagh is in Dublin, and on the 12th, 13th, and
14th, as appears from his journals, he reports himself occupied not with the
work of organisation, but with husiness of a miscellaneous kind of by no means
such urgency or importance as to entitle it to such precedence.

On the 16th, 17th, 18th, and 19th, Mr. Kavanagh reports himself as engaged,
not on organisation, but on making out what he calls “a summary of the
examinations of teachers since 1848, and of paid monitors for 1856, with a view
to a general report ;” work so far from being urgent, that it was not even called
for, and what is more, and very noteworthy, the results of such work have never
yet been produced by Mr. Kavanagh :—

Sir, Education Office, 2 February 1857.
Wirh reference to your letter of the 20th ultimo, we are to inform you that
under the circumstances you mention the reports which you contemplate sending
in on the Trim and Bailieboro’ District Model Schools, ordinary schools, &c.,
will not be required for publication.
You are requested, however, to furnish them so soon as you possibly can after
the Ist of March next for the information of the Board.

We are, &ec.,
(signed) M. Cross, )
_J. W. Kavanagh, Esq. J. Kelly, }Secretanes_
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The :Z_Ot.h and 21st of same month of February Mr. Kavanagh devotes himself
to examining Mr. Coyle’s official books and to correspondence ; the business of
orgamﬁqticm still in abeyance.

Aud it is only in journal of prospective arrangements, and for week com.
mencing the 22d of February, that the first mention of eutering on the business
of organisation is made, and yet in the subsequent journal of the actual work
done in that same week, it appears that Mr. Kavavagh went to Tullamore on
f;hc: 24th, and on the 25th visited the Phillipstown Convict Prison, thus abstract-
ing two days from the busincss that should have occupied him, and devoting
them to work, not only not urgent, but not required of him by the Board, and, so
ﬁr:r as the Board is concerned, non-official, Tullamore lying, in fact, outside his
district, and the Phillipstown Conviet Prison being an institution beyond the
sphere of his official inspection. '

The remark at page 9 is not warranted. Dr. Newell was not intended to
supersede Mr. Kavanagh in the work of organisation in any part of the Dublin
districts for the month of March. It was meant from the first to intrust it, as
senior head inspector, to Mr. Kavanagh solely, the district inspectors of course
aiding him; and it was only wlen it was seen he had not made due preparation,
and to save the whole affair from failure, that the thought of calling in Dr,
Newell arose.

And here it may be right to observe that besides other inconveniences resulting
from Mr. Kavanagh's neglect of the instructions of the 19th of January, the
time of Dr. Newell and Mr. Keenan, not to speak of the district inspectors, was
materially trenched upon.

At page 10, Mr. Kavanagh, while purporting to quote the ofice memorandum,
commits the very serious fault of misrepresenting it by giving as one of its
charges a statement not to be found in it at all; the passage here referred to is
that numbered 2 at foot, namely, that by his neglect he ** caused” them (that
is, the organisers) ** to be expelled [rom schools, because,” &c.

And yet, strange as it may seem, this might have been ineluded with propriety
and truth among the consequences attributed to Mr. Kavanagh’s delay (sce his
letter, page 13, third line from bottom). "

As to the two charges which are contained in office memorandum, and both of
which Mr. Kavanagh endeavours to relute, the chief of the inspection depart-
ment, under whose eye that memorandum was drawn up, now reiterates them
with the most perfect confidence of their substantial truth.

The first, that the organisers, having no preparation made for them, were
kept idle* in the city here for nearly a fortnight, is fully borne out by the
journals of the organisers themselves for the month of March, now in the office.
Some, it appears from these, went to work on the 9th, some on the 10th, and
some, not fairly, until the 11th and 12th of March.

The second, that owing to Mr. Kavanagh’s neglect the whole thing had nearly
beén ruined just at its start is proved Leyond question, if proof were wanted, by
the facts detailed in Mr. Kavanagh’s own letter, pages 14 and 15. )

Mr. Kavanagh’s style of defence is like that of a sea captain who, on being
charged with mismanagement and negleet in allowing his ship to be stranded,
should plead his after exertions in getting her off; how he roused the crew to
their duty and nerved them by his example, and how, inspiring them with his
own energy for a last great effort, he at length succeeded in getting her again
afloat ! all very well if merely meant as a pleading in extenuation of the first
fault ; but if' otherwise, if intended as a justification and defence, the answer
would be, All very fine, but beside the question, for the charge was not that
there was a lack of courage in the hour of danger, or failure of exertion to get
out of it, but that, through disregard of the ordinary precautions, and want of
seamanlike handling, the danger was ever incurred and the ship stranded at all.

The narration given by Mr. Kavanagh himself of what he did in March to
gain acceptance for the system of organisation, how he appeased the jealousies
of some and quieted the fears of others ; how he disarmed prejudice and removed
misapprehension, is clearly the strongest condemnation of the course pursued by
him in Febroary. Tor if he o well succeeded in dispelling suspicions from the
minds of managers in March, what success would he not have had with these

same managers, if he had sought their co-operation before such such suspicions
were

* Of course meant as to orgunisation itself,
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were excited. To allay a storm when raised argues the power of keeping it
down ; for surely to restrain the winds from breaking out would seem a less task
than to recall them, once fairly brokea loose.

Indeed, it is very plain on review of this whole case, that had Mr. Kavanagh
acted on the iustructions of the letter of the 19th January, either by himself going
round the city schools and their managers early in February, or directing Messrs.
Coyle, MDermott, and O’Galligan, to do so, one of two things would have happened ;
either, first, that the city managers, all misconception anticipated and removed
by tin.ely explanations, would have been: fully prepared cordially to accept of the
services of the organisers on their arrival from Belfast, in which case all would
have gone on smoothly, and there would have been no need of delay; or,
secondly, the Board, timely apprised of the threatened opposition, would have
been able to countermand their order for the return of these officers to the city,
and to send them elsewhere, and thus have saved the system from being, as Mr.
Kavanagh phrases it, “ checkmaled” by the Roman-catholic Archbishop, Doctor
Cullen.

The value of what Mr. Kavanagh says as to the necessity of preparing the
organisers on their return from Belfast for their duties in Dublin may be judged
of by this: first, that these officers had spent no less time than the previous five
months, during nearly four of which they were in Dublin under the special
training of Mr. Keenan, who was charged with the task of fitting them for
those very duties; and, second, that though they have since been dispersed to
all parts of Ireland, no further special preparations, no new instructions have
been found necessary for their guidance, but they have everywhere and at once
gone to their work of organisation, and without, it would appear, exciting any
jealousies or fears among managers or patrons.

In conclusion, it will be seen on examination of his letter Mr. Kavanagh fails
altogether to give anything like a satisfactory answer to the charge that he
neglected to advise the city inspectors, Messrs, M‘Dermott, Coyle, and O'Galli-
gan, of the instructions of the secretaries’ letter of the 19th of January. That
he did so neglect to advise those gentlemen is certain. At the time of the great
commotion created in the beginning of March by the threatened opposition of
the Roman-catholic city clergy, Mr. M‘Dermott, Mr. Coyle, and Mr. O'Galligan,
when spoken to upon the subject here in the office, assured the chief of the
Inspection Department that Mr. Kavanagh had never given them any previous
instructions as to their making preparations for the employment of the organisers
on their return from Belfast, and the journals of all three for months of January
and February, completely bear out this, there not being a word about organisa-
tion from any one of them until the month of March.

Inspection Department, 10 November 1857.

No. 1. (I.)

CorresronDENCE between the Commissioners of National Education, Frelund,
and Mr. James W. Kavanagh (late lead Inspector of National Schools),
relative to a Paper read by him before the *“ British Association,” on the
“ Rise, Progress, and present Prospects of Popular Education in Ireland ;”
together with a Letter from R. Sullivan, 1r.p., &c., from 17th August to
13th November 1857.

Gentlemen, Rathgar, 17 August 1857,
1 nec leave to apply for leave of absence from duty on the week commencing
Thursday, 27th instant.

Having been honoured by a place on the committee of one of the sections
(F. Economic Science and Statistics) of the British Association for the Advance-
ment of Science, I am anxious, during the approaching meeting of that distin-
glnishded body, to assist in the duties of the committee upon which I have been
placed.

254. . For
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For the last 104 years [ have not been absent from business over seven or
cight weeks in the aggregate, and even during the brief periods when 1 have
taken vacation, it hias been chiefly, as on the present occasion, in connexion with
mquiries more or less bearing upon my daties in relation to popular education.

N _ I remain, &c.
I'he Secretaries, (signed) James V. Kavanagh.
Education Office.

Sir, Education Office, 19 August 1857.

In answer to your letter of the 17th instant, we have to inform you that leave

of absence from duty for the week commencing Thursday, the 27th instant, is
granted to vou.

We are, &e.
. (signed) Al. Cross, g
James W, Kavanagh, Isq. ° J. Kelly, } Secretaries.
Head Inspector, Rathgar.
Gentlemen, Ratbgar, 10 September 1857.

At the earliest moment after I have obtained it from the public press, to whom
it was handed by the officers of Section F. British Association, I beg leave to
submit for perusal the paper read by me before the British Association on
Monday, st instant, entitled, “The Rise, Progress, and present Prospects of
Popular Education in [reland.”

As the manuscript is not now my property, but belongs to the British Asso-
ciation, in whose proceedings for this year the paper will appear, I shall call
for it early next week. My object in sending it, instead of a copy of it, was that
you might see the very paper which 1 read, in order to remove all misappre-
hension as to its precise nature and statements.

The facts, extracts, und statistics of education previous to 1831, are almost
taken exclusively from the Board’s Reports, and nearly all the rest of the matter
of the paper has been again and again set forth by me in reports, letters, &c.

Extracts from, or notices of it, have appeared in nearly all the Irish, and in
some of the English papers, and all, with three exceptions, have favourably
alluded to it: the * Warder” and the “ Daily Express,” from their principles,
and a northern paper, from misapprehension, the latter referring to it statements
the very opposite to those contaimed in it.

I remain, &c.
The Sccretaries, (signed) James W. Kavanagh.
Education Office.

P.S.—I have marked a few words inserted after the reading of the paper;
with these cxceptions, I read every word in the paper to the meeting.

J. W. K.

Porurar EpvcarioN 1N IRELAND.

Sketch of its Rise, Progress, and present Prospects; being a Paper read before the
British Association for the Advancement of Science, at its Twenty-seventh Meeting,
Dublin, September 1st, 1857; with Notes and Appendix. By James W. Kavanagh,
lsq., Head Inspector of National Schools, Member of the General Committee of the
British Association, Member of the Statistical and of the (eological Societies of

Dublin, &e. &e.

Meeting of the Brrpisu Assoctario for the ADVANCEMENT of ScIENCE,
Dublin, 1857,

"I'wenty-seventh

President :—Rev. Hamphrey Lloyd, p.p., D.C.L., F.R.8.5.L. and E., Fellow of Trinity Col-

leere, Dublin. . :
anaral Secretary :— Major-General Edward Sabine, R.A., D.C.L., Treasurer, and v.P.R.S,,

F.R.A.S. Assistant
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Assistant General Secretary :—John Philips, a.M.; P.R.8, F.G.S, Reader in Geology,

University of Oxford. ;
Local Secreturies :—Lundy E. Foote, v.p., ».D.s.; Rev. Professor Jellett, Royal Ivish

Academy; W. Neilson Hancock, LL.D., Secretary, Statistical Society, Dublin.

Seerion F.— Economic Science and Statistics.

President :—The Archbishop of Dublin.

Vice-Presidents :—The Right Honourable Baron Monteagle, a.xr., r.r.8., F.5.4.; Edwin
Chadwick, c.n., London; M, D. Hill, q.c., Recorder of Birmingham; James A. Lawson,
Q.c., LL.D.: Edward Baines, Geological Society, Yorkshire, Leeds; John Strang, ri.p,
Glasgow ; William Donnelly, rn.p., c.B., Registrar-General ; F. G. P. Necison, Statistical
Society, London; James R. Napier, Glasgow Philosophical Society.

Secretaries :— William Newmarch, Statistical Society, London; J. E. Caimes, A.x.,
Professor of Political Economy, T.0.p.; Henry Dix Hutton, Lr.B., Secretary, Statistical
Society, Dublin.

Committee :—E. Barrington, Statistical Society, Dublin ; Richard Barrington, Statistical
Society, Dublin; the Rizht Honourable the Lord Chief Buron Pigot; W. Bottomley, Bel-
fast; Robert Chambers, ¥.r.8., Edinburgh ; Johu Crawfurd ; W. Neilson Hancock, Lr.n.,
Statistical Society, Dublin; E. Halsall, Bristol; James Haughton, Statistical Scciety,
Dublin; Professor Ingram, LL.D., F.1.c.D. ; Lucien Jottrand, Delegate of the International
Free Trade Association, Brussels; James W. Kavanagh, Head Inspector of National
Schools, Statistical and Geological Societies, Dublin ; Lieutenant-Colonel Larcom, ».E.,LL.D.,
Viie-President, Dublin Statistical Society, Under Secretary for Ireland ; Professor Laycock,
m.D,, University of Edinburgh; John Leuntaigne, ».p., Director of Convicts’ Prisons;
T. E. C. Leslie, LL.B., Professor Political Economy, Queen’s College, Belfast ; Corr Vander
Maeren, Delegate and President of the International Free Trade Association (Central
Committee), Brussels; J. J. Murphy, Belfast ; W. Murray. r.r.5.8., Scotland; John
. O’Hagan, a.n., Professor Political Economy, Catholic University ; W. Pare, Statistical
Society, Dublin; J. Perry, Staticticul Society, Dublin; J. Pim, Vice-President, Staistical
Society, Dublin; the Lord Provost of Glasgow; J.Shuttleworth, Stamp Office, Manchester;
J. M. Wiison, Statistical Society, Dublin; James Yates, r.r.s,, London.

Amongst the crowded and distinguished audience present in this section on Tuesday,
September 1st, were his Excellency the Earl of Carlisle, k.., Lord Lientenant of I[reland,
atlended hy his staff ; his Grace the Lord Archbishop of Dublin, President; Earl of’ Mas-
sareenc and Ferrard, x.s.r.; the Right Honourable Lord Monteagle ; the Right tHlonourable
the Lord Justice (Blackburne) of Appeal; the Right Honourable Baron Greene; the Lord
Bishop of Cork; Right Honourable J. Napier, Q.c., m.».; James Whiteside, q.c., ».P.;
Lieutenant-Colonel Larcom; Edwin Chadwick, c.B.; James A. Lawson, Q.c., 1L.D.;
Robert Chambers, F.r.s.E.; Lieutenant-Colonel Beamish, k.n., r.R.s.,, Cork; C. Vander
Maeren; Dr. Strang ; Rev. Dr. Graves, r.1.c.n.; Dr. Hancock ; Professors Leslie, Jellett,
Evelyn, Thomson ; Hev. Thomas Marshall, Castlejordan; Dr. Hurrison ; Cuptuin Crofton,
c.B., Director of Convicts' Prisons ; Sir A. Orr, Lord Provost, Glasgow; Professor Ingram,
LL.D., F.1.C.D. ; L. Baines, Leeds: C. Bianconi; W. Donueily, c.B., Registrar-General ;
Archdeacon West; Professor Cairnes, r.c.p.; Dr. Gray, * Freeman’s Jonrnal ;” Dowdlen
Richard ; Dr. Hutton; Newmarch, Jemison, Neison, Murphy, Pare; James Haughion;
J. Perry ; Dr. Nachot, Edinburgh; Rev. Mr. Godkin, “ Duily Express;” Very Rev. Deans
Tighe and Bagot; Carpenter; J. O'Hagan; J. R. Napier, Glasgow ; James Macdonnell ;
Dr. Fitzpatrick ; Maurice Cross, Secretary to the Commissioners of National Education ;
Dr. Newell, Head Inspector of National Schools; E. Sheehy, Professur National Board ;
8. Aduir, Inspector National Schools; Dr. Kirkpatrick, Ingpector of Agricultural Nutional
Schools ; —— Moore; P. Gale; B. Kelly, &e.

During the temporary absence of his Grace the President, the chair was taken by Edwin
Chad wick, Esq., c.8., Vice-President.

My, Kavanagh read as follows:—

The British As<ociation for the Advancement of Science and the National System of
Education in Ireland,* were originated and brovght into nctive operation the same year ;
and, honoured as we are with the presence of that distinguished body in the Irish rmeiro-

olis, 1 deemed it o favourable occasion to submit, through this section of onr association, a
rief sketch of the rise, progress, and present prospects of popular education in Ireland,
but more especially in reference to the national system, which s now just completing the

twenty-sixth year of its existence. -
In

* In the letter of the Right Hon. E. G. Stanley—the charter of the national system—there is nothin
whatsoever to warrant the statement that it was nov intended as a national system for the people of Treland ;
mainly however for the lower classes, but not for the poor alone. This addition *for the poor of Ireland”
was maintained in the Reports of the Board up to 1839, when it was changed to ** Commissioners of National
Education,” and was revived again in 1845, when the Charter of Incorporation once referred to it: but
except in that document, it has never since heen officially quoted. The Poor Law Act of 1840 ln-ough’t tens
of thousands of pupils into nominal connexion with the natienal system, and for thirteen or fourteen enrs
increased the seeming strength of ifs numbers; but my General Report of 1863 on Workhouse S ools
Elsomrﬁaissmnm Report, 1853) shows the precise extent of the advantages which the pauper children derived

m that connexion.

254. X 4
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- .-["Al laying before the meeting this sketch, it will be alike my wish as my duly, to avoid

enehing upon any eyvound which might lead to controversy unsnited to the broad and
::umn}nn p]n_tfurm upon _which.vye meet; and to confine myself within those limits of the
l"l":"“'”“ which my official position under the national system permits me 10 discuss, and in
which itlone .the economic and statistical section of the British Association can feel more
Illl:l:lﬂ(]l:ltr' l!,' mterested,

Ihe dlﬂ:uﬁlcfl, through the lower classes of society, of the mere arts of reading, writing,
and counting, is a cl‘gntion of almost our own age in Ireland.  And in order to clearly under-
-“t"“_‘] 1ts present position, it is necessary that I should submit a brief account of the several
bodies that had been entrusted by Parliament with the duty of educating the people.

In 1733, the Incorporated Society for promoting English Protestant schools in Ireland
was founded by Royal Charier, and their schools, ealled Charter Schools, were aidad by
Parliuentary Grants up to 1825, when, on a Report of the Education Commission of
1824, the grants were withdrawn. [n 1824, the number of schools was 32, of pupils,
2,255, and amount of orant, 21,615 7.

1'he Assaciation for Discountenancing Vice was founded in 1793, and incorporated in 1800,
and their schools received public grants for wany years. It required that the teachers
should br;: of th_e Esiablished Church, that the Scriptures be read by all who were able, and
}Ina!. no Catechism be tanght except that of the Established Church. The number of schools
m 1824 was 226, and pupils, 12,769, of whom 4,804 were Roman-catholics; urant from the
the publie, 7,106 L, -

. 1 “". governors of the Foundling Hospital were incorporated in 1772 ; the Blue Coat Hos-
'[)‘Il‘,ﬂ.] Schools were founded in 1773 ; and the London Hibernian School Society in 1805.
I'he two former institutions received annual grants from Parliament, but the latter was sup-
ported by voluntary subseriptions.

In 1806 a Royal Commission was appointed “ To inquire into the several funds and reve-
nues granted by public or private donations for the purposes of education, and into the state
and condition of all schools upon public or charitable foundation in Ireland.” This body
continued its rncauines np to 1812, when they submitted their Report to his Grace the Duke
of Richmond, then Lord Lieutenant; and which embodies the first attempt to frame “a
system which, whilst it shall afford the opportunities of education to every description of
the lower classes of the people, may at the same time, by keeping clear of all interference
with the peculiar religious tenets of any, induee the whole to receive its benefits, as cne
undivided body, under the one and the same system, and in the same establishments.” These
cight Royal Commissioners were members of the Established Church; two archbishops, one
bishop, the provost of Trinity College, Richard Lovell Edgeworth,.and three other laymen ;
and their Report first distinetly sets forth a general, indeed the present, plan of National
Lducation, as promulgated 19 years after, in the letter of the Right Hon. E. G. Stanley,
now Ilarl of Derby. That Report does justice to the strony desire for instruction prevailing
universully amongst the poor; and thercupon the Commissioners « indulge the more
confident expectation that if such a plan as that proposed be frankly ofiered to the people,
it would be cordially accepted, provided all interference with the particular religions tenets
of those who are to receive thiat instruction shall, in the first instance, be unequivocally dis-
claimed, and effectnally gnarded against. The Commissioners further express their unani-
mong opinion that no such plan, however wisely and unexceptionably contrived in other
respects, can be carried into effectunl execution in this couutry, unless it be explicitly
avowed, und clewly understood as its leading principle, that no aitempt shall be made to
influence or disturh the peculiar religious tencts of any sect or deseription of Cluistians.”

The Commissioners, in their Report of 1812, state that the 33 endowed classical schools
of Treland had then 1,000 pupils ; 44 public establishments for the education of the lower
classes, lodged, maintained, and clothed 4,200 scholars; and exclusive of these, there were
4,600 schools, containing over 200,000 children. The proportion of Protestant children
was 28 4, and of Romun-catholies 71  per cent. Now, as the census of the previous year
(1811) returned 394,813 children as in actual attendance in the public schools of the coun-
try, it is quite clear that either the estimate of the Commissioners of Luquiry, in 1812, must
be much below the truth, or the census return of 1811 must be above it.

In December 1811, a voluntary institution was formed in Dublin, called the Society for
the 1ducation of the I’oor of Ireland,* and afterwards the Kildare-place Socicty, whuse prin-
ciples were stated to be “ the admission of pupils, uninfluenced by religious distinctions, and
the reading of the Biule or 'T'estament, without note or comment, by all the pupils who had
attained a suituble proficiency, excluding catechisms and controversial treatises; the Bible
or Testament not to be used as a class-hook, from which children should be taught to read
or spell.”  The society continued to labeur, supported by voluntary contributions, from its
estahlishment up to 1814-15, when, on giving a pledge that “ no attempt should be made
to influence or disturb the peculiar religious tenets of uny sect or deseription of Christians ™ —
the fundamental basis of the Royal Commissioners’ Report of 1812—Puarliament voted a grant
of 6,980 £, Trish currency, to aid its funds. Annual Parliameniary grants cum_:inucd_ to be
made (o the Kildare-place Society from that time up to 1831, when they were discontinued.
During the 16 years it veceived publie aid, to the amount of 219,076 £, and in the year
1830, the number of its schools was 1,621, and of pupils, 182,630, i

iis

* Some henevolent Quakers huilt a st of large schools in the Liberties of Dublin for the poer children of
that populous district in 1700, and their early success led to the fm-mnTt.in!t of this society, For some years
past, these schools-—in School-street—have been the property of the National Board, and are conducted as
auxiliary, or branch, model schools,
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This scheme of education could never be popular or national, as it was founded on a
principle—compulsion to read the Testament without note or comment—at variance with
the opinions of Roman-catholics, who formed the great majority of those for whom the
schools were intended. The Roman-catholic body in a little tune gave powerful opposition
to the working of the society ; and in 1824, in consequence of an address from the House
of Commons, his Majesty appointed Commissioners Lo inquire into the nature and extent of
the instruction afforded by the different schools in Ireland, supported in whole orin part
from the public funds, and to report to his Majesty upon the best nieans of extending to all
classes of the people the benefits of education. The Commissioners were on this occasion
five, all laymen ; four of the Hstablished Church, one of these being one of the Cominis-
sioners of 1806, and one a Roman-catholic, Mr. Blake, subsequently a member of the
National Board. The Commission made nine Reports, all in general accordance with those
made in 1812, and from which it appeared that so hostile were the Roman-catholics to the
scheme of education administered by the Kildare-place Society, that out of 400,348 children
whose parents paid for their education in 1824, there were 81,060 Protestants, or only
20 per cent., and 319,288, or 80 per cent., Catholics ; whereas, in the schools of the Society,
out of 56,201 pupils, 26,237, or 47 per cent., were Protestants, and only 29,964, or 53 per
cent., Catholics. These facts established, beyond all doubt, that the Kildare-place scheme
had not the confidence of the people, and that the vast majority of the nation, a few years
after its public endowment, refused to avail themselves of the education which it offered.

Impatient and dissatisfied, the Commons, in 1828, referred the Reports of both Commis-
sions, that of 1812 and of 1824, to a Committee of the House; and the Report and
Resolutions thereon recommend the complete and distinct separation of the literary from the
religious education of the scholars; the latter to be not only on days exclusively set apart
for the purpose, but different days to be named for Protestants and Catholies ; teachers to
have no right of interference; and clergymen to be charged with the separate religious
instruction of the pupils of their respective commuuions. The Report states in conclusion :
“Your Committee cannot avoid expressing the most earnest hope that if adopted Iiy the
House, their recommendation will satisfy moderate and rational men of all opiaions. It has
been the object of your Committee to discover a mode in which the combined education of
Protestant and Catholic might be carried on, resting upon religious instruction, but free from
the suspicion of proselytism. Your Committee has endeavoured to avoid any violation of
the liberty of conscience, or any demands or sacrifices inconsistent with the religious faith of
any denominations of Christians; they propose leaving to the clergy of each persuasion the
duty and the privilege of giving religious instruction to those who are committed to their
care.”

In 1830, the House of Commons again had the question before them, and the Select
Committee of that year appointed to examine into the state of the Irish poor, urged in their
Report “ihe hope that no further time will be los